Fontiers Research topics



EAT THYSELF, HEAL THYSELF: AUTOPHAGY IN PATHOGEN RECOGNITION AND ANTIGEN PROCESSING

Topic Editors Christian Muenz and Irina Caminschi





FRONTIERS COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

© Copyright 2007-2014 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-177-2 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-177-2

ABOUT FRONTIERS

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

FRONTIERS JOURNAL SERIES

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing.

All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

DEDICATION TO QUALITY

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view.

By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

WHAT ARE FRONTIERS RESEARCH TOPICS?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area!

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

EAT THYSELF, HEAL THYSELF: AUTOPHAGY IN PATHOGEN RECOGNITION AND ANTIGEN PROCESSING

Topic Editors: Christian Muenz, University of Zurich Irina Caminschi, Burnet Institute



Figure reproduced from Dumit VI and Dengjel J (2012) Autophagosomal protein dynamics and influenza virus infection. *Front. Immun.* 3:43. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00043

Autophagy is a constitutive, catabolic process leading to the lysosomal degradation of cytosolic proteins and organelles. However, it is also induced under stress conditions, remodeling the eukaryotic cell by regulating energy, protein, and lipid homeostasis. It is likely that the autophagosomal/lysosomal pathway evolved primordially to recycle cell components, but further functionally developed as to become part of the immune system to defend against invading pathogens. Likewise, pathogenic, foreign agents developed strategies to fight back and even to employ the autophagy machinery to their own benefit. Hence, the regulation of autophagy has many implications on human health and disease. This eBook summarizes the molecular

dynamics of autophagosome formation, maturation, and target selection. Membrane dynamics, as well as protein–protein and protein–membrane interactions are particularly addressed. In addition, it recapitulates current knowledge of the influences of influenza, measles, human immunodeficiency, hepatitis, chikungunya and herpes virus infections on the process.

Table of Contents

04	Autophagy for Better or Worse During Infectious Diseases			
	Irina Caminschi and Christian Münz			
06	Autophagosomal Protein Dynamics and Influenza Virus Infection			
	Verónica I. Dumit and Jörn Dengjel			
16	Macroautophagy Regulation During HIV-1 Infection of CD4 ⁺ T Cells			
	and Macrophages			
	Sophie Borel, Lucile Espert and Martine Biard-Piechaczyk			
25	IRGM in Autophagy and Viral Infections			
	Denitsa S. Petkova, Christophe Viret and Mathias Faure			
32	Autophagy and Immunity – Insights From Human Herpesviruses			
	Luke R. Williams and Graham S. Taylor			
40	Roles of Autophagy in Elimination of Intracellular Bacterial Pathogens			
	Eun-Kyeong Jo, Jae-Min Yuk, Dong-MinShin and Chihiro Sasakawa			
49	Modulation of Pathogen Recognition by Autophagy			
	Ji Eun Oh and Heung Kyu Lee			
57	Autophagy and IL-1 Family Cytokines			
	James Harris			
63	Autophagy and Mechanisms of Effective Immunity			
	Justine D. Mintern and Jose A. Villadangos			
72	Antigen Cross-Priming of Cell-Associated Proteins is Enhanced by			
	Macroautophagy With in the Antigen Donor Cell			
	Pierre-Emmanuel Joubert and Matthew L. Albert			
80	Antigen Processing for MHC Class II Presentation Via Autophagy			
	Christian Münz			
86	Macroautophagy in T Lymphocyte Development and Function			
	Ming-Xiao He, Ian X. McLeod, Wei Jia and You-Wen He			
<i>93</i>	Autophagy and Autoimmunity Crosstalks			
	Abhisek Bhattacharya and N. Tony Eissa			



Autophagy for better or worse during infectious diseases

Irina Caminschi¹ and Christian Münz²*

¹ Centre for Immunology, Burnet Institute, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

² Institute of Experimental Immunology, University of Zürich, Zürich, Switzerland

*Correspondence: christian.muenz@uzh.ch

Edited by:

Christian Kurts, Friedrich Wilhelms-Universität Bonn, Germany

Autophagy describes at least three metabolic pathways that deliver cytoplasmic constituents for lysosomal degradation (1). While micro- and chaperone-mediated autophagy engulf or translocate cytosolic material at the late endosomal or lyosomal membrane, respectively, macroautophagy can use different membrane sources, including endoplasmic reticulum, Golgi, plasma membrane, mitochondria, and outer nuclear membrane to enclose large portions of the cytoplasm in autophagosomes (2). These double membrane surrounded vesicles are generated de novo around macroautophagy cargo like damaged organelles, protein aggregates, and cytosolic pathogens, and more than 30 autophagy related (Atg) gene products are involved in their formation and fusion with lysosomes. The series of review articles in this Frontiers in Immunology e-book will high-light how regulation of macroautophagy during infections results in cytosolic restriction of pathogens, sometimes supports their replication and is connected to innate immune activation as well as adaptive immune responses to these environmental insults.

In the first set of reviews, the interactions of pathogens with macroautophagy will be discussed. Dengjel and coworkers will summarize the regulation of macroautophagy by influenza A virus and how this changes macroautophagic flux (3). This review particularly focuses on the sequential recruitment of substrates to autophagosomes and interference by influenza A virus. A second review by Biard-Piechaczyk and coauthors will then discuss the different functions that macroautophagy has during human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection of T cells and macrophages (4). Differences in the viral replication within these two host cells appear to determine the role that macroautophagy plays in HIV propagation in these targets. Furthermore, Faure and coworkers will high-light that there are certain nodes in the macroautophagy network that are targeted by many viruses (5). Particularly the GTPase IRGM will be discussed. Moreover, Taylor and colleague will discuss the regulation of macroautophagy by herpesviruses (6). Atg6/ Beclin-1 targeting by these pathogens has resulted in fascinating insights and tools to dissect macroautophagy. Finally, this block of reviews is concluded with a text by Sasakawa and coworkers (7). They discuss the restriction of bacterial dissemination by macroautophagy and the counter responses of the bacteria aimed at escaping these immune measures. Thus, many pathogens regulate and are restricted by macroautophagy during infection.

A second set of reviews explores the role of macroautophagy in immune responses. Innate immune recognition, resulting cytokine production, antigen processing for MHC presentation, and autoimmunity will be discussed in this block. Lee and coworkers will discuss how macroautophagy regulates pathogen detection by the immune system (8). Both the turnover of cytosolic receptors of pathogen

associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and the transport of PAMPs to vesicular receptors is affected by macroautophagy. Moreover, early innate cytokine production is regulated by this pathway. Harris discusses the influence of macroautophagy on IL-1 production (9). Furthermore, Villadangos and colleague highlight the role of macroautophagy in innate and adaptive immunity, covering its role in antigen processing, as well as in T and B cell physiology (10). Expanding on some of these themes, Albert and co-worker summarize the evidence that macroautophagy contributes to exogenous antigen cross-presentation onto MHC class I molecules (11) and focus on the role of the antigen donor cell. In a second review on antigen processing via macroautophagy, the role of this pathway in MHC class II antigen processing will be discussed (12). Particularly, its contribution to both intracellular and extracellular antigen processing will be considered. Beyond antigen processing, He and colleagues will review the role for macroautophagy in lymphocyte development and function (13). This article focuses on the role of macroautophagy in T cells. Finally, Eissa and coauthor summarize how macroautophagy alterations might lead to hyperreactivity to gut commensals and autoimmunity (14). In this respect genetic predisposition to Crohn's disease, which affects essential autophagy genes, will be discussed. Thus, this second set of reviews captures the breadth of functions for macroautophagy in immunity.

Macroautophagy is, therefore, not only an essential metabolic pathway, but has also been used during the co-evolutionary struggle between pathogens and their hosts to benefit one or the other. One would predict that it may also play a role in many other infectious diseases, and consequently, could serve as a therapeutic target. However, since macroautophagy can serve the immune system or be exploited by the pathogen, its role has to be characterized for every single different pathogen in order to predict the effect its manipulation would have during infection.

REFERENCES

- Mizushima N, Yoshimori T, Ohsumi Y. The role of Atg proteins in autophagosome formation. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol (2011) 27:107–32. doi: 10.1146/ annurev-cellbio-092910-154005
- Rubinsztein DC, Shpilka T, Elazar Z. Mechanisms of autophagosome biogenesis. *Curr Biol* (2012) 22:R29–34. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2011.11.034
- Dumit VI, Dengjel J. Autophagosomal protein dynamics and influenza virus infection. Front Immunol (2012) 3:43. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00043
- Borel S, Espert L, Biard-Piechaczyk M. Macroautophagy regulation during HIV-1 infection of CD4⁺ T cells and macrophages. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:97. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00097
- Petcova DS, Viret C, Faure M. IRGM in autophagy and viral infections. Front Immunol (2013) 3:426. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00426
- Williams LR, Taylor GS. Autophagy and immunity insights from human herpesviruses. Front Immunol (2012) 3:170. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00170

- Jo EK, Yuk JM, Shin DM, Sasakawa C. Roles of autophagy in elimination of intracellular bacterial pathogens. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:97. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2013.00097
- 8. Oh JE, Lee HK. Modulation of pathogen recognition by autophagy. *Front Immunol* (2012) **3**:44. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00044
- 9. Harris J. Autophagy and IL-1 family cytokines. *Front Immunol* (2013) **4**:83. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00083
- Mintern JD, Villadangos JA. Autophagy and mechanisms of effective immunity. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:60. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00060
- Joubert PE, Albert ML. Antigen cross-priming of cell-associated proteins is enhanced by macroautophagy within the antigen donor cell. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:61. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00061
- Münz C. Antigen processing for MHC class II presentation via autophagy. Front Immunol (2012) 3:9. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00009

- He MX, Mcleod IX, Jia W, He YW. Macroautophagy in T lymphocyte development and function. Front Immunol (2012) 3:22. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00022
- Bhattacharya A, Eissa NT. Autophagy and autoimmunity crosstalks. Front Immunol (2013) 4:88. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00088

Received: 27 June 2013; accepted: 06 July 2013; published online: 19 July 2013. Citation: Caminschi I and Münz C (2013) Autophagy for better or worse during infectious diseases. Front. Immunol. **4**:205. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00205 This article was submitted to Frontiers in Antigen Presenting Cell Biology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Caminschi and Münz. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.



Autophagosomal protein dynamics and influenza virus infection

Verónica I. Dumit^{1,2} and Jörn Dengjel^{1,2,3}*

¹ School of Life Sciences – LifeNet, Freiburg Institute for Advanced Studies, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany

² ZBSA Center for Biological Systems Analysis, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany

³ BIOSS Center for Biological Signalling Studies, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany

Edited by:

Christian Munz, University of Zurich, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Laura Santambrogio, Albert Einstein College of Medicine, USA Loredana Saveanu, Institut National de la Sante et de la Recherche Medicale, France

*Correspondence:

Jörn Dengjel, School of Life Sciences - LifeNet, Freiburg Institute for Advanced Studies, University of Freiburg, Albertstr. 19, 79104 Freiburg, Germany, e-mail: joern.dengjel@ frias.uni-freiburg.de

Autophagy is a constitutive, catabolic process leading to the lysosomal degradation of cytosolic proteins and organelles. However, it is also induced under stress conditions, remodeling the eukaryotic cell by regulating energy, protein, and lipid homeostasis. It is likely that the autophagosomal/lysosomal pathway evolved primordially to recycle cell components, but further functionally developed as to become part of the immune system to defend against invading pathogens. Likewise, pathogenic, foreign agents developed strategies to fight back and even to employ the autophagy machinery to their own benefit. Hence, the regulation of autophagy has many implications on human health and disease. This review summarizes the molecular dynamics of autophagosome formation, maturation, and target selection. Membrane dynamics, as well as protein-protein and protein-membrane interactions are particularly addressed. In addition, it recapitulates current knowledge of the influences of influenza virus infection on the process.

Keywords: autophagy, influenza, organelle, autophagosome, protein interaction, ubiquitin

SO IT BEGINS

Autophagy comprises several diverse lysosomal degradation pathways. Chaperone-mediated autophagy involves the direct translocation of cytosolic proteins across the lysosomal membrane (Dice, 2007). During microautophagy the lysosomal membrane invaginates or protrudes to sequester and deliver portions of cytoplasm directly into lysosomes (Klionsky et al., 2007). Macroautophagy, hereafter referred to as autophagy, is a lysosomal degradation pathway mediated by specialized organelles, autophagosomes, and will be the focus of this review. Autophagosomes enclose part of the cytoplasm destined for recycling. The exact mechanism of autophagosome formation remains still unknown. However, growing evidence suggests that a subdomain of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) is crucial for autophagosome biogenesis (Hayashi-Nishino et al., 2009, 2010; Ylä-Anttila et al., 2009). Particularly, it has been observed by electron microscopy that ER cisternae often associate with early autophagic structures (Hayashi-Nishino et al., 2010). Nevertheless, the origin of the autophagosomal membrane and how it is formed is still under debate (Chen and Klionsky, 2011). Next to the ER, mitochondria (Hailey et al., 2010), and the plasma membrane (Ravikumar et al., 2010) have been discussed as membrane sources. Almost two decades ago, complementation screening of yeast genes allowed identification of minimally 15 genes responsible for autophagosome formation (Tsukada and Ohsumi, 1993). Lately this list has grown to 33 entries of which 17 are required for all autophagy subtypes (Inoue and Klionsky, 2010). These genes are named ATG (autophagy-related) and their orthologs are essentially conserved in all eukaryotes (Noda et al., 2009). In this work, Atg refers to autophagy genes in yeast and ATG is reserved for their mammalian orthologs.

Although autophagy is a constitutive process, it can also be induced by different stress conditions, e.g., amino acid starvation or growth factor deprivation (Figure 1A). These treatments induce autophagy through the inhibition of the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), a serine-threonine kinase central in autophagy regulation. mTOR exists as part of at least two complexes: complex 1 (mTORC1) is sensitive to nutrient abundance and is made-up of mTOR along with the subunits Raptor, mLST8 (also known as G protein beta subunit-like) and PRAS40. When activated, mTORC1 stimulates cell growth by promoting protein translation and ribosome synthesis, while it inhibits cellular degradation by autophagy (Chan, 2009). mTORC2, containing Rictor, mSin1, mLST8, and Protor next to mTOR, is discussed as acting on the cytoskeleton through other kinases, such as the serinethreonine kinase Akt and SGK1 kinase (Chan, 2009; Kim and Guan, 2011; Zoncu et al., 2011). In Drosophila melanogaster a third TOR complex was identified, dTTT (Drosophila TOR, TELO2, TTI1) which is required for dTORC1/dTORC2 activity and cell growth (Glatter et al., 2011).

It is known from yeasts, that inhibition of TORC1 by rapamycin, starvation, or other stresses induces formation of an activated Atg1 complex along with the cofactors Atg13 and Atg17, both needed for maximal Atg1 catalytic activity (Mizushima, 2010). The Atg1-Atg13-Atg17 complex has serine-threonine kinase activity and its formation leads to autophagy induction. In contrast, when TORC1 is active, it leads to Atg13 phosphorylation and subsequent destabilization of the complex and effective Atg1 inactivation (Chan, 2009). It remains unclear, however, whether TOR directly phosphorylates Atg13 (Mizushima, 2010).



autophagy. **(C)** Under starvation conditions mTOR is inactive and ULK active, phosphorylating itself and its binding partners and translocating to pre-autophagosomal structures.

The functional counterparts to this complex in mammals are ULKs, ATG13 and FIP200 (orthologs of Atg1, Atg13, and Atg17, respectively). ULK1 is the best characterized Atg1 homolog. The role of the other isoforms ULK2 and ULK3 in autophagy are yet less clear. Although it seems likely that ULK2 is partially redundant to ULK1 (Chan, 2009), ULK3 may not have equivalent functions (Mizushima, 2010). Under non-stress conditions, mTORC1

associates with the ULK1-ATG13-FIP200-ATG101 complex by a direct interaction between Raptor and ULK1 (Chan, 2009; Mizushima, 2010), and phosphorvlates ULK1 and ATG13, inhibiting their activity (Figure 1B). On the other hand, when mTORC1 is inactive, it dissociates from the ULK1 complex, leading to ULK1 activation. In its active state, ULK1 undergoes autophosphorylation and phosphorylates ATG13 and FIP200 (Figure 1C). ULK1, ATG13, FIP200, and ATG101 accomplish their function by translocating from the cytosol to subdomains of the ER, and are thus essential for initiation of autophagosome formation (Mizushima, 2010). These proteins lead to the isolation of membrane subdomains by recruitment of a class III phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase (PI3K) complex to the ER. The PI3K complex includes VPS34 (also known as PIK3C3), VPS15 (PIK3R4 and p150), Beclin-1 (ATG6), ATG14, and AMBRA1 (Levine et al., 2011). At this point of autophagy induction, not only protein components have decisive functions in autophagosome formation, also the role of lipids is crucial in its regulation. In the following section, we focus on the hinge role of lipids within protein dynamics in autophagy.

THE LIPID CONNECTION

Phosphatidylinositols (PI) are negatively charged phospholipids present as minor component at the cytosolic side of eukaryotic cell membranes (Leevers et al., 1999). PI can be phosphorylated on its inositol ring to form PI-phosphate (PIP), PI-bisphosphate (PIP2), and PI-trisphosphate (PIP3; Burman and Ktistakis, 2010). PIP, PIP2, and PIP3 are collectively called phosphoinositides (Leevers et al., 1999).

In general, PI3Ks are responsible for phosphorylating the 3'OH-position of the inositol ring of PI, yielding PI3P (Burman and Ktistakis, 2010). Synthesis of PI3P is a strictly necessary requirement for all organisms undergoing autophagy (Burman and Ktistakis, 2010). The function of PI3P is to gather signaling proteins containing specific lipid-binding domains to the membrane. Particularly in autophagy, such effectors are the double FYVE-containing protein 1 (DFCP1) and WD40-repeat domain phosphoinositide-interacting (WIPI, homolog to Atg18 in yeast) family proteins (Levine et al., 2011). DFCP1, in contrast to most FYVE domain proteins that localize to endosomes, is located mainly at the ER, where PI3P is usually absent until autophagy is induced (Noda et al., 2010). Then, DFCP1 translocates to the autophagosome formation site, drawn by PI3P, to produce ERassociated Ω -like structures called omegasomes (Axe et al., 2008). The other effector of PI3P during autophagy, WIPI/Atg18, functions downstream of DFCP1 and was suggested to help the development of omegasomes into autophagosomes. WIPI2 is the major isoform among the four WIPI isoforms in most mammalian cells (Polson et al., 2010).

The FYVE domain is named after the four proteins in which it has been found: Fab1p (yeast ortholog of PIKfyve), YOTB, Vac1p (vesicle transport protein), and EEA1 (early endosome antigen 1). It is characterized by having two zinc ions and eight potential zinc coordinating cysteine residues. Additionally, several basic amino acids are localized around the cysteines. FYVE domains are part of cysteine-rich proteins, which bind PI3P in a way dependent on their metal ion coordination and interaction of their basic amino acids with the negative charged PI3P head group (Krauss and Haucke, 2007). **Figure 2A** shows the tertiary structure of a FYVE domain and the coordination mode of the two metal ions to the eight cysteine residues. **Figure 2B** shows EEA1 and its binding mode to inositol-1,3-diphosphate, as a representative example of their interaction. It has been suggested that the binding causes conformational changes regulating protein–protein or lipid–protein interactions (Leevers et al., 1999). Most pathways regulated by PI, including autophagy, depend on their generation and likewise on their consumption. A situation where PI persist longer than the lipid signal is needed will result in loss of homeostasis. Jumpy is a PI3P phosphatase, which inhibits recruitment of WIPI to the autophagic membranes, and thus is in charge of PI3P signal termination (Vergne et al., 2009).

Independently of the conditions triggering the catabolic pathway, autophagy begins with activation of the class III PI3K Beclin-1-complex in mammals, necessary to target membranes for autophagosome generation and posterior maturation. Beclin-1, homolog of yeast Atg6, will be treated in detail below as target of various viruses to abort autophagy and to use the autophagy machinery for their own infectious purposes.

ONE WAY TICKET TO THE AUTOPHAGOSOME

Two ubiquitin-like conjugation systems (UBL), ATG12, and LC3, have been implicated in biogenesis and membrane expansion of autophagosomes (Münz, 2011a; Weidberg et al., 2011a). Modification of proteins with ubiquitin-like proteins follows a similar mechanism like modification with ubiquitin itself. For this reason, it is worthwhile to briefly summarize the general process (Figure 3A): Ubiquitin is a 76 amino acid-residue polypeptide, whose role is to direct proteins to the proteasome for degradation, among other regulatory functions. Ubiquitin is activated by an E1 enzyme and, subsequently, E2 enzymes pick up activated ubiquitin by transthiolation and together with E3 enzymes catalyze ubiquitination of substrates. E3 enzymes function to recognize substrates and are also capable of interacting with E2, allowing conjugation of ubiquitin to target proteins. There are two major types of E3 enzymes in eukaryotes, defined by the presence of either a HECT or a RING domain (Deshaies and Joazeiro, 2009). HECT and RING E3s catalyze ubiquitin transfer by different mechanisms (Figure 3A). HECT-domain containing E3s bind themselves ubiquitin from an E2 protein before transferring it to its target protein. RING E3s function as a bridge between an activated E2 and a target protein. Ubiquitination can be a repetitive process leading to the generation of polyubiquitin chains or multiple monoubiquitinations. It is also a dynamic process. Deubiquitinating enzymes are able to trim polyubiquitin chains or to remove single moieties allowing their recycling. Although eukaryotic cells have only one or few E1 enzymes, they encode more than 40 isoforms of E2 and more than 600 E3 enzymes (Grabbe et al., 2011). As it is to be expected, the number of E2 and E3 isoforms show a higher degree of complexity of the ubiquitin conjugation systems in human cells relative to yeast (Hicke et al., 2005), enabling to recognize diverse proteins in a highly specific manner (Hochstrasser, 2009).

Figure 3B shows the two UBL systems operating in autophagy. Firstly, the ATG12-ATG5 conjugation is generated by ATG7 (E1like) and ATG10 (E2-like). ATG12-ATG5 bind to ATG16L1 and promote autophagosome formation (Fujita et al., 2008a; Weidberg et al., 2011a). It has been shown in yeast, that it is the Atg12-Atg5 complex itself that catalyzes the transfer of Atg8 from Atg3 to the substrate, phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), thus, behaving as a ubiquitin-protein ligase E3-like enzyme (Hanada et al., 2007). Secondly, LC3s, mammalian Atg8 homologs, are synthesized as precursors with an extra sequence at the C-terminus, which must be cleaved by the protease ATG4, resulting in the LC3 form I (LC3-I; Mizushima et al., 2011). LC3-I is then readily conjugated to PE (forming LC3-II). PE is a lipid found in biological membranes and lipidation of LC3/Atg8 during autophagy anchors this protein to the autophagosomal membrane. LC3/Atg8 may serve different purposes. Yeast Atg8 has been shown to be important for phagophore membrane elongation (Abeliovich et al., 2000). In addition, LC3/Atg8 functions as a membrane anchor enabling the targeting of substrates to the autophagosome (Münz, 2011a). It was also shown that it is important for membrane tethering and fusion (Nakatogawa et al., 2007; Weidberg et al., 2011b). However, these studies were performed in vitro and in a recent in vivo study it was suggested that soluble NSF attachment protein receptor (SNARE) proteins are required for membrane fusion, given that Atg8 is not able to





whole set of ubiquitin-like reactions taking part in autophagy involves the E1-, E2-, and E3-like enzymes ATG7, ATG3/ATG10, and ATG12-ATG5/ATG16L1, respectively. Crystallographic structure of (C) LC3 (PDB code 1ugm), (D)

(green) crystallographic structures. MultiProt Server was employed for protein alignment based on their structures (Shatsky et al., 2004). The picture was prepared using the program VMD (Humphrey et al., 1996).

mediate membrane fusion under physiological PE levels (Nair et al., 2011).

Yeast has a single Atg8 protein while mammals have several paralogs: three MAP1 light chain three (LC3A, LC3B, and LC3C) and four gamma-aminobutyrate receptor associated protein (GABARAP) and GABARAP-like proteins (GABARAPL1-3), collectively referred to as LC3s. The roles of LC3s remained unclear for a long time, since the other isoforms partially compensated the loss of function of a specific LC3 form in knockout studies

(Noda et al., 2009). Figures 3C-E displays the remarkable structural similarities of the different LC3 forms among themselves and to ubiquitin (Figure 3F). Superimposition of LC3 and ubiquitin structures clearly shows the high resemblance between these two proteins (Figure 3G).

Anchoring of autophagosomal substrates by LC3/Atg8 is accomplished by direct interaction with cargo proteins or by adaptor proteins. NIX is a mitochondrial membrane protein capable of interacting with LC3s during mitophagy, the selective removal of mitochondria by autophagy (Novak et al., 2010). Examples of adaptor proteins are p62/sequestosome 1 (Bjorkoy et al., 2005; Pankiv et al., 2007), optineurin (Wild et al., 2011), NBR1 (Kirkin et al., 2009), or NDP52 (Thurston et al., 2009), which favor interaction between LC3/Atg8 and polyubiquitinated substrates (Figure 4A; Münz, 2011a). p62 and NBR1 differ in size but their structures share three domains: an N-terminal PB1 domain, a LIR motif capable of interacting with LC3 proteins, and a C-terminal UBA domain interacting with ubiquitin. Both cargo proteins, p62 and NBR1, cooperate in the targeting of ubiquitinated proteins to the autophagosome, and are both required for their degradation by autophagy (Lamark et al., 2009). The binding is mediated by the 22 amino acid-residue sequence forming the conserved LIR motif with the core W/YxxL/I, which is indispensable for LC3 recruitment into p62-positive inclusion bodies (Figures 4B,C; Pankiv et al., 2007; Shpilka et al., 2011). It could be shown that phosphorylation of p62's UBA domain enhances degradation of polyubiquitinated proteins (Matsumoto et al., 2011).

The next step in the maturation of an autophagosome is its closure. It is known that a defect in LC3 function leads to unclosed autophagosomes (Fujita et al., 2008b). The current model suggests that when the autophagosome double membrane is about to close forming a narrow pore, LC3 molecules, especially GABARAP proteins, meet and catalyze the mixture of lipids of the pore, forming a stalk. Disintegration of the stalk completes autophagosome closure (Noda et al., 2009). However, also here a role of SNARE proteins cannot be ruled out. The completed autophagosome is then ready to fuse with late endosomes, forming amphisomes (Gordon and Seglen, 1988), followed by fusion with lysosomes, resulting in autolysosomes, and its inner membrane and cargo get degraded by lysosomal hydrolysis (**Figure 1A**; Münz, 2011a).

Traditionally, autophagy has been described as unselective bulk degradation (Seglen et al., 1990), however, the discovery of autophagy receptors like p62 and NBR1 which also shuttle polyubiquitinated protein aggregates to autophagosomes during classical autophagy indicates the existence of target recognition and possibly directed transport. We could show by a global proteomics approach that the subcellular localization of proteins influences their degradation dynamics by autophagy (Kristensen et al., 2008). During 36 h of amino acid starvation cytosolic proteins were initially degraded, only followed at later time points by organellar proteins, such as ribosomal and mitochondrial proteins. In a follow-up study we compared the proteomic composition of autophagosomes after different autophagy-inducing stimuli (Dengjel et al., 2012). The proteomic composition of stressinduced autophagosomes during amino acid starvation differed clearly from autophagosomes induced by rapamycin treatment or by block of basal autophagy by concanamycin A, an inhibitor of the lysosomal H⁺-ATPase. Comparing the proteome of autophagosomes over time also highlighted quantitative abundance differences of autophagosomal proteins. Hence, the inducing stimuli, as well as the time frame of stimulation, seem to influence the composition of autophagosomes. If (macro)autophagy is per definition unspecific, we might have to consider the possibility that only basal macroautophagy is truly unspecific and that all variants of stressinduced (macro)autophagy should instead be regarded as specific, similar to organelle-specific autophagy subtypes. Thus, we might want to discriminate, e.g., between growth factor- and amino acidstarvation induced (macro)autophagy. Another possibility might be that (macro)autophagy per se is not unspecific and we just did not succeed to elucidate the underlying signaling events until now. Modern high-throughput "omics" approaches in combination with systems biology allow for generation of large datasets and construction of mathematical models which may help in shedding more light on these complex biological processes (Zimmermann et al., 2010; Engelke et al., 2012).

AUTOPHAGY AND ANTIGEN PROCESSING

Even though autophagy mainly serves as protein degrading mechanism, it is likely that the same machinery has been adopted to participate in adaptive immunity (Levine et al., 2011). Thus, it could be shown that autophagy can be induced by activation of innate immune receptors in antigen presenting cells. Conveniently, fragments of proteins from infecting pathogens, which are degraded through autophagy, result in foreign peptides which can be complexed to MHC molecules and presented to T cells (for detailed review see Münz, 2011b). Classically, MHC class I molecules were regarded to present peptides from intracellular antigens to CD8⁺ T cells. Peptides are generated by proteasomal processing and translocate to the ER via the transporter for antigenic peptides where they are loaded to nascent MHC class I complexes with the help of chaperones. In the cytosol and the ER peptides may be further processed by additional proteases before binding to MHC class I chains. Finally, MHC-I-peptide complexes transit to the



cell surface where they can be recognized by CD8⁺ T cells. An alternative pathway, called cross-presentation, allows presentation of peptides from exogenous antigens on MHC class I molecules (Crotzer and Blum, 2010). Whereas the classical MHC class I presentation pathway seems not to be influenced by autophagy, it could be shown that autophagy modulates MHC class I presentation during late stage herpes simplex virus (HSV) infection (English et al., 2009).

Under normal conditions, MHC class II molecules present peptides on antigen presenting cells to CD4⁺ T cells, but during infection or inflammation MHC-II expression can be induced in non-immune cells as well. MHC class II molecules were viewed to present mainly peptides from extracellular antigens. However, MHC-II peptide analyses revealed that also peptides from intracellular source proteins are presented on MHC class II molecules. MHC class II α and β chains are synthesized into the ER and the chaperone invariant chain (Ii) prevents the binding of antigenic peptides to the class II binding groove. In acidic vesicular compartments Ii is cleaved and antigenic peptides can bind to MHC class II heterodimers with the help of chaperones. In contrast to MHC-I presentation, the role of autophagy in MHC-II presentation is more clear. Thus, it could be shown by several groups that macroautophagy and chaperone-mediated autopahgy play major roles in promoting presentation of peptides derived from cytoplasmic and nuclear proteins on MHC-II (Nimmerjahn et al., 2003; Dengjel et al., 2005; Zhou et al., 2005). This is also true for the presentation of some virus derived peptides, like from Epstein Barr virus nuclear antigen 1 (Paludan et al., 2005) and from influenza virus matrix protein (Schmid et al., 2007). Interestingly, for MHC class I as well as for MHC class II presentation a dual dependency on proteasome- and autophagy-activity could be observed highlighting a crosstalk between the two degradation pathways (Dörfel et al., 2005; English et al., 2009). Along this line, we could show that the proteasome is one of the "favorite substrates" of autophagosomes and that proteasome activity is modulated by functional autophagy (Dengjel et al., 2012). However, the exact molecular mechanisms underlying autophagy-proteasome crosstalk are still not fully unveiled and more work has to be done. E.g., it is not clear if proteasomes are active inside autophagosomes and if autophagosomes may thus be regarded as scaffolds bringing together the proteasome with its substrates.

INFLUENZA VIRUS VERSUS AUTOPHAGY. WHO TAKES CONTROL?

Many pathogens compromise peptide presentation on MHC molecules by blocking the induction of autophagy or the maturation of autophagosomes. Moreover, it is known that some viruses induce autophagy but inhibit autophagosome–lysosome fusion (Deretic and Levine, 2009). Hence, several viruses inhibit autophagy at the level of autophagosome initiation by antagonizing Beclin-1. Examples of them are the α -herpervirus (HSV-1; Orvedahl et al., 2007), and γ -herpesviruses, which include human pathogens such as Epstein Barr virus, Kaposi's sarcoma associated herpesvirus (KSHV) and murine γ -HV68 (Liang et al., 2008). In contrast to DNA viruses, RNA viruses, including HIV (Kyei et al., 2009; Blanchet et al., 2010), hepatitis C (Ait-Goughoulte et al., 2008; Dreux et al., 2009), and poliovirus (Dales et al., 1965; Jackson et al., 2005), block autophagosome maturation and consequently degradation, possibly to benefit from vesicular organelles for their replication (Rossman and Lamb, 2009; Münz, 2011a). Non-maturing autophagosomes offer a propitious environment for virus replication, due to the fact that high concentrations of viral proteins can be accumulated while being unnoticed by the adaptive immune system (Rossman and Lamb, 2009). Importantly, viruses inhibiting autophagosome maturation target Beclin-1 as well, as it is also involved in the maturation process as binding partner of UVRAG.

Although it is well accepted that influenza virus infection affects autophagy, controversy still remains in many aspects of the underlying mechanisms and functional strategies employed by the virus to succeed in its infective purpose. Various independent studies suggest that an increasingly sophisticated connection exists between autophagy, apoptosis and viral replication. Moreover, interconnection between these three processes appears to be cell-line dependent, further complicating interpretation of the gathered data on the effects of influenza virus infection.

Autophagy is induced by reactive oxygen species (Huang et al., 2011) which are also produced after influenza infection (Vlahos et al., 2012) highlighting a potential point of crosstalk. Oxidizing molecules are suggested to modulate ATG4 activity leading to LC3-II accumulation (Scherz-Shouval et al., 2007). Influenza virus has been also proposed to up-regulate the expression of ATG7, ATG5, and ATG12 (Dai et al., 2012). Hence, all of these actions lead to autophagosome accumulation and may be tracked back to influenza virus infection. Significantly, it has been suggested that autophagy is involved in virus-dependent cytokine induction, which is thought to be the main cause of death of infected patients (Law et al., 2010).

A closer look at the association between influenza virus infection and autophagy raises many questions. It is well documented that influenza virus inhibits autophagy at the stage of autophagosome fusion with lysosomes, and thus leads to an accumulation of autophagosomes in human lung carcinoma-derived cells (Gannagé et al., 2009). On the other hand, it was shown that different strains of influenza virus induce functional autophagy, as detected by degradation of the autophagy receptor p62 in infected primary human blood macrophages (Law et al., 2010). A third report stated as well that influenza virus infection does induce functional autophagy in several different cell lines, with no detectable block in the pathway, as concluded from both GFP-LC3 and p62 degradation measurements (Comber et al., 2011). In an attempt to conciliate all apparently contradicting results, the authors of the latter work suggested that discrepancies may be due to the cell types or the influenza virus strains used for the experiments (Comber et al., 2011).

Another polemic aspect is the functional association between autophagy and viral replication. The purpose of compromising a key homeostatic pathway of the cell by influenza virus is still under debate. It was observed that influenza virus infection decreases cell survival by inducing apoptosis and inhibiting autophagy. The induction of apoptosis was suggested to circumvent an anti-viral immune response (Gannagé et al., 2009). However, autophagy had apparently a negligible influence on viral yields, given that loss of the degradation process did not affect virus replication. Therefore it was concluded that viral replication does not require the autophagosome environment to take its course (Gannagé et al., 2009). Hence, it has been suggested that influenza virus seems to remain in the cytoplasm and nucleus for its replication (Rossman and Lamb, 2009). But why does influenza virus compromise autophagy? In contrast to the mentioned study, another investigation showed that inhibition of autophagy reduces replication of influenza virus (Zhou et al., 2009). On top, it was suggested that influenza virus induces autophagy only when apoptosis is first inhibited (McLean et al., 2009). This evidence was proposed to be the reason for the apparently opposing results attained before (Rossman and Lamb, 2009).

On the molecular level, there is solid evidence that binding of influenza virus M2 protein to Beclin-1 compromises autophagy at the step of lysosome fusion to autophagosomes (Gannagé et al., 2009). Beclin-1 contains a conserved BH3 domain (Oberstein et al., 2007). Such domains were first discovered in the context of apoptosis, but then could also be related to regulation of autophagy (Sinha and Levine, 2008). **Figures 5A,B** show the amphipathic BH3 helix of Beclin-1 interacting with a conserved hydrophobic groove of Bcl-XL and M11, respectively. Bcl-XL belongs to the Bcl-2 family of proteins, known to regulate apoptotic and autophagic processes in the cell (Sinha and Levine, 2008). M11 is a Bcl-2 homolog present in the human pathogen γ -herpesvirus 68, able to regulate autophagy through interaction with Beclin-1 (Sinha et al., 2008).

It could be shown that influenza virus M2 integral membrane protein is necessary and sufficient to block autophagosomelysosome fusion (Gannagé et al., 2009). Transient expression of influenza A virus M2 protein reproduced the same phenotype as viral infection, i.e., autophagosomes accumulation due to a



block in autophagosome maturation and not to an increase in autophagy. Silencing M2 expression during influenza A virus infection, or infecting cells with a M2 knockout influenza A virus, reverted the phenotype of classical infection, allowing autophagosome-lysosome fusion (Gannagé et al., 2009, 2010). M2 is a proton-selective ion channel responsible for acidification of the viral core once the virus reaches endosomes, causing dissociation of the viral particles and release of the genome into the cytoplasm (Wang et al., 2011). Surprisingly, it has been observed that autophagosome maturation is not inhibited by the M2 ion channel activity itself and that the first 60 residues of the protein are sufficient to inhibit autophagy by binding to Beclin-1 (Gannagé et al., 2009, 2010). The precise mechanism of inhibition has not been clearly determined, but it has been proposed that M2 is likely to interact with Beclin-1 through either the ectodomain (residues 1-24) or the cytoplasmic amphipatic helix (residues 46-62), but not through the transmembrane domain which should be shielded from access (Rossman and Lamb, 2009).

As shown in Figure 5, the secondary structures of both Bcl-XL and M11 contain mostly α-helices, as do the first 70 amino acidresidues of influenza virus M2 protein, which are needed to inhibit Beclin-1. If crystallographic structures of the complex Beclin-1-Bcl-XL and M2 are aligned, one of the transmembrane α -helices of M2 superimposes with one of the α -helices of Bcl-XL which interacts with Beclin-1 (Figures 5C,D). In our opinion, it cannot be excluded that this ion channel transmembrane domain of M2 binds to Beclin-1. This may happen before the M2 homotetramer complex is fully assembled in the membrane indicating a second, non-membrane-bound, function/role of this protein and possibly explaining the observation that the M2 ion channel activity seems not to be involved in its functions in autophagy regulation. To fully understand the modulations of autophagy by influenza virus and to outline the underlying molecular mechanisms more work has to be done, e.g., specifically addressing protein dynamics and protein-protein interactions under various conditions.

CONCLUSION

Autophagy is a highly complex process and only the identification of autophagy-related genes in the genetically tractable organism yeast and the fact that the process is conserved in humans have allowed the elucidation of underlying molecular mechanisms leading to the generation of autophagosomes in mammalian cells. Although we have gained a tremendous amount of knowledge in the last decade there are still many unanswered questions, especially related to human diseases. Viruses employ autophagy for their own goods and the studying of autophagy modulation by viral infection and viral proteins will allow a deeper insight into underlying molecular mechanisms shedding more light onto this basal cell biological process. We are confident that the newly generated knowledge will not only allow the design of new anti-viral therapies but will also help in targeting autophagy in other disease settings.

Regarding macroautophagy, a lot of work has to be done to fully understand target selection. Can a cell actually allow a completely unspecific bulk degradation process to happen? Large-scale "omics" approaches should help in generating enough data to comprehensively tackle this problem on a global scale.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to Victoria Küttner for carefully reading the manuscript. The research leading to these results has received funding from the Excellence Initiative of the German Federal and State Governments through FRIAS and BIOSS, from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (GZ DE1757/2-1), and from the Federal

REFERENCES

- Abeliovich, H., Dunn, W. A., Kim, J., and Klionsky, D. J. (2000). Dissection of autophagosome biogenesis into distinct nucleation and expansion steps. J. Cell Biol. 151, 1025–1034.
- Ait-Goughoulte, M., Kanda, T., Meyer, K., Ryerse, J. S., Ray, R. B., and Ray, R. (2008). Hepatitis C virus genotype 1a growth and induction of autophagy. *J. Virol.* 82, 2241–2249.
- Axe, E. L., Walker, S. A., Manifava, M., Chandra, P., Roderick, H. L., Habermann, A., Griffiths, G., and Ktistakis, N. T. (2008). Autophagosome formation from membrane compartments enriched in phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate and dynamically connected to the endoplasmic reticulum. *J. Cell Biol.* 182, 685–701
- Bjorkoy, G., Lamark, T., Brech, A., Outzen, H., Perander, M., Overvatn, A., Stenmark, H., and Johansen, T. (2005). p62/SQSTM1 forms protein aggregates degraded by autophagy and has a protective effect on huntingtin-induced cell death. J. Cell Biol. 171, 603–614.
- Blanchet, F. P., Moris, A., Nikolic, D. S., Lehmann, M., Cardinaud, S., Stalder, R., Garcia, E., Dinkins, C., Leuba, F., Wu, L., Schwartz, O., Deretic, V., and Piguet, V. (2010). Human immunodeficiency virus-1 inhibition of immunoamphisomes in dendritic cells impairs early innate and adaptive immune responses. *Immunity* 32, 654–669.
- Burman, C., and Ktistakis, N. T. (2010). Regulation of autophagy by phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate. FEBS Lett. 584, 1302–1312.
- Chan, E. Y. (2009). mTORC1 phosphorylates the ULK1-mAtg13-FIP200 autophagy regulatory complex. *Sci. Signal.* 2, pe51.
- Chen, Y., and Klionsky, D. J. (2011). The regulation of autophagy–unanswered questions. *J. Cell Sci.* 124, 161–170.
- Comber, J. D., Robinson, T. M., Siciliano, N. A., Snook, A. E., and Eisenlohr, L. C. (2011). Functional macroautophagy induction by influenza A virus without a contribution to major histocompatibility complex class II-restricted presentation. J. Virol. 85, 6453–6463.

- Crotzer, V. L., and Blum, J. S. (2010). Autophagy and adaptive immunity. *Immunology* 131, 9–17.
- Dai, J., Wang, G., Li, W., Zhang, L., Yang, J., Zhao, X., Chen, X., Xu, Y., and Li, K. (2012).
 High-throughput screening for anti-influenza a virus drugs and study of the mechanism of procyanidin on influenza a virus induced autophagy. J. Biomol. Screen. doi:10.1177/1087057111435236
- Dales, S., Eggers, H. J., Tamm, I., and Palade, G. E. (1965). Electron microscopic study of the formation of poliovirus. *Virology* 26, 379–389.
- Dengjel, J., Hoyer-Hansen, M., Nielsen, M. O., Eisenberg, T., Harder, L. M., Schandorff, S., Farkas, T., Kirkegaard, T., Becker, A. C., Schroeder, S., Vanselow, K., Lundberg, E., Nielsen, M. M., Kristensen, A. R., Akimov, V., Bunkenborg, J., Madeo, F., Jäättelä, M., and Andersen, J. S. (2012). Identification of autophagosome-associated proteins and regulators by quantitative proteomic analysis and genetic screens. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics*. doi:10.1074/mcp.M111.014035
- Dengjel, J., Schoor, O., Fischer, R., Reich, M., Kraus, M., Müller, M., Kreymborg, K., Altenberend, F., Brandenburg, J., Kalbacher, H., Brock, R., Driessen, C., Rammensee, H. G., and Stevanovic, S. (2005). Autophagy promotes MHC class II presentation of peptides from intracellular source proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 7922–7927.
- Deretic, V., and Levine, B. (2009). Autophagy, immunity, and microbial adaptations. *Cell Host Microbe* 5, 527–549.
- Deshaies, R. J., and Joazeiro, C. A. (2009). RING domain E3 ubiquitin ligases. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 78, 399–434.
- Dice, J. F. (2007). Chaperone-mediated autophagy. *Autophagy* 3, 295–299.
- Dörfel, D., Appel, S., Grünebach, F., Weck, M. M., Müller, M. R., Heine, A., and Brossart, P. (2005). Processing and presentation of HLA class I and II epitopes by dendritic cells after transfection with in vitrotranscribed MUC1 RNA. *Blood* 105, 3199–3205.
- Dreux, M., Gastaminza, P., Wieland, S. F., and Chisari, F. V. (2009). The

Ministry of Education and Research through GerontoSys II – NephAge (031 5896 A). We thank all Protein Dynamics group members, as well as M. Boerries, H. Busch, A. Schlosser, and colleagues from the ZBSA, for helpful discussions and support. We apologize to colleagues whose work was not covered in this review due to space limitations.

autophagy machinery is required to initiate hepatitis C virus replication. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 14046–14051.

- Engelke, R., Becker, A. C., and Dengjel, J. (2012). The degradative inventory of the cell: proteomic insights. *Antioxid Redox Signal*. doi:10.1089/ars.2011.4393
- English, L., Chemali, M., Duron, J., Rondeau, C., Laplante, A., Gingras, D., Alexander, D., Leib, D., Norbury, C., Lippé, R., and Desjardins, M. (2009). Autophagy enhances the presentation of endogenous viral antigens on MHC class I molecules during HSV-1 infection. *Nat. Immunol.* 10, 480–487.
- Fujita, N., Itoh, T., Omori, H., Fukuda, M., Noda, T., and Yoshimori, T. (2008a). The Atg16L complex specifies the site of LC3 lipidation for membrane biogenesis in autophagy. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 19, 2092–2100.
- Fujita, N., Hayashi-Nishino, M., Fukumoto, H., Omori, H., Yamamoto, A., Noda, T., and Yoshimori, T. (2008b). An Atg4B mutant hampers the lipidation of LC3 paralogues and causes defects in autophagosome closure. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 19, 4651–4659.
- Gannagé, M., Dormann, D., Albrecht, R., Dengjel, J., Torossi, T., Rämer, P.
 C., Lee, M., Strowig, T., Arrey, F., Conenello, G., Pypaert, M., Andersen, J., García-Sastre, A., and Münz,
 C. (2009). Matrix protein 2 of influenza A virus blocks autophagosome fusion with lysosomes. *Cell Host Microbe* 6, 367–380.
- Gannagé, M., Rämer, P. C., and Münz, C. (2010). Targeting Beclin 1 for viral subversion of macroautophagy. *Autophagy* 6, 166–167.
- Glatter, T., Schittenhelm, R. B., Rinner, O., Roguska, K., Wepf, A., Jünger, M. A., Köhler, K., Jevtov, I., Choi, H., Schmidt, A., Nesvizhskii, A. I., Stocker, H., Hafen, E., Aebersold, R., and Gstaiger, M. (2011). Modularity and hormone sensitivity of the *Drosophila melanogaster* insulin receptor/target of rapamycin interaction proteome. *Mol. Syst. Biol.* 7, 547–547.
- Gordon, P. B., and Seglen, P. O. (1988). Prelysosomal convergence of autophagic and endocytic pathways. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 151, 40–47.

- Grabbe, C., Husnjak, K., and Dikic, I. (2011). The spatial and temporal organization of ubiquitin networks. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 12, 295–307.
- Hailey, D. W, Rambold, A. S., Satpute-Krishnan, P., Mitra, K., Sougrat, R., Kim, P. K., and Lippincott-Schwartz, J. (2010). Mitochondria supply membranes for autophagosome biogenesis during starvation. *Cell* 141, 656–667.
- Hanada, T., Noda, N. N., Satomi, Y., Ichimura, Y., Fujioka, Y., Takao, T., Inagaki, F., and Ohsumi, Y. (2007). The Atg12-Atg5 conjugate has a novel E3-like activity for protein lipidation in autophagy. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 37298–37302.
- Hayashi-Nishino, M., Fujita, N., Noda, T., Yamaguchi, A., Yoshimori, T., and Yamamoto, A. (2009). A subdomain of the endoplasmic reticulum forms a cradle for autophagosome formation. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 11, 1433–1437.
- Hayashi-Nishino, M., Fujita, N., Noda, T., Yamaguchi, A., Yoshimori, T., and Yamamoto, A. (2010). Electron tomography reveals the endoplasmic reticulum as a membrane source for autophagosome formation. Autophagy 6, 301–303.
- Hicke, L., Schubert, H. L., and Hill, C. P. (2005). Ubiquitin-binding domains. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 6, 610–621.
- Hochstrasser, M. (2009). Origin and function of ubiquitin-like proteins. *Nature* 458, 422–429.
- Huang, J., Lam, G. Y., and Brumell, J. H. (2011). Autophagy signaling through reactive oxygen species. *Antioxid Redox Signal.* 14, 2215–2231.
- Humphrey, W., Dalke, A., and Schulten, K. (1996). VMD: visual molecular dynamics. J. Mol. Graph. 14, 33–38.
- Inoue, Y., and Klionsky, D. J. (2010). Regulation of macroautophagy in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 21, 664–670.
- Jackson, W. T., Giddings, T. H., Taylor, M. P., Mulinyawe, S., Rabinovitch, M., Kopito, R. R., and Kirkegaard, K. (2005). Subversion of cellular autophagosomal machinery by RNA viruses. *PLoS Biol.* 3, 861–871. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0030156
- Kim, J., and Guan, K. L. (2011). Amino acid signaling in TOR activation. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 80, 1001–1032.

- Kirkin, V., Lamark, T., Sou, Y. S., Bjorkoy,
 G., Nunn, J. L., Bruun, J. A., Shvets,
 E., McEwan, D. G., Clausen, T. H.,
 Wild, P., Bilusic, I., Theurillat, J.
 P., Øvervatn, A., Ishii, T., Elazar,
 Z., Komatsu, M., Dikic, I., and
 Johansen, T. (2009). A role for NBR1
 in autophagosomal degradation of
 ubiquitinated substrates. *Mol. Cell*33, 505–516.
- Klionsky, D. J., Cuervo, A. M., and Seglen, P. O. (2007). Methods for monitoring autophagy from yeast to human. *Autophagy* 3, 181–206.
- Krauss, M., and Haucke, V. (2007). Phosphoinositide-metabolizing enzymes at the interface between membrane traffic and cell signalling. *EMBO Rep.* 8, 241–246.
- Kristensen, A. R., Schandorff, S., Hoyer-Hansen, M., Nielsen, M. O., Jäättelä, M., Dengjel, J., and Andersen, J. S. (2008). Ordered organelle degradation during starvation-induced autophagy. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 7, 2419–2428.
- Kyei, G. B., Dinkins, C., Davis, A. S., Roberts, E., Singh, S. B., Dong, C., Wu, L., Kominami, E., Ueno, T., Yamamoto, A., Federico, M., Panganiban, A., Vergne, I., and Deretic, V. (2009). Autophagy pathway intersects with HIV-1 biosynthesis and regulates viral yields in macrophages. *J. Cell Biol.* 186, 255–268.
- Lamark, T., Kirkin, V., Dikic, I., and Johansen, T. (2009). NBR1 and p62 as cargo receptors for selective autophagy of ubiquitinated targets. *Cell Cycle* 8, 1986–1990.
- Law, A. H., Lee, D. C., Yuen, K. Y., Peiris, M., and Lau, A. S. (2010). Cellular response to influenza virus infection: a potential role for autophagy in CXCL10 and interferon-alpha induction. *Cell. Mol. Immunol.* 7, 263–270.
- Leevers, S. J., Vanhaesebroeck, B., and Waterfield, M. D. (1999). Signalling through phosphoinositide 3kinases: the lipids take centre stage. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 11, 219–225.
- Levine, B., Mizushima, N., and Virgin, H. W. (2011). Autophagy in immunity and inflammation. *Nature* 469, 323–335.
- Liang, C., E, X., and Jung, J. U. (2008). Downregulation of autophagy by herpesvirus Bcl-2 homologs. *Autophagy* 4, 268–272.
- Matsumoto, G., Wada, K., Okuno, M., Kurosawa, M., and Nukina, N. (2011). Serine 403 phosphorylation of p62/SQSTM1 regulates selective autophagic clearance of ubiquitinated proteins. *Mol. Cell* 44, 279–289.

- McLean, J. E., Datan, E., Matassov, D., and Zakeri, Z. F. (2009). Lack of Bax prevents influenza A virus-induced apoptosis and causes diminished viral replication. J. Virol. 83, 8233–8246.
- Mizushima, N. (2010). The role of the Atg1/ULK1 complex in autophagy regulation. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 22, 132–139.
- Mizushima, N., Yoshimori, T., and Ohsumi, Y. (2011). The role of atg proteins in autophagosome formation. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 27, 107–132.
- Münz, C. (2011a). Beclin-1 targeting for viral immune escape. *Viruses* 3, 1166–1178.
- Münz, C. (2011b). Antigen processing by macroautophagy for MHC presentation. *Front. Immunol.* 2:1–7. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2011.00042
- Nair, U., Jotwani, A., Geng, J., Gammoh, N., Richerson, D., Yen, W. L., Griffith, J., Nag, S., Wang, K., Moss, T., Baba, M., McNew, J. A., Jiang, X., Reggiori, F., Melia, T. J., and Klionsky, D. J. (2011). SNARE proteins are required for macroautophagy. *Cell* 146, 290–302.
- Nakatogawa, H., Ichimura, Y., and Ohsumi, Y. (2007). Atg8, a ubiquitinlike protein required for autophagosome formation, mediates membrane tethering and hemifusion. *Cell* 130, 165–178.
- Nimmerjahn, F., Milosevic, S., Behrends, U., Jaffee, E. M., Pardoll, D. M., Bornkamm, G. W., and Mautner, J. (2003). Major histocompatibility complex class II-restricted presentation of a cytosolic antigen by autophagy. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 33, 1250–1259.
- Noda, T., Fujita, N., and Yoshimori, T. (2009). The late stages of autophagy: how does the end begin? *Cell Death Differ*. 16, 984–990.
- Noda, T., Matsunaga, K., Taguchi-Atarashi, N., and Yoshimori, T. (2010). Regulation of membrane biogenesis in autophagy via PI3P dynamics. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 21, 671–676.
- Novak, I., Kirkin, V., McEwan, D. G., Zhang, J., Wild, P., Rozenknop, A., Rogov, V., Löhr, F., Popovic, D., Occhipinti, A., Reichert, A. S., Terzic, J., Dötsch, V., Ney, P. A., and Dikic, I. (2010). Nix is a selective autophagy receptor for mitochondrial clearance. *EMBO Rep.* 11, 45–51.
- Oberstein, A., Jeffrey, P. D., and Shi, Y. (2007). Crystal structure of the Bcl-XL-Beclin 1 peptide complex: Beclin 1 is a novel BH3-only protein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 13123–13132.

- Orvedahl, A., Alexander, D., Tallóczy,
 Z., Sun, Q., Wei, Y., Zhang, W.,
 Burns, D., Leib, D. A., and Levine,
 B. (2007). HSV-1 ICP34.5 confers neurovirulence by targeting the
 Beclin 1 autophagy protein. *Cell Host Microbe* 1, 23–35.
- Paludan, C., Schmid, D., Landthaler, M., Vockerodt, M., Kube, D., Tuschl, T., and Münz, C. (2005). Endogenous MHC class II processing of a viral nuclear antigen after autophagy. *Science* 307, 593–596.
- Pankiv, S., Clausen, T. H., Lamark, T., Brech, A., Bruun, J. A., Outzen, H., Øvervatn, A., Bjorkoy, G., and Johansen, T. (2007). p62/SQSTM1 binds directly to Atg8/LC3 to facilitate degradation of ubiquitinated protein aggregates by autophagy. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 24131–24145.
- Polson, H. E., de Lartigue, J., Rigden, D. J., Reedijk, M., Urbé, S., Clague, M. J., and Tooze, S. A. (2010). Mammalian Atg18 (WIPI2) localizes to omegasome-anchored phagophores and positively regulates LC3 lipidation. Autophagy 6, 506–522.
- Ravikumar, B., Moreau, K., Jahreiss, L., Puri, C., and Rubinsztein, D. C. (2010). Plasma membrane contributes to the formation of preautophagosomal structures. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 12, 747–757.
- Rossman, J. S., and Lamb, R. A. (2009). Autophagy, apoptosis, and the influenza virus M2 protein. *Cell Host Microbe* 6, 299–300.
- Scherz-Shouval, R., Shvets, E., Fass, E., Shorer, H., Gil, L., and Elazar, Z. (2007). Reactive oxygen species are essential for autophagy and specifically regulate the activity of Atg4. *EMBO J.* 26, 1749–1760.
- Schmid, D., Pypaert, M., and Münz, C. (2007). Antigen-loading compartments for major histocompatibility complex class II molecules continuously receive input from autophagosomes. *Immunity* 26, 79–92.
- Seglen, P. O., Gordon, P. B., and Holen, I. (1990). Non-selective autophagy. Semin. Cell Biol. 1, 441–448.
- Shatsky, M., Nussinov, R., and Wolfson, H. J. (2004). A method for simultaneous alignment of multiple protein structures. *Proteins* 56, 143–156.
- Shpilka, T., Weidberg, H., Pietrokovski, S., and Elazar, Z. (2011). Atg8: an autophagy-related ubiquitin-like protein family. *Genome Biol.* 12, 226–226.
- Sinha, S., Colbert, C. L., Becker, N., Wei, Y., and Levine, B. (2008). Molecular basis of the regulation of Beclin 1-dependent autophagy by the gamma-herpesvirus 68

Bcl-2 homolog M11. Autophagy 4, 989–997.

- Sinha, S., and Levine, B. (2008). The autophagy effector Beclin 1: a novel BH3-only protein. *Oncogene* 27(Suppl. 1), 137–148.
- Thurston, T. L., Ryzhakov, G., Bloor, S., von Muhlinen, N., and Randow, F. (2009). The TBK1 adaptor and autophagy receptor NDP52 restricts the proliferation of ubiquitincoated bacteria. *Nat. Immunol.* 10, 1215–1221.
- Tsukada, M., and Ohsumi, Y. (1993). Isolation and characterization of autophagy-defective mutants of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. FEBS Lett. 333, 169–174.
- Vergne, I., Roberts, E., Elmaoued, R. A., Tosch, V., Delgado, M. A., Proikas-Cezanne, T., Laporte, J., and Deretic, V. (2009). Control of autophagy initiation by phosphoinositide 3phosphatase Jumpy. *EMBO J.* 28, 2244–2258.
- Vlahos, R., Stambas, J., and Selemidis, S. (2012). Suppressing production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) for influenza A virus therapy. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 33, 3–8.
- Wang, J., Qiu, J. X., Soto, C., and DeGrado, W. F. (2011). Structural and dynamic mechanisms for the function and inhibition of the M2 proton channel from influenza A virus. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* 21, 68–80.
- Weidberg, H., Shvets, E., and Elazar, Z. (2011a). Biogenesis and cargo selectivity of autophagosomes. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 80, 125–156.
- Weidberg, H., Shpilka, T., Shvets, E., Abada, A., Shimron, F., and Elazar, Z. (2011b). LC3 and GATE-16 N termini mediate membrane fusion processes required for autophagosome biogenesis. *Dev. Cell* 20, 444–454.
- Wild, P., Farhan, H., McEwan, D. G., Wagner, S., Rogov, V. V., Brady, N. R., Richter, B., Korac, J., Waidmann, O., Choudhary, C., Dötsch, V., Bumann, D., and Dikic, I. (2011). Phosphorylation of the autophagy receptor optineurin restricts *Salmonella* growth. *Science* 333, 228–233.
- Ylä-Anttila, P., Vihinen, H., Jokitalo, E., and Eskelinen, E. L. (2009). 3D tomography reveals connections between the phagophore and endoplasmic reticulum. *Autophagy* 5, 1180–1185.
- Zhou, D., Li, P., Lin, Y., Lott, J. M., Hislop, A. D., Canaday, D. H., Brutkiewicz, R. R., and Blum, J. S. (2005). Lamp-2a facilitates MHC class II presentation of cytoplasmic antigens. *Immunity* 22, 571–581.

- Zhou, Z., Jiang, X., Liu, D., Fan, Z., Hu, X., Yan, J., Wang, M., and Gao, G. F. (2009). Autophagy is involved in influenza A virus replication. *Autophagy* 5, 321–328.
- Zimmermann, A. C., Zarei, M., Eiselein, S., and Dengjel, J. (2010). Quantitative proteomics for the analysis of spatio-temporal protein dynamics during autophagy. *Autophagy* 6, 1009–1016.
- Zoncu, R., Efeyan, A., and Sabatini, D. M. (2011). mTOR: from growth signal integration to cancer, diabetes and ageing. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 12, 21–35.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that

could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 09 December 2011; paper pending published: 11 January 2012; accepted: 23 February 2012; published online: 14 March 2012.

Citation: Dumit VI and Dengjel J (2012) Autophagosomal protein dynamics and influenza virus infection. Front. Immun. **3**:43. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00043 This article was submitted to Frontiers in Antigen Presenting Cell Biology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology. Copyright © 2012 Dumit and Dengjel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.

Macroautophagy regulation during HIV-1 infection of CD4+ T cells and macrophages

Sophie Borel, Lucile Espert and Martine Biard-Piechaczyk *

Centre d'études d'agents Pathogènes et Biotechnologies pour la Santé, CNRS UMR5236, UM1/UM2, Montpellier, France

Edited by:

Irina Caminschi, Burnet Institute, Australia

Reviewed by:

Marianne Boes, University Medical Centre Utrecht, Netherlands Diana Dudziak, University Hospital of Erlangen, Germany

*Correspondence:

Martine Biard-Piechaczyk, Centre d'études d'agents Pathogènes et Biotechnologies pour la Santé, CNRS UMR5236, UM1/UM2, 1919 Route de Mende, 34293 Montpellier Cedex 5, France.

e-mail: martine.biard@cpbs.cnrs.fr

INTRODUCTION

Although progress has been made in the global fight against HIV/AIDS, more than 33 million people are still living with HIV worldwide (data from UNAIDS, 2009). HIV infection is characterized by an acute phase with very high levels of circulating viruses and a rapid decline in CD4+ T cells. Despite a strong immune response, the host cannot clear the infection and during the ensuing long, clinically latent phase, CD4+ T cells are progressively lost, eventually leading to AIDS in untreated patients. Long-lived, latent HIV reservoirs, established early during infection, prevent complete virus eradication although the anti-viral therapy effectively reduces the plasma HIV levels below detection limits (Chang and Altfeld, 2010; Mogensen et al., 2010). As a consequence, the fight against HIV is very difficult and a better understanding of the relationship between HIV and the human innate and adaptive immune systems is needed for the discovery of new drugs. Indeed, at present, drugs block the virus life cycle at different steps (entry, reverse transcription, integration, maturation) but do not act on the host response, which is responsible for the establishment of the reservoirs.

Macroautophagy (hereafter referred to as autophagy) is a physiologically controlled intracellular degradation mechanism that plays a role in both innate and adaptive immunity. Cytoplasmic pathogens can be degraded by autophagy, a process that has been termed xenophagy (Deretic and Levine, 2009). Moreover, autophagy participates in antigen processing for their presentation via the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I and II proteins (Schmid and Munz, 2007; English et al., 2009; Lunemann and Munz, 2009). As an evolutionary counterpoint, certain pathogens, including HIV-1, can inhibit or subvert autophagy to replicate more efficiently (Espert et al., 2007; Levine and Deretic, 2007).

Autophagy is an intracellular mechanism whereby pathogens, particularly viruses, are destroyed in autolysosomes after their entry into targets cells. Therefore, to survive and replicate in host cells, viruses have developed multiple strategies to either counteract or exploit this process. The aim of this review is to outline the known relationships between HIV-1 and autophagy in CD4+ T lymphocytes and macrophages, two main HIV-1 cell targets. The differential regulation of autophagy in these two cell-types is highlighted and its potential consequences in terms of viral replication and physiopathology discussed.

Keywords: autophagy, HIV-1, CD4+T cells, macrophages, infection

HIV-1 can infect different types of immune cells that express CD4 and a coreceptor, mainly CCR5 or CXCR4 [i.e., CD4+ T lymphocytes, macrophages, monocytes, and dendritic cells (DCs)], but replicates efficiently only in CD4+ T cells and macrophages, indicating that several aspects of the virus-host relationship are different in these target cell populations. Although both CD4+ T cells and macrophages are infected by HIV-1 and produce large amounts of virions, many differences have been identified at each step of the HIV-1 life cycle in these target cells (Table 1). The ultimate difference of the complex relationship between host cell and HIV-1 is the death of CD4+ T cells by apoptosis and the resistance of macrophages to HIV-1 cytopathic effects (Carter and Ehrlich, 2008). This review summarizes the most recent information on the regulation and the role of autophagy during HIV-1 infection of CD4+ T cells and macrophages and proposes that the differential regulation of autophagy in these target cells might contribute to HIV-1 physiopathology.

HIV-1 INFECTION OF CD4+ T CELLS AND MACROPHAGES HIV-1 ENTRY IN CD4+ T CELLS AND MACROPHAGES

HIV-1 envelope (Env), composed of the glycoproteins gp120 and gp41, plays a crucial role in virus entry. In most instances, to enter a target cell, HIV-1 Env gp120, which is expressed at the surface of free virions and infected cells, must bind to CD4. The interaction between gp120 and CD4 triggers conformational changes leading to increased exposure of gp120 regions (including the V3 loop) that can bind to CCR5 or CXCR4 (Pierson and Doms, 2003). Finally, interaction of gp120 with the coreceptor induces a structural rearrangement of the transmembrane Env subunit gp41 and insertion of the fusion domain at the N-terminus of gp41 into the target cell membrane. At this stage, gp41 adopts a trimeric extended pre-hairpin intermediate

Table 1 | Major differences between CD4+T lymphocytes and macrophages during HIV-1 infection.

		HIV-1 entry	HIV-1 replication	Cell fate
CD4+T lymphocytes		Interaction of Env with HIV-1 receptors Efficient HIV-1 spread through viral synapses HIV-1 receptors-dependent endocytosis (productive infection) Syncytia observed <i>in vitro</i>	Rapid synthesis of viral DNA Viral genome integration depends on cell activation Modulation of gene expression Budding at the cell surface Susceptibility to X4 and R5 strains	Uninfected cells Apoptosis Infected cells HIV-1 spread Reservoirs
Macrophages	1μm	Interaction of Env with HIV-1 receptors and potential additional membrane components HIV-1 receptors-independent endocytosis (unproductive infection) No syncytia observed <i>in vitro</i>	Slower synthesis of viral DNA Viral genome integration is independent of cell division Modulation of gene expression Budding in endosomes and at the cell surface Greater susceptibility to R5 strains	Uninfected cells Resistance to apoptosis Infected cells HIV-1 spread Reservoirs

conformation before the formation of a stable six-helix bundle structure and virus/cell-to-cell fusion.

Infection by cell-free viruses or through contact between infected and uninfected cells leads to HIV-1 spread (Sattentau, 2008), but the efficiency of HIV-1 infection is higher when the virus is delivered through cell-to-cell contacts. DCs and macrophages, which are among the first cells encountering HIV-1, efficiently transmit HIV-1 to CD4+ T cells through virological synapses (McDonald et al., 2003; Arrighi et al., 2004; Groot et al., 2008; Felts et al., 2010). This way of spread also occurs between HIV-1-infected and uninfected CD4+ T cells (Jolly et al., 2004; Rudnicka et al., 2009). *In vitro*, cell-to-cell fusion leads to the formation of giant, multinucleated cells called syncytia.

Coreceptor (CCR5 or CXCR4) use is correlated, at least in part, with the different phases of the disease. R5 viruses, which utilize CCR5, are predominantly isolated during the early stages of HIV-1 infection. The emergence in a patient of X4 variants, which use CXCR4, is almost invariably associated with faster decline of circulating CD4+ T cells, accelerated disease progression and poor prognosis for survival (Koot et al., 1993; Richman and Bozzette, 1994). However, the presence of X4 viruses is not an obligatory prerequisite for disease progression and a significant proportion of individuals who progress to AIDS harbor exclusively R5 variants. The selective transmission of R5 viruses is not fully understood, but it may depend on the superimposition of multiple imperfect gatekeepers that restrict HIV-1 X4 transmission at different steps of the infection process (Margolis and Shattock, 2006).

Only about 15–30% of CD4+ T lymphocytes express detectable levels of CCR5 at the cell surface, whereas CXCR4 is expressed on nearly all of these T cells (Bleul et al., 1997; Grivel and Margolis, 1999). High levels of CCR5 are observed in activated/memory CD4+ T cells, which are the CD4+ T cells that can be productively infected. In addition, the first CD4+ T cells to undergo intense HIV-1 replication after infection are the resting memory CD4+ T cells present in the gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT), which also express CCR5 (Li et al., 2005).

Macrophages are also infected by X4 and R5 strains through its receptors, CD4, CXCR4, and CCR5. However, they are more frequently infected by HIV-1 R5 strains. This phenomenon is not fully understood, but one explanation is that R5 strains can exploit low levels of CD4 and/or CCR5 to enter macrophages (Peters et al., 2004, 2006).

Besides this route of entry, endocytosis of HIV-1 has been described, especially in macrophages. Most virions are subsequently degraded, but productive infection may nevertheless occur through this CD4-independent mechanism (Marechal et al., 2001). Entry by endocytosis has also been described in CD4+ T cells, but in such cells it requires the presence of CD4 and leads to productive infection (Pauza and Price, 1988). Recently, Miyauchi et al. (2009) have demonstrated that HIV-1 likely enters lymphoid cells via an endocytic pathway, and that fusion between Env and its receptors occur in intracellular compartments.

Additional membrane components may support HIV-1 entry in macrophages, including syndecan, a heparan sulfate proteoglycan (Saphire et al., 2001; de Parseval et al., 2005); gp340, a cysteinerich scavenger receptor (Wu et al., 2004); the macrophage mannose receptor (Larkin et al., 1989; Chehimi et al., 2003; Nguyen and Hildreth, 2003); elastase (Bristow et al., 2003); and α-v-integrin (Bosch et al., 2006). These constituents may facilitate virus attachment, binding, entry and/or fusion. Another potential membrane ligand of HIV-1 is annexin II, which is expressed on the membrane of macrophages, but not of T cells. Annexin II, which binds to phosphatidyl serine (PS), an anionic phospholipid captured during HIV-1 budding, contributes to the early events of macrophage HIV-1 infection (Ma et al., 2004). Other candidate host cell surface proteins that are incorporated in HIV-1 membranes and are potentially needed for HIV-1 entry might include CD28, CD44, and CD62L (Herzberg et al., 2006).

HIV-1 REPLICATION

After reaching the cytoplasm of the infected cell, HIV-1 reverse transcription takes place in the reverse transcription complex (RTC) that is constituted by virion core proteins, cellular proteins, and the RNA genome (McDonald et al., 2002; Nermut and Fassati, 2003). Double-stranded DNA is synthesized within a few hours in CD4+ T cells, whereas this process is slower in macrophages (Collin and Gordon, 1994; O'Brien et al., 1994). The RTC moves along the microtubule network to reach the microtubule organizing center (MTOC) and the nucleus. The viral DNA is then imported into the nucleus and integrated in the cell genome through a process that requires mitosis in CD4+ T cells but not in macrophages. This suggests that cellular rather than viral components of the preintegration complex (PIC), in which the viral DNA is associated with many proteins, may play a major role in viral nuclear import and integration in macrophages (Yamashita and Emerman, 2005). After integration of the viral genome, most of the assembling HIV-1 particles localize at the plasma membrane in infected CD4+ T cells, whereas in macrophages viral particles are mostly concentrated in apparently internal compartments that possess the characteristics of late endosomes/multivesicular bodies (LEs/MVBs). However, a fraction of the intracellular virus-containing compartments in macrophages could be large and complex invaginations of the plasma membrane (Deneka et al., 2007; Jouve et al., 2007; Welsch et al., 2007).

Several microarray studies also indicate that HIV-1 infection leads to changes in host gene expression, depending on the target cell-type. Specifically, modulation of genes associated with the host defense, signal transduction, cell cycle transcription, and arrest occurs predominantly in HIV-1-infected macrophages (Coberley et al., 2004; Vazquez et al., 2005). This differential modulation of gene expression contributes to the greater survival of macrophages in comparison to CD4+ T cells following HIV-1 infection (Giri et al., 2006). Transcription of the HIV-1 DNA is also a highly regulated process that exploits the specific environment of the cell host and involves multiple interplays between cell and viral factors (Rohr et al., 2003).

HIV-1 INFECTION AND APOPTOSIS OF CD4+ T CELLS

Acute HIV-1 infection leads to a dramatic decrease in the number of CD4+ T cells, which then return to normal level in the majority of patients. Afterward, the asymptomatic phase is characterized by a progressive and continuous decline in the level of circulating CD4+ T cells. In contrast, macrophages are more resistant to HIV-1 cytopathic effects and their number is stable over years, although several macrophage functions are affected by HIV-1 infection (Biggs et al., 1995; Yoo et al., 1996; Polyak et al., 1997; Kumar et al., 1999). CD4+ T lymphocyte depletion is due to continued and accelerated apoptosis, probably triggered by multifactorial mechanisms (Espert et al., 2006; Cummins and Badley, 2010). HIV-1-induced apoptosis in bystander, uninfected immune cells is likely to be a key factor in the gradual depletion of T lymphocytes observed in HIV-1-infected patients, since the degree of cell loss largely exceeds the number of infected cells. Furthermore, the vast majority of CD4+ T cells undergoing apoptosis in peripheral blood and lymph nodes of HIV-1 patients are uninfected (Krammer et al., 1994; Finkel et al., 1995; Doitsh et al., 2010).

Among the HIV-1 proteins known to induce apoptosis of CD4+ T cells, cumulative data have demonstrated a major role of Env in apoptosis of uninfected, bystander lymphocytes (Laurent-Crawford et al., 1993; Heinkelein et al., 1995; Ohnimus et al., 1997; Blanco et al., 1999, 2000; Roggero et al., 2001; Roshal et al., 2001; Ahr et al., 2004). Indeed, binding of Env to its receptors constitutes the primary interface between HIV-1 and its target cells, and both HIV-1 X4 and R5 Env can induce CD4+ T cell death (Joshi et al., 2011). Although interaction of gp120 with CD4 and the coreceptor is required for apoptosis induction, Env-mediated apoptosis of target CD4+ T cells is induced through the fusogenic function of gp41. Interestingly, hemifusion, an intermediate step in the fusion process characterized by the merger of the outer membrane leaflets of two biological membranes without the formation of a fusion pore or mixing of the inner leaflets, is sufficient to trigger Env-mediated apoptosis of bystander CD4+ T cells (Garg and Blumenthal, 2006, 2008; Garg et al., 2007).

Many fundamental questions remain unsolved, such as how host factors can influence the susceptibility to HIV-1 infection and resistance to death and what are the mechanisms leading to the establishment and maintenance of HIV-1 latency. This latter point is of major importance because the latent viral reservoirs, which are constituted mainly of resting CD4+ T cells (Chun et al., 1995, 1997; Finzi et al., 1997; Wong et al., 1997; Siliciano et al., 2003) and cells of the monocyte–macrophage lineage (Folks et al., 1988; Biswas et al., 1992, 1994; Coleman and Wu, 2009), are unaffected by highly active anti-retroviral therapies (HAART; Finzi et al., 1999) and can reinitiate systemic infection upon interruption of HAART, or following the development of resistance (Marcello, 2006; Suyama et al., 2009).

AUTOPHAGY DURING HIV-1 INFECTION OF CD4+ T CELLS AND MACROPHAGES

Autophagy is a highly regulated mechanism that involves specific genes called *Atg* (autophagy-related genes) and has an essential role in cell homeostasis. Accordingly, autophagy has been implicated in several pathologies, including cancer, neurodegeneration, and myopathies (Marino and Lopez-Otin, 2004). Autophagy has also a specialized function in the innate immune response against intracellular pathogens through their degradation in autolysosomes (Deretic, 2006). Its implication in antigen presentation by MHC class I and II molecules extends its function to adaptive immunity as well (Nimmerjahn et al., 2003; Dengjel et al., 2005; Schmid et al., 2006). Besides its role as an intracellular host defense mechanism against viruses, autophagy can also be used by the virus for its own profit to replicate more efficiently in cells, or to control cell survival (Espert et al., 2007; Deretic and Levine, 2009; Espert and Biard-Piechaczyk, 2009; Lunemann and Munz, 2009; Lin et al., 2010; Sumpter and Levine, 2010). Data from a genome-wide RNAi screen (Brass et al., 2008) and silencing of 30 candidate cofactors (Eekels et al., 2011) indicate that HIV-1 replication in cells requires the presence of several Atg (Atg7, GABARAPL2, Atg12, and Atg16L). A very recent study underlines the role of several Atgs, in particular Atg5 and Atg16, in HIV-1 replication in CD4+ T cells (Eekels et al., 2012).

Induction of autophagy and its regulation during viral infection have different biological consequences on pathogen degradation and on the innate and adaptive immune responses, depending on both the pathogen and the host cell. The differential regulation of autophagy by HIV-1 in CD4+ T cells and macrophages (presented below) is only the tip of the iceberg, but demonstrates the importance of this process during HIV-1 infection, although many issues are not fully understood yet.

AUTOPHAGY IN UNINFECTED HIV-1 TARGET CELLS

Autophagy of uninfected CD4+ T cells, when co-cultured with lymphocytes that express Env, was described for the first time in 2006 (Espert et al., 2006). It is triggered by binding of Env to its receptors CD4 and CXCR4, but is independent of CD4 or CXCR4 signaling pathways. Autophagy can be induced in single cells (hemifusion) and syncytia (complete fusion) and depends on the fusogenic function of gp41. These results indicate that the entire process leading to HIV-1 entry into target cells through binding of Env to its receptors CD4 and CXCR4 is responsible for autophagy in CD4+ T lymphocytes (Denizot et al., 2008). As autophagy is gp41-dependent, it can be induced whatever the coreceptor used for HIV-1 entry (CCR5 or CXCR4; Espert et al., 2009). The mechanisms by which gp41 induces autophagy are unknown, but it could be a consequence of the cellular stress induced after hemifusion of the membranes. A proteomics study has already demonstrated that rapid and sustained accumulation of ROS is induced in CD4+ T cells after contact with Envexpressing cells (Molina et al., 2007), and the production of ROS is known to be directly involved in autophagy (Scherz-Shouval et al., 2007).

Importantly, Env-mediated autophagy is required to trigger CD4+ T cell apoptosis. Indeed, blockade of autophagy at different steps by drugs (3-methyladenine or Bafilomycin A1) or short interfering RNAs against *Beclin 1* and *Atg7* fully inhibits Env-mediated apoptosis. At present, nothing is known about the mechanisms that link autophagy to apoptosis, but Beclin 1 might play a key role since this Atg also binds to anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins (Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL). Interaction of Beclin 1 with Bcl-2 or Bcl-xL inhibits

Beclin 1-dependent autophagy, demonstrating a direct crosstalk between the core machineries regulating autophagy and apoptosis (Pattingre et al., 2005).

Interestingly, Beclin 1 is accumulated during the early steps of the Env-induced signaling cascade, and this phenomenon precedes autophagic vacuolization. Accumulation of Beclin 1 has also been reported in response to drugs that trigger cell death with autophagic features (Scarlatti et al., 2004; Shimizu et al., 2004; Furuya et al., 2005). Deciphering the molecular mechanism of Beclin 1 accumulation will be a crucial step for understanding the role of autophagy in HIV-1 pathogenicity.

Conversely, when cells that express HIV-1 R5 or X4 Env are co-cultured with cells from the monocyte/macrophage lineage, autophagy is not observed in uninfected cells, although they are susceptible to autophagy induced by different agents. Env-mediated autophagy is thus a cell-type dependent process. The state of differentiation is not responsible for their intrinsic resistance to Env-mediated autophagy because cells at different stage of differentiation (from promonocytic cells to monocytedifferentiated macrophages) are all equally resistant. Macrophages also do not undergo Env-mediated apoptosis and they are resistant to cell depletion during HIV-1 infection.

These major differences between CD4+T cells and macrophages raise unsolved questions: what are the mechanisms that lead to Env-mediated autophagy, how autophagy is regulated in the different cell-types, and how autophagy triggers apoptosis in CD4+T lymphocytes.

The fact that the fusogenic function of gp41 induces Envmediated autophagy only in CD4+ T cells is surprising since fusion also occurs in uninfected macrophages co-cultured with HIV-1-infected cells. An important and still unexplained difference between these two target cells is the ability to form syncytia. This has been observed since the discovery of the disease and HIV strains were first classified based on this observation. Indeed "syncytia-inducing" viruses correspond to HIV-1 strains capable of infecting CD4+ T cells through CXCR4, while "non-syncytiainducing" viruses are HIV-1 strains that infect macrophages through CCR5 (Goodenow and Collman, 2006). One hypothesis to explain why Env-mediated autophagy is a cell-specific mechanism is that the gp41-induced perturbations, triggered at the membrane of both macrophages and CD4+ T cells, could be different in the two cell-types or differentially regulated. Indeed, HIV-1 entry in macrophages is supported by additional specific interactions with host membrane molecules following Env binding to the receptor/coreceptor (see HIV-1 Entry in CD4+ T Cells and Macrophages). HIV-1 can also enter macrophages by endocytosis. Furthermore, recent data have demonstrated that ceramides, which are known inducers of autophagy (Pattingre et al., 2009), play an important role in the reorganization of membrane proteins (Chiantia et al., 2008) that is necessary for HIV-1 entry into cells. Another hypothesis is that gp120 binding to CD4 and to the coreceptor, two steps that precede gp41 insertion into the target membrane, transduces signals that counteract Env-mediated autophagy in a cell-type dependent manner. We also cannot exclude the involvement of secreted chemokines and/or cytokines in the regulation of gp41-induced autophagy. Further investigation is needed to elucidate this point.

AUTOPHAGY IN INFECTED HIV-1 TARGET CELLS

HIV-1 X4 or R5 Env expression at the cell surface (Env-transfected or HIV-1-infected cells) triggers autophagy in uninfected CD4+ T cells, leading to apoptosis. Surprisingly, when this contact leads to a productive infection, Env-mediated autophagy is inhibited in CD4+ T cells (Zhou and Spector, 2008; Espert et al., 2009). Moreover, the levels of the autophagy factor LC3-II (Zhou and Spector, 2008; Espert et al., 2009) and of Beclin 1 (Zhou and Spector, 2008) are dramatically decreased in these newly infected CD4+ T cells, suggesting that HIV-1 can actively down-regulate autophagy. Interestingly, when autophagy is triggered by different inducers in HIV-1-infected CD4+ T cells, production of HIV-1 is decreased, suggesting that autophagy can limit HIV-1 replication (unpublished data from our group).

Thus, HIV-1, as many viruses, can counteract the anti-viral function of autophagy, but the mechanism(s) by which HIV-1 can interfere with this essential cellular pathway is (are) still unknown. One or several viral proteins might block autophagy to avoid HIV-1 destruction.

Conversely, in cells from the monocyte/macrophage lineage, autophagy is induced following productive infection through contact with HIV-1 X4 or R5-infected effector cells (Espert et al., 2009). However, the observation that viruses are present only in moderately autophagic cells (Espert et al., 2009), suggests that autophagy is still controlled by HIV-1 in these cells to avoid degradation. Interestingly, early, non-degradative steps of autophagy promote HIV-1 production since blockade of this process dramatically decreases the quantity of p24 Gag (Espert

et al., 2009; Kyei et al., 2009). In addition, the HIV-1 precursor Gag is found in complexes with LC3 and is present at LC3-IIenriched membranes, suggesting that autophagy could favor Gag processing and thus production of viral particles (Kyei et al., 2009). In contrast, the degradative step of autophagy has an anti-HIV-1 activity that must be controlled by the virus to prevent its degradation. Indeed, blockage of the degradative step of autophagy increases HIV-1 production (Espert et al., 2009; Kyei et al., 2009). Interestingly, the auxiliary HIV-1 protein Nef plays a major role in the inhibition of the degradative stage of autophagy by binding to Beclin 1 (Kyei et al., 2009). Nef also interacts with immunity-associated GTPase family M (IRGM), a protein known to play an autophagy-dependent anti-bacterial function (Deretic et al., 2006; McCarroll et al., 2008; Deretic, 2010a; Singh et al., 2010) and to bind to several key proteins of the autophagy process such as Atg5 and Atg10 (Pombo-Grégoire et al., 2011). Nef/IRGM interaction promotes autophagosome accumulation and improves HIV-1 replication (Pombo-Grégoire et al., 2011). In contrast, its absence is detrimental for the viral production. IRGM also triggers autophagy in cells infected by other RNA viruses, such as hepatitis C virus (HCV) and measles virus (MeV), suggesting that different RNA virus families use similar strategies, involving IRGM, to fine-tune autophagy to their own benefit.

Taken together, all these results (summarized in **Table 2**) suggest a complex, cell-type specific relationship between HIV-1 and the autophagic response and highlight the complexity of HIV-1 pathogenesis.

Table 2 | Regulation of autophagy in CD4+T lymphocytes and macrophages during HIV-1 infection.



CONCLUSION

Although autophagy is now acknowledged to have a major role in HIV-1 infection, the available data are still quite fragmentary and more research work is needed to clarify the contribution of autophagy to viral replication, host immune responses, and viral pathogenesis. The available data indicate that autophagy is an anti-viral process and as such is inhibited by HIV-1 to avoid degradation and to promote replication. However, autophagy is also used by HIV-1 for its replication, especially in macrophages where autophagy is present all along the productive infection period.

Based on the current knowledge on the role of autophagy in different viral infections, several hypotheses can be proposed on how HIV-1 uses autophagy for its own profit in macrophages: (i) autophagy could be required to transport the RTC to the MTOC using the microtubule network. Indeed, the RTC and autophagosomes that are formed in the cytoplasm use the microtubule network to traffic toward the MTOC to reach the nucleus and to fuse with late endosomes or lysosomes, respectively (Afonso et al., 2007; Jahreiss et al., 2008; Orsi et al., 2009; Geeraert et al., 2010); (ii) autophagy could be a mechanism for membrane remodeling to support viral replication and assembly, as already described for other viruses (Miller and Krijnse-Locker, 2008). The fact that HIV-1 Gag-derived proteins interact with LC3 suggests that autophagy plays a role in promoting certain steps of HIV biogenesis (Kyei et al., 2009); (iii) autophagy could be used to specifically degrade host cell proteins that are important for the defense against HIV-1, in association with the ubiquitin-proteasome system through adapter proteins, such as p62/SQSTM1 and NBR1 (Kirkin et al., 2009;

REFERENCES

- Afonso, P. V., Zamborlini, A., Saib, A., and Mahieux, R. (2007). Centrosome and retroviruses: the dangerous liaisons. *Retrovirology* 4, 27.
- Ahr, B., Robert-Hebmann, V., Devaux, C., and Biard-Piechaczyk, M. (2004). Apoptosis of uninfected cells induced by HIV envelope glycoproteins. *Retrovirology* 1, 12.
- Arrighi, J. F., Pion, M., Garcia, E., Escola, J. M., van Kooyk, Y., Geijtenbeek, T. B., and Piguet, V. (2004). DC-SIGNmediated infectious synapse formation enhances X4 HIV-1 transmission from dendritic cells to T cells. J. Exp. Med. 200, 1279–1288.
- Biggs, B. A., Hewish, M., Kent, S., Hayes, K., and Crowe, S. M. (1995). HIV-1 infection of human macrophages impairs phagocytosis and killing of *Toxoplasma gondii. J. Immunol.* 154, 6132–6139.
- Biswas, P., Poli, G., Kinter, A. L., Justement, J. S., Stanley, S. K., Maury, W. J., Bressler, P., Orenstein, J. M., and Fauci, A. S. (1992). Interferon gamma induces the expression of human immunodeficiency virus in persistently infected promonocytic

cells (U1) and redirects the production of virions to intracytoplasmic vacuoles in phorbol myristate acetate-differentiated U1 cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 176, 739–750.

- Biswas, P., Poli, G., Orenstein, J. M., and Fauci, A. S. (1994). Cytokine-mediated induction of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) expression and cell death in chronically infected U1 cells: do tumor necrosis factor alpha and gamma interferon selectively kill HIV-infected cells? J. Virol. 68, 2598–2604.
- Blanco, J., Barretina, J., Henson, G., Bridger, G., De Clercq, E., Clotet, B., and Este, J. A. (2000). The CXCR4 antagonist AMD3100 efficiently inhibits cell-surface- expressed human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope-induced apoptosis. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 44, 51–56.
- Blanco, J., Jacotot, E., Cabrera, C., Cardona, A., Clotet, B., DeClercq, E., and Esté, J. A. (1999). The implication of the chemokine receptor CXCR4 in HIV-1 envelope proteininduced apoptosis is independent of

Lamark et al., 2009; Deretic, 2010b); (iv) low levels of autophagy may promote the formation of latent cell reservoirs; and (v) autophagy could process antigen determinants for their presentation by the MHC, and could hide HIV-1 from recognition by the immune system. This point is discussed in other chapters of this issue.

In addition, autophagy is a cell fate-determining process that triggers apoptosis of bystander CD4+ T cells that cannot be productively infected by HIV-1. Inhibition of autophagy in productively infected CD4+ T cells may thus both prevent HIV-1 degradation and maintain cell viability long enough to allow efficient viral replication. Autophagy has been defined as a type II programmed cell death, based on the morphology of the dying cells. However, Env-mediated autophagy is not a cell death mechanism by itself as it leads to apoptosis by a yet unknown mechanism. It is important to note that autophagy deregulation may also play a role in a variety of diseases that are related directly and/or indirectly to HIV infection, including cancer, dementia, and premature aging.

To the best of our knowledge, HIV-1 infection of CD4+ T cells and macrophages is the first example of a viral infection in which autophagy governs both viral replication and the fate of uninfected cells. The data also strongly suggest that autophagy is responsible, at least in part, for HIV-1 pathogenesis, providing new insights into therapeutic strategies for the future.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The work was supported by institutional funds from the Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS) and the Montpellier I and II Universities, and grants from SIDACTION.

the G protein-mediated signalling. *AIDS* 13, 909–917.

- Bleul, C., Wu, L. H., Hoxie, J. A., Springer, T. A., and MacKay, C. R. (1997). The HIV coreceptors CXCR4 and CCR5 are differentially expressed and regulated on human T lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 94, 1925–1930.
- Bosch, B., Clotet-Codina, I., Blanco, J., Pauls, E., Coma, G., Cedeno, S., Mitjans, F., Llano, A., Bofill, M., Clotet, B., Piulats, J., and Esté, J. A. (2006). Inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection in macrophages by an alpha-v integrin blocking antibody. *Antiviral Res.* 69, 173–180.
- Brass, A. L., Dykxhoorn, D. M., Benita, Y., Yan, N., Engelman, A., Xavier, R. J., Lieberman, J., and Elledge, S. J. (2008). Identification of host proteins required for HIV infection through a functional genomic screen. *Science* 319, 921–926.
- Bristow, C. L., Mercatante, D. R., and Kole, R. (2003). HIV-1 preferentially binds receptors copatched with cell-surface elastase. *Blood* 102, 4479–4486.

- Carter, C. A., and Ehrlich, L. S. (2008). Cell biology of HIV-1 infection of macrophages. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.* 62, 425–443.
- Chang, J. J., and Altfeld, M. (2010). Innate immune activation in primary HIV-1 infection. J. Infect. Dis. 202(Suppl. 2), S297–S301.
- Chehimi, J., Luo, Q., Azzoni, L., Shawver, L., Ngoubilly, N., June, R., Jerandi, G., Farabaugh, M., and Montaner, L. J. (2003). HIV-1 transmission and cytokine-induced expression of DC-SIGN in human monocyte-derived macrophages. J. Leukoc. Biol. 74, 757–763.
- Chiantia, S., Ries, J., Chwastek, G., Carrer, D., Li, Z., Bittman, R., and Schwille, P. (2008). Role of ceramide in membrane protein organization investigated by combined AFM and FCS. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1778, 1356–1364.
- Chun, T. W., Finzi, D., Margolick, J., Chadwick, K., Schwartz, D., and Siliciano, R. F. (1995). In vivo fate of HIV-1-infected T cells: quantitative analysis of the transition to stable latency. *Nat. Med.* 1, 1284–1290.

- Chun, T. W., Stuyver, L., Mizell, S. B., Ehler, L. A., Mican, J. A., Baseler, M., Lloyd, A. L., Nowak, M. A., and Fauci, A. S. (1997). Presence of an inducible HIV-1 latent reservoir during highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 94, 13193–13197.
- Coberley, C. R., Kohler, J. J., Brown, J. N., Oshier, J. T., Baker, H. V., Popp, M. P., Sleasman, J. W., and Goodenow, M. M. (2004). Impact on genetic networks in human macrophages by a CCR5 strain of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *J. Virol.* 78, 11477–11486.
- Coleman, C. M., and Wu, L. (2009). HIV interactions with monocytes and dendritic cells: viral latency and reservoirs. *Retrovirology* 6, 51.
- Collin, M., and Gordon, S. (1994). The kinetics of human immunodeficiency virus reverse transcription are slower in primary human macrophages than in a lymphoid cell line. *Virology* 200, 114–120.
- Cummins, N. W., and Badley, A. D. (2010). Mechanisms of HIVassociated lymphocyte apoptosis. *Cell Death Dis.* 1, e99.
- de Parseval, A., Bobardt, M. D., Chatterji, A., Chatterji, U., Elder, J. H., David, G., Zolla-Pazner, S., Farzan, M., Lee, T. H., and Gallay, P. A. (2005). A highly conserved arginine in gp120 governs HIV-1 binding to both syndecans and CCR5 via sulfated motifs. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 39493–39504.
- Deneka, M., Pelchen-Matthews, A., Byland, R., Ruiz-Mateos, E., and Marsh, M. (2007). In macrophages, HIV-1 assembles into an intracellular plasma membrane domain containing the tetraspanins CD81, CD9, and CD53. *J. Cell Biol.* 177, 329–341.
- Dengjel, J., Schoor, O., Fischer, R., Reich, M., Kraus, M., Muller, M., Kreymborg, K., Altenberend, F., Brandenburg, J., Kalbacher, H., Brock, R., Driessen, C., Rammensee, H. G., and Stevanovic, S. (2005). Autophagy promotes MHC class II presentation of peptides from intracellular source proteins. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 102, 7922–7927.
- Denizot, M., Varbanov, M., Espert, L., Robert-Hebmann, V., Sagnier, S., Garcia, E., Curriu, M., Mamoun, R., Blanco, J., and Biard-Piechaczyk, M. (2008). HIV-1 gp41 fusogenic function triggers autophagy in uninfected cells. *Autophagy* 4, 998–1008.
- Deretic, V. (2006). Autophagy as an immune defense mechanism. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 18, 375–382.

- Deretic, V. (2010a). Autophagy in infection. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 22, 252–262.
- Deretic, V. (2010b). A master conductor for aggregate clearance by autophagy. *Dev. Cell* 18, 694–696.
- Deretic, V., and Levine, B. (2009). Autophagy, immunity, and microbial adaptations. *Cell Host Microbe* 5, 527–549.
- Deretic, V., Singh, S., Master, S., Harris, J., Roberts, E., Kyei, G., Davis, A., de Haro, S., Naylor, J., Lee, H. H., and Vergne, I. (2006). Mycobacterium tuberculosis inhibition of phagolysosome biogenesis and autophagy as a host defence mechanism. *Cell. Microbiol.* 8, 719–727.
- Doitsh, G., Cavrois, M., Lassen, K. G., Zepeda, O., Yang, Z., Santiago, M. L., Hebbeler, A. M., and Greene, W. C. (2010). Abortive HIV infection mediates CD4 T cell depletion and inflammation in human lymphoid tissue. *Cell* 143, 789–801.
- Eekels, J. J., Geerts, D., Jeeninga, R. E., and Berkhout, B. (2011). Longterm inhibition of HIV-1 replication with RNA interference against cellular co-factors. *Antiviral Res.* 89, 43–53.
- Eekels, J. M., Sagnier, S., Geerts, D., Jeeninga, R. E., Biard-Piechaczyk, M., and Berkhout, B. (2012). Inhibition of HIV-1 replication with stable RNAi-mediated knockdown of autophagy factors. *Virol. J.* 9. (in press).
- English, L., Chemali, M., Duron, J., Rondeau, C., Laplante, A., Gingras, D., Alexander, D., Leib, D., Norbury, C., Lippe, R., and Desjardins, M. (2009). Autophagy enhances the presentation of endogenous viral antigens on MHC class I molecules during HSV-1 infection. *Nat. Immunol.* 10, 480–487.
- Espert, L., and Biard-Piechaczyk, M. (2009). Autophagy in HIV-induced T cell death. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 335, 307–321.
- Espert, L., Codogno, P., and Biard-Piechaczyk, M. (2007). Involvement of autophagy in viral infections: antiviral function and subversion by viruses. J. Mol. Med. 85, 811–823.
- Espert, L., Denizot, M., Grimaldi, M., Robert-Hebmann, V., Gay, B., Varbanov, M., Codogno, P., and Biard-Piechaczyk, M. (2006). Autophagy is involved in T cell death after binding of HIV-1 envelope proteins to CXCR4. J. Clin. Invest. 116, 2161–2172.
- Espert, L., Varbanov, M., Robert-Hebmann, V., Sagnier, S., Robbins, I., Sanchez, F., Lafont, V., and

Biard-Piechaczyk, M. (2009). Differential role of autophagy in CD4 T cells and macrophages during X4 and R5 HIV-1 infection. *PLoS ONE* 4, e5787. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005787

- Felts, R. L., Narayan, K., Estes, J. D., Shi, D., Trubey, C. M., Fu, J., Hartnell, L. M., Ruthel, G. T., Schneider, D. K., Nagashima, K., Bess, J. W., Bavari, S., Lowekamp, B. C., Bliss, D., Lifson, J. D., and Subramaniam, S. (2010). 3D visualization of HIV transfer at the virological synapse between dendritic cells and T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 13336–13341.
- Finkel, T. H., Tudor-Williams, G., Banda, N. K., Cotton, M. F., Curiel, T., Monks, C., Baba, T. W., Ruprecht, R. M., and Kupfer, A. (1995). Apoptosis occurs predominantly in bystander cells and not in productively infected cells of HIV- and SIVinfected lymph nodes. *Nat. Med.* 1, 129–134.
- Finzi, D., Blankson, J., Siliciano, J. D., Margolick, J. B., Chadwick, K., Pierson, T., Smith, K., Lisziewicz, J., Lori, F., Flexner, C., Quinn, T. C., Chaisson, R. E., Rosenberg, E., Walker, B., Gange, S., Gallant, J., and Siliciano, R. F. (1999). Latent infection of CD4+ T cells provides a mechanism for lifelong persistence of HIV-1, even in patients on effective combination therapy. *Nat. Med.* 5, 512–517.
- Finzi, D., Hermankova, M., Pierson, T., Carruth, L. M., Buck, C., Chaisson, R. E., Quinn, T. C., Chadwick, K., Margolick, J., Brookmeyer, R., Gallant, J., Markowitz, M., Ho, D. D., Richman, D. D., and Siliciano, R. F. (1997). Identification of a reservoir for HIV-1 in patients on highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Science* 278, 1295–1300.
- Folks, T. M., Justement, J., Kinter, A., Dinarello, C., and Fauci, A. S. (1988). Cytokine-induced expression of HIV-1 in a chronically infected promonocytic cell line. *Science* 238, 800–802.
- Furuya, D., Tsuji, N., Yagihashi, A., and Watanabe, N. (2005). Beclin 1 augmented cisdiamminedichloroplatinum induced apoptosis via enhancing caspase-9 activity. *Exp. Cell Res.* 307, 26–40.
- Garg, H., and Blumenthal, R. (2006). HIV gp41-induced apoptosis is mediated by caspase-3-dependent mitochondrial depolarization, which is inhibited by HIV protease inhibitor nelfinavir. J. Leukoc. Biol. 79, 351–362.

- Garg, H., and Blumenthal, R. (2008). Role of HIV Gp41 mediated fusion/hemifusion in bystander apoptosis. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 65, 3134–3144.
- Garg, H., Joshi, A., Freed, E. O., and Blumenthal, R. (2007). Sitespecific mutations in HIV-1 GP41 reveal a correlation between HIV-1-mediated bystander apoptosis and fusion/hemifusion. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 16899–16906.
- Geeraert, C., Ratier, A., Pfisterer, S. G., Perdiz, D., Cantaloube, I., Rouault, A., Pattingre, S., Proikas-Cezanne, T., Codogno, P., and Pous, C. (2010). Starvation-induced hyperacetylation of tubulin is required for the stimulation of autophagy by nutrient deprivation. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 24184–24194.
- Giri, M. S., Nebozhyn, M., Showe, L., and Montaner, L. J. (2006). Microarray data on gene modulation by HIV-1 in immune cells: 2000-2006. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 80, 1031–1043.
- Goodenow, M. M., and Collman, R. G. (2006). HIV-1 coreceptor preference is distinct from target cell tropism: a dual-parameter nomenclature to define viral phenotypes. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 80, 965–972.
- Grivel, J. C., and Margolis, L. B. (1999). CCR5- and CXCR4-tropic HIV-1 are equally cytopathic for their T-cell targets in human lymphoid tissue. *Nat. Med.* 5, 344–346.
- Groot, F., Welsch, S., and Sattentau, Q. J. (2008). Efficient HIV-1 transmission from macrophages to T cells across transient virological synapses. *Blood* 111, 4660–4663.
- Heinkelein, M., Sopper, S., and Jassoy, C. (1995). Contact of human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected and uninfected CD4⁺ T lymphocytes is highly cytolytic for both cells. *J. Virol.* 69, 6925–6931.
- Herzberg, M. C., Weinberg, A., and Wahl, S. M. (2006). (C3) The oral epithelial cell and first encounters with HIV-1. *Adv. Dent. Res.* 19, 158–166.
- Jahreiss, L., Menzies, F. M., and Rubinsztein, D. C. (2008). The itinerary of autophagosomes: from peripheral formation to kiss-and-run fusion with lysosomes. *Traffic* 9, 574–587.
- Jolly, C., Kashefi, K., Hollinshead, M., and Sattentau, Q. J. (2004). HIV-1 cell to cell transfer across an Envinduced, actin-dependent synapse. J. Exp. Med. 199, 283–293.
- Joshi, A., Nyakeriga, A. M., Ravi, R., and Garg, H. (2011). HIV ENV glycoprotein-mediated bystander apoptosis depends on expression of the CCR5 co-receptor at the cell

Autophagy during HIV-1 infection

surface and ENV fusogenic activity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 36404–36413.

- Jouve, M., Sol-Foulon, N., Watson, S., Schwartz, O., and Benaroch, P. (2007). HIV-1 buds and accumulates in "nonacidic" endosomes of macrophages. *Cell Host Microbe* 2, 85–95.
- Kirkin, V., Lamark, T., Sou, Y. S., Bjorkoy, G., Nunn, J. L., Bruun, J. A., Shvets, E., McEwan, D. G., Clausen, T. H., Wild, P., Bilusic, I., Theurillat, J. P., Øvervatn, A., Ishii, T., Elazar, Z., Komatsu, M., Dikic, I., and Johansen, T. (2009). A role for NBR1 in autophagosomal degradation of ubiquitinated substrates. *Mol. Cell* 33, 505–516.
- Koot, M., Keet, I. P., Vos, A. H., de Goede, R. E., Roos, M. T., Coutinho, R. A., Miedema, F., Schellekens, P. T., and Tersmette, M. (1993). Prognostic value of HIV-1 syncytiuminducing phenotype for rate of CD4⁺ cell depletion and progression to AIDS. Ann. Intern. Med. 118, 681–688.
- Krammer, P. H., Dhein, J., Walczak, H., Behrmann, I., Mariani, S., Matiba, B., Fath, M., Daniel, P. T., Knipping, E., Westendorp, M. O., Stricker, K., Bäumler, C., Hellbardt, S., Germer, M., Peter, M. E., and Debativ, K.-M. (1994). The role of APO-1-mediated apoptosis in the immune system. *Immunol. Rev.* 142, 175–191.
- Kumar, A., Dhawan, S., Mukhopadhyay, A., and Aggarwal, B. B. (1999). Human immunodeficiency virus-1-tat induces matrix metalloproteinase-9 in monocytes through protein tyrosine phosphatase-mediated activation of nuclear transcription factor NF-kappaB. *FEBS Lett.* 462, 140–144.
- Kyei, G. B., Dinkins, C., Davis, A. S., Roberts, E., Singh, S. B., Dong, C., Wu, L., Kominami, E., Ueno, T., Yamamoto, A., Federico, M., Panganiban, A., Vergne, I., and Deretic, V. (2009). Autophagy pathway intersects with HIV-1 biosynthesis and regulates viral yields in macrophages. *J. Cell Biol.* 186, 255–268.
- Lamark, T., Kirkin, V., Dikic, I., and Johansen, T. (2009). NBR1 and p62 as cargo receptors for selective autophagy of ubiquitinated targets. *Cell Cycle* 8, 1986–1990.
- Larkin, M., Childs, R. A., Matthews, T. J., Thiel, S., Mizuochi, T., Lawson, A. M., Savill, J. S., Haslett, C., Diaz, R., and Feizi, T. (1989). Oligosaccharide-mediated interactions of the envelope glycoprotein

gp120 of HIV-1 that are independent of CD4 recognition. *AIDS* 3, 793–798.

- Laurent-Crawford, A. G., Krust, B., Riviere, Y., Desgranges, C., Muller, S., Kieny, M. P., Dauguet, C., and Hovanessian, A. G. (1993). Membrane expression of HIV envelope glycoproteins triggers apoptosis in CD4 cells. *AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses* 9, 761–773.
- Levine, B., and Deretic, V. (2007). Unveiling the roles of autophagy in innate and adaptive immunity. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 7, 767–777.
- Li, Q., Duan, L., Estes, J. D., Ma, Z. M., Rourke, T., Wang, Y., Reilly, C., Carlis, J., Miller, C. J., and Haase, A. T. (2005). Peak SIV replication in resting memory CD4+ T cells depletes gut lamina propria CD4+ T cells. *Nature* 434, 1148–1152.
- Lin, L. T., Dawson, P. W., and Richardson, C. D. (2010). Viral interactions with macroautophagy: a doubleedged sword. *Virology* 402, 1–10.
- Lunemann, J. D., and Munz, C. (2009). Autophagy in CD4+ T-cell immunity and tolerance. *Cell Death Differ*. 16, 79–86.
- Ma, G., Greenwell-Wild, T., Lei, K., Jin, W., Swisher, J., Hardegen, N., Wild, C. T., and Wahl, S. M. (2004). Secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor binds to annexin II, a cofactor for macrophage HIV-1 infection. J. Exp. Med. 200, 1337–1346.
- Marcello, A. (2006). Latency: the hidden HIV-1 challenge. *Retrovirology* 3, 7.
- Marechal, V., Prevost, M. C., Petit, C., Perret, E., Heard, J. M., and Schwartz, O. (2001). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 entry into macrophages mediated by macropinocytosis. *J. Virol.* 75, 11166–11177.
- Margolis, L., and Shattock, R. (2006). Selective transmission of CCR5utilizing HIV-1: the "gatekeeper" problem resolved? *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 4, 312–317.
- Marino, G., and Lopez-Otin, C. (2004). Autophagy: molecular mechanisms, physiological functions and relevance in human pathology. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 61, 1439–1454.
- McCarroll, S. A., Huett, A., Kuballa, P., Chilewski, S. D., Landry, A., Goyette, P., Zody, M. C., Hall, J. L., Brant, S. R., Cho, J. H., Duerr, R. H., Silverberg, M. S., Taylor, K. D., Rioux, J. D., Altshuler, D., Daly, M. J., and Xavier, R. J. (2008). Deletion polymorphism upstream of IRGM associated with altered IRGM expression and Crohn's disease. *Nat. Genet.* 40, 1107–1112.

- McDonald, D., Vodicka, M. A., Lucero, G., Svitkina, T. M., Borisy, G. G., Emerman, M., and Hope, T. J. (2002). Visualization of the intracellular behavior of HIV in living cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 159, 441–452.
- McDonald, D., Wu, L., Bohks, S. M., KewalRamani, V. N., Unutmaz, D., and Hope, T. J. (2003). Recruitment of HIV and its receptors to dendritic cell-T cell junctions. *Science* 300, 1295–1297.
- Miller, S., and Krijnse-Locker, J. (2008). Modification of intracellular membrane structures for virus replication. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 6, 363–374.
- Miyauchi, K., Kim, Y., Latinovic, O., Morozov, V., and Melikyan, G. B. (2009). HIV enters cells via endocytosis and dynamin-dependent fusion with endosomes. *Cell* 137, 433–444.
- Mogensen, T. H., Melchjorsen, J., Larsen, C. S., and Paludan, S. R. (2010). Innate immune recognition and activation during HIV infection. *Retrovirology* 7, 54.
- Molina, L., Grimaldi, M., Robert-Hebmann, V., Espert, L., Varbanov, M., Devaux, C., Granier, C., and Biard-Piechaczyk, M. (2007). Proteomic analysis of the cellular responses induced in uninfected immune cells by cell-expressed X4 HIV-1 envelope. *Proteomics* 7, 3116–3130.
- Nermut, M. V., and Fassati, A. (2003). Structural analyses of purified human immunodeficiency virus type 1 intracellular reverse transcription complexes. *J. Virol.* 77, 8196–8206.
- Nguyen, D. G., and Hildreth, J. E. (2003). Involvement of macrophage mannose receptor in the binding and transmission of HIV by macrophages. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 33, 483–493.
- Nimmerjahn, F., Milosevic, S., Behrends, U., Jaffee, E. M., Pardoll, D. M., Bornkamm, G. W., and Mautner, J. (2003). Major histocompatibility complex class II-restricted presentation of a cytosolic antigen by autophagy. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 33, 1250–1259.
- O'Brien, W. A., Namazi, A., Kalhor, H., Mao, S. H., Zack, J. A., and Chen, I. S. (1994). Kinetics of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 reverse transcription in blood mononuclear phagocytes are slowed by limitations of nucleotide precursors. *J. Virol.* 68, 1258–1263.
- Ohnimus, H., Heinkelein, M., and Jassoy, C. (1997). Apoptotic cell death

upon contact of CD4+ T lymphocytes with HIV glycoproteinexpressing cells is mediated by caspases but bypasses CD95 (Fas/Apo-1) and TNF receptor 1. *J. Immunol.* 159, 5246–5252.

- Orsi, A., Polson, H. E., and Tooze, S. A. (2009). Membrane trafficking events that partake in autophagy. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 22, 150–156.
- Pattingre, S., Bauvy, C., Carpentier, S., Levade, T., Levine, B., and Codogno, P. (2009). Role of JNK1-dependent Bcl-2 phosphorylation in ceramideinduced macroautophagy. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 2719–2728.
- Pattingre, S., Tassa, A., Qu, X., Garuti, R., Liang, X. H., Mizushima, N., Packer, M., Schneider, M. D., and Levine, B. (2005). Bcl-2 antiapoptotic proteins inhibit beclin 1-dependent autophagy. *Cell* 122, 927–939.
- Pauza, C. D., and Price, T. M. (1988). Human immunodeficiency virus infection of T cells and monocytes proceeds via receptormediated endocytosis. J. Cell Biol. 107, 959–968.
- Peters, P. J., Bhattacharya, J., Hibbitts, S., Dittmar, M. T., Simmons, G., Bell, J., Simmonds, P., and Clapham, P. R. (2004). Biological analysis of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 R5 envelopes amplified from brain and lymph node tissues of AIDS patients with neuropathology reveals two distinct tropism phenotypes and identifies envelopes in the brain that confer an enhanced tropism and fusogenicity for macrophages. J. Virol. 78, 6915–6926.
- Peters, P. J., Sullivan, W. M., Duenas-Decamp, M. J., Bhattacharya, J., Ankghuambom, C., Brown, R., Luzuriaga, K., Bell, J., Simmonds, P., Ball, J., and Clapham, P. R. (2006). Non-macrophage-tropic human immunodeficiency virus type 1 R5 envelopes predominate in blood, lymph nodes, and semen: implications for transmission and pathogenesis. J. Virol. 80, 6324–6332.
- Pierson, T. C., and Doms, R. W. (2003). HIV-1 entry and its inhibition. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 281, 1–27.
- Polyak, S., Chen, H., Hirsch, D., George, I., Hershberg, R., and Sperber, K. (1997). Impaired class II expression and antigen uptake in monocytic cells after HIV-1 infection. J. Immunol. 159, 2177–2188.
- Pombo-Grégoire, I., Richetta, C., Meyniel-Schicklin, L., Borel, S., Pradezynski, F., Diaz, O., Deloire, A., Le Breton, M., Azocar, O., Mangeot, P. E., Navratil, V., Joubert, P. E., Flacher, M., Vidalain, P. O., André,

P., Lotteau, V., Biard-Piechaczyk, M., Rabourdin-Combe, C., and Faure, M. (2011). IRGM is a common target of RNA viruses that subvert the autophagy network. *PLoS Pathog.* 7, e1002422. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002422

- Richman, D. D., and Bozzette, S. A. (1994). The impact of the syncytium-inducing phenotype of human immunodeficiency virus on disease progression. J. Infect. Dis. 169, 968–974.
- Roggero, R., Robert-Hebmann, V., Harrington, S., Roland, J., Vergne, L., Jaleco, S., Devaux, C., and Biard-Piechaczyk, M. (2001). Binding of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 to CXCR4 induces mitochondrial transmembrane depolarization and cytochrome c-mediated apoptosis independently of Fas signaling. J. Virol. 75, 7637–7650.
- Rohr, O., Marban, C., Aunis, D., and Schaeffer, E. (2003). Regulation of HIV-1 gene transcription: from lymphocytes to microglial cells. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 74, 736–749.
- Roshal, M., Zhu, Y., and Planelles, V. (2001). Apoptosis in AIDS. *Apoptosis* 6, 103–116.
- Rudnicka, D., Feldmann, J., Porrot, F., Wietgrefe, S., Guadagnini, S., Prevost, M. C., Estaquier, J., Haase, A. T., Sol-Foulon, N., and Schwartz, O. (2009). Simultaneous cell-to-cell transmission of human immunodeficiency virus to multiple targets through polysynapses. J. Virol. 83, 6234–6246.
- Saphire, A. C., Bobardt, M. D., Zhang, Z., David, G., and Gallay, P. A. (2001). Syndecans serve as attachment receptors for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 on macrophages. *J. Virol.* 75, 9187–9200.

- Sattentau, Q. (2008). Avoiding the void: cell-to-cell spread of human viruses. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 6, 815–826.
- Scarlatti, F., Bauvy, C., Ventruti, A., Sala, G., Cluzeaud, F., Vandewalle, A., Ghidoni, R., and Codogno, P. (2004). Ceramide-mediated macroautophagy involves inhibition of protein kinase B and up-regulation of beclin 1. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 18384–18391.
- Scherz-Shouval, R., Shvets, E., Fass, E., Shorer, H., Gil, L., and Elazar, Z. (2007). Reactive oxygen species are essential for autophagy and specifically regulate the activity of Atg4. *EMBO J.* 26, 1749–1760.
- Schmid, D., Dengjel, J., Schoor, O., Stevanovic, S., and Munz, C. (2006). Autophagy in innate and adaptive immunity against intracellular pathogens. J. Mol. Med. 84, 194–202.
- Schmid, D., and Munz, C. (2007). Innate and adaptive immunity through autophagy. *Immunity* 27, 11–21.
- Shimizu, S., Kanaseki, T., Mizushima, N., Mizuta, T., Arakawa-Kobayashi, S., Thompson, C. B., and Tsujimoto, Y. (2004). Role of Bcl-2 family proteins in a non-apoptotic programmed cell death dependent on autophagy genes. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 6, 1221–1228.
- Siliciano, J. D., Kajdas, J., Finzi, D., Quinn, T. C., Chadwick, K., Margolick, J. B., Kovacs, C., Gange, S. J., and Siliciano, R. F. (2003). Longterm follow-up studies confirm the stability of the latent reservoir for HIV-1 in resting CD4+ T cells. *Nat. Med.* 9, 727–728.
- Singh, S. B., Ornatowski, W., Vergne, I., Naylor, J., Delgado, M., Roberts, E., Ponpuak, M., Master, S., Pilli, M., White, E., Komatsu, M., and Deretic, V. (2010). Human IRGM regulates

autophagy and cell-autonomous immunity functions through mitochondria. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 12, 1154–1165.

- Sumpter, R. Jr., and Levine, B. (2010). Autophagy and innate immunity: triggering, targeting and tuning. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 21, 699–711.
- Suyama, M., Daikoku, E., Goto, T., Sano, K., and Morikawa, Y. (2009). Reactivation from latency displays HIV particle budding at plasma membrane, accompanying CD44 upregulation and recruitment. *Retrovirol*ogy 6, 63.
- UNAIDS. (2009). The Annual AIDS Epidemic Update Reports. "UNAIDS/09.36E/JC1700E".1-100. Geneva: UNAIDS.
- Vazquez, N., Greenwell-Wild, T., Marinos, N. J., Swaim, W. D., Nares, S., Ott, D. E., Schubert, U., Henklein, P., Orenstein, J. M., Sporn, M. B., and Wahl, S. M. (2005). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1induced macrophage gene expression includes the p21 gene, a target for viral regulation. J. Virol. 79, 4479–4491.
- Welsch, S., Keppler, O. T., Habermann, A., Allespach, I., Krijnse-Locker, J., and Krausslich, H. G. (2007). HIV-1 buds predominantly at the plasma membrane of primary human macrophages. *PLoS Pathog.* 3, e36. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.0030036
- Wong, J. K., Hezareh, M., Gunthard, H. F., Havlir, D. V., Ignacio, C. C., Spina, C. A., and Richman, D. D. (1997). Recovery of replicationcompetent HIV despite prolonged suppression of plasma viremia. *Science* 278, 1291–1295.
- Wu, Z., Golub, E., Abrams, W. R., and Malamud, D. (2004). gp340 (SAG) binds to the V3 sequence of gp120

important for chemokine receptor interaction. *AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses* 20, 600–607.

- Yamashita, M., and Emerman, M. (2005). The cell cycle independence of HIV infections is not determined by known karyophilic viral elements. *PLoS Pathog.* 1, e18. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.0010018
- Yoo, J., Chen, H., Kraus, T., Hirsch, D., Polyak, S., George, I., and Sperber, K. (1996). Altered cytokine production and accessory cell function after HIV-1 infection. *J. Immunol.* 157, 1313–1320.
- Zhou, D., and Spector, S. A. (2008). Human immunodeficiency virus type-1 infection inhibits autophagy. *AIDS* 22, 695–699.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 05 December 2011; accepted: 13 April 2012; published online: 07 May 2012.

Citation: Borel S, Espert L and Biard-Piechaczyk M (2012) Macroautophagy regulation during HIV-1 infection of CD4+ T cells and macrophages. Front. Immun. **3**:97. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00097

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Antigen Presenting Cell Biology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2012 Borel, Espert and Biard-Piechaczyk. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



IRGM in autophagy and viral infections

Denitsa S. Petkova, Christophe Viret and Mathias Faure*

Laboratory of Autophagy, Infections and Immunity, INSERM, U1111, CIRI, Université Lyon 1, Lyon, France

Edited by:

Christian Muenz, University of Zurich, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Philippe Pierre, Centre National de La Recherche Sceintifique, France John D. MacMicking, Yale University School of Medicine, USA

*Correspondence:

Mathias Faure, Laboratory of Autophagy, Infections and Immunity, INSERM, U1111, CIRI, Université Lyon 1, 21 Avenue Tony Garnier, 69365 Lyon Cedex 07, France. e-mail: mathias.faure@inserm.fr Autophagy is a cell autonomous process allowing each individual cell to fight intracellular pathogens. Autophagy can destroy pathogens within the cytosol, and can elicit innate and adaptive immune responses against microorganisms. Nevertheless, numerous pathogens have developed molecular strategies enabling them to avoid or even exploit autophagy for their own benefit. IRGM (immunity-related GTPase family M) is a human protein recently highlighted for its contribution to autophagy upon infections. The physical association of IRGM with mitochondria and different autophagy-regulating proteins, ATG5, ATG10, SH3GLB1, and LC3, contribute to explain how IRGM could regulate autophagy. Whereas IRGM is involved in autophagy-mediated immunity against bacteria, certain viruses seem to have developed strategies to manipulate autophagy through the selective targeting of this protein. Furthermore, *irgm* variants are linked to infection-associated human pathologies such as the inflammatory Crohn's disease. Here, we discuss how IRGM might contribute to human autophagy upon viral infection, and why its targeting might be beneficial to virus replication.

Keywords: autophagy, IRGM, virus, infection, immunity, interferon

INTRODUCTION

As obligatory intracellular parasites, viruses are continually faced with the degradative mechanism of macroautophagy (thereafter referred to as autophagy; **Figure 1**). Autophagy can destroy infectious virions or virus components that are essential for replication (Levine, 2005; Richetta and Faure, 2012). Furthermore, autophagy can deliver viral genomes to TLR-containing endosomes, which sets off synthesis of antiviral type I interferon (IFN-I; Lee et al., 2007). Autophagy can also contribute to virus-derived peptide presentation on class I and class II major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules to trigger antiviral CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells responses, respectively (English et al., 2009; Munz, 2009). Thus, autophagy is an intrinsic cellular antiviral process able to enhance innate responses and to link them to adaptive immunity to optimize the fight against viruses.

Numerous viruses have developed molecular strategies to counteract autophagy. Certain viruses developed properties enabling them to inhibit the autophagy flux. For instance, herpes simplex virus (HSV)-1 or the cytomegalovirus (CMV) can inhibit autophagy induction by targeting BECLIN1 (BECN1), an essential autophagy-associated protein, through interactions with viral proteins (Orvedahl et al., 2007; Chaumorcel et al., 2012). Other viruses avoid autophagy degradation by inhibiting autophagosome maturation such as human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-1 and influenza A virus which prevent autophagosome maturation through the physical interaction of one viral protein with BECN1 (Gannage et al., 2009; Kyei et al., 2009). Finally, viruses can induce a complete productive autophagy process and exploit it as a source for metabolites or as a platform for improving their own replication (Jackson et al., 2005; Heaton and Randall, 2010). Thus, host-virus co-evolution may have led to the selection of very different mechanisms used by viruses to avoid or exploit autophagy.

The understanding of the molecular pathways linked to the proviral or antiviral functions of autophagy is still at its beginning, especially regarding the molecular interplay between viruses and autophagy proteins. The human immunity-related GTPase family M (IRGM) protein was shown to be widely targeted by RNA viruses, several among which can exploit autophagy in human cells to improve their replication (Gregoire et al., 2011, 2012). However, how IRGM regulates autophagy upon infections remains unknown. This aspect might be of great interest in several human pathologies for which *irgm* was recently found to be involved.

IRGM AND AUTOPHAGY IN INFECTIONS

Unlike its mouse ortholog, the human *irgm* gene expression is not under the control of IFN- γ (Bekpen et al., 2005). Whereas 23 immune-related genes (*irg*) genes exist in mice and play immunerelated functions, the IRGM-mediated cell autonomous resistance mechanisms have been first lost in primates due to deleterious mutations. However, *irgm* gene function was restored in some primates including *Homo sapiens*, possibly due to the insertion of a retroviral element that promotes its expression (Bekpen et al., 2009). In human, five different IRGM splice isoforms that differ in their C-terminal ends could be expressed, but their individual endogenous expression has not yet been documented (Bekpen et al., 2005; Singh et al., 2010); endogenous IRGM as well as overexpressed IRGMd isoform can localize in mitochondria (Singh et al., 2010; Gregoire et al., 2011).

One of the first molecular demonstrations of a role of autophagy in immune responses against intracellular microorganisms, involved the murine ortholog of IRGM, IRGM1 (Gutierrez et al., 2004), previously described to be involved in the vacuolar trafficking of phagosomes containing *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (MacMicking et al., 2003). *M. tuberculosis* entrapped within phagosomes can avoid its destruction by preventing



FIGURE 1 | General steps of mammalian autophagy. Autophagy engulfs portions of the cytosol through three main steps. The nucleation induces the formation of an isolation membrane which could emerge from different membrane sources (the endoplasmic reticulum, the Golgi apparatus, the plasma membrane, the mitochondria) to form a phagophore which elongates to form double-membraned autophagosome vesicles. Autophagosome can sequester cytosolic material including senescent organelles such as mitochondria, long-lived proteins or intracellular pathogens, through independent selective autophagies (for schematic simplification, all were represented within one single autophagosome). Autophagosome ultimately fuses with lysosomes during the maturation step to form autolysosomes where degradation occurs. Some of the crucial proteins involved in the different phases of autophagy are indicated. Several viruses can induce a complete autophagy flux, as MeV or ChikV, whereas others can inhibit autophagosome maturation, as HIV-1 and HCV, in order to improve their replication (see text for details).

phagosome fusion with lysosomes but the rerouting of M. *tuberculosis*-containing phagosomes to the autophagic machinery can ultimately degrade the bacteria. The treatment of murine macrophages with IFN- γ induces autophagy *via* IRGM1 and protects from M. *tuberculosis* (Gutierrez et al., 2004; Singh et al., 2006). IRGM-mediated autophagy also contributes to protection in human cells against intracellular M. *tuberculosis, Escherichia coli,* and *Salmonella typhimurium* (Singh et al., 2006; McCarroll et al., 2008; Lapaquette et al., 2010; Brest et al., 2011). The fact that there appears to be no role for IRGM or for its murine ortholog IRGM1 in the regulation of autophagy in absence of infection suggests a pathogen-specific function in autophagy for these proteins (Gregoire et al., 2011; Matsuzawa et al., 2012).

IRGM IN VIRUS-MEDIATED AUTOPHAGY

IRGM IS A COMMON TARGET OF RNA VIRUSES

RNA viruses genome encodes very few proteins including nonstructural proteins that are often dedicated to prevent antiviral responses (Katze et al., 2008). To optimize replication, individual viral proteins could target several different host-cell proteins to counteract cellular antiviral responses. Alternatively, viral proteins could be dedicated to the efficient targeting of few host-cell proteins to counteract essential biological functions. The analysis of the interactions between 44 autophagy-associated human proteins and 83 viral proteins belonging to different RNA virus families revealed IRGM as the most targeted autophagy-associated protein by these viruses. IRGM can interact with 12 viral proteins belonging to five different viruses, Chikungunya virus (ChikV), Mumps virus (MuV), Hepatitis C virus (HCV), Measles virus (MeV), and HIV-1 (Gregoire et al., 2011). Except for MuV for whom no autophagy-related studies were yet reported, all other viruses manipulate autophagy.

IRGM AND VIRUSES EXPLOITING THE AUTOPHAGY FLUX

Measles virus infection increases the formation of *de novo* autophagosomes by inducing the autophagy flux (**Figure 1**; Joubert et al., 2009; Meiffren et al., 2010; Gregoire et al., 2011). Genetic inhibition of autophagy limits MeV viral particles production, indicating that MeV exploits autophagy to replicate. The reduced expression of cellular IRGM with specific siRNA decreased MeV replication in HeLa cells. Furthermore, the non-structural MeV-C protein can interact with IRGM, and its single overexpression induces autophagy through an IRGM-dependent pathway (Gregoire et al., 2011). Thus, in the course of MeV infection, the MeV-C/IRGM interaction might contribute to the exploitation of autophagy by MeV.

Chikungunya virus infection also induces the autophagy flux (**Figure 1**; Krejbich-Trotot et al., 2011; Joubert et al., 2012). Whereas inhibition of autophagy limits ChikV viral particles production, the experimental promotion of autophagy improved its replication (Krejbich-Trotot et al., 2011). ChikV replication is required to induce autophagy upon infection, and, as a consequence, autophagy delays cell death, which limits ChikVassociated pathogenesis, but favors its dissemination (Joubert et al., 2012). ChikV infection induces endoplasmic reticulum and oxidative stresses that independently can trigger autophagy (Joubert et al., 2012). However, it is unknown whether ChikV proteins contribute directly to autophagy induction and/or maintenance in infected cells. Especially, IRGM was found to interact with ChikV-NS2 and E3 proteins (Gregoire et al., 2011). It will be interesting to determine whether ChikV/IRGM interaction contributes to autophagy manipulation.

IRGM AND VIRUSES INHIBITING AUTOPHAGY MATURATION

During HIV-1 infection, autophagy manipulation strategies depend on the type of infected cells. The exposition of HIV-1-ENV protein on membranes of infected cells induces autophagy in uninfected CD4⁺ T cells leading to their apoptotic cell death (Espert et al., 2006). However, HIV-1 inhibits autophagy in infected CD4⁺ T cells, which facilitates replication (Espert et al., 2009). In dendritic cells (DC), HIV-1 inhibits autophagy through exhaustion of the mTOR signaling pathway (Blanchet et al., 2010). However, autophagy is induced in HIV-1-infected macrophages where HIV-1-NEF protein can interact with BECN1 to inhibit the maturation of autophagosomes, what is required for an efficient replication of HIV-1 (Espert et al., 2009; Kyei et al., 2009). NEF can also interact with IRGM and the overexpression of NEF induces an IRGM-dependent accumulation of autophagosomes (Kyei et al., 2009; Gregoire et al., 2011). Thus, while NEF-BECN1 interaction could prevent autophagosome maturation, NEF-IRGM interaction could be involved in autophagy induction upon HIV-1 infection in macrophages. Through its interaction with distinct autophagy-associated proteins, a unique HIV-1 protein could finely regulate autophagy. Interestingly, a NEF deficient strain of HIV-1 does not induce autophagosome accumulation, suggesting indeed that, besides preventing autophagosome maturation, NEF is involved in the induction of autophagy by HIV-1 (Kyei et al., 2009).

Infection by HCV also induces autophagy. This induction is independent of mTOR (Su et al., 2011; Shrivastava et al., 2012), and the contribution of the unfolded protein response remains unclear (Sir et al., 2008; Mohl et al., 2012). However, autophagy is required for an optimal HCV replication since inhibition of autophagy affects HCV replication (Dreux et al., 2009; Tanida et al., 2009; Gregoire et al., 2011). Reports have shown that HCV infection could either induce a complete autophagy flux or inhibit autophagosome maturation. This discrepancy might result from the models used and/or the kinetics of infection. HCV infection was shown to prevent autophagosome maturation at an early time of infection (Sir et al., 2008; Gregoire et al., 2011; Su et al., 2011). At a later one a complete autophagy flux was reported (Ke and Chen, 2011; Mohl et al., 2012). Interestingly, a subgenomic replicon expressing the non-structural NS3-5B proteins induces autophagy (Mohl et al., 2012). Furthermore, IRGM can interact with HCV-NS3, and the reduced expression of IRGM prevents HCV-induced and HCV-NS3-induced autophagy, and limits HCV replication (Gregoire et al., 2011).

Thus, viruses that manipulate autophagy either by benefiting from the complete autophagy flux or by inhibiting the maturation step, target IRGM. Beyond its role in virus biology, how IRGM contributes to the orchestration of autophagy upon viral infection remains to be understood.

IRGM IN AUTOPHAGY INDUCTION UPON VIRAL INFECTIONS IRGM AND AUTOPHAGY-ASSOCIATED PROTEINS

To date, only four cellular proteins were identified to interact with IRGM: ATG5, ATG10, MAP1LC3C, and SH3GLB1 (Figure 2). All these proteins contribute to autophagy, supporting the idea that IRGM plays an essential role in this process (Gregoire et al., 2011). ATG10, a conjugating E2-like protein, contributes to the assembly of the ATG12/ATG5 complex that binds ATG16L1 to form macromolecular ATG12/ATG5/ATG16L1 complexes essential for the elongation of the phagophore (Figure 1; Xie and Klionsky, 2007). MAP1LC3C is a member of the MAP1LC3 (known as LC3) sub-family and is also required for elongation of the phagophore through lipidation with phosphatidylethanolamine and anchoring within the extending phagophore (Figure 1; Weidberg et al., 2010). Finally, SH3GLB1 (also known as Bif-1) is a positive regulator of the nucleation process that initiates autophagosome formation, via its interaction with UVRAG, a protein of the BECN1/VPS34 complex. In nutrient deprived cells, SH3GLB1 colocalizes with ATG5 and LC3 to the autophagosome and potentiates the activation of the class III PI(3)-kinase VPS34 to promote autophagosome biogenesis (Figure 2; Takahashi et al., 2007). Thus, all the proteins known to interact with IRGM regulate one of the initial steps of autophagosome biogenesis, suggesting that IRGM might contribute to the nucleation and/or the elongation of autophagic vesicles through its interaction with one or several of these proteins. These interactions could be facilitated upon viral infection (Figure 2). Through the dampening of antiviral IFN-I synthesis, this targeting might be of further benefit to viruses as discussed below.

IRGM, MITOCHONDRIA, AUTOPHAGY, AND IFN-I IN VIRAL INFECTIONS

Overexpressed GFP-fused IRGMd was suggested to be translocated to the inner membrane of mitochondria via its association with cardiolipin (CL; Singh et al., 2010). CL is a phospholipid abundant in the inner mitochondrial membrane that is however also found in the outer membrane and at the contact sites between the two membranes (Schlame et al., 2000; Schug and Gottlieb, 2009). Thus IRGMd might also be associated to CL linked to the outer membrane of mitochondria, and exposed to the cytosol. The four other overexpressed GFP-fused IRGM isoforms (IRGMa/b/c/e) were not found associated to mitochondria (Singh et al., 2010). However, endogenous IRGM expression, detected with an antibody with putative ability to recognize all IRGM isoforms, is found associated to mitochondria suggesting that: (i) all endogenous IRGM can be located to mitochondria, (ii) IRGMd is the most expressed isoform, or (iii) due to possibly distinct folding among the isoforms, the epitope for the antibody is only accessible on IRGMd (Figure 2; Singh et al., 2010; Gregoire et al., 2011). Interestingly, among the proteins interacting with IRGM at least two were found partially associated with mitochondria, SH3GLB1 and ATG5. A fraction of SH3GLB1 localizes to mitochondria where



viral infections. IRGM is associated to mitochondria via cardiolipin (CL). Upon viral infection, IRGM could interact with four different autophagyassociated proteins which could support autophagosome biogenesis from mitochondria membrane, by regulating nucleation and/or elongation steps of autophagy. IRGM-mediated autophagy might correlate to a decrease of IFN-I synthesis similarly to what was described for TUFM and MFN2. Both

it may contribute to the regulation of morphological dynamics of the outer mitochondrial membrane (Karbowski et al., 2004), and to mitochondria-dependent apoptotic signals by interacting with the proapoptotic protein BAX (Takahashi et al., 2005). ATG5 was also shown to associate with mitochondria through its binding to IPS-1, a mitochondria-associated adaptor which relays signals from viral genome-detecting cytosolic receptors RIG-I and MDA5, in order to promote IFN-I synthesis. This interaction contributes to the down-regulation of IFN-I production during viral infection (Jounai et al., 2007). A possible hypothesis for the molecular contribution of IRGM in autophagy would be that IRGM interacts/recruits its protein partners at the mitochondria to induce autophagy upon infections especially as mitochondria is one possible source of membrane for autophagosome biogenesis (Figures 1 and 2; Hailey et al., 2010). Furthermore, the IRGM targeting to mitochondria could allow viruses to limit IFN-I production similarly to two other mitochondrial proteins, MFN2 and TUFM, which were shown to dampen IFN-I production while inducing autophagy (Figure 2).

processes could benefit to viruses to improve their replication. Note that MFN2-mediated autophagy has not yet been reported in the context of viral infection (see text for details). As represented, viral double-stranded (ds)RNA can be recognized by RIG-I. IFN-I inhibition via IRGM is not yet demonstrated (dashed line) and putative not mitochondrial IRGM isoforms are not represented (see text for details).

Indeed, MFN2 contributes to the supply of mitochondria membranes for the biogenesis of autophagosome (Hailey et al., 2010), and can down-regulate the production of IFN-I upon viral infection by interacting with IPS-1 (Yasukawa et al., 2009). Similarly, TUFM recruits the ATG5/ATG12 complex in order to induce autophagy, while it prevents RIG-1/IPS-1 signal transduction for IFN-I production via its interaction with NLRX1 (Lei et al., 2012). The antagonistic activities of TUFM and MFN2 on autophagy and IFN-I production were shown to benefit to virus replication (Yasukawa et al., 2009; Lei et al., 2012). As IRGM is associated to mitochondria and modulates autophagy induction upon virus infection, it would be important to evaluate its contribution to the ability of viruses to dampen IFN-I production; all the viruses described to date to target IRGM are known to inhibit IFN-I production. Thus, different mitochondrial proteins, including IRGM, might have dual functions upon virus infection, by inducing autophagy ultimately exploited by viruses, while restricting the innate antiviral response; the selective targeting of these proteins would offer an evident advantage for infectious viruses to replicate within a cell. It remains however possible that cytosolic isoforms of IRGM contributes to autophagy induction upon viral infection.

IRGM AND AUTOPHAGY-MEDIATED VIRUS-DERIVED PEPTIDE MHC LOADING

It recently became clear that autophagy which is constitutively active in antigen-presenting cells (APCs), can regulate adaptive immune responses by promoting the access of antigens from intracellular pathogens to compartments that assemble peptide:MHC class II complexes for presentation to CD4⁺ T cells (Munz, 2009). Among viruses targeting IRGM, it was observed that the response of HIV-1 gag-specific CD4⁺ T cells to DC that process the virus was drastically reduced upon either pharmacological or genetic inhibition of autophagy, indicating a deficient capacity to process and present MHC class II-restricted HIV-1 determinants when autophagy is impaired (Blanchet et al., 2010). The negative regulation of autophagy in DCs by HIV-1 could thus help the virus evade CD4⁺ T cell responses. As to presentation by MHC class I molecules, it is known that in mouse DCs, IRGM3/IGTP (another murine ortholog or IRGM) plays an important role in crosspresentation of phagocytosed protein antigens to conventional CD8⁺ T cells without impacting antigen presentation to CD4⁺ T cells (Bougneres et al., 2009).

irgm VARIANTS IN HUMAN PATHOLOGIES AND VIRAL INFECTIONS

Recent studies identified *irgm* variants as susceptibility genes for Crohn's disease (CD), tuberculosis (TB), gastric cancer and autoimmune systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE).

IRGM, CD, AND VIRAL INFECTION

Crohn's disease is a chronic inflammatory bowel disease resulting from an aberrant immune response toward the intestinal flora that leads to inflammation and tissue damages (Xavier et al., 2008). Genome-wide association studies identified polymorphisms in two autophagy-associated genes, atg16L1 and irgm, that are linked to CD. CD-associated irgm polymorphisms, that influence or not the primary protein sequence, were both reported (Parkes et al., 2007; McCarroll et al., 2008; Moon et al., 2012). Interestingly, the gut mucosa of CD patients harbors an increased amount of the pathogenic Adherent-invasive E. coli (AIEC) and IRGM-dependent autophagy contributes to fight pathogenic AIEC (Lapaquette et al., 2012). Moreover, microRNA (miR)-196 binds strongly the *irgm* protective haplotype, whereas expression of the risk haplotype remains intact thus leading to overall deregulation of IRGM expression (Brest et al., 2011). miR-196 was found overexpressed in inflamed ileum and colon of patients, independently of the protective or risk irgm haplotype. As a result, IRGM was less expressed in individuals with the protective genotype. Furthermore, the transfection of HEK293T cells with miR-196 resulted in a decreased autophagy flux, indicating that miR-196 acts as a negative regulator of autophagy via IRGM upon AIEC infection. These studies suggested that the cornerstone of autophagy regulation by IRGM upon infection could be its fine tuned level of expression.

Interestingly, a viral infection-plus-susceptibility autophagy gene interaction could contribute to the onset of CD. Indeed, the

hypomorphic expression of *atg16l1* develops a CD-like pathology in mice only upon infection with a viral strain of murine norovirus (Cadwell et al., 2010). This study pointed toward a genotypespecific viral trigger of a pathology very similar to CD. It would be interesting to investigate the role of viral infections in *irgm* variant expressing CD patients, for a possible contribution of virus/IRGM interactions in the onset or the development of CD.

IRGM IN TB, GASTRIC CANCER, AND SLE

As mentioned above, IRGM contributes to the control of M. tuberculosis in macrophages via autophagy. Interestingly, an irgm polymorphism protects from TB caused by Euro-American subgroups of *M. tuberculosis* (Intemann et al., 2009). It was proposed that when the polymorphism occurs, IRGM is more expressed resulting in enhanced autophagy and explaining a more efficient destruction of bacteria. Conversely, several different polymorphisms in the *irgm* gene have been found to result in an increased susceptibility to TB in Chinese and African American populations (Che et al., 2010; King et al., 2011). In African American populations one CD-related polymorphism was associated positively with TB suggesting a possible link between CD and an infectious etiology. Irgm polymorphism is possibly also a risk factor for gastric cancer (Burada et al., 2012). Although deregulation of autophagy is well established to be associated with cancer (White, 2012), a role for IRGM in these diseases has to be further determined. Similarly, a genetic-association study suggested that irgm variants are linked to SLE, an autoimmune disease (Zhou et al., 2011). A role of IRGM in these diseases remains to be fully depicted as well as a potential influence of viral infections on such role.

CONCLUSION

In an infected cell a virus has to counteract cell autonomous defense mechanisms while exploiting elementary cellular processes to replicate efficiently. By selectively targeting autophagy, viruses might accomplish both. As discussed here, IRGM could be a key protein for autophagy manipulation upon viral infection. The molecular organization involving IRGM in autophagy during viral infections requires further investigations. While interactions of IRGM with its protein partners were only observed in transfected cells for the time being, it would be important to visualize these interactions between endogenous proteins and during productive infections. It would also be crucial to understand why and how IRGM plays an antibacterial function, whereas it seems to act as a proviral factor. Furthermore, the role of IRGM could be cell type-specific and, as described for several autophagy-related proteins, IRGM might have non-autophagy-related functions upon infections. In regards of the link of numerous *irgm* variants with human pathologies, the comprehension of the role(s) of IRGM in autophagy-mediated immunity could be of crucial importance to fight infectious viruses and human pathologies.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge grants from INSERM, CNRS, University Lyon-1, Institut universitaire de France and ANR-08-JCJC-0064-01. Denitsa S. Petkova is the recipient of a fellowship from Ligue Nationale Contre le Cancer.

REFERENCES

- Bekpen, C., Hunn, J. P., Rohde, C., Parvanova, I., Guethlein, L., Dunn, D. M., et al. (2005). The interferoninducible p47 (IRG) GTPases in vertebrates: loss of the cell autonomous resistance mechanism in the human lineage. *Genome Biol.* 6, R92.
- Bekpen, C., Marques-Bonet, T., Alkan, C., Antonacci, F., Leogrande, M. B., Ventura, M., et al. (2009). Death and resurrection of the human IRGM gene. *PLoS Genet.* 5:e1000403. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1000403
- Blanchet, F. P., Moris, A., Nikolic, D. S., Lehmann, M., Cardinaud, S., Stalder, R., et al. (2010). Human immunodeficiency virus-1 inhibition of immunoamphisomes in dendritic cells impairs early innate and adaptive immune responses. *Immunity* 32, 654–669.
- Bougneres, L., Helft, J., Tiwari, S., Vargas, P., Chang, B. H., Chan, L., et al. (2009). A role for lipid bodies in the cross-presentation of phagocytosed antigens by MHC class I in dendritic cells. *Immunity* 31, 232–244.
- Brest, P., Lapaquette, P., Souidi, M., Lebrigand, K., Cesaro, A., Vouret-Craviari, V., et al. (2011). A synonymous variant in IRGM alters a binding site for miR-196 and causes deregulation of IRGM-dependent xenophagy in Crohn's disease. *Nat. Genet.* 43, 242–245.
- Burada, F., Plantinga, T. S., Ioana, M., Rosentul, D., Angelescu, C., Joosten, L. A., et al. (2012). IRGM gene polymorphisms and risk of gastric cancer. *J. Dig. Dis.* 13, 360–365.
- Cadwell, K., Patel, K. K., Maloney, N. S., Liu, T. C., Ng, A. C., Storer, C. E., et al. (2010). Virus-plussusceptibility gene interaction determines Crohn's disease gene Atg16L1 phenotypes in intestine. *Cell* 141, 1135–1145.
- Chaumorcel, M., Lussignol, M., Mouna, L., Cavignac, Y., Fahie, K., Cotte-Laffitte, J., et al. (2012). The human cytomegalovirus protein TRS1 inhibits autophagy via its interaction with Beclin 1. *J. Virol.* 86, 2571–2584.
- Che, N., Li, S., Gao, T., Zhang, Z., Han, Y., Zhang, X., et al. (2010). Identification of a novel IRGM promoter single nucleotide polymorphism associated with tuberculosis. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 411, 1645–1649.
- Dreux, M., Gastaminza, P., Wieland, S. F., and Chisari, F. V. (2009). The autophagy machinery is required to initiate hepatitis C virus replication. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 14046–14051.

- English, L., Chemali, M., Duron, J., Rondeau, C., Laplante, A., Gingras, D., et al. (2009). Autophagy enhances the presentation of endogenous viral antigens on MHC class I molecules during HSV-1 infection. *Nat. Immunol.* 10, 480–487.
- Espert, L., Denizot, M., Grimaldi, M., Robert-Hebmann, V., Gay, B., Varbanov, M., et al. (2006). Autophagy is involved in T cell death after binding of HIV-1 envelope proteins to CXCR4. *J. Clin. Invest.* 116, 2161– 2172.
- Espert, L., Varbanov, M., Robert-Hebmann, V., Sagnier, S., Robbins, I., Sanchez, F., et al. (2009). Differential role of autophagy in CD4 T cells and macrophages during X4 and R5 HIV-1 infection. *PLoS ONE* 4:e5787. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0005787
- Gannage, M., Dormann, D., Albrecht, R., Dengjel, J., Torossi, T., Ramer, P. C., et al. (2009). Matrix protein 2 of influenza A virus blocks autophagosome fusion with lysosomes. *Cell Host Microbe* 6, 367–380.
- Gregoire, I. P., Rabourdin-Combe, C., and Faure, M. (2012). Autophagy and RNA virus interactomes reveal IRGM as a common target. *Autophagy* 8, 1136–1137.
- Gregoire, I. P., Richetta, C., Meyniel-Schicklin, L., Borel, S., Pradezynski, F., Diaz, O., et al. (2011).
 IRGM is a common target of RNA viruses that subvert the autophagy network. *PLoS Pathog.* 7:e1002422. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002422
- Gutierrez, M. G., Master, S. S., Singh, S. B., Taylor, G. A., Colombo, M. I., and Deretic, V. (2004). Autophagy is a defense mechanism inhibiting BCG and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* survival in infected macrophages. *Cell* 119, 753–766.
- Hailey, D. W., Rambold, A. S., Satpute-Krishnan, P., Mitra, K., Sougrat, R., Kim, P. K., et al. (2010). Mitochondria supply membranes for autophagosome biogenesis during starvation. *Cell* 141, 656–667.
- Heaton, N. S., and Randall, G. (2010). Dengue virus-induced autophagy regulates lipid metabolism. *Cell Host Microbe* 8, 422–432.
- Intemann, C. D., Thye, T., Niemann, S., Browne, E. N., Amanua Chinbuah, M., Enimil, A., et al. (2009). Autophagy gene variant IRGM -261T contributes to protection from tuberculosis caused by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* but not by *M. africanum* strains. *PLoS Pathog.* 5:e1000577. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000577
- Jackson, W. T., Giddings, T. H. Jr., Taylor, M. P., Mulinyawe, S., Rabinovitch,

M., Kopito, R. R., et al. (2005). Subversion of cellular autophagosomal machinery by RNA viruses. *PLoS Biol.* 3:e156. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0030156

- Joubert, P. E., Meiffren, G., Gregoire, I. P., Pontini, G., Richetta, C., Flacher, M., et al. (2009). Autophagy induction by the pathogen receptor CD46. *Cell Host Microbe* 6, 354–366.
- Joubert, P. E., Werneke, S., de la Calle, C., Guivel-Benhassine, F., Giodini, A., Peduto, L., et al. (2012). Chikungunya-induced cell death is limited by ER and oxidative stressinduced autophagy. *Autophagy* 8, 1261–1263.
- Jounai, N., Takeshita, F., Kobiyama, K., Sawano, A., Miyawaki, A., Xin, K. Q., et al. (2007). The Atg5 Atg12 conjugate associates with innate antiviral immune responses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 14050– 14055.
- Karbowski, M., Jeong, S. Y., and Youle, R. J. (2004). Endophilin B1 is required for the maintenance of mitochondrial morphology. *J. Cell Biol.* 166, 1027–1039.
- Katze, M. G., Fornek, J. L., Palermo, R. E., Walters, K. A., and Korth, M. J. (2008). Innate immune modulation by RNA viruses: emerging insights from functional genomics. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 8, 644–654.
- Ke, P. Y., and Chen, S. S. (2011). Activation of the unfolded protein response and autophagy after hepatitis C virus infection suppresses innate antiviral immunity *in vitro. J. Clin. Invest.* 121, 37–56.
- King, K. Y., Lew, J. D., Ha, N. P., Lin, J. S., Ma, X., Graviss, E. A., et al. (2011). Polymorphic allele of human IRGM1 is associated with susceptibility to tuberculosis in African Americans. *PLoS ONE* 6:e16317. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0016317
- Krejbich-Trotot, P., Gay, B., Li-Pat-Yuen, G., Hoarau, J. J., Jaffar-Bandjee, M. C., Briant, L., et al. (2011). Chikungunya triggers an autophagic process which promotes viral replication. *Virol. J.* 8, 432.
- Kyei, G. B., Dinkins, C., Davis, A. S., Roberts, E., Singh, S. B., Dong, C., et al. (2009). Autophagy pathway intersects with HIV-1 biosynthesis and regulates viral yields in macrophages. J. Cell Biol. 186, 255–268.
- Lapaquette, P., Bringer, M. A., and Darfeuille-Michaud, A. (2012). Defects in autophagy favour adherent-invasive *Escherichia coli* persistence within macrophages leading to increased pro-inflammatory

response. Cell. Microbiol. 14, 791–807.

- Lapaquette, P., Glasser, A. L., Huett, A., Xavier, R. J., and Darfeuille-Michaud, A. (2010). Crohn's diseaseassociated adherent-invasive *E. coli* are selectively favoured by impaired autophagy to replicate intracellularly. *Cell. Microbiol.* 12, 99–113.
- Lee, H. K., Lund, J. M., Ramanathan, B., Mizushima, N., and Iwasaki, A. (2007). Autophagy-dependent viral recognition by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Science* 315, 1398–1401.
- Lei, Y., Wen, H., Yu, Y., Taxman, D. J., Zhang, L., Widman, D. G., et al. (2012). The mitochondrial proteins NLRX1 and TUFM form a complex that regulates type I interferon and autophagy. *Immunity* 36, 933–946.
- Levine, B. (2005). Eating oneself and uninvited guests: autophagy-related pathways in cellular defense. *Cell* 120, 159–162.
- MacMicking, J. D., Taylor, G. A., and McKinney, J. D. (2003). Immune control of tuberculosis by IFN-gammainducible LRG-47. *Science* 302, 654–659.
- Matsuzawa, T., Kim, B. H., Shenoy, A. R., Kamitani, S., Miyake, M., and Macmicking, J. D. (2012). IFN-gamma elicits macrophage autophagy via the p38 MAPK signaling pathway. *J. Immunol.* 189, 813–818.
- McCarroll, S. A., Huett, A., Kuballa, P., Chilewski, S. D., Landry, A., Goyette, P., et al. (2008). Deletion polymorphism upstream of IRGM associated with altered IRGM expression and Crohn's disease. *Nat. Genet.* 40, 1107–1112.
- Meiffren, G., Joubert, P. E., Gregoire, I. P., Codogno, P., Rabourdin-Combe, C., and Faure, M. (2010). Pathogen recognition by the cell surface receptor CD46 induces autophagy. *Autophagy* 6, 299–300.
- Mohl, B. P., Tedbury, P. R., Griffin, S., and Harris, M. (2012). Hepatitis C virus-induced autophagy is independent of the unfolded protein response. J. Virol. 86, 10724–10732.
- Moon, C. M., Shin, D. J., Kim, S. W., Son, N. H., Park, A., Park, B., et al. (2012). Associations between genetic variants in the IRGM gene and inflammatory bowel diseases in the korean population. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* doi: 10.1002/ibd.22972. [Epub ahead of print].
- Munz, C. (2009). Enhancing immunity through autophagy. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 27, 423–449.
- Orvedahl, A., Alexander, D., Talloczy, Z., Sun, Q., Wei, Y., Zhang, W., et al.

(2007). HSV-1 ICP34.5 confers neurovirulence by targeting the Beclin 1 autophagy protein. *Cell Host Microbe* 1, 23–35.

- Parkes, M., Barrett, J. C., Prescott, N. J., Tremelling, M., Anderson, C. A., Fisher, S. A., et al. (2007). Sequence variants in the autophagy gene IRGM and multiple other replicating loci contribute to Crohn's disease susceptibility. *Nat. Genet.* 39, 830–832.
- Richetta, C., and Faure, M. (2012). Autophagy in antiviral innate immunity. *Cell. Microbiol.* doi: 10.1111/cmi.12043. [Epub ahead of print].
- Schlame, M., Rua, D., and Greenberg, M. L. (2000). The biosynthesis and functional role of cardiolipin. *Prog. Lipid Res.* 39, 257–288.
- Schug, Z. T., and Gottlieb, E. (2009). Cardiolipin acts as a mitochondrial signalling platform to launch apoptosis. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1788, 2022–2031.
- Shrivastava, S., Bhanja Chowdhury, J., Steele, R., Ray, R., and Ray, R. B. (2012). Hepatitis C virus upregulates Beclin1 for induction of autophagy and activates mTOR signaling. J. Virol. 86, 8705– 8712.
- Singh, S. B., Davis, A. S., Taylor, G. A., and Deretic, V. (2006). Human IRGM

induces autophagy to eliminate intracellular mycobacteria. *Science* 313, 1438–1441.

- Singh, S. B., Ornatowski, W., Vergne, I., Naylor, J., Delgado, M., Roberts, E., et al. (2010). Human IRGM regulates autophagy and cell-autonomous immunity functions through mitochondria. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 12, 1154– 1165.
- Sir, D., Chen, W. L., Choi, J., Wakita, T., Yen, T. S., and Ou, J. H. (2008). Induction of incomplete autophagic response by hepatitis C virus via the unfolded protein response. *Hepatol*ogy 48, 1054–1061.
- Su, W. C., Chao, T. C., Huang, Y. L., Weng, S. C., Jeng, K. S., and Lai, M. M. (2011). Rab5 and class III phosphoinositide 3-kinase Vps34 are involved in hepatitis C virus NS4B-induced autophagy. J. Virol. 85, 10561–10571.
- Takahashi, Y., Coppola, D., Matsushita, N., Cualing, H. D., Sun, M., Sato, Y., et al. (2007). Bif-1 interacts with Beclin 1 through UVRAG and regulates autophagy and tumorigenesis. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 9, 1142–1151.
- Takahashi, Y., Karbowski, M., Yamaguchi, H., Kazi, A., Wu, J., Sebti, S. M., et al. (2005). Loss of Bif-1 suppresses Bax/Bak conformational change and mitochondrial apoptosis. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 25, 9369–9382.

- Tanida, I., Fukasawa, M., Ueno, T., Kominami, E., Wakita, T., and Hanada, K. (2009). Knockdown of autophagy-related gene decreases the production of infectious hepatitis C virus particles. *Autophagy* 5, 937–945.
- Weidberg, H., Shvets, E., Shpilka, T., Shimron, F., Shinder, V., and Elazar, Z. (2010). LC3 and GATE-16/GABARAP subfamilies are both essential yet act differently in autophagosome biogenesis. *EMBO J.* 29, 1792–1802.
- White, E. (2012). Deconvoluting the context-dependent role for autophagy in cancer. Nat. Rev. Cancer 12, 401–410.
- Xavier, R. J., Huett, A., and Rioux, J. D. (2008). Autophagy as an important process in gut homeostasis and Crohn's disease pathogenesis. *Gut* 57, 717–720.
- Xie, Z., and Klionsky, D. J. (2007). Autophagosome formation: core machinery and adaptations. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 9, 1102–1109.
- Yasukawa, K., Oshiumi, H., Takeda, M., Ishihara, N., Yanagi, Y., Seya, T., et al. (2009). Mitofusin 2 inhibits mitochondrial antiviral signaling. *Sci. Signal.* 2, ra47.
- Zhou, X. J., Lu, X. L., Lv, J. C., Yang, H. Z., Qin, L. X., Zhao, M.

H., et al. (2011). Genetic association of PRDM1-ATG5 intergenic region and autophagy with systemic lupus erythematosus in a Chinese population. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 70, 1330– 1337.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 30 October 2012; accepted: 23 December 2012; published online: 17 January 2013.

Citation: Petkova DS, Viret C and Faure M (2013) IRGM in autophagy and viral infections. Front. Immun. **3**:426. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00426

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Antigen Presenting Cell Biology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Petkova, Viret and Faure. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.

REVIEW ARTICLE published: 04 July 2012 doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00170

Autophagy and immunity – insights from human herpesviruses

Luke R. Williams and Graham S. Taylor*

School of Cancer Sciences, University of Birmingham, Vincent Drive, Birmingham, UK

Edited by:

Christian Munz, University of Zurich, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Philippe Pierre, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, France Matthew Albert, Institut Pasteur, France

*Correspondence:

Graham S. Taylor, School of Cancer Sciences, University of Birmingham, Vincent Drive, Birmingham, B15 2TT UK. e-mail: g.s.taylor@bham.ac.uk The herpesviruses are a family of double-stranded DNA viruses that infect a wide variety of organisms. Having co-evolved with their hosts over millennia, herpesviruses have developed a large repertoire of mechanisms to manipulate normal cellular processes for their own benefit. Consequently, studies on these viruses have made important contributions to our understanding of fundamental biological processes. Here we describe recent research on the human herpesviruses that has contributed to our understanding of, and interactions between, viruses, autophagy, and the immune system. The ability of autophagy to degrade proteins located within the nucleus, the site of herpesvirus latency and replication, is also considered.

Keywords: antigen, CD4, EBNA1, EBV, macroautophagy, nucleophagy, presentation, processing

INTRODUCTION

In mammalian cells three different autophagy pathways have been shown to deliver cytoplasmic proteins or organelles into the lumen of lysosomes for degradation. The first pathway, microautophagy, is a process in which the lysosomal membrane invaginates, capturing portions of cytoplasm. Endosomal microautophagy has also recently been described (Sahu et al., 2011). The second pathway, chaperone-mediated autophagy (CMA), involves the transport of proteins containing a specific motif into the lysosome via the concerted actions of chaperone proteins and the lysosomal membrane protein LAMP2a (Dice, 2007). The third pathway, macroautophagy (hereafter referred to simply as autophagy) is the best described of the three and can be divided into six sequential steps: initiation, nucleation, elongation, closure, maturation, and degradation. Each step is a highly regulated process involving the coordinated action of numerous autophagy-related (ATG) and other proteins. Initiation of autophagy occurs upon activation of the ULK1 and UKL2 complexes following release of their inhibition by the mTOR complex. Nucleation defines the site for the autophagic membrane to begin to form in the cytoplasm and depends on the oligomerization of Beclin-1 that acts as a platform for recruitment of multiple other autophagyrelated proteins. Elongation of the autophagic membrane around a portion of cytoplasm involves the recruitment of more proteins and lipidation of the microtubule-associated protein light chain 3 (LC3) by the E2-like enzyme ATG3. Closure of the membrane completes the formation of the double membrane vacuole, called an autophagosome, containing a portion of cytoplasm within its lumen. The autophagosome then undergoes maturation by fusing with lysosomes to form an autophagolysosome. This process is again mediated by Beclin-1 as well as LC3 on the autophagosome. Following maturation, the captured cytoplasmic contents are degraded by lysosomal proteases for reuse by the cell.

Autophagy typically occurs continuously at a low level but is increased in response to cellular stresses such as nutrient deprivation in order to provide a supply of nutrients to aid cell survival. In addition to this survival function, autophagy plays other important roles that are the focus of this review.

Viruses are obligate intracellular parasites and therefore totally dependent upon a host cell for replication. This dependence has led viruses to develop ways of harnessing normal cellular processes for their own purposes. A diverse range of viruses has now been shown to manipulate autophagy. Some viruses stimulate autophagy to aid their replication. Infection with poliovirus induces the formation of membranes resembling double-membrane autophagosomes that contribute to virus production (Suhy et al., 2000; Jackson et al., 2005). Rotavirus also stimulates the formation of autophagosomelike structures with the virus replicating in close proximity to these vesicles (Berkova et al., 2006). In contrast, autophagy poses a threat for other viruses and a range of viral countermeasures have been identified (Jordan and Randall, 2011). Autophagy inhibition has been well characterized for members of the herpesvirus family. In humans, eight herpesviruses have been identified that are divided into three sub-families (alpha-, beta-, and gammaherpesvirinae). These divisions were historically based on cellular tropism but are now based on viral genome organization (Table 1). Viruses across all sub-families are able to manipulate autophagy, employing a range of different mechanisms. These mechanisms and the effects on both viral replication and the host antiviral immune response are described below.

HSV-1 INHIBITS AUTOPHAGY TO PREVENT VIRAL DEGRADATION

Autophagy has been shown to play important roles in many pathways of the innate immune system. These roles include modulating pathogen recognition receptors (Lee et al., 2007; Takeshita et al., 2008), controlling the production of key innate cytokines (Lee et al., 2007; Saitoh et al., 2008), and controlling phagocytosis (Sanjuan et al., 2007; Zang et al., 2012). Autophagy can directly contribute to innate immune control of viruses within infected cells, a role identified in the first study on Beclin-1

 Table 1 | Classification of the eight human herpesviruses.

Formal taxonomic	Alternative common	Viral sub-family	
name	name		
Human herpesvirus 1	Herpes simplex virus 1	Alphaherpesvirinae	
Human herpesvirus 2	Herpes simplex virus 2	Alphaherpesvirinae	
Human herpesvirus 3	Varicella-zoster virus	Alphaherpesvirinae	
Human herpesvirus 4	Epstein–Barr virus	Gammaherpesvirinae	
Human herpesvirus 5	Human cytomegalovirus	Betaherpesvirinae	
Human herpesvirus 6	HHV-6 variant A or B	Betaherpesvirinae	
Human herpesvirus 7	HHV-7	Betaherpesvirinae	
Human herpesvirus 8	Kaposi's sarcoma-	Gammaherpesvirinae	
	associated herpesvirus		

(Liang et al., 1998). Overexpression of Beclin-1 in neurons protected mice against fatal infection with the neurotropic alphavirus Sindbis (Note: Sindbis is a member of the Togaviridae family and not a herpesvirus; Liang et al., 1998). This protection resulted from the degradation of the Sindbis capsid protein by autophagy (Orvedahl et al., 2010). A range of intracellular bacteria and viruses are now known to be degraded by autophagy, a process termed xenophagy (Rich et al., 2003; Gutierrez et al., 2004; Nakagawa et al., 2004; Talloczy et al., 2006). The alphaherpesvirus herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1) provided the first evidence of a pathogen inhibiting autophagy to escape xenophagy. Within virus-infected cells activation of cellular dsRNA-dependent protein kinase R (PKR) inhibits host and viral protein translation and viral replication. HSV-1 encodes a protein, ICP34.5, which inhibits this PKR-dependent antiviral activity (Chou et al., 1990). Talloczy et al. (2002) demonstrated that ICP34.5 also prevents PKR-dependent activation of autophagy in HSV-1-infected cells. Subsequent research revealed that ICP34.5 binds the essential autophagy gene Beclin-1 preventing the formation of autophagosomes (Orvedahl et al., 2007). Deletion of the Beclin-1 binding domain from ICP34.5 did not alter viral growth in vitro but could decrease viral growth and neurovirulence in a mouse model. Note that this decrease in neurovirulence could be due to a number of different factors. For example, survival of infected cells might be increased by the presence of a functional autophagy pathway. However, two observations support a contribution from xenophagy in reducing HSV-1 neurovirulence. First, HSV-1 virions can be observed in vesicles that morphologically resemble autophagosomes (Smith and de Harven, 1978; Talloczy et al., 2006). Second, biochemical studies show that inhibiting autophagy decreases the rate of degradation of HSV-1 proteins (Talloczy et al., 2006).

HERPESVIRUSES DIFFER IN THEIR ABILITY TO INHIBIT AUTOPHAGY

Other herpesviruses have also been shown to possess autophagy inhibitory mechanisms. In cells infected with the betaherpesvirus human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) autophagy is initially activated before being inhibited 24 h post infection (Chaumorcel et al., 2008; McFarlane et al., 2011). HCMV-mediated autophagy inhibition requires *de novo* viral protein synthesis and is mediated by the viral protein TRS1 (Chaumorcel et al., 2012). Interestingly, TRS1 appears to be a functional homolog of the HSV protein ICP34.5, interacting with both PKR and Beclin-1. Like ICP34.5 it is the interaction between TRS1 and Beclin-1 that inhibits autophagy.

The human gammaherpesvirus Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV) also inhibits autophagy by targeting Beclin-1 but uses a different mechanism to do so. The cellular Bcl-2 protein inhibits apoptosis but can also inhibit autophagy by binding Beclin-1(Pattingre et al., 2005). KSHV encodes a viral homolog of Bcl-2, called orf16, that can similarly bind Beclin-1 and inhibit autophagy (Pattingre et al., 2005). It is not currently known whether the two viral Bcl-2 homologs (BHRF1 and BALF1) encoded by the other human gammaherpesvirus Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) can similarly inhibit autophagy. However, it seems likely that one or both of these viral proteins will do so given that the viral Bcl-2 homolog encoded by another gammaherpesvirus, in this case murine MHV68, inhibits autophagy (Pattingre et al., 2005). Strong evidence for the importance of autophagy inhibition by these viral Bcl-2 homologs is provided by the MHV68 system. Mutating the Beclin binding domain of the MHV68 Bcl-2 homolog did not effect the establishment of viral latency but impaired the ability of the virus to maintain chronic infection in mice (E et al., 2009).

Interestingly, the protein interacting with carboxy terminal 1 (PICT-1), a putative human tumor suppressor protein of unknown function, has recently been shown to bind KSHV Bcl-2 (Kalt et al., 2011). Ectopic expression of PICT-1, which contains two nuclear localization sequences (NLS) and a nucleolar localization signal, caused KSHV Bcl-2 to relocalize from its normal mitochondrial localization into nucleoli thereby inhibiting its anti-apoptotic activity. The ability of PICT-1 to counteract KSHV Bcl-2-mediated autophagy inhibition was not examined in the paper. However, since Beclin-1 is almost entirely located in the cytoplasm and acts in this compartment (Liang et al., 2001), sequestration in the nucleus may well interfere with the ability of KSHV Bcl-2 to inhibit autophagy. If this proves to be the case then PICT-1 may represent the first example of a cellular countermeasure against viral inhibition of autophagy.

All of the herpesvirus autophagy inhibitory proteins described thus far act by interacting with Beclin-1. KSHV has developed an additional inhibitory mechanism, targeting a separate component of the cellular autophagy machinery. The viral FLICE like inhibitor protein (v-FLIP), a homolog of a cellular (c-FLIP), can inhibit both apoptosis and autophagy (Lee et al., 2009). v-FLIP binds Atg3 preventing it from processing LC3 thereby inhibiting autophagosome formation. Overexpression of either c-FLIP or v-FLIP inhibited cell death induced by rapamycin stimulation of autophagy (Lee et al., 2009).

In contrast to the herpesviruses described above varicella-zoster virus (VZV) is unable to inhibit autophagy. Indeed, autophagy is rapidly activated following VZV infection with many autophagosomes present in infected cells in vitro and in infected cells within skin vesicles (Takahashi et al., 2009; Carpenter et al., 2011). Unlike the other neurotropic alpha herpesviruses HSV-1 and HSV-2, VZV lacks an ICP34.5 ortholog; VZV also lacks a viral Bcl-2 homolog. The high level of autophagy present in VZV-infected cells may be the cause of the low titers of this virus obtained *in vitro*. It is interesting to note that an inability to inhibit autophagy has not proved detrimental to VZV; almost everyone is infected with the virus and in that regard it is a highly successful pathogen. Indeed, it has been postulated that VZV-induced autophagy may be beneficial to the virus, prolonging the survival of infected cells by reducing endoplasmic reticulum stress (Carpenter et al., 2011).

AUTOPHAGY AND THE ADAPTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSE TO HERPESVIRUSES

Herpesviruses have evolved an arsenal of immune evasion mechanisms in order to establish life-long latent infection of immunocompetent hosts (Horst et al., 2011). As well as playing a key role in innate anti-viral immunity, autophagy is also important in adaptive immunity and autophagy manipulation by herpesviruses affects this arm of the immune response. In agreement with the earlier work suggesting xenophagy could reduce HSV-1 neurovirulence, strains of HSV-1 incapable of inhibiting autophagy (due to deletion of the Beclin-1 binding domain of ICP34.5) caused less disease following corneal infection of mice (Leib et al., 2009). However, no disease decrease was observed for Rag1 knockout mice that lack B and T cells suggesting that the protective effect was mediated by adaptive, rather than innate, immunity. In accordance with this result mice infected with the mutant virus had higher virus-specific CD4+ T cell responses compared to animals infected with wild-type virus. While autophagy can reduce HSV-1mediated disease the relative contributions made by the innate and adaptive immune responses are currently unclear and may differ depending upon the model system being used.

Viral inhibition of autophagy can potentially limit adaptive immunity by acting at two key stages. First, autophagy within virus-infected cells may be important for the generation of crossprimed CD8+T cell responses by dendritic cells (DCs). Inhibiting autophagy in influenza-infected cells reduced their ability to stimulate influenza-specific CD8+ T cells in mice (Uhl et al., 2009). Similar results have also been observed using a tumor antigen model (Li et al., 2008). Second, autophagy provides a route for antigens to enter antigen-processing pathways within pathogeninfected cells, allowing them to be processed and presented to antigen-specific T cells. Since the first landmark observation that autophagy can generate an MHC II epitope from a self antigen (Brazil et al., 1997) several pathogen-encoded antigens have been shown to be processed this way. These antigens include the bacterial protein neomycin phosphotransferase (NeoR; Nimmerjahn et al., 2003), the mycobacterial antigen Ag85B (Jagannath et al., 2009), and EBV nuclear antigen 1 (EBNA1), the first example of a viral protein processed by autophagy for recognition by CD4+ T cells (Paludan et al., 2005). Autophagy can also generate MHC class I epitopes, the first example being arising from studies on HSV-1 infection of murine macrophages (English et al., 2009). As expected, autophagy was inhibited in the HSV-1-infected cells by ICP34.5. These infected cells also presented an MHC class I restricted viral epitope generated using the classical proteasome-dependent pathway. However, at later stages of infection higher levels of the epitope were generated and an additional processing pathway was involved that was sensitive to bafilomycin A and 3-methyladenine, inhibitors of the vacuolar processing pathway and autophagy respectively. In addition to normal double membrane autophagosomes, the HSV-infected cells also contained unusual four layered membrane structures originating from the nucleus that, based on the presence of LC3, appear to be autophagosomes. These unusual nuclear-derived autophagosomes were not observed in cells treated with rapamycin to stimulate autophagy nor cells infected with recombinant HSV-1 lacking ICP34.5. They may therefore represent a cellular response to a combination of HSV-1 infection and ICP34.5-mediated blockade of conventional autophagy. A second interesting observation from this work was that presentation of the viral MHC class I epitope by cells infected with HSV-1 lacking ICP34.5 was also sensitive to bafilomycin A and therefore involved the vacuolar pathway. As these cells lacked the four layered autophagosomes this result may indicate that classical double membrane autophagosomes also contribute to the generation of MHC class I epitopes.

NUCLEAR SHELTER – ANOTHER STRATEGY TO EVADE AUTOPHAGY

Upon establishing latent infection, the herpesvirus genome persists as an episome within the nucleus. To ensure the viral genome is replicated and segregated into daughter cells the gammaherpesviruses EBV and KSHV each express a genome maintenance protein (EBNA1 and latency-associated nuclear antigen (LANA) respectively). Deletion of EBNA1 decreased EBV growth transformation 10,000-fold, clearly demonstrating the vital role of such proteins (Humme et al., 2003). Although loss of EBNA1 can be compensated by integration of the EBV genome into cellular DNA, this is a very rare event, again highlighting the importance of a correctly functioning genome maintenance protein for the gammaherpesviruses.

The dependence on the continuous presence of genome maintenance proteins to ensure life-long viral persistence represents a potential Achiles' heel for these viruses. Logically, one would therefore expect genome maintenance proteins to be well protected from immunological surveillance. This is indeed the case. EBNA1 contains a large internal glycine/alanine repeat (GAr) domain that decreases EBNA1 processing and presentation by the HLA class I processing pathway via several complementary mechanisms (Levitskaya et al., 1997; Tellam et al., 2008; Apcher et al., 2009). The KSHV genome maintenance protein LANA also contains an internal repeat domain, in this case consisting of acidic residues, that similarly reduces this protein's synthesis (Kwun et al., 2007) and degradation (Zaldumbide et al., 2007). In contrast to shortlived proteins, which are generally thought to be degraded by the proteasome, long-lived proteins are thought to be degraded by autophagy; measuring the degradation of long-lived proteins is a classical method for measuring the autophagy activity of cells (Klionsky et al., 2008). The genome maintenance proteins might therefore be potential substrates for autophagic degradation. This is indeed the case for EBNA1, which was the first viral protein identified as being degraded by autophagy (Paludan et al., 2005). Furthermore, two different EBNA1-specific CD4+ T cell clones were able to recognize EBV-transformed B lymphoblastoid cell lines (LCLs) in an autophagy dependant manner, demonstrating that such degradation could expose EBNA1 to the immune system. Remarkably, of all the EBV latent cycle proteins EBNA1 contains the greatest number of MHC class II epitopes and most individuals possess strong CD4+ T cell immunity against this protein (Munz et al., 2000; Leen et al., 2001; Hislop et al., 2007). Taken together, these observations appear paradoxical: how can EBV persist in MHC class II positive B cells despite strong CD4+ T cell responses specific for EBNA1, the protein critical for viral persistence?

In contrast to the observations described above, other research groups using CD4+ T cell clones specific for other EBNA1 epitopes found these cells were unable to recognize LCLs (Khanna et al., 1997; Mautner et al., 2004). In our laboratory, CD4+ T cell clones specific for two epitopes could recognize LCLs expressing natural levels of the EBNA1 protein while clones specific for a third epitope could not (Leung et al., 2010). The discordant results reported by different laboratories may therefore reflect real differences in the presentation of different epitopes from this protein. Although cell surface levels were low, control experiments confirmed that the two epitopes presented by LCLs were indeed endogenously accessing the MHC II pathway. Interestingly, only one epitope was autophagy-dependent, the other being processed by another intracellular route that is currently under investigation. Different epitopes from the same source protein being processed by different routes has been observed previously for influenza hemagglutinin (Sinnathamby and Eisenlohr, 2003). When EBNA1 was over-expressed as a nuclear protein, surface levels of the two naturally presented epitopes increased slightly, but the processing routes remained the same. However, expressing EBNA1 as a cytoplasmic protein, through mutation of its NLS, resulted in all three epitopes being processed by autophagy and presented at high levels by cells. This striking result was a direct result of EBNA1's new cytoplasmic localization since addition of a heterologous NLS reversed the effect (Leung et al., 2010). While EBNA1 needs to be localized to the nucleus for its correct functioning in the virus life cycle, nuclear localization clearly brings an additional benefit, namely limiting EBNA1's endogenous processing by macroautophagy and presentation to CD4+ T cells. Potentially "nuclear shelter" (Leung and Taylor, 2010) could also help reduce CD8+ T cell presentation of EBNA1. Reducing protein turnover may decrease the need for newly synthesized replacement polypeptides that are the dominant source of MHC class 1 peptides from EBNA1 (Lee et al., 2004; Tellam et al., 2004; Voo et al., 2004; Mackay et al., 2009).

Are other nuclear-localized proteins sheltered from macroautophagy like EBNA1? Studies using non-viral proteins suggest this may be the case. The huntingtin and ataxin-1 proteins each contain a large poly-glutamine repeat that can cause these proteins to aggregate in cells. Aggregates of huntingtin or ataxin-1 were degraded by autophagy in the cytoplasm but not in the nucleus (Iwata et al., 2005). A mutation in the NLS of a tumor antigen causing it to relocalize out of the nucleus enhanced its CD4+ T cell recognition (Wang et al., 1999). Although it is not known if this epitope was processed by autophagy, the observation is consistent with the EBNA1 data. In contrast to these examples, presentation of an autophagy-dependant epitope from the NeoR protein was not reduced by the addition of a heterologous NLS (Riedel et al., 2008). The reason for this different result is unclear, but one possibility is that it might reflect different rates of nuclear import. Previous work has shown that although the addition of a minimal NLS allows nuclear import, this occurs with slow kinetics unless additional flanking sequences are included (Rihs and Peters, 1989). The import rate of the NLS-containing NeoR protein has not been measured, however EBNA1 is rapidly imported following its translation suggesting that levels of cytoplasmic EBNA1 are likely to be very low (Kitamura et al., 2006). Finally, it is important to note that other endogenous MHC class II processing pathways exist. Some of these pathways involve the proteasome (Delmas et al., 2005; Tewari et al., 2005), others CMA (Zhou et al., 2005) while others have not been mechanistically defined. Antigen localization can affect processing by one of these alternative pathways. The CMV nuclear protein IE1 contains an MHC class II epitope that is not processed by autophagy but by a proteasome-dependent mechanism. Although relocalization of IE1 into the cytoplasm did not alter the degree of presentation of this epitope, the mechanism of presentation was altered (Delmas et al., 2005).

HOW DO NUCLEAR-LOCALIZED ANTIGENS ENTER THE AUTOPHAGY PATHWAY?

The fact that some EBNA1 MHC class II epitopes are autophagydependent raises the interesting question of where in the cell does the nuclear-localized protein access the autophagic pathway? Can autophagy occur in the nucleus? The best-studied example of "nucleophagy" is Piecemeal Microautophagy of the Nucleus (PMN), a form of microautophagy that occurs in yeast (Roberts et al., 2003). During PMN, small pieces of the nucleus are pinched off into the yeast degradative vacuole; PMN is therefore a relatively gentle and selective process that can be tolerated by the cell. A much more dramatic example of nucleophagy has been observed in the filamentous fungus Aspergillus oryzae. Here, entire nuclei are degraded after being surrounded by large (1-2 µm diameter) autophagosomes (Shoji et al., 2010). While such drastic loss of genetic material would be lethal for any mononuclear cell, it can be tolerated within the multi-nucleated hyphae of this organism. Since autophagy is important for the growth of this fungus under starvation conditions, nucleophagy may be acting to recycle the constituents of redundant nuclei for use at growing hyphal tips.

Do mammalian cells undergo nucleophagy? The extent to which PMN takes place in other species is unknown, but homologs of the yeast genes essential for PMN, *Vac8*, and *Nvj1*, have not been identified in animal cells (Mijaljica et al., 2010). Granting non-specific macroautophagy access to the nucleus could result in irreversible loss of genetic material with catastrophic consequences for the cell. Indeed, to guard against such loss mammalian cells inhibit autophagy during mitosis, a time when chromosomes enter the cytoplasm following breakdown of the nuclear membrane (Eskelinen et al., 2002). However, nucleophagy has been observed in mammalian cells in select circumstances. In mouse macrophages HSV-1 infection triggers an unusual form of autophagy involving four-layer autophagosomes emerging from the nuclear envelope (English et al., 2009). It is not known whether these unusual autophagosomes can form in human cells
infected with HSV-1, or if other herpesviruses can trigger their formation.

Other examples of nucleophagy occur in the context of genetic mutations. In Bloom's syndrome, a rare cancer-predisposing disorder caused by mutation of the *BLM* gene, micronuclei bud from the nucleus into the cytoplasm (Yankiwski et al., 2000). The extent to which these cytoplasmic micronuclei are substrates of autophagy and the ability of normal cells to release micronuclei are currently not known. Finally, cells with fragile nuclei, caused by mutations in genes encoding nuclear lamina proteins, have been observed to contain perinuclear autophagosomes/autolysosomes-containing nuclear components (Park et al., 2009). Intriguingly, the authors report similar autophagosomes/autolysosomes in wild-type cells, although at a much lower frequency.

Autophagy is now known to exhibit greater selectivity for its substrates than once thought. Several autophagy adaptor proteins have now been shown to transport a range of substrates to autophagosomes for degradation. These substrates include aggregated or ubiquitinated proteins, damaged mitochondria, and intracellular bacteria (reviewed in Johansen and Lamark, 2011). Selective autophagy could be another route for nuclear proteins to enter cytoplasmic autophagosomes, one that could operate without causing genetic loss. One of the autophagy adaptor proteins, p62 (also called SOSTM1), has recently been shown to deliver capsids of Sindbis virus to autophagosomes (Orvedahl et al., 2010). With respect to the selective autophagy of nuclear proteins, p62 is of particular interest since it contains both nuclear localization and nuclear export sequences and consequently shuttles rapidly between the nucleus and cytoplasm (Pankiv et al., 2010). However, it is not yet known whether p62 is involved in the selective degradation of nuclear proteins by autophagy.

ACTIVATION OF AUTOPHAGY BY HERPESVIRUSES

Thus far we have considered autophagy as a threat to herpesviruses. However, the relationship between herpesviruses and autophagy is more complex and several examples exist of herpesviruses activating autophagy at different stages in their lifecycle. Autophagy activation can occur during lytic infection. As described earlier autophagy is rapidly activated in VZV-infected cells because the virus apparently lacks mechanisms to inhibit this pathway. However, autophagy activation has also been reported for viruses that do possess such mechanisms, suggesting that autophagy may be beneficial for viruses at particular stages of their replicative cycle. Although HSV-1 encodes the autophagy inhibitor ICP34.5 this virus has been reported to rapidly activate autophagy in human fetal foreskin fibroblasts (McFarlane et al., 2011). Autophagy induction by HSV-1 has also been reported in murine macrophages, although in this case classical macroautophagy still appeared to be inhibited by virus-encoded ICP34.5 and a morphologically distinct type of macroautophagy

REFERENCES

Apcher, S., Komarova, A., Daskalogianni, C., Yin, Y., Malbert-Colas, L., and Fahraeus, R. (2009). mRNA translation regulation by the Gly-Ala repeat of Epstein–Barr virus nuclear antigen 1. J. Virol. 83, 1289–1298. Berkova, Z., Crawford, S. E., Trugnan, G., Yoshimori, T., Morris, A. P., and Estes, M. K. (2006). Rotavirus NSP4 induces a novel vesicular compartment regulated by calcium and associated with viroplasms. *J. Virol.* 80, 6061–6071. was observed (English et al., 2009). CMV infection also rapidly activates autophagy that is subsequently inhibited by the CMVencoded protein TRS1 (McFarlane et al., 2011; Chaumorcel et al., 2012). KSHV also appears to activate autophagy during lytic reactivation. The KSHV protein RTA is able to activate autophagy, inhibiting this process reduced RTA-mediated lytic gene expression and KSHV replication suggesting autophagy plays a key role in the replication of KSHV during lytic cycle (Wen et al., 2010). Autophagy activation can also occur during herpesvirus latency. The EBV-encoded latent membrane protein 1 (LMP1) induces autophagy in EBV transformed B cells (Lee and Sugden, 2008). This induction does not result from LMP1's well-documented activation of cellular signaling pathways but from the presence of three of the molecule's transmembrane spanning domains. Since LMP1 is also degraded by autophagy these domains, which had previously not been assigned a functional role, may provide LMP1 with a feedback mechanism that regulates cellular levels of the protein.

CONCLUSION

During their evolution, the herpesviruses have developed a range of mechanisms to interact with the host autophagy machinery. Under some circumstances these viruses need to evade host immunity and this is achieved in several ways. One way is to target key cellular proteins required for autophagy. In this regard, several viruses have independently evolved mechanisms that target Beclin-1, reflecting the key role this protein plays in autophagy. The targeting of another autophagy protein, ATG3, by KSHV raises the possibility that a range of inhibitory mechanisms exist, waiting to be discovered. Another way to evade immunity may be through localization of genome maintenance proteins into the nucleus, thereby minimizing their access to the autophagy machinery. In this review, we have focused on macroautophagy, which is the best characterized of the three currently defined autophagy pathways. The other pathways are beginning to be elucidated and one of them, CMA, has been shown to generate an MHC class II restricted epitope from a non-viral antigen (Zhou et al., 2005). However, the contribution of these other pathways to viral immunity, and whether they too are inhibited by herpesviruses, is currently unknown. Finally, a complex balance exists between herpesviruses and autophagy within the host cell and under some circumstances herpesviruses activate autophagy, presumably for their benefit. Two recent observations - PICT-1-mediated relocalization of KSHV Bcl-2 away from its site of action, and nuclear-derived autophagosomes in mouse macrophages infected with HSV-1 - raise the possibility that cells possess mechanisms to counteract viral manipulation of autophagy. Understanding the balance between autophagy inhibition and activation within virally infected cells, and the consequences for anti-viral immunity, presents a challenge and an opportunity for future research.

Brazil, M. I., Weiss, S., and Stockinger, B. (1997). Excessive degradation of intracellular protein in macrophages prevents presentation in the context of major histocompatibility complex class II molecules. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 27, 1506–1514. Carpenter, J. E., Jackson, W., Benetti, L., and Grose, C. (2011). Autophagosome formation during varicellazoster virus infection following endoplasmic reticulum stress and the unfolded protein response. *J. Virol.* 85, 9414–9424.

- Chaumorcel, M., Lussignol, M., Mouna, L., Cavignac, Y., Fahie, K., Cotte-Laffitte, J., Geballe, A., Brune, W., Beau, I., Codogno, P., and Esclatine, A. (2012). The human cytomegalovirus protein trs1 inhibits autophagy via its interaction with beclin 1. J. Virol. 86, 2571–2584.
- Chaumorcel, M., Souquere, S., Pierron, G., Codogno, P., and Esclatine, A. (2008). Human cytomegalovirus controls a new autophagy-dependent cellular antiviral defense mechanism. *Autophagy* 4, 46–53.
- Chou, J., Kern, E. R., Whitley, R. J., and Roizman, B. (1990). Mapping of herpes simplex virus-1 neurovirulence to gamma 134.5, a gene nonessential for growth in culture. *Science* 250, 1262–1266.
- Delmas, S., Martin, L., Baron, M., Nelson, J. A., Streblow, D. N., and Davignon, J. L. (2005). Optimization of CD4+ T lymphocyte response to human cytomegalovirus nuclear IE1 protein through modifications of both size and cellular localization. J. Immunol. 175, 6812–6819.
- Dice, J. F. (2007). Chaperone-mediated autophagy. *Autophagy* 3, 295–299.
- E, X., Hwang, S., Oh, S., Lee, J.-S., Jeong, J. H., Gwack, Y., Kowalik, T. F., Sun, R., Jung, J. U., and Liang, C. (2009). Viral Bcl-2-Mediated evasion of autophagy aids chronic infection of yherpesvirus 68. *PLoS Pathog.* 5, e1000609. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000609
- English, L., Chemali, M., Duron, J., Rondeau, C., Laplante, A., Gingras, D., Alexander, D., Leib, D., Norbury, C., Lippe, R., and Desjardins, M. (2009). Autophagy enhances the presentation of endogenous viral antigens on MHC class I molecules during HSV-1 infection. *Nat. Immunol.* 10, 480–487.
- Eskelinen, E. L., Prescott, A. R., Cooper, J., Brachmann, S. M., Wang, L., Tang, X., Backer, J. M., and Lucocq, J. M. (2002). Inhibition of autophagy in mitotic animal cells. *Traffic* 3, 878–893.
- Gutierrez, M. G., Master, S. S., Singh, S. B., Taylor, G. A., Colombo, M. I., and Deretic, V. (2004). Autophagy is a defense mechanism inhibiting BCG and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* survival in infected macrophages. *Cell* 119,753–766.
- Hislop, A. D., Taylor, G. S., Sauce, D., and Rickinson, A. B. (2007). Cellular responses to viral infection in humans: lessons from Epstein– Barr virus. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 25, 587–617.
- Horst, D., Verweij, M. C., Davison, A. J., Ressing, M. E., and

Wiertz, E. J. (2011). Viral evasion of T cell immunity: ancient mechanisms offering new applications. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 23, 96–103.

- Humme, S., Reisbach, G., Feederle, R., Delecluse, H. J., Bousset, K., Hammerschmidt, W., and Schepers, A. (2003). The EBV nuclear antigen 1 (EBNA1) enhances B cell immortalization several thousandfold. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 10989– 10994.
- Iwata, A., Christianson, J. C., Bucci, M., Ellerby, L. M., Nukina, N., Forno, L. S., and Kopito, R. R. (2005). Increased susceptibility of cytoplasmic over nuclear polyglutamine aggregates to autophagic degradation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 13135–13140.
- Jackson, W. T., Giddings, T. H. Jr., Taylor, M. P., Mulinyawe, S., Rabinovitch, M., Kopito, R. R., and Kirkegaard, K. (2005). Subversion of cellular autophagosomal machinery by RNA viruses. *PLoS Biol.* 3, e156. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0030156
- Jagannath, C., Lindsey, D. R., Dhandayuthapani, S., Xu, Y., Hunter, R. L. Jr., and Eissa, N. T. (2009). Autophagy enhances the efficacy of BCG vaccine by increasing peptide presentation in mouse dendritic cells. *Nat. Med.* 15, 267–276.
- Johansen, T., and Lamark, T. (2011). Selective autophagy mediated by autophagic adapter proteins. *Autophagy* 7, 279–296.
- Jordan, T. X., and Randall, G. (2011). Manipulation or capitulation: virus interactions with autophagy. *Microbes Infect.* 14, 126–139.
- Kalt, I., Borodianskiy–Shteinberg, T., Schachor, A., and Sarid, R. (2011). GLTSCR2/PICT-1, a putative tumor suppressor gene product, induces the nucleolar targeting of the Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus KS-Bcl-2 protein. J. Virol. 84, 2935–2945.
- Khanna, R., Burrows, S. R., Steigerwald-Mullen, P. M., Moss, D. J., Kurilla, M. G., and Cooper, L. (1997). Targeting Epstein–Barr virus nuclear antigen 1 (EBNA1) through the class II pathway restores immune recognition by EBNA1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes: evidence for HLA-DM-independent processing. Int. Immunol. 9, 1537–1543.
- Kitamura, R., Sekimoto, T., Ito, S., Harada, S., Yamagata, H., Masai, H., Yoneda, Y., and Yanagi, K. (2006). Nuclear import of Epstein–Barr virus nuclear antigen 1 mediated by NPI-1 (Importin alpha5) is up- and downregulated by phosphorylation of the nuclear localization signal for which Lys379 and Arg380 are essential. J. Virol. 80, 1979–1991.
- Klionsky, D. J., Abeliovich, H., Agostinis, P., Agrawal, D. K., Aliev, G., Askew, D. S., Baba, M., Baehrecke, E. H., Bahr, B. A., Ballabio, A., Bamber, B. A., Bassham, D. C., Bergamini, E., Bi, X., Biard-Piechaczyk, M., Blum, J. S., Bredesen, D. E., Brodsky, J. L., Brumell, J. H., Brunk, U. T., Bursch, W., Camougrand, N., Cebollero, E., Cecconi, F., Chen, Y., Chin, L. S., Choi, A., Chu, C. T., Chung, J., Clarke, P. G., Clark, R. S., Clarke, S. G., Clave, C., Cleveland, J. L., Codogno, P., Colombo, M. L. Coto-Montes, A., Cregg, J. M., Cuervo, A. M., Debnath, J., Demarchi, F., Dennis, P. B., Dennis, P. A., Deretic, V., Devenish, R. J., Di Sano, F., Dice, J. F., Difiglia, M., Dinesh-Kumar, S., Distelhorst, C. W., Djavaheri-Mergny, M., Dorsey, F. C., Droge, W., Dron, M., Dunn, W. A. Jr., Duszenko, M., Eissa, N. T., Elazar, Z., Esclatine, A., Eskelinen, E. L., Fesus, L., Finley, K. D., Fuentes, J. M., Fuevo, I., Fujisaki, K., Galliot, B., Gao, F. B., Gewirtz, D. A., Gibson, S. B., Gohla, A., Goldberg, A. L., Gonzalez, R., Gonzalez-Estevez, C., Gorski, S., Gottlieb, R. A., Haussinger, D., He, Y. W., Heidenreich, K., Hill, J. A., Hoyer-Hansen, M., Hu, X., Huang, W. P., Iwasaki, A., Jaattela, M., Jackson, W. T., Jiang, X., Jin, S., Johansen, T., Jung, J. U., Kadowaki, M., Kang, C., Kelekar, A., Kessel, D. H., Kiel, J. A., Kim, H. P., Kimchi, A., Kinsella, T. J., Kiselyov, K., Kitamoto, K., Knecht, E., Komatsu, M., Kominami, E., Kondo, S., Kovács, A. L., Kroemer, G., Kuan, C. Y., Kumar, R., Kundu, M., Landry, J., Laporte, M., Le, W., Lei, H. Y., Lenardo, M. J., Levine, B., Lieberman, A., Lim, K. L., Lin, F. C., Liou, W., Liu, L. F., Lopez-Berestein, G., López-Otín, C., Lu, B., Macleod, K. F., Malorni, W., Martinet, W., Matsuoka, K., Mautner, I., Meijer, A. I., Meléndez, A., Michels, P., Miotto, G., Mistiaen, W. P., Mizushima, N., Mograbi, B., Monastyrska, I., Moore, M. N., Moreira, P. I., Moriyasu, Y., Motyl, T., Münz, C., Murphy, L. O., Nagyi, N. I., Neufeld, T. P., Nishino, I., Nixon, R. A., Noda, T., Nürnberg, B., Ogawa, M., Oleinick, N. L., Olsen, L. J., Ozpolat, B., Paglin, S., Palmer, G. E., Papassideri, I., Parkes, M., Perlmutter, D. H., Perry, G., Piacentini, M., Pinkas-Kramarski, R., Prescott, M., Proikas-Cezanne, T., Raben, N., Rami, A., Reggiori, F., Rohrer, B., Rubinsztein, D. C., Ryan, K. M., Sadoshima, J., Sakagami, H., Sakai, Y., Sandri, M., Sasakawa, C., Sass, M., Schneider, C., Seglen, P. O., Seleverstov, O., Settleman, J., Shacka, J. J., Shapiro, I. M., Sibirny, A., Silva-Zacarin, E. C., Simon, H.

U., Simone, C., Simonsen, A., Smith, M. A., Spanel-Borowski, K., Srinivas. V., Steeves, M., Stenmark, H., Stromhaug, P. E., Subauste, C. S., Sugimoto, S., Sulzer, D., Suzuki, T., Swanson, M. S., Tabas, I., Takeshita, F., Talbot, N. J., Tallóczy, Z., Tanaka, K., Tanaka, K., Tanida, I., Taylor, G. S., Taylor, J. P., Terman, A., Tettamanti, G., Thompson, C. B., Thumm, M., Tolkovsky, A. M., Tooze, S. A., Truant, R., Tumanovska, L. V., Uchiyama, Y., Ueno, T., Uzcátegui, N. L., van der Klei, I., Vaquero, E. C., Vellai, T., Vogel, M. W., Wang, H. G., Webster, P., Wiley, J. W., Xi, Z., Xiao, G., Yahalom, J., Yang, J. M., Yap, G., Yin, X. M., Yoshimori, T., Yu, L., Yue, Z., Yuzaki, M., Zabirnyk, O., Zheng, X., Zhu, X., and Deter, R. L. (2008). Guidelines for the use and interpretation of assays for monitoring autophagy in higher eukaryotes. Autophagy 4, 151-175.

- Kwun, H. J., Da Silva, S. R., Shah, I. M., Blake, N., Moore, P. S., and Chang, Y. (2007). Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus latency-associated nuclear antigen 1 mimics Epstein–Barr virus EBNA1 immune evasion through central repeat domain effects on protein processing. J. Virol. 81, 8225–8235.
- Lee, D. Y., and Sugden, B. (2008). The latent membrane protein 1 oncogene modifies B-cell physiology by regulating autophagy. *Oncogene* 27, 2833–2842.
- Lee, H. K., Lund, J. M., Ramanathan, B., Mizushima, N., and Iwasaki, A. (2007). Autophagy-dependent viral recognition by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Science* 315, 1398–1401.
- Lee, J. S., Li, Q., Lee, J. Y., Lee, S. H., Jeong, J. H., Lee, H. R., Chang, H., Zhou, F. C., Gao, S. J., Liang, C., and Jung, J. U. (2009). FLIP-mediated autophagy regulation in cell death control. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 11, 1355–1362.
- Lee, S. P., Brooks, J. M., Al-Jarrah, H., Thomas, W. A., Haigh, T. A., Taylor, G. S., Humme, S., Schepers, A., Hammerschmidt, W., Yates, J. L., Rickinson, A. B., and Blake, N. W. (2004). CD8 T cell recognition of endogenously expressed Epstein– Barr virus nuclear antigen 1. *J. Exp. Med.* 199, 1409–20.
- Leen, A., Meij, P., Redchenko, I., Middeldorp, J., Bloemena, E., Rickinson, A., and Blake, N. (2001). Differential immunogenicity of Epstein–Barr virus latent-cycle proteins for human CD4(+) T-helper 1 responses. J. Virol. 75, 8649–8659.
- Leib, D. A., Alexander, D. E., Cox, D., Yin, J., and Ferguson, T. A. (2009). Interaction of ICP34.5 with Beclin 1

modulates herpes simplex virus type 1 pathogenesis through control of CD4+ T-cell responses. J. Virol. 83, 12164–12171.

- Leung, C. S., Haigh, T. A., Mackay, L. K., Rickinson, A. B., and Taylor, G. S. (2010). Nuclear location of an endogenously expressed antigen, EBNA1, restricts access to macroautophagy and the range of CD4 epitope display. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 107, 2165–2170.
- Leung, C. S., and Taylor, G. S. (2010). Nuclear shelter: The influence of subcellular location on the processing of antigens by macroautophagy. *Autophagy* 6, 560–561.
- Levitskaya, J., Sharipo, A., Leonchiks, A., Ciechanover, A., and Masucci, M. G. (1997). Inhibition of ubiquitin/ proteasome-dependent protein degradation by the Gly-Ala repeat domain of the Epstein–Barr virus nuclear antigen 1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 94, 12616–12621.
- Li, Y., Wang, L. X., Yang, G., Hao, F., Urba, W. J., and Hu, H. M. (2008). Efficient cross-presentation depends on autophagy in tumor cells. *Cancer Res.* 68, 6889–6895.
- Liang, X. H., Kleeman, L. K., Jiang, H. H., Gordon, G., Goldman, J. E., Berry, G., Herman, B., and Levine, B. (1998). Protection against fatal Sindbis virus encephalitis by beclin, a novel Bcl-2-interacting protein. J. Virol. 72, 8586–8596.
- Liang, X. H., Yu, J., Brown, K., and Levine, B. (2001). Beclin 1 contains a leucine-rich nuclear export signal that is required for its autophagy and tumor suppressor function. *Cancer Res.* 61, 3443–3449.
- Mackay, L. K., Long, H. M., Brooks, J. M., Taylor, G. S., Leung, C. S., Chen, A., Wang, F., and Rickinson, A. B. (2009). T cell detection of a B-cell tropic virus infection: newlysynthesised versus mature viral proteins as antigen sources for CD4 and CD8 epitope display. *PLoS Pathog.* 5, e1000699. doi: 10.1371/journal. ppat.1000699
- Nautner, J., Pich, D., Nimmerjahn, F., Milosevic, S., Adhikary, D., Christoph, H., Witter, K., Bornkamm, G. W., Hammerschmidt, W., and Behrends, U. (2004). Epstein–Barr virus nuclear antigen 1 evades direct immune recognition by CD4+ T helper cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 34, 2500–2509.
- McFarlane, S., Aitken, J., Sutherland, J. S., Nicholl, M. J., Preston, V. G., and Preston, C. M. (2011). Early induction of autophagy in human fibroblasts after infection with human cytomegalovirus or

herpes simplex virus 1. J. Virol. 85, 4212–4221.

- Mijaljica, D., Prescott, M., and Devenish, R. J. (2010). The intricacy of nuclear membrane dynamics during nucleophagy. *Nucleus* 1, 213–223.
- Munz, C., Bickham, K. L., Subklewe, M., Tsang, M. L., Chahroudi, A., Kurilla, M. G., Zhang, D., O'Donnell, M., and Steinman, R. M. (2000). Human CD4(+) T lymphocytes consistently respond to the latent Epstein–Barr virus nuclear antigen EBNA1. J. Exp. Med. 191, 1649–1660.
- Nakagawa, I., Amano, A., Mizushima, N., Yamamoto, A., Yamaguchi, H., Kamimoto, T., Nara, A., Funao, J., Nakata, M., Tsuda, K., Hamada, S., and Yoshimori, T. (2004). Autophagy defends cells against invading group A *Streptococcus. Science* 306, 1037– 1040.
- Nimmerjahn, F., Milosevic, S., Behrends, U., Jaffee, E. M., Pardoll, D. M., Bornkamm, G. W., and Mautner, J. (2003). Major histocompatibility complex class II-restricted presentation of a cytosolic antigen by autophagy. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 33, 1250–1259.
- Orvedahl, A., Alexander, D., Talloczy, Z., Sun, Q., Wei, Y., Zhang, W., Burns, D., Leib, D. A., and Levine, B. (2007). HSV-1 ICP34.5 confers neurovirulence by targeting the Beclin 1 autophagy protein. *Cell Host Microbe* 1, 23–35.
- Orvedahl, A., Macpherson, S., Sumpter, R. Jr., Talloczy, Z., Zou, Z., and Levine, B. (2010). Autophagy protects against Sindbis virus infection of the central nervous system. *Cell Host Microbe* 7, 115–127.
- Paludan, C., Schmid, D., Landthaler, M., Vockerodt, M., Kube, D., Tuschl, T., and Munz, C. (2005). Endogenous MHC class II processing of a viral nuclear antigen after autophagy. *Science* 307, 593–596.
- Pankiv, S., Lamark, T., Bruun, J. A., Overvatn, A., Bjorkoy, G., and Johansen, T. (2010). Nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of p62/SQSTM1 and its role in recruitment of nuclear polyubiquitinated proteins to promyelocytic leukemia bodies. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 5941–5953.
- Park, Y. E., Hayashi, Y. K., Bonne, G., Arimura, T., Noguchi, S., Nonaka, I., and Nishino, I. (2009). Autophagic degradation of nuclear components in mammalian cells. *Autophagy* 5, 795–804.
- Pattingre, S., Tassa, A., Qu, X., Garuti, R., Liang, X. H., Mizushima, N., Packer, M., Schneider, M. D., and Levine, B. (2005). Bcl-2

antiapoptotic proteins inhibit Beclin 1-dependent autophagy. *Cell* 122, 927–939.

- Rich, K. A., Burkett, C., and Webster, P. (2003). Cytoplasmic bacteria can be targets for autophagy. *Cell. Microbiol.* 5, 455–468.
- Riedel, A., Nimmerjahn, F., Burdach, S., Behrends, U., Bornkamm, G. W., and Mautner, J. (2008). Endogenous presentation of a nuclear antigen on MHC class II by autophagy in the absence of CRM1-mediated nuclear export. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 38, 2090– 2095.
- Rihs, H. P., and Peters, R. (1989). Nuclear transport kinetics depend on phosphorylation-site-containing sequences flanking the karyophilic signal of the Simian virus 40 Tantigen. *EMBO J.* 8, 1479–1484.
- Roberts, P., Moshitch-Moshkovitz, S., Kvam, E., O'Toole, E., Winey, M., and Goldfarb, D. S. (2003). Piecemeal microautophagy of nucleus in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 14, 129–141.
- Sahu, R., Kaushik, S., Clement, C. C., Cannizzo, E. S., Scharf, B., Follenzi, A., Potolicchio, I., Nieves, E., Cuervo, A. M., and Santambrogio, L. (2011). Microautophagy of cytosolic proteins by late endosomes. *Dev. Cell* 20, 131–139.
- Saitoh, T., Fujita, N., Jang, M. H., Uematsu, S., Yang, B. G., Satoh, T., Omori, H., Noda, T., Yamamoto, N., Komatsu, M., Tanaka, K., Kawai, T., Tsujimura, T., Takeuchi, O., Yoshimori, T., and Akira, S. (2008). Loss of the autophagy protein Atg16L1 enhances endotoxininduced IL-1beta production. *Nature* 456, 264–268.
- Sanjuan, M. A., Dillon, C. P., Tait, S. W., Moshiach, S., Dorsey, F., Connell, S., Komatsu, M., Tanaka, K., Cleveland, J. L., Withoff, S., and Green, D. R. (2007). Toll-like receptor signalling in macrophages links the autophagy pathway to phagocytosis. *Nature* 450, 1253–1257.
- Shoji, J.-Y., Kikuma, T., Arioka, M., and Kitamoto, K. (2010). Macroautophagy-mediated degradation of whole nuclei in the filamentous fungus *Aspergillus oryzae*. *PLoS ONE* 5, e15650. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0015650
- Sinnathamby, G., and Eisenlohr, L. C. (2003). Presentation by recycling MHC class II molecules of an influenza hemagglutinin-derived epitope that is revealed in the early endosome by acidification. J. Immunol. 170, 3504–3513.
- Smith, J. D., and de Harven, E. (1978). Herpes simplex virus and human

cytomegalovirus replication in WI-38 cells. III. Cytochemical localization of lysosomal enzymes in infected cells. *J. Virol.* 26, 102–109.

- Suhy, D. A., Giddings, T. H. Jr., and Kirkegaard, K. (2000). Remodeling the endoplasmic reticulum by poliovirus infection and by individual viral proteins: an autophagy-like origin for virus-induced vesicles. J. Virol. 74, 8953–8965.
- Takahashi, M. N., Jackson, W., Laird, D. T., Culp, T. D., Grose, C., Haynes, J. I. II, and Benetti, L. (2009). Varicella-zoster virus infection induces autophagy in both cultured cells and human skin vesicles. J. Virol. 83, 5466–5476.
- Takeshita, F., Kobiyama, K., Miyawaki, A., Jounai, N., and Okuda, K. (2008). The non-canonical role of Atg family members as suppressors of innate antiviral immune signaling. *Autophagy* 4, 67–69.
- Talloczy, Z., Jiang, W., Virgin, H. W. T., Leib, D. A., Scheuner, D., Kaufman, R. J., Eskelinen, E. L., and Levine, B. (2002). Regulation of starvationand virus-induced autophagy by the eIF2alpha kinase signaling pathway. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 190–195.
- Talloczy, Z., Virgin, H. W. T., and Levine, B. (2006). PKR-dependent autophagic degradation of herpes simplex virus type 1. *Autophagy* 2, 24–29.
- Tellam, J., Connolly, G., Green, K. J., Miles, J. J., Moss, D. J., Burrows, S. R., and Khanna, R. (2004). Endogenous presentation of CD8+ T cell epitopes from Epstein–Barr virusencoded nuclear antigen 1. J. Exp. Med. 199, 1421–1431.
- Tellam, J., Smith, C., Rist, M., Webb, N., Cooper, L., Vuocolo, T., Connolly, G., Tscharke, D. C., Devoy, M. P., and Khanna, R. (2008). Regulation of protein translation through mRNA structure influences MHC class I loading and T cell recognition. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 9319–9324.
- Tewari, M. K., Sinnathamby, G., Rajagopal, D., and Eisenlohr, L. C. (2005). A cytosolic pathway for MHC class II-restricted antigen processing that is proteasome and TAP dependent. *Nat. Immunol.* 6, 387–294.
- Uhl, M., Kepp, O., Jusforgues-Saklani, H., Vicencio, J. M., Kroemer, G., and Albert, M. L. (2009). Autophagy within the antigen donor cell facilitates efficient antigen cross-priming of virus-specific CD8+ T cells. *Cell Death Differ.* 16, 991–1005.
- Voo, K. S., Fu, T., Wang, H. Y., Tellam, J., Heslop, H. E., Brenner, M.

K., Rooney, C. M., and Wang, R. F. (2004). Evidence for the presentation of major histocompatibility complex class I-restricted Epstein–Barr virus nuclear antigen 1 peptides to CD8+ T lymphocytes. *J. Exp. Med.* 199, 459–470.

- Wang, R. F., Wang, X., Atwood, A. C., Topalian, S. L., and Rosenberg, S. A. (1999). Cloning genes encoding MHC class IIrestricted antigens: mutated CDC27 as a tumor antigen. *Science* 284, 1351–1354.
- Wen, H. J., Yang, Z., Zhou, Y., and Wood, C. (2010). Enhancement of autophagy during lytic replication by the Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus replication and

transcription activator. J. Virol. 84, 7448–7458.

- Yankiwski, V., Marciniak, R. A., Guarente, L., and Neff, N. F. (2000). Nuclear structure in normal and Bloom syndrome cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 5214–5219.
- Zaldumbide, A., Ossevoort, M., Wiertz, E. J., and Hoeben, R. C. (2007). In *cis* inhibition of antigen processing by the latency-associated nuclear antigen I of Kaposi sarcoma herpes virus. *Mol. Immunol.* 44, 1352–1360.
- Zang, L., Xu, Q., Ye, Y., Li, X., Liu, Y., Tashiro, S. I., Onodera, S., and Ikejima, T. (2012). Autophagy enhanced phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by oridonin-treated human histocytic

lymphoma U937 cells. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 518, 31–41.

Zhou, D., Li, P., Lin, Y., Lott, J. M., Hislop, A. D., Canaday, D. H., Brutkiewicz, R. R., and Blum, J. S. (2005). Lamp-2a facilitates MHC class II presentation of cytoplasmic antigens. *Immunity* 22, 571–581.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 24 January 2012; paper pending published: 20 February 2012;

accepted: 05 June 2012; published online: 04 July 2012.

Citation: Williams LR and Taylor GS (2012) Autophagy and immunity – insights from human herpesviruses. Front. Immun. **3**:170. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2012.00170

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Antigen Presenting Cell Biology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2012 Williams and Taylor. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.

frontiers in IMMUNOLOGY

Roles of autophagy in elimination of intracellular bacterial pathogens

Eun-Kyeong Jo^{1,2}*, Jae-Min Yuk^{1,2}, Dong-Min Shin^{1,2} and Chihiro Sasakawa^{3,4}

¹ Department of Microbiology, College of Medicine, Chungnam National University, Daejeon, South Korea

² Infection Signaling Network Research Center, School of Medicine, Chungnam National University, Daejeon, South Korea

³ Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Institute of Medical Science, University of Tokyo, Minato-Ku, Tokyo, Japan

⁴ Department of Infectious Disease Control, International Research Center for Infectious Disease, Institute of Medical Science, University of Tokyo, Minato-Ku, Tokyo, Japan

Edited by:

Christian Muenz, University of Zurich, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Graham Taylor, University of Birmingham, UK Mathias Faure, INSERM, Université Lyon 1, France

*Correspondence:

Eun-Kyeong Jo, Departments of Microbiology and Infection Signaling Network Research Center, College of Medicine, Chungnam National University, 6 Munhwa-dong, Jungku, Daejeon 301-747, South Korea. e-mail: hayoungj@cnu.ac.kr As a fundamental intracellular catabolic process, autophagy is important and required for the elimination of protein aggregates and damaged cytosolic organelles during a variety of stress conditions. Autophagy is now being recognized as an essential component of innate immunity; i.e., the recognition, selective targeting, and elimination of microbes. Because of its crucial roles in the innate immune system, therapeutic targeting of bacteria by means of autophagy activation may prove a useful strategy to combat intracellular infections. However, important questions remain, including which molecules are critical in bacterial targeting by autophagy, and which mechanisms are involved in autophagic clearance of intracellular microbes. In this review, we discuss the roles of antibacterial autophagy in intracellular bacterial infections (*Mycobacteria, Salmonella, Shigella, Listeria,* and *Legionella*) and present recent evidence in support of molecular mechanisms driving autophagy to target bacteria and eliminate invading pathogens.

Keywords: autophagic receptors, autophagy, innate immunity, Listeria, Mycobacteria, Salmonella, Shigella, xenophagy

INTRODUCTION

Autophagy is a fundamental protein degradation pathway essential for cellular homeostasis in response to various environmental and cellular stresses. The autophagy pathway is clearly involved in multiple aspects of innate and adaptive immunity (reviewed by Deretic and Levine, 2009; Virgin and Levine, 2009; Levine et al., 2011). During infection, a specific role for autophagy has been shown in the capture and degradation of intracellular bacteria and viruses, known as "xenophagy" (Levine, 2005; Deretic, 2011). In recent years, evidence of the specific roles of autophagy in selective targeting of bacteria through autophagic adaptors has accumulated. The main autophagic adaptors or receptors include; sequestosome 1 (SQSTM1/p62), nuclear dot protein 52 kDa (NDP52), optineurin (OPTN), and neighbor of BRCA1 gene 1 (NBR1) (Kirkin et al., 2009; Thurston et al., 2009; Mostowy et al., 2011; Wild et al., 2011; von Muhlinen et al., 2012; Korac et al., 2013) (Figure 1). These receptors function as cargo adaptors for the connection of substrates to the autophagy-related gene 8/microtubule-associated protein 1 light chain 3 (ATG8/LC3) family of proteins (Shaid et al., 2013).

Antibacterial autophagy plays an important role in controlling bacterial replication and promoting innate immunity in host cells. Increasing evidence has revealed that intracellular bacteria in vacuoles can be targeted by autophagy activation for lysosomal fusion and degradation (Levine, 2005; Deretic, 2011). Additionally, access to the cytosol for intracellular bacteria, caused by damage to the vacuoles, enables autophagy targeting of bacteria for eventual delivery to lysosomes (Ogawa et al., 2009; Collins and Brown, 2010; Fujita and Yoshimori, 2011). Several intracellular bacteria, including *Salmonella*, *Listeria*, *Legionella*, and *Mycobacteria*, can translocate their virulent components into the host cell cytoplasm. Moreover, these intracellular bacteria often induce the formation of ubiquitinated protein aggregates, which are recognized by cargo adaptors, and are ultimately destroyed by autophagy (Ogawa et al., 2009; Collins and Brown, 2010; Fujita and Yoshimori, 2011). More recent work has revealed the structural characteristics of the conserved interactions between cargo adaptors and the ATG8/LC3 family of proteins (Shaid et al., 2013). However, LC3 is not always necessary for recruitment of the autophagic membrane structure, and mechanisms for LC3-independent targeting remain to be explored (Noda et al., 2012).

In this review, we summarize recent data describing how autophagy and cargo receptors target important human pathogens. We focus on *Mycobacteria*, *Salmonella*, *Shigella*, *Listeria*, and *Legionella*, and the autophagy-mediated elimination of these intracellular bacteria.

ANTIBACTERIAL AUTOPHAGY IN MYCOBACTERIAL INFECTION

Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb) is a successful human pathogen that survives in a phagosomal environment in mononuclear phagocytes after invasion by means of inhalation (Huynh et al., 2011; Harriff et al., 2012). Phagosomal compartments containing Mtb are known to evade fusion with lysosomes, thus arresting phagosomal maturation during mycobacterial infection, while nutrient delivery continues, enabling survival and replication of the bacteria (Vergne et al., 2004; Philips, 2008). Numerous bacterial proteins and lipid effectors are known to be involved in



delaying the fusion of Mtb phagosomes with lysosomes, and in cytokine-dependent changes in phagosomal protein composition (Philips, 2008; Steinhauser et al., 2013). Despite the ability of Mtb to interfere with phagosomal maturation, an accumulation of evidence [including immunogold electron microscopy (EM) data] which shows that Mtb, but not *Mycobacterium bovis* bacillus Calmette-Guérin (BCG) can accumulate in the cytosol (van der Wel et al., 2007). Cytosolic translocation of Mtb depends on the 6-kDa early secretory antigenic target of Mtb (ESAT-6) Secretion System (ESX)-1 type VII secretion system, encoded in the region of difference 1 (RD1) of the Mtb genome, which has not been found in BCG or in heat-killed *Mycobacteria* (van der Wel et al., 2007) (**Figure 2A**).

As virulent Mtb strains can resist and inhibit autophagosome formation and its fusion with lysosomes (Deretic et al., 2006; Vergne et al., 2006; Deretic, 2008), divergent exogenous stimuli have been proposed to induce antibacterial autophagy targeting Mtb to inhibit its intracellular replication through enhancement of Mtb phagosomal maturation (summarized in **Figure 2B**). Autophagy activation via nutrient starvation, interferon (IFN)- γ , Toll-like receptor (TLR) stimuli, or by vitamin D treatment, has promoted phagosomal acidification and inhibited the survival of intracellular Mtb (reviewed by Deretic et al., 2006; Basu et al., 2012). In IFN-y-induced mycobacterial xenophagy, LRG-47 (Irgm1; LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 macrophage protein 47), a downstream effector of IFN-y, plays an essential role in induction of autophagy and generation of autolysosomal organelles to inhibit intracellular mycobacterial replication (Singh et al., 2006). A recent study showed that bactericidal antibiotics activated the antibacterial autophagy process and contributed to successful antimicrobial responses during treatment for Mtb infection (Kim et al., 2012). This strongly implies that autophagy activation can overcome the Mtb-induced phagosomal maturation blocking process, and that it enhances host defense against Mtb. Several important questions remain to be answered, such as how to destroy Mtb in lysosomal compartments. Previous findings indicate that induction of autophagy in Mtb-infected macrophages promotes the delivery of ubiquitin conjugates to the lysosome, showing that at least one mechanism involving the generation of ubiquitin-derived peptides can enhance the bactericidal capacity of the lysosomal fraction (Alonso et al., 2007; Purdy and Russell, 2007).

The mechanisms by which Mtb phagosomes recruit autophagic machinery are also not fully understood. Recent studies have revealed that extracellular Mtb-DNA released from Mtb can be recognized by the stimulator of IFN genes (STING)-dependent



infection and clearance via the autophagic pathway. (A) Mtb, but not *M. bovis* BCG, has diverse strategies for evading host immune system. Phagosomes containing Mtb do not fuse with lysosomes and mature into the phagolysosomes by preventing phagolysosome biogenesis. The restricted fusion of phagosomes with lysosome is attributable to limited entrance of lysosomal hydrolases to Mtb, preventing acidification of phagosomes. Mtb, but not *M. bovis* BCG or heat-killed (HK)-*Mycobacteria*, can evade to the cytosol depending on the ESX-1 Type VII secretion system. (B) Diverse stimuli including toll-like receptors (TLRs), interferon (IFN)-γ, and antimycobacterial antibiotics induce activation of the autophagic pathway to eliminate Mtb. The activation of endosomal and plasma membrane TLRs is linked to the induction of xenophagy of phagocytosed Mtb. IFN-γ induces autophagy through a downstream effector, Irgm1, in human macrophages,

antibiotics activate autophagy, which depends on cellular and mitochondrial reactive oxygen species. **(C)** The activation of autophagy plays a critical role in the clearance of intracellular *Mycobacteria* through diverse signaling pathways. *First*, ubiquitinated proteins are internalized and delivered via vesicles to the late endosome. Cargo receptors, such as p62, recognize ubiquitinated proteins and bind to LC3, contributing to autophagy activation. The autophagic vacuoles which contain ubiquitinated proteins traffic to the late endosome. This process promotes activation of lysosomes and fusion of Mtb-containing phagosomes with the lysosomes. *Second*, cytosolic recognition of Mtb-DNA via the STING-dependent pathway promotes ubiquitination of Mtb, and delivery of bacteria to autophagosomes through the cargo receptors p62 and NDP52. Finally, various stimuli induce autophagic clearance.

cytosolic pathway, marked with ubiquitin, and delivered to the autophagic machinery through the selective autophagic receptors p62 and NDP52 (Watson et al., 2012) (**Figure 2C**, left). Importantly, the Mtb ESX-1 secretion system is critical for cytosolic sensing of bacterial DNA, and activation of the ubiquitin-mediated selective autophagy pathway in natural Mtb infection (Watson et al., 2012). Moreover, cytosolic sensing of Mtb-DNA is mediated through the STING/TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK-1)/IFN regulatory factor 3 (IRF3) axis, and results in IFN- β secretion. Note that IRF3^{-/-} mice are protected from long-term Mtb infection, indicating that cytosolic sensing of Mtb-DNA and type I IFN signaling may contribute to the pathogenesis of tuberculosis (Manzanillo

et al., 2012). Moreover, another study hinted at novel roles for Rab8b, a member of the Rab family member of membrane trafficking regulators, and TBK-1, with regard to autophagic elimination of *Mycobacteria* in macrophages (Pilli et al., 2012) (**Figure 2C**, right). TBK-1 phosphorylates the autophagic receptor p62, thus playing an important role in linking the innate immune response to cargo recruitment into autophagosomes (Pilli et al., 2012).

Other recent studies have shown that virulent Mtb inhibits autophagosome maturation in dendritic cells, and that this is dependent on the ESX-1 system (Romagnoli et al., 2012). The recombinant BCG and Mtb H37Ra strains with genetic complementation, using either the ESX-1 region from Mtb (BCG::ESX-1) or the PhoP gene (Mtb H37Ra::PhoP), a regulator of ESAT-6 secretion, restored their inhibitory activities against autophagy (Romagnoli et al., 2012). Classic autophagy activation by rapamycin treatment led to an increased interleukin (IL)-12 production and T helper cell (Th)1-oriented response in dendritic cells infected with Mtb (Romagnoli et al., 2012). These data partly correlated with previous findings in which mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signaling negatively regulated the synthesis of IL-12 and IL-23 in human monocyte-derived macrophages infected with Mtb (Yang et al., 2006). These conflicting results are most likely due to the use of different cell types from different species (e.g., mouse or human), and variations of Mtb strains (e.g., Erdman strain, BCG, or others). Therefore, we must understand how antibacterial autophagy is activated in different cells and through which mechanisms. This information will help to identify and develop new therapies against Mtb infection.

ANTIBACTERIAL AUTOPHAGY IN SALMONELLA INFECTION

Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium (S. typhimurium) is a facultative intracellular pathogen with a bimodal life style inside host cells. The pathogen usually resides in a membrane-bound, Salmonella-containing vacuole (SCV). In this compartment, S. typhimurium can replicate and deliver a variety of effectors through type III secretion systems (TTSSs), allowing bacteria to enter the cytosol. SCVs can also develop into long tubular structures, also known as spacious vacuole-associated tubules, sorting nexin 3 (SNX3) tubules, and Salmonella-induced filaments (SIFs) (Bakowski et al., 2008; Schroeder et al., 2011). Some bacteria within damaged SCVs escape into the cytosol and can be detected by the autophagy process, which depends on the Salmonella pathogenicity island 1 (SPI-1) TTSS (Birmingham et al., 2006).

S. typhimurium that enter the cytosol are initially coated with polyubiquitinated proteins, and are then detected by the cargo adaptor, NDP52 (Thurston et al., 2009) (Figure 3A). In addition, S. typhimurium activates TLR4 signaling pathways, leading to phosphorylation of TBK-1. Through molecular interaction with adaptor proteins Nap1 and Sintbad, TBK-1, an important signaling molecule for regulation of TIR domain-containing adapterinducing IFN-β (TRIF)-dependent IRF3 signaling (Yuk and Jo, 2011), is recruited to NDP52, and it phosphorylates OPTN on Ser177, another autophagic receptor (Thurston et al., 2009; Wild et al., 2011). Phosphorylated OPTN has an enhanced ability to interact with the autophagic LC3 protein, driving bacteria toward the autophagic machinery and elimination by xenophagy activation (Thurston et al., 2009; Wild et al., 2011). A more recent study revealed that NDP52 selectively and preferentially interacts with LC3 isoform C (LC3C) through its non-canonical LC3Cinteracting region (CLIR) domain structure. Notably, this interaction between LC3C and NDP52 is involved in the recruitment of all ATG8 family members to cytosolic bacteria and successful elimination of S. typhimurium (von Muhlinen et al., 2012).

Another cargo adaptor, p62/SQSTM1, is recruited by polyubiquitin-decorated *S. typhimurium* for the xenophagic control of bacteria (Zheng et al., 2009). NBR1 is a cargo adaptor that has a similar domain structure containing an N-terminal PB1 domain, a LIR motif (interacting with LC3 proteins), and a C-terminal UBA domain which interacts with ubiquitin (Kirkin

et al., 2009; Lamark et al., 2009). It is known to interact with p62 to form oligomers, it is recruited to polyubiquitinated cargos and degraded by autophagy processes (Kirkin et al., 2009; Lamark et al., 2009). However, it is not known whether NBR1 is involved in *Salmonella* infection. Determining whether it plays a role in the autophagic clearance of intracellular bacteria and whether it can co-operate with other cargo receptors including p62 and NDP52 would be of interest.

In *Salmonella* infection, bacteria initiate an early state of intracellular amino acid deprivation, which is induced by host membrane damage, suggesting that xenophagy is activated by a metabolic switch induced by amino acid starvation (Tattoli et al., 2012). In addition, diacylglycerol (DAG)-induced and ubiquitin-independent autophagy has been reported in host defense against *Salmonella*. DAG, a lipid second messenger generated by phospholipase D, is associated with autophagy-targeted *Salmonella* and is required for antibacterial autophagy through protein kinase C δ signaling (Shahnazari et al., 2010). Recent studies have also revealed a novel role of cytosolic lectin Galectin 8 (LGALS8) in detecting bacterial invasion through binding to host glycans during invasion by *Salmonella* and *Shigella*. LGALS8 recruits NDP52 (CALCOCO2) to activate antibacterial autophagy (Thurston et al., 2012).

ANTIBACTERIAL AUTOPHAGY IN SHIGELLA INFECTION

Shigella is an invasive bacterium that exploits a harmful niche enabling it to replicate inside host cells. During a *Shigella* infection, the bacterium uses an array of pathogenic strategies including; induction of macrophage cell death, a massive inflammatory response, which results in subsequent infection, multiplication within epithelial cells, disruption of the vacuolar membrane surrounding the bacteria, and movement through promotion of actin polymerization (Ashida et al., 2011).

Shigella can manipulate the autophagy pathway through escape from and induction of the host autophagic system. *Shigella* can escape autophagy by secreting IcsB through a TTSS (**Figure 3B**, left), whereas VirG (a protein for intracellular actin-based motility) induces autophagy via interaction with the autophagy protein ATG5 (Ogawa et al., 2005). Additionally, Shiga toxins induce autophagy in THP-1 cells and human macrophages, and enhance cell death of renal epithelial cells through an autophagy-dependent mechanism. Especially in toxin-sensitive cells especially, those toxins are translocated to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and activate calpains and caspase-8 and -3, resulting in the cleavage of the autophagy-related genes ATG5 and Beclin-1 (Lee et al., 2011).

Upon invasion of epithelial cells by *Shigella* the vacuolar membrane fragments ruptured by the bacteria are targeted to the autophagy pathway by recruiting ubiquitin, TNF receptor associated factor 6 (TRAF6), p62, and LC3 (Dupont et al., 2009). Interestingly, guanosine triphosphatase (GTP)-binding protein septin assemblies are recruited to intracytosolic *Shigella*, which they entrap in cage-like structures (Mostowy et al., 2010). Moreover, the cargo adaptors p62 and NDP52 direct *Shigella* to an autophagy pathway that is dependent upon septin and actin (Mostowy et al., 2011). During infection, host-derived proinflammatory cytokine TNF- α enhances septin caging and p62mediated autophagic activity, thereby limiting *Shigella* survival



FIGURE 3 | A schematic diagram of diverse intracellular pathogen infections and clearance via autophagy pathway. (A) In Salmonella infection, the majority of *S. typhimurium* resides in Salmonella-containing vacuoles (SCVs) and allow establishment of a niche permissive for growth, which then form Salmonella-induced filaments (SIFs). Some Salmonella enter the host cytosol via type III secretion system (TTSS). The cytosolic Salmonella via TTSS-dependent damage to the SCV was targeted by the autophagy system through ubiquitin-dependent or -independent pathways. The cytosolic Salmonella can become coated with ubiquitin and then be recognized by the cytosolic cargo receptors such as NDP52, OPTN, or p62, and bind to ATG8/LC3, delivering the bacteria into autophagosomes for autophagic clearance. Otherwise, NDP52 binds to Galectin 8, a cytosolic lectin that detects host glycans on vesicles damaged by Salmonella during the process of entering the host cell. The NDP52-Galectin-8 interaction delivers bacteria

and cell-to-cell spread (Mostowy et al., 2010, 2011). A highly conserved Tectonin domain-containing protein, Tecpr1, plays a major role in antibacterial autophagy, targeting *Shigella* through interaction with ATG5 (Ogawa et al., 2011a). Tecpr1-deficient mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) have a defect in selective autophagy, which is manifested by accumulation of depolarized mitochondria and miss-folded protein aggregates, and an increased replication of *Shigella* (Ogawa et al., 2011a). Importantly since Tecpr1 offers for autophagic degradation. Galectin-8 can detect a wide variety of vesicle-damaging pathogens in addition to *Salmonella*, e.g., *Shigella* and *Listeria*. **(B)** In *Shigella* and *Listeria* infection, the bacteria can escape from vacuoles to the host cytosol via their bacterial products (e.g., IpaB, IpaC, LLO, or PLCs). The cytosolic *Shigella* and *Listeria* have actin-based motility, contributing to their escape from autophagy. Essential bacterial products (e.g., IcsA, IcsB, ActA, or InIK) are involved in actin-based motility and inhibition/evasion of autophagy. **(C)** In *Legionella* infection, *L. pneumophila* also escapes from vacuoles to the host cytosol via LepB through Type IV secretion system. Cytosolic *L. pneumophila* is recognized by its autophagic machinery; however, *Legionella* delays fusion of the autophagosome with Iysosomes until it develops into an acid-resistant form. The acid-resistant *Legionella* also interferes with autophagy by using its bacterial effector protein RavZ.

the fusion of autophagosomes and lysosomes by interacting with ATG12-ATG5 and PtdIns3P (Chen et al., 2012), Tecpr1 may play an important role in triggering autophagy in general (Behrends et al., 2010; Ogawa et al., 2011a). *Shigella flexneri* VirA, which harbors TBC-like dual-finger motifs that exhibit GTPase-activating protein (GAP) activity, is known to direct host Rab1 to inhibit IL-8, and counteract autophagy-mediated host defense in infected cells (Dong et al., 2012). Collectively, these studies indicate that the host

defense system and the bacterial tactics against the host autophagic machinery, as well as the immune response may determine the outcome of *Shigella* infection.

ANTIBACTERIAL AUTOPHAGY IN LISTERIA INFECTION

Listeria monocytogenes (L. monocytogenes) is a facultative Grampositive bacteria and an intracellular pathogen that causes listeriosis. Listeriosis commonly affects pregnant women and people with suppressed immune systems, e.g., those with cancer or HIV (Vazquez-Boland et al., 2001). Intestinal epithelial cells are the primary targets of L. monocytogenes. After primary infection of the epithelium, the bacterium translocates to phagocytic cells, such as dendritic cells and macrophages, through M cell-dependent or M cell-independent pathways (Barbuddhe and Chakraborty, 2009; Ogawa et al., 2011b). After internalization by the host cell, L. monocytogenes escapes from the phagosome to the cytosol by secreting listeriolysin O (LLO), which is a pore-forming hemolysin (Tweten, 2005; Schnupf and Portnoy, 2007; Birmingham et al., 2008). L. monocytogenes in the host cytosol expresses the bacterial protein ActA, which engages the host cell actin machinery, to assist bacterial motility and eventually cell-to-cell spread (Moors et al., 1999; Lambrechts et al., 2008). By spreading from cell-to-cell, L. monocytogenes disseminates and expands into other cells or tissues.

L. monocytogenes has been reported to induce autophagic responses. During the early phase of (\sim 2 h of post) *Listeria* infection, autophagy plays a crucial role in the host immune defense in mice (Birmingham et al., 2007; Py et al., 2007). *L. monocytogenes* replicates more efficiently in ATG5-deficient MEFs, compared to wild-type (WT) MEFs, suggesting an essential role for autophagy in inhibition of bacterial growth inside the cells (Birmingham et al., 2007; Py et al., 2007). It has also been reported that *L. monocytogenes* induces autophagy activation in *Drosophila* hemocytes (Yano et al., 2008). Moreover, Zhao et al. (2008) revealed that the autophagy protein ATG5 in phagocytic cells, such as macrophages and neutrophils, is essential for *in vivo* immunity to *Listeria* infection (Zhao et al., 2008).

Several possible mechanisms exist by which L. monocytogenes triggers the autophagy pathway; one possibility involves the bacterial components, and another is recognition of bacterial invasive process via cytosolic receptors. LLO, a major virulence factor of L. monocytogenes, was reported to be a key component of L. monocytogenes-induced autophagy (Birmingham et al., 2007; Py et al., 2007). L. monocytogenes lacking LLO failed to induce autophagy, cleavage from LC3 I to LC3 II, and co-localization with LC3. Similarly, LLO-mediated membrane remnants of phagosomal rupture were found to be sufficient to activate autophagy (Meyer-Morse et al., 2010). First, LLO-containing liposomes were shown to be recruited to autophagosomes even in the absence of infection (Meyer-Morse et al., 2010). Second, cytosolic receptors, such as peptidoglycan recognition protein (PGRP)-LE or nucleotidebinding oligomerization domain-containing (NOD) 1, play a role in the positive regulation of autophagy during Listeria infection (Yano et al., 2008; Travassos et al., 2010). In Drosophila, sensing of peptidoglycan by PGRP-LE is required for the induction of autophagy, which can inhibit intracellular growth of L. monocytogenes and induce host survival after Listeria infection (Yano et al., 2008). In murine and human cells, both NOD1 and ATG16L are recruited to the membranes of vesicles containing *L. mono-cytogenes*. Notably, the levels of autophagosome-containing *L. monocytogenes* in NOD1 deficient MEFs were significantly lower, compared with those in NOD1 WT MEFs (Travassos et al., 2010).

As autophagy is essential for inhibiting the intracellular growth of L. monocytogenes (Birmingham et al., 2007; Py et al., 2007; Zhao et al., 2008), L. monocytogenes has evolved diverse evasion strategies against the host autophagy machinery (Birmingham et al., 2007; Py et al., 2007; Yoshikawa et al., 2009; Dortet et al., 2011; Ogawa et al., 2011b) (Figure 3B, right). L. monocytogenes has several bacterial components that negatively regulate host autophagy activation. Phospholipases C (PLCs) from L. monocytogenes, such as PI-PLC (encoded by PlcA) and PC-PLC (encoded by PlcB), act synergistically with LLO to lyse phagosomal vesicles to promote invasion into the host cytosol. PLCs, however, inhibit host autophagy induced by L. monocytogenes (Birmingham et al., 2007; Py et al., 2007). Additionally, ActA, a L. monocytogenes surface protein, is involved in intra- and inter-cellular motility enabling escape from autophagy (Dortet et al., 2011; Ogawa et al., 2011b). The ability of the ActA protein to induce recruitment of the Arp2/3 complex and Ena/VASP, contributes to the bacterial ability to evade host autophagic recognition (Yoshikawa et al., 2009). Thus, L. monocytogenes lacking ActA is not able be recruited to the Arp2/3 complex and Ena/VASP, it instead becomes ubiquitinated, bind to p62 and LC3, and finally undergoes autophagic clearance (Yoshikawa et al., 2009). Another L. monocytogenes surface protein, InlK, acts similarly to ActA (Dortet et al., 2011). Moreover, L. monocytogenes lacking ActA showed increased expression of InlK, enabling comparable intracellular survival, similar to WT bacteria. Thus, InlK has a redundant function in L. monocytogenes lacking ActA, by replacing ActA and enabling the bacteria to escape autophagic clearance (Dortet et al., 2011). Collectively, these studies indicate that L. monocytogenes has dual autophagy regulation mechanisms. While autophagy activation via LLO is as an important defense mechanism against infection, Listeria has evolved several evasion mechanisms involving various virulence factors, such as PLCs, ActA, and InlK.

ANTIBACTERIAL AUTOPHAGY IN LEGIONELLA INFECTION

Legionella pneumophila (L. pneumophila), although usually found in freshwater protozoa and amebae, is an accidental infectious pathogen that can replicate in alveolar macrophages in the human lung, and especially in immune compromised patients (Dubuisson and Swanson, 2006; Joshi and Swanson, 2011). L. pneumophila resides within vacuoles that have features typical of autophagolysosomes, containing the autophagy-related protein ATG8/LC3, lysosomal-associated membrane protein 1 (LAMP1), and the lysosomal acid hydrolase cathepsin D (Dubuisson and Swanson, 2006; Joshi and Swanson, 2011). Notably, the biogenesis of L. pneumophila-harboring vacuoles is similar to the formation of autophagosomes. For example, the ER is one source of these two vacuoles, as are the L. pneumophila vacuole and the autophagosomal membrane (Joshi and Swanson, 2011). Moreover, this pathogen continuously replicates within acidic lysosomal vacuoles in macrophages, and inhibits immediate delivery to the lysosomes, thus persisting in immature autophagosomal vacuoles (Amer and Swanson, 2005; Joshi and Swanson, 2011).

Subsequent secretion of Type IV effectors, including LepB, causes delayed maturation of autophagosomes, and may provide sufficient time for inducing acid resistance and other traits within the autophagolysosomes (Joshi and Swanson, 2011) (**Figure 3C**).

Several host defense mechanisms, including apoptosis, autophagy, and inflammasome-associated cell death, are thought to form part of the host defense against L. pneumophila infection (Swanson and Molofsky, 2005; Banga et al., 2007). L. pneumophilamediated inflammasome activation and pyroptotic cell death is likely to be linked to the autophagy pathway through a mechanism involving the cytoplasmic translocation of flagellin, and its detection via Naip5, a NOD-like receptor (NLR) adaptor protein of the inflammasome (Dubuisson and Swanson, 2006). In vitro studies, including treatment of A/J mouse peritoneal macrophages with 2-deoxy-D-glucose, support the role of autophagy in inhibiting the intracellular replication of L. pneumophila (Matsuda et al., 2009). In vivo studies using the ATG9 mutant Dictyostelium discoideum show a critical defect in phagocytosis and clearance of L. pneumophila, as well as in growth and development, indicating an important role for autophagy in protection during L. pneumophila infection (Tung et al., 2010). Recent studies have revealed a mechanism by which the L. pneumophila effector protein RavZ inhibits autophagy by functioning as a deconjugating enzyme that targets ATG8/LC3 proteins attached to phosphatidylethanolamine on autophagosome membranes (Choy et al., 2012) (Figure 3C). Although Legionella RavZ can inhibit autophagy by irreversibly inactivating ATG8/LC3 proteins during infection (Choy et al., 2012), whether RavZ-mediated inhibition of autophagy could affect any phenotype of host cells remains to be determined.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

To conclude, the data to date indicate that xenophagy functions selectively target intracellular bacteria through autophagic receptors including SQSTM1/p62, NDP52, OPTN, and NBR1. Cytosolic access of intracellular bacteria or their components, from bacterial vacuoles, initiates the formation and ubiquitination of protein aggregates. During mycobacterial infection, cytosolic sensing of extracellular Mtb-DNA activates ubiquitin-mediated selective autophagy that targets Mtb in an ESX-1 system-dependent

REFERENCES

- Alonso, S., Pethe, K., Russell, D. G., and Purdy, G. E. (2007). Lysosomal killing of *Mycobacterium* mediated by ubiquitin-derived peptides is enhanced by autophagy. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 6031–6036.
- Amer, A. O., and Swanson, M. S. (2005). Autophagy is an immediate macrophage response to *Legionella pneumophila*. *Cell. Microbiol.* 7, 765–778.
- Ashida, H., Ogawa, M., Mimuro, H., Kobayashi, T., Sanada, T., and Sasakawa, C. (2011). *Shigella* are versatile mucosal pathogens that circumvent the host innate immune system. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 23, 448–455.
- Bakowski, M. A., Braun, V., and Brumell, J. H. (2008). Salmonellacontaining vacuoles: directing traffic and nesting to grow. Traffic 9, 2022–2031.
- Banga, S., Gao, P., Shen, X., Fiscus, V., Zong, W. X., Chen, L., et al. (2007). Legionella pneumophila inhibits macrophage apoptosis by targeting pro-death members of the Bcl2 protein family. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104, 5121–5126.
- Barbuddhe, S. B., and Chakraborty, T. (2009). Listeria as an enteroinvasive gastrointestinal pathogen. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 337, 173–195.
- Basu, J., Shin, D. M., and Jo, E. K. (2012). Mycobacterial signaling through toll-like receptors.

manner. However, the cytosolic sensing of Mtb and IRF3dependent type I IFN signaling are likely to be associated with the pathogenesis of tuberculosis, because IRF deficiency leads to a more protective phenotype against long-term Mtb infection in mice. Whatever the autophagic stimuli, the induction of autophagy by IFN-y, vitamin D, and TLR ligands is of paramount importance for the elimination of intracellular Mtb in macrophages. In Salmonella infection, cytosolic bacteria from damaged SCVs are coated with ubiquitin and recruited to the cargo receptor p62, which interacts with the autophagic machinery. In Shigella infections, several cargo receptors, including p62, NDP52, and Tecpr1, contribute to antibacterial autophagy targeting of Shigella. L. monocytogenes exhibits a dual regulatory function in autophagic regulation through its bacterial components or by modulating hostoriginated proteins as follows: (1) positive regulation via the virulence factor LLO and host cytosolic receptors, NOD1 or PGRP-LE; (2) negative regulation through Listeria-derived components, such as PlcA, PlcB, ActA, and InlK. Curiously, Legionella can persist and replicate in immature autophagosomal vacuoles. The Legionella effector RavZ was found to subvert host autophagy through delipidation and inactivation of ATG8/LC3. Regardless of the intracellular bacterial strain, host autophagic clearance systems and bacterial manipulation of the host autophagic machinery may determine the outcome of intracellular bacterial infection. Further studies are needed to elucidate the role of bacterial effectors in manipulating host autophagy and to clarify the pathogenesis of intracellular bacterial infections. We believe that this will facilitate the development of innovative treatments for such bacterial infections.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank H. S. Jin for critical reading of manuscript. We thank current and past members of our laboratory for discussions and investigations that contributed to this article. This work was supported by the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF) Grant funded by the Korea government (MEST) (No.2007-0054932) through the Infection Signaling Network Research Center at Chungnam National University. I apologize to colleagues whose work and publications could not be referenced owing to space constraints.

Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 2:145. doi:10.3389/fcimb.2012.00145

- Behrends, C., Sowa, M. E., Gygi, S. P., and Harper, J. W. (2010). Network organization of the human autophagy system. *Nature* 466, 68–76.
- Birmingham, C. L., Canadien, V., Gouin, E., Troy, E. B., Yoshimori, T., Cossart, P., et al. (2007). *Listeria monocytogenes* evades killing by autophagy during colonization of host cells. *Autophagy* 3, 442–451.
- Birmingham, C. L., Canadien, V., Kaniuk, N. A., Steinberg, B. E., Higgins, D. E., and Brumell, J. H. (2008). Listeriolysin O allows *Listeria monocytogenes* replication in macrophage vacuoles. *Nature* 451, 350–354.
- Birmingham, C. L., Smith, A. C., Bakowski, M. A., Yoshimori, T., and Brumell, J. H. (2006). Autophagy controls Salmonella infection in response to damage to the Salmonella-containing vacuole. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 11374–11383.
- Chen, D., Fan, W., Lu, Y., Ding, X., Chen, S., and Zhong, Q. (2012). A mammalian autophagosome maturation mechanism mediated by Tecpr1 and the Atg12-Atg5 conjugate. *Mol. Cell* 45, 629–641.
- Choy, A., Dancourt, J., Mugo, B., O'Connor, T. J., Isberg, R. R., Melia, T. J., et al. (2012). The *Legionella* effector Ravz inhibits host autophagy through irreversible Atg8 deconjugation. *Science* 338, 1072–1076.

- Collins, C. A., and Brown, E. J. (2010). Cytosol as battleground: ubiquitin as a weapon for both host and pathogen. *Trends Cell Biol.* 20, 205–213.
- Deretic, V. (2008). Autophagy, an immunologic magic bullet: *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* phagosome maturation block and how to bypass it. *Future Microbiol.* 3, 517–524.
- Deretic, V. (2011). Autophagy in immunity and cell-autonomous defense against intracellular microbes. *Immunol. Rev.* 240, 92–104.
- Deretic, V., and Levine, B. (2009). Autophagy, immunity, and microbial adaptations. *Cell Host Microbe* 5, 527–549.
- Deretic, V., Singh, S., Master, S., Harris, J., Roberts, E., Kyei, G., et al. (2006). *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* inhibition of phagolysosome biogenesis and autophagy as a host defence mechanism. *Cell. Microbiol.* 8, 719–727.
- Dong, N., Zhu, Y., Lu, Q., Hu, L., Zheng, Y., and Shao, F. (2012). Structurally distinct bacterial Tbc-like gaps link Arf Gtpase to Rab1 inactivation to counteract host defenses. *Cell* 150, 1029–1041.
- Dortet, L., Mostowy, S., Samba-Louaka, A., Gouin, E., Nahori, M. A., Wiemer, E. A., et al. (2011). Recruitment of the major vault protein by Inlk: a *Listeria monocytogenes* strategy to avoid autophagy. *PLoS Pathog.* 7:e1002168. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002168
- Dubuisson, J. F., and Swanson, M. S. (2006). Mouse infection by *Legionella*, a model to analyze autophagy. *Autophagy* 2, 179–182.
- Dupont, N., Lacas-Gervais, S., Bertout, J., Paz, I., Freche, B., Van Nhieu, G. T., et al. (2009). *Shigella* phagocytic vacuolar membrane remnants participate in the cellular response to pathogen invasion and are regulated by autophagy. *Cell Host Microbe* 6, 137–149.
- Fujita, N., and Yoshimori, T. (2011). Ubiquitination-mediated autophagy against invading bacteria. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 23, 492–497.
- Harriff, M. J., Purdy, G. E., and Lewinsohn, D. M. (2012). Escape from the phagosome: the explanation for Mhc-I processing of mycobacterial antigens? *Front. Immunol.* 3:40. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00040
- Huynh, K. K., Joshi, S. A., and Brown, E. J. (2011). A delicate dance: host response to mycobacteria. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 23, 464–472.
- Joshi, A. D., and Swanson, M. S. (2011). Secrets of a successful

pathogen: *Legionella* resistance to progression along the autophagic pathway. *Front. Microbiol.* 2:138. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2011.00138

- Kim, J. J., Lee, H. M., Shin, D. M., Kim, W., Yuk, J. M., Jin, H. S., et al. (2012). Host cell autophagy activated by antibiotics is required for their effective antimycobacterial drug action. *Cell Host Microbe* 11, 457–468.
- Kirkin, V., Lamark, T., Sou, Y. S., Bjorkoy, G., Nunn, J. L., Bruun, J. A., et al. (2009). A role for Nbr1 in autophagosomal degradation of ubiquitinated substrates. *Mol. Cell* 33, 505–516.
- Korac, J., Schaeffer, V., Kovacevic, I., Clement, A. M., Jungblut, B., Behl, C., et al. (2013). Ubiquitinindependent function of optineurin in autophagic clearance of protein aggregates. J. Cell. Sci. 126, 580–592.
- Lamark, T., Kirkin, V., Dikic, I., and Johansen, T. (2009). Nbr1 and P62 as cargo receptors for selective autophagy of ubiquitinated targets. *Cell Cycle* 8, 1986–1990.
- Lambrechts, A., Gevaert, K., Cossart, P., Vandekerckhove, J., and Van Troys, M. (2008). *Listeria* comet tails: the actin-based motility machinery at work. *Trends Cell Biol.* 18, 220–227.
- Lee, M. S., Cherla, R. P., Jenson, M. H., Leyva-Illades, D., Martinez-Moczygemba, M., and Tesh, V. L. (2011). Shiga toxins induce autophagy leading to differential signalling pathways in toxin-sensitive and toxin-resistant human cells. *Cell. Microbiol.* 13, 1479–1496.
- Levine, B. (2005). Eating oneself and uninvited guests: autophagy-related pathways in cellular defense. *Cell* 120, 159–162.
- Levine, B., Mizushima, N., and Virgin, H. W. (2011). Autophagy in immunity and inflammation. *Nature* 469, 323–335.
- Manzanillo, P. S., Shiloh, M. U., Portnoy, D. A., and Cox, J. S. (2012). *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* activates the DNA-dependent cytosolic surveillance pathway within macrophages. *Cell Host Microbe* 11, 469–480.
- Matsuda, F., Fujii, J., and Yoshida, S. (2009). Autophagy induced by 2-Deoxy-D-Glucose suppresses intracellular multiplication of *Legionella pneumophila* in a/J mouse macrophages. *Autophagy* 5, 484–493.
- Meyer-Morse, N., Robbins, J. R., Rae, C. S., Mochegova, S. N., Swanson, M. S., Zhao, Z., et al. (2010). Listeriolysin O is necessary and sufficient to induce autophagy during *Listeria monocytogenes* infection. *PLoS ONE* 5:e8610. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008610

- Moors, M. A., Levitt, B., Youngman, P., and Portnoy, D. A. (1999). Expression of Listeriolysin O and acta by intracellular and extracellular *Listeria monocytogenes*. *Infect. Immun.* 67, 131–139.
- Mostowy, S., Bonazzi, M., Hamon, M. A., Tham, T. N., Mallet, A., Lelek, M., et al. (2010). Entrapment of intracytosolic bacteria by septin cagelike structures. *Cell Host Microbe* 8, 433–444.
- Mostowy, S., Sancho-Shimizu, V., Hamon, M. A., Simeone, R., Brosch, R., Johansen, T., et al. (2011).
 P62 and Ndp52 proteins target intracytosolic *Shigella* and *Listeria* to different autophagy pathways. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 26987–26995.
- Noda, T., Kageyama, S., Fujita, N., and Yoshimori, T. (2012). Threeaxis model for Atg recruitment in autophagy against *Salmonella. Int. J. Cell. Biol.* 2012, 389562.
- Ogawa, M., Nakagawa, I., Yoshikawa, Y., Hain, T., Chakraborty, T., and Sasakawa, C. (2009). Streptococcus-, Shigella-, and Listeria-induced autophagy. Meth. Enzymol. 452, 363–381.
- Ogawa, M., Yoshikawa, Y., Kobayashi, T., Mimuro, H., Fukumatsu, M., Kiga, K., et al. (2011a). A Tecpr1dependent selective autophagy pathway targets bacterial pathogens. *Cell Host Microbe* 9, 376–389.
- Ogawa, M., Yoshikawa, Y., Mimuro, H., Hain, T., Chakraborty, T., and Sasakawa, C. (2011b). Autophagy targeting of *Listeria monocytogenes* and the bacterial countermeasure. *Autophagy* 7, 310–314.
- Ogawa, M., Yoshimori, T., Suzuki, T., Sagara, H., Mizushima, N., and Sasakawa, C. (2005). Escape of intracellular *Shigella* from autophagy. *Science* 307, 727–731.
- Philips, J. A. (2008). Mycobacterial manipulation of vacuolar sorting. *Cell. Microbiol.* 10, 2408–2415.
- Pilli, M., Arko-Mensah, J., Ponpuak, M., Roberts, E., Master, S., Mandell, M. A., et al. (2012). Tbk-1 promotes autophagy-mediated antimicrobial defense by controlling autophagosome maturation. *Immunity* 37, 223–234.
- Purdy, G. E., and Russell, D. G. (2007). Lysosomal ubiquitin and the demise of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Cell. Microbiol.* 9, 2768–2774.
- Py, B. F., Lipinski, M. M., and Yuan, J. (2007). Autophagy limits *Listeria monocytogenes* intracellular growth in the early phase of primary infection. *Autophagy* 3, 117–125.
- Romagnoli, A., Etna, M. P., Giacomini, E., Pardini, M., Remoli, M.

E., Corazzari, M., et al. (2012). Esx-1 dependent impairment of autophagic flux by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in human dendritic cells. *Autophagy* 8, 1357–1370.

- Schnupf, P., and Portnoy, D. A. (2007). Listeriolysin O: a phagosomespecific lysin. *Microbes Infect.* 9, 1176–1187.
- Schroeder, N., Mota, L. J., and Meresse, S. (2011). Salmonella-induced tubular networks. Trends Microbiol. 19, 268–277.
- Shahnazari, S., Yen, W. L., Birmingham, C. L., Shiu, J., Namolovan, A., Zheng, Y. T., et al. (2010). A diacylglyceroldependent signaling pathway contributes to regulation of antibacterial autophagy. *Cell Host Microbe* 8, 137–146.
- Shaid, S., Brandts, C. H., Serve, H., and Dikic, I. (2013). Ubiquitination and selective autophagy. *Cell Death Differ*. 20, 21–30.
- Singh, S. B., Davis, A. S., Taylor, G. A., and Deretic, V. (2006). Human IRGM induces autophagy to eliminate intracellular mycobacteria. *Science* 313, 1438–1441.
- Steinhauser, C., Heigl, U., Tchikov, V., Schwarz, J., Gutsmann, T., Seeger, K., et al. (2013). Lipid-labeling facilitates a novel magnetic isolation procedure to characterize pathogencontaining phagosomes. *Traffic* 14, 321–336.
- Swanson, M. S., and Molofsky, A. B. (2005). Autophagy and inflammatory cell death, partners of innate immunity. *Autophagy* 1, 174–176.
- Tattoli, I., Sorbara, M. T., Vuckovic, D., Ling, A., Soares, F., Carneiro, L. A., et al. (2012). Amino acid starvation induced by invasive bacterial pathogens triggers an innate host defense program. *Cell Host Microbe* 11, 563–575.
- Thurston, T. L., Ryzhakov, G., Bloor, S., von Muhlinen, N., and Randow, F. (2009). The Tbk1 adaptor and autophagy receptor Ndp52 restricts the proliferation of ubiquitincoated bacteria. *Nat. Immunol.* 10, 1215–1221.
- Thurston, T. L., Wandel, M. P., von Muhlinen, N., Foeglein, A., and Randow, F. (2012). Galectin 8 targets damaged vesicles for autophagy to defend cells against bacterial invasion. *Nature* 482, 414–418.
- Travassos, L. H., Carneiro, L. A., Ramjeet, M., Hussey, S., Kim, Y. G., Magalhaes, J. G., et al. (2010). Nod1 and Nod2 direct autophagy by recruiting Atg16l1 to the plasma membrane at the site of bacterial entry. *Nat. Immunol.* 11, 55–62.

- Tung, S. M., Unal, C., Ley, A., Pena, C., Tunggal, B., Noegel, A. A., et al. (2010). Loss of dictyostelium Atg9 results in a pleiotropic phenotype affecting growth, development, phagocytosis and clearance and replication of *Legionella pneumophila. Cell. Microbiol.* 12, 765–780.
- Tweten, R. K. (2005). Cholesteroldependent cytolysins, a family of versatile pore-forming toxins. *Infect. Immun.* 73, 6199–6209.
- van der Wel, N., Hava, D., Houben, D., Fluitsma, D., van Zon, M., Pierson, J., et al. (2007). *M. tuberculosis* and *M. Leprae* translocate from the phagolysosome to the cytosol in myeloid cells. *Cell* 129, 1287–1298.
- Vazquez-Boland, J. A., Kuhn, M., Berche, P., Chakraborty, T., Dominguez-Bernal, G., Goebel, W., et al. (2001). *Listeria* pathogenesis and molecular virulence determinants. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 14, 584–640.
- Vergne, I., Chua, J., Singh, S. B., and Deretic, V. (2004). Cell biology of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* phagosome. Annu. Rev. Cell. Dev. Biol. 20, 367–394.
- Vergne, I., Singh, S., Roberts, E., Kyei, G., Master, S., Harris, J., et al. (2006).

Autophagy in immune defense against *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Autophagy* 2, 175–178.

- Virgin, H. W., and Levine, B. (2009). Autophagy genes in immunity. Nat. Immunol. 10, 461–470.
- von Muhlinen, N., Akutsu, M., Ravenhill, B. J., Foeglein, A., Bloor, S., Rutherford, T. J., et al. (2012). Lc3c, bound selectively by a noncanonical Lir motif in Ndp52, is required for antibacterial autophagy. *Mol. Cell.* 48, 329–342.
- Watson, R. O., Manzanillo, P. S., and Cox, J. S. (2012). Extracellular *M. tuberculosis* DNA targets bacteria for autophagy by activating the host DNA-sensing pathway. *Cell* 150, 803–815.
- Wild, P., Farhan, H., McEwan, D. G., Wagner, S., Rogov, V. V., Brady, N. R., et al. (2011). Phosphorylation of the autophagy receptor optineurin restricts *Salmonella* growth. *Science* 333, 228–233.
- Yang, C. S., Song, C. H., Lee, J. S., Jung, S. B., Oh, J. H., Park, J., et al. (2006). Intracellular network of phosphatidylinositol 3kinase, mammalian target of the rapamycin/70 Kda ribosomal S6

kinase 1, and mitogen-activated protein kinases pathways for regulating mycobacteria-induced Il-23 expression in human macrophages. *Cell. Microbiol.* 8, 1158–1171.

- Yano, T., Mita, S., Ohmori, H., Oshima, Y., Fujimoto, Y., Ueda, R., et al. (2008). Autophagic control of *Listeria* through intracellular innate immune recognition in drosophila. *Nat. Immunol.* 9, 908–916.
- Yoshikawa, Y., Ogawa, M., Hain, T., Chakraborty, T., and Sasakawa, C. (2009). *Listeria monocytogenes* acta is a key player in evading autophagic recognition. *Autophagy* 5, 1220–1221.
- Yuk, J. M., and Jo, E. K. (2011). Toll-like receptors and innate immunity. J. Bacteriol. Virol. 41, 225–235.
- Zhao, Z., Fux, B., Goodwin, M., Dunay, I. R., Strong, D., Miller, B. C., et al. (2008). Autophagosomeindependent essential function for the autophagy protein Atg5 in cellular immunity to intracellular pathogens. *Cell Host Microbe* 4, 458–469.
- Zheng, Y. T., Shahnazari, S., Brech, A., Lamark, T., Johansen, T., and

Brumell, J. H. (2009). The adaptor protein P62/Sqstm1 targets invading bacteria to the autophagy pathway. *J. Immunol.* 183, 5909–5916.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 29 January 2013; accepted: 11 April 2013; published online: 06 May 2013.

Citation: Jo E-K, Yuk J-M, Shin D-M and Sasakawa C (2013) Roles of autophagy in elimination of intracellular bacterial pathogens. Front. Immunol. **4**:97. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00097

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Antigen Presenting Cell Biology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Jo, Yuk, Shin and Sasakawa. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.



Ji Eun Oh and Heung Kyu Lee*

Laboratory of Host Defenses, Graduate School of Medical Science and Engineering, Korea Advanced Institute of Science and Technology, Daejeon, Korea

Edited by:

Christian Munz, University of Zurich, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Laura Santambrogio, Albert Einstein College of Medicine, USA Jürgen Wittmann, University of Erlangen-Nürnberg, Germany

*Correspondence:

Heung Kyu Lee, Laboratory of Host Defenses, Graduate School of Medical Science and Engineering, Korea Advanced Institute of Science and Technology, 291 Daehak-ro, Daejeon 305-701, Korea. e-mail: heungkyu.lee@kaist.ac.kr Autophagy is an ancient biological process for maintaining cellular homeostasis by degradation of long-lived cytosolic proteins and organelles. Recent studies demonstrated that autophagy is availed by immune cells to regulate innate immunity. On the one hand, cells exert direct effector function by degrading intracellular pathogens; on the other hand, autophagy modulates pathogen recognition and downstream signaling for innate immune responses. Pathogen recognition via pattern recognition receptors induces autophagy. The function of phagocytic cells is enhanced by recruitment of autophagy-related proteins. Moreover, autophagy acts as a delivery system for viral replication complexes to migrate to the endosomal compartments where virus sensing occurs. In another case, key molecules of the autophagic pathway have been found to negatively regulate immune signaling, thus preventing aberrant activation of cytokine production and consequent immune responses. In this review, we focus on the recent advances in the role of autophagy in pathogen recognition and modulation of innate immune responses.

Keywords: autophagy, Toll-like receptors, RIG-I-like receptors, NOD-like receptors

INTRODUCTION

Eukaryotic cells contain two major protein degradation systems for maintaining cellular homeostasis: the ubiquitin-proteasome system, responsible for degradation of soluble short-lived proteins (Kloetzel, 2001), and autophagy, a conserved system that degrades long-lived proteins and organelles (Klionsky and Emr, 2000). Autophagy was originally described as a starvation-induced response that provides nutrients by degrading long-lived proteins and recycling intracellular organelles (Kuma et al., 2004; Komatsu et al., 2005). There are three types of autophagy: microautophagy, chaperone-mediated autophagy, and macroautophagy (Figure 1A; Mizushima and Klionsky, 2007). Macroautophagy is the main route of degradation. It involves the formation of a doublemembrane vesicle called autophagosome, which is formed by elongation of a cup-shaped membrane, followed by wrapping of the cellular constituents and fusion with lysosomes for degradation (Mizushima et al., 1998). The molecular mechanism underlying autophagy has been thoroughly covered in excellent reviews elsewhere (Klionsky and Emr, 2000; Ohsumi, 2001; Mizushima et al., 2002). Here, we briefly describe the process relevant to innate pathogen recognition by macroautophagy. Autophagyrelated gene (Atg) 6 (Beclin-1) and type III phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) are required for the initiation of the isolation membrane. The elongation and termination of the autophagosome are regulated by at least two ubiquitin-like systems: the microtubule-associated protein 1 light chain 3 (LC3; mammalian homolog of the yeast autophagic protein Atg8) and the Atg12 conjugation pathways. The C-terminal amino acids of LC3 are cleaved by Atg4, and this C-terminal residue then gets transferred to phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) in the newly formed isolation membrane by the E1- and E2-like enzymes Atg7 and Atg3, respectively. Although LC3 gets recycled from the outer autophagosomal membrane by deconjugation from its phospholipids, it remains

attached to the inner autophagosomal membrane, and this portion is degraded along with the inner autophagosomal membrane in lysosomes and late endosomes after fusion with these vesicles (Ohsumi, 2001). Autophagosome-associated LC3 (LC3-II) and free cytosolic LC3 (LC3-I) can be distinguished by their apparent molecular weight, and autophagosomes can be visualized by using green fluorescent protein (GFP)-conjugated LC3 molecules. In the other ubiquitin-like system, Atg12 gets coupled through its C-terminal glycine residue to a lysine residue of Atg5 by the E1- and E2-like enzymes Atg7 and Atg10, respectively. The Atg12–Atg5 complex associates with Atg16 and then binds to the outer surface of the isolation membrane. Upon completion of the autophagosome, the Atg5-Atg12-Atg16 complex dissociates from the outer autophagosomal membrane and only LC3 remains associated with the completed autophagosome. Autophagosomes then fuse with late endosomes and lysosomes for degradation of their contents and membrane (Figure 1B; Levine and Deretic, 2007).

Besides maintaining cellular homeostasis, autophagy plays important roles in multiple biological processes including development, aging, and degeneration (Levine and Klionsky, 2004). Not surprisingly, aberrant regulation of autophagy induces many diseases such as cancer, neurodegenerative diseases, and myopathies (Shintani and Klionsky, 2004; Levine and Kroemer, 2008). Recently, autophagy was found to be involved in immunity. It can act as a direct effector by eliminating invading pathogens (Gutierrez et al., 2004; Nakagawa et al., 2004; Deretic, 2005; Ogawa et al., 2005), regulating innate pathogen recognition (Sanjuan et al., 2007; Xu et al., 2007; Delgado et al., 2008), contributing to antigen presentation via major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II molecules (Dengjel et al., 2005; Paludan et al., 2005; Schmid and Munz, 2007; Schmid et al., 2007), and controlling B- and T-cell development (Li et al., 2006; Pua and He,



FIGURE 1 | Three types of autophagy and cellular and molecular events in an autophagic pathway. (A) There are three types of autophagy. In macroautophagy, which is the main route of cellular degradation, an autophagosome (a double-lavered membrane vesicle) is formed, which fuses with lysosomes to degrade the cellular constituents or pathogens. Microautophagy is characterized by the removal of cellular constituents via the budding of an autophagic body at the lysosomal membrane. In chaperone-mediated autophagy, a signaling motif that contains molecules is transported with the chaperone HSC70 via the LAMP-2A protein into lysosomes. (B) The autophagic pathway consists of three distinct stages. For process initiation, nucleation of the autophagic vesicle is needed. Atg6 (Beclin-1) and type III PI3-kinase are required for the initiation of isolation-membrane formation. Elongation and closure of the autophagosome membrane are regulated by two ubiquitin-like conjugation systems: LC3 and Atg12 conjugation systems. The autophagosome fuses with lysosomes and subsequently matures into an autolysosome to degrade the materials present inside the cell.

2007; Pua et al., 2007; Miller et al., 2008). In this review, we focus on the role of autophagy in innate pathogen recognition and its regulation.

AUTOPHAGY IN PATHOGEN RECOGNITION

PAMPs STIMULATING CERTAIN TLRS INDUCE AUTOPHAGY INDUCTION The innate immune system recognizes only a limited number of microbial molecular structures, so-called pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs; Iwasaki and Medzhitov, 2004; Akira et al., 2006), which are conserved within the same class of microbes but differ across classes (e.g., viruses, Gram-negative bacteria, Gram-positive bacteria, and fungi). Pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) bind to these conserved structures and initiate downstream signaling pathways. PRRs are located in various sites such as plasma membranes, endosomal vesicles, and cytoplasm, thereby enabling the recognition of various types of microbes in any of these locations. Toll-like receptors (TLRs) are the most wellknown PRRs in innate pathogen recognition. TLRs can be divided into two groups based on their locations: cell surface TLRs, TLRs 1, 2, 4, 5, and 6, that mainly recognize bacterial components, and endosomal TLRs, TLRs 3, 7, 8, and 9, that generally recognize viral nucleic acids. All these receptors contain leucine-rich repeats (LRRs) in their extracellular domain for ligand binding, and a cytoplasmic Toll/IL-1 receptor (TIR) homology domain, which is essential for signaling. After recognition of PAMPs, TLRs initiate common or distinct signaling pathways via different kinds of adaptor molecules. All TLRs except TLR3 activate the transcription factors, nuclear factor (NF)-kB and activator protein-1 (AP-1), via MyD88, leading to the production of proinflammatory cytokines. TLR3 and TLR4 activate the transcription factor interferon regulatory factor 3 (IRF3) via TIR domain-containing, adapter-inducing interferon-ß (TRIF), leading to the production of type I IFNs (Lee and Kim, 2007; Delgado and Deretic, 2009).

Recently, some studies have shown that activation of TLR can lead to induction of autophagy (Xu et al., 2007; Delgado et al., 2008; Shi and Kehrl, 2008). After stimulation with lipopolysaccharide (LPS), TLR4 can induce autophagy in primary human macrophages and in the murine macrophage cell line RAW264.7 (Xu et al., 2007). It was shown that LPS stimulation induces redistribution of LC3 protein from a diffuse to a punctate pattern and increases the levels of the lipidated form of LC3 (LC3-II), both of which are reliable markers of autophagy induction. Interestingly, this LPS-induced autophagy occurs via a TRIF-dependent, MyD88-independent TLR signaling pathway, for which receptorinteracting protein 1 (RIP1) and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) are required (Figure 2). Moreover, Xu et al. (2007) also reported that LPS-induced autophagy results in mycobacterial colocalization with the autophagosomes, suggesting that autophagy could enhance the elimination of mycobacteria. In another study, mycobacteria elimination has been demonstrated using starvation and rapamycin for autophagy induction(Gutierrez et al., 2004).

A study reporting the effect of TLR agonists on autophagy induction in RAW264.7 macrophages (Delgado et al., 2008) showed that ligands of TLR3, TLR4, and TLR7 could induce autophagy, and those of TLR7 generated the most potent effects (**Figure 2**). Two different ligands of mouse TLR7, single-stranded RNA (ssRNA) and imiquimod, induced formation of autophagosomes characterized by LC3 puncta formation in murine primary macrophages (Delgado et al., 2008). Induction of autophagy via TLR7 signaling was dependent on MyD88 and required Beclin-1. Moreover, autophagy activation by TLR7 agonists induced killing of intracellular mycobacteria, even though mycobacteria are normally not associated with TLR7 signaling. This ability of pathogen elimination was diminished by siRNA knockdown of Beclin 1, thus depending on autophagy.



INTERPLAY BETWEEN AUTOPHAGY AND PHAGOCYTOSIS

Unlike TLR4- and TLR7-mediated induction of autophagy, which enhances autophagosome fusion with the pathogen-containing phagosomes and promotes elimination of intracellular pathogens, certain TLR signaling pathways enhance the maturation of phagosomes by the autophagic machinery (Sanjuan et al., 2007). Upon phagocytosis of zymosan (a component of the fungal cell wall), phagosomes rapidly recruit LC3 and fuse with lysosomes for maturation (Figure 3). Pam₃CSK₄ coating of latex beads also induces the rapid recruitment of LC3 to phagosomes in RAW264.7 macrophages. This zymosan-mediated translocation of LC3 to phagosomes was found to be independent of MyD88 but dependent on Atg5 and Atg7. Live Saccharomyces cerevisiae engulfed by macrophages survived more frequently in Atg7 knockout macrophages than in wild-type macrophages. Interestingly, LC3 recruitment to phagosomal membranes was not associated with the double-membrane structures characteristic of autophagosomes. Instead, it was associated with phagosome fusion with lysosomes, which enhanced killing of the engulfed pathogens. Collectively, this study has shown a new way of utilizing the autophagic machinery to promote conventional functions of phagocytes after TLR activation, in the absence of autophagosome formation.

NOD-LIKE RECEPTOR SIGNALING AND AUTOPHAGY

To the best of our knowledge, there are only two reports on the NOD-like receptor (NLR) family in autophagy (Cooney et al., 2010; Travassos et al., 2010). NLRs recognize bacterial cell wall



components (specifically, peptidoglycans) in the eukaryotic cell's cytosol. NLRs are composed of three distinct domains: a C-terminal LRR, a NACHT domain, and an N-terminal effector domain, which mediate ligand sensing, activation of the NLRs, and initiation of downstream signaling, respectively. When NLRs recognize bacterial peptidoglycans, they initiate signaling transduction by recruiting the protein kinases, which, in turn, activate NF- κ B and AP-1 leading to production of cytokines and other molecules involved in innate immunity (Lee and Kim, 2007).

Recent studies have shown that activation of NOD2 by muramyl dipeptide (MDP) induces autophagosome formation, which in turn enhances bacterial clearance (Figure 4; Kuma et al., 2004; Travassos et al., 2010). In human DCs, NOD2 stimulated with MDP induces autophagosome formation, which promotes MHC class II-associated antigen presentation. Atg5, Atg7, Atg16L1, and receptor-interacting serine-threonine kinase-2 (RIPK2), the latter being one of the downstream regulators of the NOD2 signaling pathway, are required for autophagosome formation and antigen presentation by MDP (Cooney et al., 2010). Another study also showed that stimulation of NOD1 and NOD2 by bacterial peptidoglycans activates the autophagy pathway in mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs; Travassos et al., 2010). Upon bacterial invasion, NOD2 recruits Atg16L1 to the bacterial entry sites, facilitating bacterial trafficking to the autophagosomes. This, in turn, induces the fusion of the autophagosomes with the



lysosomes to form the autophagolysosomes and promotes antigen presentation via MHC class II molecules. In MEFs, this process does not require the adaptor RIP2 and the transcription factor NF-κB. Interestingly, NOD2 mutation and single-nucleotide polymorphism in the *Atg16L1* gene have been known to be associated with the development of Crohn's disease (Cho and Weaver, 2007; Hampe et al., 2007; Rioux et al., 2007). DCs isolated from patients with Crohn's disease and risk alleles for *NOD2* or *Atg16L1* showed impaired function in autophagy induction and antigen presentation (Cooney et al., 2010). Collectively, these reports revealed a close relationship between two of the most important Crohn's disease-associated susceptibility genes. Furthermore, they functionally link bacterial sensing by NOD proteins to the autophagy pathway.

ROLE OF AUTOPHAGY IN VIRAL SENSING

In addition to the aforementioned direct effector function, autophagy also works in TLR activation by delivering cytosolic PAMPs to endosomal TLRs (Lee et al., 2007). In plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs), viral RNA or DNA recognized by TLR7 or TLR9, respectively, induces type I IFN and proinflammatory cytokine production. These TLRs are located in the endosomal compartment and sense the viral nucleic acids endocytosed by the host cells (Barton, 2007). In addition to NF- κ B and MAPK activation, MyD88, an adaptor molecule for these TLRs, activates IRF7, leading to type I IFN production.

In the case of vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV), the replicating virus rather than the viral genome is required to initiate TLR7 signaling and produce IFN-a in pDCs. However, how these cytosolic replication intermediates gain access to the endosomal compartment where TLR7 resides is not completely known. A recent study demonstrated that cytosolic PAMP is delivered by autophagy to the lysosomes for TLR7 recognition (Figure 5; Lee et al., 2007). Thus, Atg5-deficient pDCs fail to sense VSV via TLR7, and are unable to secrete IFN-α and IL-12p40. Consequently, mice lacking Atg5 fail to defend themselves from systemic VSV infection in vivo. Moreover, IFN-α production is impaired in Atg5-deficient pDCs in response to herpes simplex virus-1 (HSV-1), which is recognized by TLR9, while IL-12 response remained intact in these cells. Thus, autophagy plays a critical role in the induction of innate immune responses by delivering viral replication intermediates from the cytosol to the endosome for recognition after ssRNA virus infection (Lee and Iwasaki, 2008; Tal and Iwasaki, 2009; Yordy and Iwasaki, 2011).

NEGATIVE REGULATION OF INNATE IMMUNE RESPONSES VIA AUTOPHAGY

The autophagic machinery plays key roles other than activating PRR signaling. In contrast to viral recognition in pDCs, which is mediated by endosomal TLRs, most of the other cell types utilize cytosolic sensors such as those encoded by retinoic acid-inducible gene I (*RIG-I*) and melanoma differentiation associated



cytosol to lysosomes, where TLR recognition occurs, which, in turn, enhances type I IFN production. However, in non-pDCs, such as mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs), autophagy negatively regulates type I IFN production in response to viral infection. Atg5-Atg12 conjugates block RLR

gene 5 (MDA-5) to detect the virus invasion (Yoneyama et al., 2004, 2005; Foy et al., 2005). RIG-I and MDA-5, both of which are RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs), contain a DExD/H box RNA helicase domain for ligand recognition and two caspase-recruiting domains (CARDs) for initiating downstream signaling. When these CARD-containing RNA helicases recognize double-stranded RNA (dsRNA), which is synthesized during active viral replication in the cytosol, signals through IFN-β promoter stimulator-1 [IPS-1; also known as mitochondrial antiviral signaling (MAVS), virusinduced signaling adaptor (VISA), or Cardif] activate the transcription factors IRF-3 and NF-κB, and subsequently lead to the production of type I IFN. IPS-1 is an essential adaptor molecule consisting of an N-terminal CARD domain (through which it associates with RIG-I and MDA-5) and a C-terminal domain (for mitochondrial localization; Lee and Kim, 2007).

A recent study revealed that Atg5-Atg12 conjugates, essential components of the autophagic process, regulate innate viral recognition by RIG-I and MDA-5 in MEFs (Figure 5; Jounai et al., 2007). Atg5- and Atg7-deficient MEFs, lacking Atg5-Atg12 conjugates, overproduce type I IFN in response to VSV. Conversely,

phosphorylates the transcription factor IRF3, resulting in the production of type I IFN. During this process, Atg9a, an essential component of autophagy, colocalizes with STING in the Golgi apparatus, where it controls the assembly of STING.

biochemical analysis indicated that Atg5-Agt12 conjugates block RLR signaling by direct CARD-mediated association with RIG-I and IPS-1; additionally, they suppress type I IFN production. Thus, autophagy-related proteins involved in RLR-mediated viral sensing repress type I IFN response, acting as negative regulators of antiviral responses.

Similarly, in another report, Atg5-deficient cells showed overproduction of type I IFN through enhanced RLR signaling pathway (Tal et al., 2009). That study also showed that dysfunctional mitochondria and mitochondria-associated IPS-1 were accumulated in the absence of autophagy. In Atg5-deficient cells, reactive oxygen species associated with dysfunctional mitochondria may potentiate RLR signaling, which can be blocked by antioxidant treatment. Thus, autophagy plays important roles in the balanced regulation of innate antiviral response by acting as a scavenger of dysfunctional mitochondria.

Another recent study showed that Atg16L1, a candidate gene for Crohn's disease, is involved in endotoxin-induced inflammasome activation in mice (Figure 6A; Saitoh et al., 2008). Atg16L1 is an essential component of the autophagosome. It forms a



Inflammasome activation. Atg16L1-deficient macrophages exhibit enhanced IIL-1 β and IL-18 production in response to LPS. This process is mediated by excessive ROS, which activates caspase-1, leading to the processing of IL-1 β . (**B**) Autophagy limits IL-1 β production by eliminating active inflammasomes. Induction of AIM2 or NLRP3 inflammasomes triggers the nucleotide

activated RalB to the exocyst complex subunit Exo84. This binding induces the assembly of active kinase complexes on the exocyst, which are required for the formation and maturation of isolation membranes into autophagosomes. Activation of inflammasomes leads to the ubiquitination of ASC, and ubiquitinated inflammasomes are engulfed by autophagosomes via the autophagic adaptor protein, p62.

complex with Atg5–Atg12 conjugates and induces LC3-PE conjugation (Fujita et al., 2008). Atg16L1-deficient macrophages exhibit enhanced IL-1 β and IL-18 production in response to LPS. This process is mediated by TRIF-dependent activation of caspase-1, which, in turn, activates IL-1 β production. Moreover, mice lacking Atg16L1 in hematopoietic cells are highly susceptible to dextran sulfate sodium-induced acute colitis, which is alleviated by the injection of anti-IL-1 β and IL-18 antibodies (Saitoh et al., 2008). Hence, Atg16L1 plays an important role in negatively regulating endotoxin-induced inflammatory immune responses.

Very recently, an interesting study showed the relationship between autophagy and inflammasome activity. This study suggested that autophagy induced by inflammatory signals targets ubiquitinated inflammasomes for destruction, thereby limiting IL-1 β production (Figure 6B; Shi et al., 2012). The activation of AIM2 or NLRP3 inflammasomes in macrophages triggers nucleotide exchange on RalB, thereby effecting autophagosome assembly (Bodemann et al., 2011; Shi et al., 2012). Autophagic adaptors such as p62 (sequestosome 1) and neighbor of BRCA1 gene (NBR1), which have ubiquitin-associated (UBA) domains and LC3-interacting regions (LIR), recognize ubiquitinated molecules and facilitate their elimination by autophagy (Johansen and Lamark, 2011; Deretic, 2012). Various kinds of intracellular pathogens are recognized by different kinds of autophagic adaptors and thereby eliminated by autophagy (Dupont et al., 2009; Zheng et al., 2009; Orvedahl et al., 2010; Mostowy et al., 2011). Similarly, in the present study, assembled inflammasomes were ubiquitinated, and these ubiquitinated complexes were recruited by the autophagic adaptor p62, which assisted in their entry into the autophagy pathway. Thus, autophagy limits inflammasome activity by eliminating active inflammasomes, and this tempers inflammation.

The exact mechanisms underlying recognition of dsDNA derived from bacteria or DNA viruses are still unclear, and so are the subsequent immune responses. Nonetheless, it becomes apparent that stimulation with dsDNA induces the production of type I IFNs and other inflammatory cytokines (Stetson and Medzhitov, 2006; Charrel-Dennis et al., 2008). Recent studies indicated that translocation and assembly of stimulator of IFN genes (STING) and TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK1) are required for the induction of type I IFN responses (Ishikawa and Barber, 2008; Jin et al., 2008; Zhong et al., 2008; Sun et al., 2009). STING is a multispanning membrane protein, which is translocated from the endoplasmic reticulum to the Golgi apparatus after sensing dsDNA, followed by assembly with TBK1, which phosphorylates the transcription factor IRF3, leading to the production of type I IFNs. During this process, Atg9a colocalizes with STING in the Golgi apparatus, where it controls the assembly of STING (Saitoh et al., 2009). In Atg9a-deficient MEFs, but not in Atg7- and Atg16L1-deficient MEFs, the translocation of STING from the Golgi apparatus to the cytoplasmic punctate structures, and its assembly with TBK1, are greatly enhanced. This, in turn, induces aberrant activation of type I IFN responses (Saitoh and Akira, 2010). Overall, these findings underline a role for Atg9a in the regulation of innate immune responses.

CONCLUSIONS

Recent studies have demonstrated that autophagy acts as an important regulator of immune responses. In addition to elimination of intracellular pathogens by its original function of degradation (xenophagy), autophagy can be involved in innate pathogen recognition and modulate the downstream signaling pathway. Autophagy promotes the clearance of cytosolic pathogens via autophagosome formation, which is elicited by TLR sensing. Autophagic machinery is utilized to enhance phagosomelysosome fusion and efficiently eliminate extracellular phagocytosed pathogens. Moreover, autophagy can promote adaptive immune responses such as MHC class II-restricted antigen presentation after bacterial sensing via NLRs. In case of viral recognition, autophagy delivers the cytosolic replication intermediates to the lysosomes, where recognition by the endosomal TLRs occurs, thus enhancing the production of type I IFN essential for antiviral response. However, autophagy does not play a role in enhancing pathogen elimination alone. It can also negatively regulate the signaling pathway mediating pathogen recognition and elimination. In case of viral recognition by cytosolic viral sensors such as RLRs, autophagy represses the signaling downstream of the innate immune response, such as that mediating the production of type I IFN. Autophagy-related proteins, including Atg16L1, are also involved in the regulation of endotoxin-induced inflammasome activation, which has been associated with Crohn's disease. Recent

REFERENCES

- Akira, S., Uematsu, S., and Takeuchi, O. (2006). Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. *Cell* 124, 783–801.
- Barton, G. M. (2007). Viral recognition by Toll-like receptors. *Semin. Immunol.* 19, 33–40.
- Bodemann, B. O., Orvedahl, A., Cheng, T., Ram, R. R., Ou, Y. H., Formstecher, E., Maiti, M., Hazelett, C. C., Wauson, E. M., Balakireva, M., Camonis, J. H., Yeaman, C., Levine, B., and White, M. A. (2011). RalB and the exocyst mediate the cellular starvation response by direct activation of autophagosome assembly. *Cell* 144, 253–267.
- Charrel-Dennis, M., Latz, E., Halmen, K. A., Trieu-Cuot, P., Fitzgerald, K. A., Kasper, D. L., and Golenbock, D. T. (2008). TLR-independent type I interferon induction in response to an extracellular bacterial pathogen via intracellular recognition of its DNA. Cell Host Microbe 4, 543–554.
- Cho, J. H., and Weaver, C. T. (2007). The genetics of inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology* 133, 1327–1339.
- Cooney, R., Baker, J., Brain, O., Danis, B., Pichulik, T., Allan, P., Ferguson, D. J., Campbell, B. J., Jewell, D., and Simmons, A. (2010). NOD2 stimulation induces autophagy in dendritic cells influencing bacterial handling and antigen presentation. *Nat. Med.* 16, 90–97.
- Delgado, M. A., and Deretic, V. (2009). Toll-like receptors in control of immunological autophagy. *Cell Death Differ.* 16, 976–983.
- Delgado, M. A., Elmaoued, R. A., Davis, A. S., Kyei, G., and Deretic, V.

(2008). Toll-like receptors control autophagy. *EMBO J.* 27, 1110–1121.

- Dengjel, J., Schoor, O., Fischer, R., Reich, M., Kraus, M., Muller, M., Kreymborg, K., Altenberend, F., Brandenburg, J., Kalbacher, H., Brock, R., Driessen, C., Rammensee, H. G., and Stevanovic, S. (2005). Autophagy promotes MHC class II presentation of peptides from intracellular source proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 7922–7927
- Deretic, V. (2005). Autophagy in innate and adaptive immunity. Trends Immunol. 26, 523–528.
- Deretic, V. (2012). Autophagy as an innate immunity paradigm: expanding the scope and repertoire of pattern recognition receptors. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 24, 21–31.
- Dupont, N., Lacas-Gervais, S., Bertout, J., Paz, I., Freche, B., Van Nhieu, G. T., Van Der Goot, F. G., Sansonetti, P. J., and Lafont, F. (2009). Shigella phagocytic vacuolar membrane remnants participate in the cellular response to pathogen invasion and are regulated by autophagy. *Cell Host Microbe* 6, 137–149.
- Foy, E., Li, K., Sumpter, R., Jr., Loo, Y. M., Johnson, C. L., Wang, C., Fish, P. M., Yoneyama, M., Fujita, T., Lemon, S. M., and Gale, M., and Jr. (2005). Control of antiviral defenses through hepatitis C virus disruption of retinoic acid-inducible gene-I signaling. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 2986–2991.
- Fujita, N., Itoh, T., Omori, H., Fukuda, M., Noda, T., and Yoshimori, T. (2008). The Atg16L complex specifies the site of LC3 lipidation for

advances in the study of autophagy have largely helped understanding the mode of function of the autophagic machinery in PRR-mediated innate pathogen recognition and its regulation. Considering the complexity of autophagy function in immunity, it is still unclear whether activation or suppression of autophagy could have therapeutic benefits in the treatment of infectious diseases or inflammatory disorders such as Crohn's disease. A better understanding of the modulation of the immune system by autophagy is essential to unveil new therapeutic avenues in the future.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Jeongsu Park for his help with the figure. This study was supported by the National Research Foundation (2010-0012891) and the Converging Research Center Program (2011K000864) funded by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technology of Korea. This study was also supported by the Korean Health Technology R&D Project (A100920) and the National R&D Program for Cancer Control (1020230) funded by the Ministry of Health and Welfare, Republic of Korea.

membrane biogenesis in autophagy. Mol. Biol. Cell 19, 2092–2100.

- Gutierrez, M. G., Master, S. S., Singh, S. B., Taylor, G. A., Colombo, M. I., and Deretic, V. (2004). Autophagy is a defense mechanism inhibiting BCG and Mycobacterium tuberculosis survival in infected macrophages. *Cell* 119, 753–766.
- Hampe, J., Franke, A., Rosenstiel, P., Till, A., Teuber, M., Huse, K., Albrecht, M., Mayr, G., De La Vega, F. M., Briggs, J., Gunther, S., Prescott, N. J., Onnie, C. M., Hasler, R., Sipos, B., Folsch, U. R., Lengauer, T., Platzer, M., Mathew, C. G., Krawczak, M., and Schreiber, S. (2007). A genomewide association scan of nonsynonymous SNPs identifies a susceptibility variant for Crohn disease in ATG16L1. Nat. Genet. 39, 207–211.
- Ishikawa, H., and Barber, G. N. (2008). STING is an endoplasmic reticulum adaptor that facilitates innate immune signalling. *Nature* 455, 674–678.
- Iwasaki, A., and Medzhitov, R. (2004). Toll-like receptor control of the adaptive immune responses. *Nat. Immunol.* 5, 987–995.
- Jin, L., Waterman, P. M., Jonscher, K. R., Short, C. M., Reisdorph, N. A., and Cambier, J. C. (2008). MPYS, a novel membrane tetraspanner, is associated with major histocompatibility complex class II and mediates transduction of apoptotic signals. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 28, 5014–5026.
- Johansen, T., and Lamark, T. (2011). Selective autophagy mediated by autophagic adapter proteins. *Autophagy* 7, 279–296.

- Jounai, N., Takeshita, F., Kobiyama, K., Sawano, A., Miyawaki, A., Xin, K. Q., Ishii, K. J., Kawai, T., Akira, S., Suzuki, K., and Okuda, K. (2007). The Atg5 Atg12 conjugate associates with innate antiviral immune responses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 104, 14050–14055.
- Klionsky, D. J., and Emr, S. D. (2000). Autophagy as a regulated pathway of cellular degradation. *Science* 290, 1717–1721.
- Kloetzel, P. M. (2001). Antigen processing by the proteasome. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 2, 179–187.
- Komatsu, M., Waguri, S., Ueno, T., Iwata, J., Murata, S., Tanida, I., Ezaki, J., Mizushima, N., Ohsumi, Y., Uchiyama, Y., Kominami, E., Tanaka, K., and Chiba, T. (2005). Impairment of starvation-induced and constitutive autophagy in Atg7-deficient mice. J. Cell Biol. 169, 425–434.
- Kuma, A., Hatano, M., Matsui, M., Yamamoto, A., Nakaya, H., Yoshimori, T., Ohsumi, Y., Tokuhisa, T., and Mizushima, N. (2004). The role of autophagy during the early neonatal starvation period. *Nature* 432, 1032–1036.
- Lee, H. K., and Iwasaki, A. (2008). Autophagy and antiviral immunity. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 20, 23–29.
- Lee, H. K., Lund, J. M., Ramanathan, B., Mizushima, N., and Iwasaki, A. (2007). Autophagy-dependent viral recognition by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Science* 315, 1398–1401.
- Lee, M. S., and Kim, Y. J. (2007). Signaling pathways downstream of pattern-recognition receptors and their cross talk. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 76, 447–480.

- Levine, B., and Deretic, V. (2007). Unveiling the roles of autophagy in innate and adaptive immunity. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 7, 767–777.
- Levine, B., and Klionsky, D. J. (2004). Development by self-digestion: molecular mechanisms and biological functions of autophagy. *Dev. Cell* 6, 463–477.
- Levine, B., and Kroemer, G. (2008). Autophagy in the pathogenesis of disease. *Cell* 132, 27–42.
- Li, C., Capan, E., Zhao, Y., Zhao, J., Stolz, D., Watkins, S. C., Jin, S., and Lu, B. (2006). Autophagy is induced in CD4(T cells and important for the growth factor-withdrawal cell death. *I. Immunol.* 177, 5163–5168.
- Miller, B. C., Zhao, Z., Stephenson, L. M., Cadwell, K., Pua, H. H., Lee, H. K., Mizushima, N. N., Iwasaki, A., He, Y. W., Swat, W., and Virgin, H. W. T. (2008). The autophagy gene ATG5 plays an essential role in B lymphocyte development. *Autophagy* 4, 309–314.
- Mizushima, N., and Klionsky, D. J. (2007). Protein turnover via autophagy: implications for metabolism. Annu. Rev. Nutr. 27, 19–40.
- Mizushima, N., Noda, T., Yoshimori, T., Tanaka, Y., Ishii, T., George, M. D., Klionsky, D. J., Ohsumi, M., and Ohsumi, Y. (1998). A protein conjugation system essential for autophagy. *Nature* 395, 395–398.
- Mizushima, N., Ohsumi, Y., and Yoshimori, T. (2002). Autophagosome formation in mammalian cells. *Cell Struct. Funct.* 27, 421–429.
- Mostowy, S., Sancho-Shimizu, V., Hamon, M. A., Simeone, R., Brosch, R., Johansen, T., and Cossart, P. (2011). p62 and NDP52 proteins target intracytosolic Shigella and Listeria to different autophagy pathways. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 26987–26995.
- Nakagawa, I., Amano, A., Mizushima, N., Yamamoto, A., Yamaguchi, H., Kamimoto, T., Nara, A., Funao, J., Nakata, M., Tsuda, K., Hamada, S., and Yoshimori, T. (2004). Autophagy defends cells against invading group A Streptococcus. *Science* 306, 1037–1040.
- Ogawa, M., Yoshimori, T., Suzuki, T., Sagara, H., Mizushima, N., and Sasakawa, C. (2005). Escape of intracellular Shigella from autophagy. *Science* 307, 727–731.
- Ohsumi, Y. (2001). Molecular dissection of autophagy: two ubiquitinlike systems. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 2, 211–216.

- Orvedahl, A., Macpherson, S., Sumpter, R., Jr., Talloczy, Z., Zou, Z., and Levine, B. (2010). Autophagy protects against Sindbis virus infection of the central nervous system. *Cell Host Microbe* 7, 115–127.
- Paludan, C., Schmid, D., Landthaler, M., Vockerodt, M., Kube, D., Tuschl, T., and Munz, C. (2005). Endogenous MHC class II processing of a viral nuclear antigen after autophagy. *Sci*ence 307, 593–596.
- Pua, H. H., Dzhagalov, I., Chuck, M., Mizushima, N., and He, Y. W. (2007). A critical role for the autophagy gene Atg5 in T cell survival and proliferation. *J. Exp. Med.* 204, 25–31.
- Pua, H. H., and He, Y. W. (2007). Maintaining T lymphocyte homeostasis: another duty of autophagy. *Autophagy* 3, 266–267.
- Rioux, J. D., Xavier, R. J., Taylor, K. D., Silverberg, M. S., Goyette, P., Huett, A., Green, T., Kuballa, P., Barmada, M. M., Datta, L. W., Shugart, Y. Y., Griffiths, A. M., Targan, S. R., Ippoliti, A. F., Bernard, E. J., Mei, L., Nicolae, D. L., Regueiro, M., Schumm, L. P., Steinhart, A. H., Rotter, J. I., Duerr, R. H., Cho, J. H., Daly, M. J., and Brant, S. R. (2007). Genome-wide association study identifies new susceptibility loci for Crohn disease and implicates autophagy in disease pathogenesis. Nat. Genet. 39, 596–604.
- Saitoh, T., and Akira, S. (2010). Regulation of innate immune responses by autophagy-related proteins. J. Cell Biol. 189, 925–935.
- Saitoh, T., Fujita, N., Hayashi, T., Takahara, K., Satoh, T., Lee, H., Matsunaga, K., Kageyama, S., Omori, H., Noda, T., Yamamoto, N., Kawai, T., Ishii, K., Takeuchi, O., Yoshimori, T., and Akira, S. (2009). Atg9a controls dsDNA-driven dynamic translocation of STING and the innate immune response. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 20842–20846.
- Saitoh, T., Fujita, N., Jang, M. H., Uematsu, S., Yang, B. G., Satoh, T., Omori, H., Noda, T., Yamamoto, N., Komatsu, M., Tanaka, K., Kawai, T., Tsujimura, T., Takeuchi, O., Yoshimori, T., and Akira, S. (2008). Loss of the autophagy protein Atg16L1 enhances endotoxin-induced ILlbeta production. *Nature* 456, 264–268.
- Sanjuan, M. A., Dillon, C. P., Tait, S. W., Moshiach, S., Dorsey, F., Connell, S., Komatsu, M., Tanaka, K., Cleveland, J. L., Withoff, S., and Green,

D. R. (2007). Toll-like receptor signalling in macrophages links the autophagy pathway to phagocytosis. *Nature* 450, 1253–1257.

- Schmid, D., and Munz, C. (2007). Innate and adaptive immunity through autophagy. *Immunity* 27, 11–21.
- Schmid, D., Pypaert, M., and Munz, C. (2007). Antigen-loading compartments for major histocompatibility complex class II molecules continuously receive input from autophagosomes. *Immunity* 26, 79–92.
- Shi, C. S., and Kehrl, J. H. (2008). MyD88 and Trif target Beclin 1 to trigger autophagy in macrophages. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 33175–33182.
- Shi, C. S., Shenderov, K., Huang, N. N., Kabat, J., Abu-Asab, M., Fitzgerald, K. A., Sher, A., and Kehrl, J. H. (2012). Activation of autophagy by inflammatory signals limits IL-1beta production by targeting ubiquitinated inflammasomes for destruction. *Nat. Immunol.* 13, 255–263.
- Shintani, T., and Klionsky, D. J. (2004). Autophagy in health and disease: a double-edged sword. *Science* 306, 990–995.
- Stetson, D. B., and Medzhitov, R. (2006). Recognition of cytosolic DNA activates an IRF3-dependent innate immune response. *Immunity* 24, 93–103.
- Sun, W., Li, Y., Chen, L., Chen, H., You, F., Zhou, X., Zhou, Y., Zhai, Z., Chen, D., and Jiang, Z. (2009). ERIS, an endoplasmic reticulum IFN stimulator, activates innate immune signaling through dimerization. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 8653–8658.
- Tal, M. C., and Iwasaki, A. (2009). Autophagy and innate recognition systems. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 335, 107–121.
- Tal, M. C., Sasai, M., Lee, H. K., Yordy, B., Shadel, G. S., and Iwasaki, A. (2009). Absence of autophagy results in reactive oxygen speciesdependent amplification of RLR signaling. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 2770–2775.
- Travassos, L. H., Carneiro, L. A., Ramjeet, M., Hussey, S., Kim, Y. G., Magalhaes, J. G., Yuan, L., Soares, F., Chea, E., Le Bourhis, L., Boneca, I. G., Allaoui, A., Jones, N. L., Nunez, G., Girardin, S. E., and Philpott, D. J. (2010). Nod1 and Nod2 direct autophagy by recruiting ATG16L1 to the plasma membrane at the site of bacterial entry. *Nat. Immunol.* 11, 55–62.
- Xu, Y., Jagannath, C., Liu, X. D., Sharafkhaneh, A., Kolodziejska, K.

E., and Eissa, N. T. (2007). Toll-like receptor 4 is a sensor for autophagy associated with innate immunity. *Immunity* 27, 135–144.

- Yoneyama, M., Kikuchi, M., Matsumoto, K., Imaizumi, T., Miyagishi, M., Taira, K., Foy, E., Loo, Y. M., Gale, M., Jr., Akira, S., Yonehara, S., Kato, A., and Fujita, T. (2005). Shared and unique functions of the DExD/Hbox helicases RIG-I, MDA5, and LGP2 in antiviral innate immunity. *I. Immunol.* 175. 2851–2858.
- Yoneyama, M., Kikuchi, M., Natsukawa, T., Shinobu, N., Imaizumi, T., Miyagishi, M., Taira, K., Akira, S., and Fujita, T. (2004). The RNA helicase RIG-I has an essential function in double-stranded RNA-induced innate antiviral responses. *Nat. Immunol.* 5, 730–737.
- Yordy, B., and Iwasaki, A. (2011). Autophagy in the control and pathogenesis of viral infection. *Curr. Opin. Virol.* 1, 196–203.
- Zheng, Y. T., Shahnazari, S., Brech, A., Lamark, T., Johansen, T., and Brumell, J. H. (2009). The adaptor protein p62/SQSTM1 targets invading bacteria to the autophagy pathway. *J. Immunol.* 183, 5909–5916.
- Zhong, B., Yang, Y., Li, S., Wang, Y. Y., Li, Y., Diao, F., Lei, C., He, X., Zhang, L., Tien, P., and Shu, H. B. (2008). The adaptor protein MITA links virussensing receptors to IRF3 transcription factor activation. *Immunity* 29, 538–550.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 15 December 2011; paper pending published: 02 January 2012; accepted: 23 February 2012; published online: 12 March 2012.

Citation: Oh JE and Lee HK (2012) Modulation of pathogen recognition by autophagy. Front. Immun. **3**:44. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00044

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Antigen Presenting Cell Biology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2012 Oh and Lee. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



James Harris*

Faculty of Medicine, Nursing and Health Sciences, Monash Medical Centre, Monash University, Clayton, VIC, Australia

Edited by:

Christian Muenz, University of Zurich, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Masaaki Murakami, Osaka University, Japan Ari Waisman, Johannes-Gutenberg

University of Mainz, Germany

*Correspondence:

James Harris, Faculty of Medicine, Nursing and Health Sciences, Monash Medical Centre, Block E, Floor 5, 246 Clayton Road, Clayton, VIC 3168, Australia. e-mail: jim.harris@monash.edu Autophagy is an important intracellular homeostatic mechanism for the targeting of cytosolic constituents, including organelles, for lysosomal degradation. Autophagy plays roles in numerous physiological processes, including immune cell responses to endogenous and exogenous pathogenic stimuli. Moreover, autophagy has a potentially pivotal role to play in the regulation of inflammatory responses. In particular, autophagy regulates endogenous inflammasome activators, as well as inflammasome components and pro-IL-1 β . As a result, autophagy acts a key modulator of IL-1 β and IL-18, as well as IL-1 α , release. This review focuses specifically on the role autophagy plays in regulating the production, processing, and secretion of IL-1 and IL-18 and the consequences of this important function.

Keywords: autophagosome, autophagy, cytokines, inflammasome, inflammation, interleukin, IL-1, IL-18

INTRODUCTION

Autophagy exists in three forms. Microautophagy describes the direct engulfment of small volumes of cytosol by lysosomes (Ahlberg et al., 1982). Alternatively, in chaperone-mediated autophagy specific proteins are recognized by a cytosolic chaperone and targeted to the lysosome (Dice, 1990). This review will focus on macroautophagy (hereafter referred to as *autophagy*), a highly conserved homeostatic mechanism for the lysosomal degradation and recycling of cytosolic components, including macromolecules and organelles (Shintani and Klionsky, 2004). Macroautophagy is characterized by the formation of an isolation membrane, or phagophore, which elongates around its target and fuses with itself to form a double-membraned autophago-some. This can then fuse with lysosomes to form an autolysosome, leading to degradation of the luminal contents.

Autophagy acts as an important survival mechanism, sequestering and degrading damaged/toxic cytosolic constituents, such as dysfunctional mitochondria or peroxisomes. In addition, autophagy regulates energy and nutrient homeostasis and plays an essential role in development (Yang and Klionsky, 2010). Autophagy can be induced by numerous different stimuli, including environmental and cellular stresses, such as nutrient deprivation/amino acid starvation, growth factor withdrawal, and endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress (Lum et al., 2005; Ogata et al., 2006; Yorimitsu et al., 2006).

Autophagy can also regulate a number of important immune responses, including clearance of intracellular bacteria (Deretic, 2010), antigen presentation (Munz, 2010), and the regulation of cytokine production and secretion (Harris, 2011). In addition, autophagy is important for immune cell homeostasis; deficiencies in the autophagy pathway cause defects in ER and leave T cells more prone to cell death (Jia and He, 2011; Jia et al., 2011) and is required for immunoglobulin production by plasma cells (Pengo et al., 2013). Moreover, autophagy in thymic epithelial cells facilitates the presentation of endogenous self-antigens and is thus important for central CD4⁺ T cell tolerance (Aichinger et al., 2013).

Importantly, autophagy is induced by numerous immune stimuli, including exogenous pathogen-associated molecular (PAMPs), such as LPS (Xu et al., 2007), as well as endogenous damage-associated molecular (DAMPs), including HMGB1 (Tang et al., 2010a,b). Moreover, cytokines can regulate autophagy; IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-1 α , and IL-1 β all induce autophagy in macrophages (Gutierrez et al., 2004; Harris and Keane, 2010; Shi and Kehrl, 2010), while IL-4, IL-13, and IL-10 have all been shown to inhibit autophagy in macrophages (Harris et al., 2007, 2009; Van Grol et al., 2010; Ní Cheallaigh et al., 2011; Park et al., 2011).

AUTOPHAGY REGULATES IL-1 α , IL-1 β , AND IL-18 SECRETION

Interleukin 1 family cytokines include IL-1a, IL-1β, IL-18, IL-33, IL-36, IL-37, and IL-38 and orchestrate a wide range of immune and physiological roles. In particular, IL-1a, IL-1β, which signal through the same receptor (IL-1R1), have strong proinflammatory effects, largely through the induction of cyclooxygenase type 2 (COX-2), type 2 phospholipase A, and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) (Dinarello, 2002) and are responsible for the recruitment of myeloid cells, including neutrophils, to sites of inflammation (Rider et al., 2011). IL-18 is similarly proinflammatory and both IL-1β and IL-18 are tightly regulated; they are produced as inactive pro-forms that are cleaved by caspase-1 to form the mature, bioactive, cytokines. Caspase-1 is itself activated by an inflammasome, a large multimeric structure that includes an intracellular sensor, such as the NOD-like receptor (NLR) NLRP3 or the DNA sensor, absent in melanoma 2 (AIM2) (Davis et al., 2011). IL-1 α , while active in its pro-form, has recently been shown to be more potent as a granzyme B-cleaved truncated peptide (Afonina et al., 2011). Recently, studies have suggested that IL-1 β can drive the release of both IL-1 α and IL-23 (Harris et al., 2008; Fettelschoss et al., 2011), further highlighting the importance of this cytokine in regulating inflammatory responses.

Studies have demonstrated that autophagy can regulate the transcription, processing, and secretion of IL-1β, as well as the secretion of IL-1a and IL-18 (Figure 1; Table 1). This occurs through at least two distinct mechanisms. Firstly, in macrophages and dendritic cells, inhibition of autophagy, either pharmacologically with 3-methyladenine (3-MA) or through siRNA deletion of autophagy genes, leads to increased release of IL-1 β , IL-1 α , and IL-18 in response to TLR3 or TLR4 agonists (Saitoh et al., 2008; Harris et al., 2011; Nakahira et al., 2011; Zhou et al., 2011a). Typically, the release of IL-1 β is a two stage process. First, transcription of pro-IL-1 is induced by inflammatory stimuli (such as LPS). This is followed by activation of inflammasome assembly by a second stimulus, such as reactive oxygen species (ROS), ATP, particulates (e.g., silica, alum), protein aggregates, or lysosomal disruption. Thus, the inhibition of autophagy results in the accumulation of a second, endogenous, inflammasome-activating stimulus. The second mechanism is more direct; autophagosomes can sequester and degrade inflammasome components, including the adaptor molecule apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a CARD (ASC), AIM2, and NLRP3 (Shi et al., 2012), as well as pro-IL-1B(Harris et al., 2011). Studies have not yet addressed whether autophagy might regulate other IL-1 family cytokines, including IL-33, IL-36, and IL-37, but this would be

of considerable interest given role in mediating the production and release of IL-1 and IL-18, as well as other cytokines (Saitoh et al., 2008; Crisan et al., 2011; Harris et al., 2011; Nakahira et al., 2011).

A ROLE FOR MITOCHONDRIA

Two studies have addressed the role of mitochondria in driving the release of IL-1 β by autophagy-compromised cells. Zhou et al. (2011a) demonstrated that inhibiting the sequestration of mitochondria by autophagosomes (mitophagy) with 3-MA leads to the accumulation of damaged, ROS-producing mitochondria, which in turn activates the NLRP3 inflammasome, leading to the processing and release of IL-1B. Similarly, Nakahira et al. (2011) established that depletion of the autophagy proteins beclin 1 or LC3B in macrophages leads to the activation of caspase-1 and the release of IL-1 β and IL-18 by promoting the accumulation of dysfunctional mitochondria. Moreover, secretion of both cytokines was dependent on mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA), which translocated to the cytosol, a process dependent on ROS and NLRP3. These data would suggest that mitochondrial dysfunction represents an endogenous stimulus for inflammasome activation. Studies have demonstrated that enhanced IL-1ß release by autophagy-deficient mouse cells is dependent on



Autophagy regulates IL-1 β production, processing, and secretion through a number of mechanisms. In the absence of autophagy, stimulation of macrophages or dendritic cells with TLR3 or TLR4 ligands leads to a TRIF-dependent, mitochondrial ROS/DNA-dependent increase in the production, processing, and secretion of IL-1 β , suggesting that autophagy normally limits the presence of these stimuli in the cytosol. These stimuli induce inflammasome assembly, but may also increase transcription of pro-IL-1 β . Conversely, induction of autophagy in cells stimulated with TLR ligands leads to the sequestration and lysosomal degradation of pro-IL-1 β , thus limiting the availability of the cytokine for subsequent processing and secretion. In addition, the inflammasome components ASC, NLRP3, and AIM2 can also be sequestered into autophagosomes. The effects of autophagy on transcription of pro-IL-1 β are complex: autophagy down-regulates p62, which may be required for NF_KB activation, but also down-regulates IkB, promoting NF_KB nuclear translocation. Induction of autophagy in the presence of inflammasome-activating stimuli, such as ATP, nigericin and particulates, and crystals, can lead to increased secretion of IL-1 β suggesting that autophagosomes may act as part of an exocytic pathway and possibly also a platform for inflammasome assembly, although it is not yet clear whether fully assembled inflammasomes are sequestered.

Table 1 | Interactions between autophagy and IL-1 family cytokines.

Interaction	Notes	Reference
IL-1 α and IL-1 β induce autophagy	Induction of autophagy by IL-1 family cytokines suggests a potential negative feedback loop for the control of inflammation by autophagy, as well as a possible anti-microbial response mediated by inflammatory cytokines	Shi and Kehrl (2010)
Inhibition of autophagy increases IL-1α, IL-1β, and IL-18 secretion	Inhibition of (or deficiency in) autophagy leads to increased secretion of IL-1 family cytokines in response to TLR ligands and <i>Mycobacterium tuberculosis</i> . This is dependent on TRIF (in mice), reactive oxygen species, and mitochondrial DNA. These results suggest that autophagy normally regulates endogenous factors that would otherwise induce inflammasome assembly, caspase-1 activation, and subsequent processing and secretion of IL-1β and IL-18. In humans, regulation of IL-1β by autophagy occurs at the transcriptional level	Saitoh et al. (2008), Crisan et al. (2011), Harris et al. (2011), Kleinnijenhuis et al. (2011), Nakahira et al. (2011), Zhou et al. (2011a)
Induction of autophagy reduces IL-1β secretion <i>in vitro</i> and <i>in vivo</i>	Induction of autophagy with drugs (e.g., rapamycin) or starvation reduces secretion of IL-1 β by macrophages and dendritic cells in response to LPS with alum or ATP or in response to <i>Mycobacterium tuberculosis</i> . Induction of autophagy also decreases intracellular levels of pro-IL-1 β . In a mouse model of LPS-induced sepsis, rapamycin decreases serum levels of IL-1 β .	Crisan et al. (2011), Harris et al. (2011), Sh et al. (2012)
Autophagosomes sequester and degrade IL-1β and inflammasome components	In macrophages stimulated with TLR ligands, autophagosomes sequester IL-1β. The inflammasome component ASC is ubiquitinated in response to inflammasome activation and delivered to autophagosomes. NLRP3 and AIM2 are also sequestered by autophagosomes	Harris et al. (2011), Sh et al. (2012)
Activation of the NLRP3 and AIM2 inflammasomes induces autophagosome formation	Induction of the AIM2 inflammasome by transfection of macrophages with poly(dA:dT) or the NLRP3 inflammasome with uric acid crystals or nigericin leads to an increase in autophagosome formation	Shi et al. (2012)
Autophagy can act as secretory pathway for the release of IL-1β	Induction of inflammasome activation in parallel with autophagy induction can lead to an increase in IL-1β secretion. This novel secretory pathway is dependent on inflammasome assembly, Atg5, Rab8a, and GRASP55 (GORASP2; a mammalian Golgi reassembly stacking protein paralog)	Dupont et al. (2011)

TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon- β (TRIF), an adaptor molecule involved in TLR3 and TLR4 signaling (Saitoh et al., 2008; Harris et al., 2011). However, the role of TRIF in this response is not yet known. In addition, autophagy-deficient NLRP3^{-/-} dendritic cells are still able to secrete IL-1 β in response to LPS (albeit at much lower levels than wild type control cells) (Harris et al., 2011), suggesting that other inflammasomes may be activated by mitochondrial instability, at least in mice.

Inhibition of autophagy with 3-MA has also been shown to limit IL-1 β transcription in humans through a process independent of caspase-1 activation (Crisan et al., 2011; Kleinnijenhuis et al., 2011). While the mechanism underlying these observations is not yet clear, Lee et al. (2012) have demonstrated that autophagy down-regulates p62, which is important for IL-1 β signaling and activation of NF- κ B, which leads to increased IL-1 β production. However, this is potentially complicated by a number of studies that have demonstrated that autophagy is required for NF- κ B activation, as autophagosomes target ubiquitinated I κ B for degradation, allowing increased nuclear transcription of NF- κ B (Meng and Cai, 2011; Criollo et al., 2012; Jia et al., 2012). Interestingly, in mice, inhibition of autophagy, either with 3-MA or by siRNA targeting of beclin 1, had no effect of IL-1 β transcription (Peral de Castro et al., 2012), suggesting important differences between mice and humans in the mechanism through which autophagy regulates IL-1 β .

AUTOPHAGY AND THE INFLAMMASOME

While inhibition of autophagy leads to increased release of IL-1β and IL-18 (as well as IL-1 α) in response to TLR3 or TLR4 ligands, induction of autophagy with the mTOR inhibitor rapamycin can inhibit IL-1ß release in response to LPS with alum or ATP (Harris et al., 2011). Moreover, activation of IL-1^β transcription with TLR agonists, in the absence of an inflammasome-inducing signal, leads to sequestration and degradation of pro-IL-1β by autophagosomes. This process is independent of TRIF (Harris et al., 2011) and would suggest that autophagy acts a self-regulatory mechanism for the control of inappropriate and potentially deleterious inflammatory responses. More recently, Shi et al. (2012) have demonstrated that activation of the NLRP3 and AIM2 inflammasomes induces autophagy in macrophages. Inhibition of autophagy with 3-MA increased inflammasome activation, while induction of autophagy with rapamycin or amino acid starvation limited it. Moreover, inflammasome components, including AIM2, NLRP3, and ASC partially co-localized with GFP-LC3 (an autophagosomal marker) and LAMP-1 (a lysosomal marker) (Shi et al., 2012), suggesting that inflammasomes are degraded within autophagosomes. Interestingly, caspase-1 does not co-localize with GFP-LC3 (Harris et al., 2011), suggesting that sequestration of inflammasome components by autophagosomes is a highly specific process. Again, these data suggest that autophagy represents a regulatory mechanism for the control of inflammatory responses in macrophages.

A recent report has demonstrated that caspase-11 can contribute to NLRP3-dependent IL-1 β secretion in a TRIF-dependent manner in response to Gram-negative bacteria. In this response, TRIF activates caspase-11 via type I IFN signaling, which in turn interacts with the NLRP3 inflammasome to regulate caspase-1 activation (Rathinam et al., 2012). It is not yet clear whether autophagy intersects with this TRIF-dependent pathway to regulate caspase-11-dependent IL-1 β secretion.

However, the role of autophagy in the regulation of inflammasome activation may not be quite so straightforward. A recent study has demonstrated that induction of autophagy with mTOR inhibitors or by amino acid starvation can lead to increased IL-1β secretion in response to inflammasome-activating treatments, including LPS with nigericin, alum, or silica crystals (Dupont et al., 2011). This effect was partially dependent on Atg5 and at least one of the two mammalian Golgi reassembly stacking protein paralogs, GRASP55 and Rab8a. In these experiments, autophagy was induced at the same time that the inflammasome-activating stimulus was added. Thus, the role of autophagy in regulating IL-1 β secretion may depend on timing and context; in the absence of an inflammasome-activating signal, autophagy may act to remove pro-IL-1ß and inflammasome components from the cell, while in the presence of such a signal, autophagy may act as a secretory pathway for IL-1β release.

IL-1 α AND IL-1 β INDUCE AUTOPHAGY

Numerous cytokines are known to regulate autophagy in macrophages, including IFN- γ (Gutierrez et al., 2004), TNF- α (Harris and Keane, 2010), IL-10 (Van Grol et al., 2010; Park et al., 2011), IL-4, and IL-13 (Harris et al., 2007). Amongst those that have been shown to activate autophagosome formation are IL-1 α and IL-1 β (Shi and Kehrl, 2010; Peral de Castro et al., 2012). Moreover, other cytokines associated with inflammatory responses, including IL-23, have been shown to drive autophagy (Peral de Castro et al., 2012). Thus autophagy may represent an important mechanism in a negative feedback loop to control the secretion of inflammatory cytokines.

FURTHER CONSEQUENCES OF AUTOPHAGIC REGULATION OF IL-1: EFFECTS ON IL-23 AND IL-17

The regulation of IL-1 β release by macrophages and DC subsequently affects IL-23 secretion by the same cells; inhibition of autophagy with 3-MA or by depletion of beclin 1, leads to an increase in IL-23 secretion, driven directly by IL-1 β , while induction of autophagy with mTOR inhibitors reduces IL-23 secretion (Peral de Castro et al., 2012). Together, IL-1 (α or β , or IL-18) and IL-23 potently induce the secretion of IL-17 by Th17 cells and innate $\gamma\delta$ T cells (Sutton et al., 2009; Mills et al., 2013). Thus, supernatants from LPS-stimulated autophagy-deficient dendritic cells and macrophages, high in IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-18, and IL-23, have been shown to stimulate the secretion of IL-17 by T cells, predominantly $\gamma\delta$ T cells (Peral de Castro et al., 2012). This is also relevant *in vivo*, as mice lacking the autophagy protein Atg5 in myeloid cells secrete higher levels of IL-1 α , IL-12p70, CXCL1, and IL-17 in response to infection with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (Castillo et al., 2012).

AUTOPHAGY AND INFLAMMATION IN VIVO

In humans, single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the autophagy-related protein 16-like 1 (atg16l1) gene have been linked with increased susceptibility to Crohn's disease (Hampe et al., 2007; Rioux et al., 2007), while Mice lacking Atg16L1 in hematopoietic cells are more susceptible to dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis (Saitoh et al., 2008). Similarly, polymorphisms in the genes encoding other autophagy-related proteins, including Atg2a, Atg4a, Atg4d, Immunity-related GTPase M (IRGM), and ULK-1, have also been associated with Crohn's disease (Craddock et al., 2010; Henckaerts et al., 2011; Brinar et al., 2012). IRGM is a known modulator of autophagy in human macrophages (Singh et al., 2006), while the mouse ortholog, Irgm1 (formerly LRG-47), modulates IFN-γ-induced autophagy (Gutierrez et al., 2004). Moreover, polymorphisms in IRGM have been linked to the multifactorial autoimmune disease systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (Zhou et al., 2011b), as have polymorphisms in Atg5 and Atg7 (Harley et al., 2008; Gateva et al., 2009; Han et al., 2009; Zhou et al., 2011b). In mice with a conditional deletion of Atg7 in the intestinal epithelium, LPS induces higher levels of IL-1ß mRNA, compared to wild type controls (Fujishima et al., 2011), while LC3B^{-/-} mice produce higher levels of IL-1β and IL-18 in response to LPS- or cecal ligation and puncture (CLP)-induced sepsis (Nakahira et al., 2011). Moreover, autophagy has a role to play in obesity-related inflammation in mice and humans. Expression of LC3 is higher in the subcutaneous adipose tissues of obese mice and humans, compared to lean controls and correlated with systemic insulin resistance and adipose tissue inflammation (Jansen et al., 2012). In addition, inhibition of autophagy with 3-MA increased the expression of IL-1β, IL-6, and IL-8 mRNA in human adipose tissue explants and IL-1β, IL-6, and keratinocyte-derived chemoattractant (KC) mRNA in mouse explants and this effect was greater in samples from obese individuals/animals (Jansen et al., 2012).

CONCLUSION

Autophagy is a highly conserved and ubiquitous process that has many roles to play in cellular homeostasis. Amongst these is the regulation of inflammatory responses to both pathogenic and endogenous stimuli. In particular, autophagy modulates the transcription, processing, and secretion of IL-1 β , acting as an important negative feedback mechanism for the control of inflammatory responses, both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. As such, autophagy may represent a potent target for novel anti-inflammatory therapeutics.

REFERENCES

- Afonina, I. S., Tynan, G. A., Logue, S. E., Cullen, S. P., Bots, M., Luthi, A. U., et al. (2011). Granzyme B-dependent proteolysis acts as a switch to enhance the proinflammatory activity of IL-1α. *Mol. Cell* 44, 265–278.
- Ahlberg, J., Marzella, L., and Glaumann, H. (1982). Uptake and degradation of proteins by isolated rat liver lysosomes. Suggestion of a microautophagic pathway of proteolysis. *Lab. Invest.* 47, 523–532.
- Aichinger, M., Wu, C., Nedjic, J., and Klein, L. (2013). Macroautophagy substrates are loaded onto MHC class II medullary thymic epithelial cells for central tolerance. J. Exp. Med. 210, 287–300.
- Brinar, M., Vermeire, S., Cleynen, I., Lemmens, B., Sagaert, X., Henckaerts, L., et al. (2012). Genetic variants in autophagy-related genes and granuloma formation in a cohort of surgically treated Crohn's disease patients. *J. Crohns Colitis* 6, 43–50.
- Castillo, E. F., Dekonenko, A., Arko-Mensah, J., Mandell, M. A., Dupont, N., Jiang, S., et al. (2012). Autophagy protects against active tuberculosis by suppressing bacterial burden and inflammation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 109, E3168–E3176.
- Craddock, N., Hurles, M. E., Cardin, N., Pearson, R. D., Plagnol, V., Robson, S., et al. (2010). Genome-wide association study of CNVs in 16,000 cases of eight common diseases and 3,000 shared controls. *Nature* 464, 713–720.
- Criollo, A., Chereau, F., Malik, S. A., Niso-Santano, M., Mariño, G., Galluzzi, L., et al. (2012). Autophagy is required for the activation of NFkB. *Cell Cycle* 11, 194–199.
- Crisan, T. O., Plantinga, T. S., van de Veerdonk, F. L., Farcas, M. F., Stoffels, M., Kullberg, B. J., et al. (2011). Inflammasomeindependent modulation of cytokine response by autophagy in human cells. *PLoS ONE* 6:e18666. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0018666
- Davis, B. K., Wen, H., and Ting, J. P. (2011). The inflammasome NLRs in immunity, inflammation, and associated diseases. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 29, 707–735.
- Deretic, V. (2010). Autophagy in infection. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 22, 252–262.
- Dice, J. F. (1990). Peptide sequences that target cytosolic proteins for lysosomal proteolysis. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 15, 305–309.

- Dinarello, C. A. (2002). The IL-1 family and inflammatory diseases. *Clin. Exp. Rheumatol.* 20, S1–S13.
- Dupont, N., Jiang, S., Pilli, M., Ornatowski, W., Bhattacharya, D., and Deretic, V. (2011). Autophagy-based unconventional secretory pathway for extracellular delivery of IL-1β. *EMBO J.* 30, 4701–4711.
- Fettelschoss, A., Kistowska, M., LeibundGut-Landmann, S., Beer, H. D., Johansen, P., Senti, G., et al. (2011). Inflammasome activation and IL-1 β target IL-1 α for secretion as opposed to surface expression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 18055–18060.
- Fujishima, Y., Nishiumi, S., Masuda, A., Inoue, J., Nguyen, N. M., Irino, Y., et al. (2011). Autophagy in the intestinal epithelium reduces endotoxininduced inflammatory responses by inhibiting NF-kappaB activation. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 506, 223–235.
- Gateva, V., Sandling, J. K., Hom, G., Taylor, K. E., Chung, S. A., Sun, X., et al. (2009). A largescale replication study identifies TNIP1,PRDM1, JAZF1, UHRF1BP1 and IL10 as risk loci for systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat. Genet.* 41, 1228–1233.
- Gutierrez, M. G., Master, S. S., Singh, S. B., Taylor, G. A., Colombo, M. I., and Deretic, V. (2004). Autophagy is a defense mechanism inhibiting BCG and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* survival in infected macrophages. *Cell* 119, 753–766.
- Hampe, J., Franke, A., Rosenstiel, P., Till, A., Teuber, M., Huse, K., et al. (2007). A genome-wide association scan of nonsynonymous SNPs identifies a susceptibility variant for Crohn disease in ATG16L1. *Nat. Genet.* 39, 207–211.
- Han, J. W., Zheng, H. F., Cui, Y., Sun, L. D., Ye, D. Q., Hu, Z., et al. (2009). Genome-wide association study in a Chinese Han population identifies nine new susceptibility loci for systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat. Genet.* 41, 1234–1237.
- Harley, J. B., Alarcon-Riquelme, M. E., Criswell, L. A., Jacob, C. O., Kimberly, R. P., Moser, K. L., et al. (2008). Genome-wide association scan in women with systemic lupus erythematosus identifies susceptibility variants in ITGAM, PXK, KIAA1542 and other loci. *Nat. Genet.* 40, 204–210.
- Harris, J. (2011). Autophagy and cytokines. *Cytokine* 56, 140–144.
- Harris, J., De Haro, S. A., Master, S. S., Keane, J., Roberts, E. A., Delgado, M., et al. (2007). T helper 2 cytokines

inhibit autophagic control of intracellular *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Immunity* 27, 505–517.

- Harris, J., Hartman, M., Roche, C., Zeng, S. G., O'Shea, A., Sharp, F. A., et al. (2011). Autophagy controls IL-1β secretion by targeting pro-IL-1β for degradation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 9587–9597.
- Harris, J., and Keane, J. (2010). How tumour necrosis factor blockers interfere with tuberculosis immunity. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 161, 1–9.
- Harris, J., Master, S. S., De Haro, S. A., Delgado, M., Roberts, E. A., Hope, J. C., et al. (2009). Th1-Th2 polarisation and autophagy in the control of intracellular mycobacteria by macrophages. *Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 128, 37–43.
- Harris, K. M., Fasano, A., and Mann, D. L. (2008). Cutting edge: IL-1 controls the IL-23 response induced by gliadin, the etiologic agent in celiac disease. *J. Immunol.* 181, 4457–4460.
- Henckaerts, L., Cleynen, I., Brinar, M., John, J. M., Van Steen, K., Rutgeerts, P., et al. (2011). Genetic variation in the autophagy gene ULK1 and risk of Crohn's disease. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* 17, 1392–1397.
- Jansen, H. J., van Essen, P., Koenen, T., Joosten, L. A. B., Netea, M. G., Tack, C. J., et al. (2012). Autophagy is up-regulated in adipose tissue of obese individuals and modulates proinflammatory cytokine expression. *Endocrinology* 153, 5866–5874.
- Jia, L., Gopinathan, G., Sukumar, J. T., and Gribben, J. G. (2012). Blocking autophagy prevents bortezomibinduced NF-κB activation by reducing I-κBα degradation in lymphoma cells. *PLoS ONE* 7:e32584. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0032584
- Jia, W., and He, Y. W. (2011). Temporal regulation of intracellular organelle homeostasis in T lymphocytes by autophagy. *J. Immunol.* 186, 5313–5322.
- Jia, W., Pua, H. H., Li, Q. J., and He, Y. W. (2011). Autophagy regulates endoplasmic reticulum homeostasis and calcium mobilization in T lymphocytes. *J. Immunol.* 186, 1564–1574.
- Kleinnijenhuis, J., Oosting, M., Plantinga, T. S., van der Meer, J. W., Joosten, L. A., Crevel, R. V., et al. (2011). Autophagy modulates the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-induced cytokine response. *Immunology* 134, 341–348.
- Lee, J., Kim, H. R., Quinley, C., Kim, J., Gonzalez-Navajas, J., Xavier, R., et al. (2012). Autophagy suppresses interleukin-1β (IL-1β) signaling

by activation of p62 degradation via lysosomal and proteasomal pathways. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 4033–4040.

- Lum, J. J., Bauer, D. E., Kong, M., Harris, M. H., Li, C., Lindsten, T., et al. (2005). Growth factor regulation of autophagy and cell survival in the absence of apoptosis. *Cell* 120, 237–248.
- Meng, Q., and Cai, D. (2011). Defective hypothalamic autophagy directs the central pathogenesis of obesity via the IkappaB kinase beta (IKKbeta)/NF-kappaB pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 32324–32332.
- Mills, K. H., Dungan, L. S., Jones, S. A., and Harris, J. (2013). The role of inflammasome-derived IL-1 in driving IL-17 responses. J. Leukoc. Biol. 93, 489–497.
- Munz, C. (2010). Antigen processing via autophagy – not only for MHC class II presentation anymore? *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 22, 89–93.
- Nakahira, K., Haspel, J. A., Rathinam, V. A., Lee, S. J., Dolinay, T., Lam, H. C., et al. (2011). Autophagy proteins regulate innate immune responses by inhibiting the release of mitochondrial DNA mediated by the NALP3 inflammasome. *Nat. Immunol.* 12, 222–230.
- Ní Cheallaigh, C., Keane, J., Lavelle, E. C., Hope, J. C., and Harris, J. (2011). Autophagy in the immune response to tuberculosis: clinical perspectives. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 164, 291–300.
- Ogata, M., Hino, S., Saito, A., Morikawa, K., Kondo, S., Kanemoto, S., et al. (2006). Autophagy is activated for cell survival after endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 26, 9220–9231.
- Park, H. J., Lee, S. J., Kim, S. H., Han, J., Bae, J., Kim, S. J., et al. (2011). IL-10 inhibits the starvation induced autophagy in macrophages via class I phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) pathway. *Mol. Immunol.* 48, 720–727.
- Pengo, N., Scolari, M., Oliva, L., Milan, E., Mainoldi, F., Raimondi, A., et al. (2013). Plasma cells require autophagy for sustainable immunoglobulin production. *Nat. Immunol.* 14, 298–305.
- Peral de Castro, C., Jones, S. A., Ni Cheallaigh, C., Hearnden, C. A., Williams, L., Winter, J., et al. (2012). Autophagy regulates IL-23 secretion and innate T cell responses through effects on IL-1 secretion. *J. Immunol.* 189, 4144–4153.
- Rathinam, V. A., Vanaja, S. K., Waggoner, L., Sokolovska, A., Becker, C., Stuart, L. M., et al. (2012).

TRIF licenses caspase-11-dependent NLRP3 inflammasome activation by Gram-negative bacteria. *Cell* 150, 606–619.

- Rider, P., Carmi, Y., Guttman, O., Braiman, A., Cohen, I., Voronov, E., et al. (2011). IL-1α and IL-1β recruit different myeloid cells and promote different stages of sterile inflammation. J. Immunol. 187, 4835–4843.
- Rioux, J. D., Xavier, R. J., Taylor, K. D., Silverberg, M. S., Goyette, P., Huett, A., et al. (2007). Genomewide association study identifies new susceptibility loci for Crohn disease and implicates autophagy in disease pathogenesis. *Nat. Genet.* 39, 596–604.
- Saitoh, T., Fujita, N., Jang, M. H., Uematsu, S., Yang, B. G., Satoh, T., et al. (2008). Loss of the autophagy protein Atg16L1 enhances endotoxin-induced IL-1β production. *Nature* 456, 264–268.
- Shi, C. S., and Kehrl, J. H. (2010). TRAF6 and A20 regulate lysine 63-linked ubiquitination of Beclin-1 to control TLR4-induced autophagy. *Sci. Signal.* 3, ra42.
- Shi, C. S., Shenderov, K., Huang, N. N., Kabat, J., Abu-Asab, M., Fitzgerald,

K. A., et al. (2012). Activation of autophagy by inflammatory signals limits IL-1 β production by targeting ubiquitinated inflammasomes for destruction. *Nat. Immunol.* 13, 255–263.

- Shintani, T., and Klionsky, D. J. (2004). Autophagy in health and disease: a double-edged sword. *Science* 306, 990–995.
- Singh, S. B., Davis, A. S., Taylor, G. A., and Deretic, V. (2006). Human IRGM induces autophagy to eliminate intracellular mycobacteria. *Science* 313, 1438–1441.
- Sutton, C. E., Lalor, S. J., Sweeney, C. M., Brereton, C. F., Lavelle, E. C., and Mills, K. H. (2009). Interleukin-1 and IL-23 induce innate IL-17 production from gammadelta T cells, amplifying Th17 responses and autoimmunity. *Immunity* 31, 331–341.
- Tang, D., Kang, R., Cheh, C. W., Livesey, K. M., Liang, X., Schapiro, N. E., et al. (2010a). HMGB1 release and redox regulates autophagy and apoptosis in cancer cells. *Oncogene* 29, 5299–5310.
- Tang, D., Kang, R., Livesey, K. M., Cheh, C. W., Farkas, A., Loughran, P., et al.

(2010b). Endogenous HMGB1 regulates autophagy. J. Cell Biol. 190, 881–892.

- Van Grol, J., Subauste, C., Andrade, R. M., Fujinaga, K., Nelson, J., and Subauste, C. S. (2010). HIV-1 inhibits autophagy in bystander macrophage/monocytic cells through Src-Akt and STAT3. PLoS ONE 5:e11733. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0011733
- Xu, Y., Jagannath, C., Liu, X. D., Sharafkhaneh, A., Kolodziejska, K. E., and Eissa, N. T. (2007). Toll-like receptor 4 is a sensor for autophagy associated with innate immunity. *Immunity* 27, 135–144.
- Yang, Z., and Klionsky, D. J. (2010). Eaten alive: a history of macroautophagy. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 12, 814–822.
- Yorimitsu, T., Nair, U., Yang, Z., and Klionsky, D. J. (2006). Endoplasmic reticulum stress triggers autophagy. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 30299–30304.
- Zhou, R., Yazdi, A. S., Menu, P., and Tschopp, J. (2011a). A role for mitochondria in NLRP3 inflammasome activation. *Nature* 469, 221–225.
- Zhou, X. J., Lu, X. L., Lv, J. C., Yang, H. Z., Qin, L. X., Zhao, M. H., et al. (2011b). Genetic

association of PRDM1-ATG5 intergenic region and autophagy with systemic lupus erythematosus in a Chinese population. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 70, 1330–1337.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 20 February 2013; accepted: 21 March 2013; published online: 05 April 2013.

Citation: Harris J (2013) Autophagy and IL-1 family cytokines. Front. Immunol. 4:83. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00083

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Antigen Presenting Cell Biology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Harris. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party eraphics etc.



Justine D. Mintern¹* and Jose A. Villadangos^{1,2}

¹ Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, The University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia

² Department of Microbiology and Immunology, The University of Melbourne Parkville, VIC, Australia

Edited by:

Irina Caminschi, Burnet Institute, Australia

Reviewed by:

Graham Taylor, University of Birmingham, UK Daisuke Kamimura, Osaka University, Japan

*Correspondence:

Justine D. Mintern, Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, The University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC 3010, Australia. e-mail: jmintern@unimelb.edu.au Macroautophagy (autophagy) is a cellular pathway facilitating several critical functions. First, autophagy is a major pathway of degradation. It enables elimination of microbes that have invaded intracellular compartments. In addition, it promotes degradation of damaged cellular content, thereby acting to limit inflammatory signals. Second, autophagy is a major trafficking pathway, shuttling content between the cytosol and the lysosomal compartment. Given these two key roles, autophagy can have significant and sometimes unexpected consequences on mechanisms that initiate robust immunity. Here, we will discuss the impact of autophagy on pathways of innate and adaptive immune responses including microbe elimination, inflammatory cytokine production, antigen processing and T and B lymphocyte immunity.

Keywords: autophagy, innate immunity, adaptive immunity, antigen presentation, T lymphocytes

Macroautophagy (referred herein as autophagy) is a process that involves the formation of an autophagosome, a double membrane vesicle, which is trafficked to lysosomes where autophagosomal contents are degraded. Autophagy is considered both a major pathway of degradation, providing an alternative to the proteasome, and a significant trafficking pathway between the cytosol and lysosomal compartments. Activating autophagy mostly occurs via serine/threonine kinase, mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) that impedes autophagy by binding and inactivating the UNC-51-like kinase (ULK)1/2 kinase. Signaling via the ULK1/2 kinase complex is critical for recruiting autophagy-related gene (ATG) proteins to the site of autophagosome biogenesis (Jung et al., 2010; Weidberg et al., 2011). One ATG of particular importance is Atg8 (microtubule-associated light chain 3, LC3 in mammals), a widely used marker of autophagosomes. LC3 acts in autophagosome expansion and closure (Nakatogawa et al., 2007), in addition to selectively recruiting autophagosomal cargo (Noda et al., 2008). Prior to association with the autophagosome, LC3 is conjugated to phosphatidylethanolamine by a series of reactions that involves Atg7, Atg3 and an Atg5-Atg12-Atg16 complex (Tanida et al., 2004). Other critical contributors to autophagy are phosphatidylinositol kinase Vsp34 and Beclin 1, that promote autophagosomal membrane and fusion events (Liang et al., 2008; Matsunaga et al., 2009; Zhong et al., 2009). Here, we will discuss examples of the contribution of the autophagy pathway to innate (Figure 1) and adaptive (Figure 2) effector mechanisms that are critical for robust immunity.

AUTOPHAGY AND INNATE EFFECTOR MECHANISMS

Autophagy is an innate effector mechanism that eliminates intracellular pathogens. Autophagy is induced downstream of signaling by "danger" receptors including Toll like receptors (TLR; Xu et al., 2007; Delgado et al., 2008), retinoic acid inducible gene I-like receptors (RLR; Yano et al., 2008; Cooney et al., 2010; Travassos et al., 2010), and alarmins (Tang et al., 2010). "Xenophagy" describes the process by which intracellular microbes

www.frontiersin.org

are selectively degraded by autophagy (Levine, 2005). Xenophagy eliminates bacteria that access the cytosol including Streptococcus pyogenes (Nakagawa et al., 2004) and Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Gutierrez et al., 2004). Vacuolar bacteria are also targeted. Following RAW cell infection with M. tuberculosis var. bovis bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG), autophagy facilitates the fusion of mycobacteria containing vacuoles with late endosomes/lysosomes to promote mycobacteria degradation (Singh et al., 2006). Salmonella-containing vacuoles are targeted by LC3 (Birmingham et al., 2006) and can be engulfed by autophagosomes (Kageyama et al., 2011). Interestingly, recruitment of autophagy machinery to damaged bacterial vacuoles involves the exposure of host sugar residues that attract receptor galectin 8 (Thurston et al., 2012). Xenophagy also facilitates removal of viral pathogens. One example is the degradation of the Sindbis virus capsid by the autophagy pathway (Orvedahl et al., 2010). Autophagy can also impair viral replication by trafficking cytosolic viral replication products to the endolysosomal compartment where they are detected by TLR and a type I interferon (IFN) response is triggered. This is the case for vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) infection of plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDC; Lee et al., 2007). Given its role in anti-viral defense, many viruses encode proteins to disable autophagy. Gammaherpes virus 68 (Ku et al., 2008), influenza A virus (Gannage et al., 2009), herpes simplex virus-1 (HSV-1; Orvedahl et al., 2007), human cytomegalovirus (Chaumorcel et al., 2012), and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV; Kyei et al., 2009) are examples of viruses that encode proteins to block autophagy initiation by interfering with beclin 1 activity. Other interesting examples of viral interference with the autophagy pathway include Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus encoded Faddlike interleukin-1 beta-converting enzyme (FLICE)-like inhibitor protein that blocks interaction between LC3 and Atg4 (Lee et al., 2009) and HIV nef that prevents autophagosomal maturation (Kyei et al., 2009). Like viruses, bacteria also subvert the autophagy pathway. L. monocytogenes, via the expression of ActA, recruits host proteins to its surface to disguise itself from autophagic



recognition (Yoshikawa et al., 2009). Similarly, *Shigella* hides from the autophagy machinery by expressing IcsB, that inhibits Atg5 binding to the *Shigella* surface (Ogawa et al., 2005). In summary, autophagy is a major mode of innate immune defense against intracellular pathogens.

Autophagy participates in the control of pro-inflammatory cytokine cascades. Many examples illustrate a shutdown in autophagy results in excessive inflammatory cytokine production. This is particularly well described for interleukin (IL)-1β and IL-18, where the absence of autophagy exacerbates their secretion by murine macrophages when stimulated with proinflammatory compounds. Specifically, this has been described for beclin1^{+/-} (Nakahira et al., 2011), LC3b^{-/-} (Nakahira et al., 2011), Atg16L1^{-/-} (Saitoh et al., 2008), and Atg7^{-/-} (Saitoh et al., 2008) macrophages or following expression of inactive Atg4B or due to treatment with the chemical autophagy inhibitor 3-methyladenine (3-MA; Saitoh et al., 2008; Harris et al., 2011). Enhanced secretion of IL-1ß also occurs when human peripheral blood mononuclear cells are stimulated in the presence of an impaired autophagy pathway due to treatment with 3-MA (Crisan et al., 2011). Conversely, stimulation of murine DC with rapamycin suppresses IL-1ß production in response to inflammatory stimuli (Harris et al., 2011).



FIGURE 2 | Autophagy modulation of adaptive immunity. Autophagy is a significant trafficking pathway for the delivery of cytosolic antigen to the MHCII loading compartment in antigen presenting cells. In addition, proteins in the autophagy machinery contribute to phagocytosis of extracellular antigen. In lymphocytes, the role of autophagy in eliminating damaged organelles promotes cell survival.

Rapamycin administration in vivo, inhibits the detected increase in IL-18 but not IL-12, in the serum 4 h following lipopolysaccharide (LPS) treatment (Harris et al., 2011). Not all stimuli provoke excessive IL-1B secretion in the absence of autophagy. Stimuli that do include LPS, or treatment of LPS-primed macrophages with adenosine 5'-triphosphate (ATP) or monosodium urate (MSU). Salmonella typhimurium or muramyl dipeptide, a nucleotidebinding oligomerization domain-containing protein 2 (NOD2) ligand, do not provoke such a response (Saitoh et al., 2008). Ligands that engage TLR4 and to some extent those recognized by TLR3, TLR7, and TLR9, but not TLR2 or TLR5, elicit enhanced IL-1 β in autophagy-deficient macrophages (Saitoh et al., 2008). In murine macrophages, excessive cytokine production following autophagy shutdown requires TIR-domain containing adapter inducing IFNB (TRIF), an adapter molecule for TLR signaling (Saitoh et al., 2008), while in human cells the response is dependent on p38 mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) phosphorylation (Crisan et al., 2011). Excessive IL-1 β secretion in the absence of autophagy is not associated with alterations in NFkB activation (Saitoh et al., 2008). Importantly, exaggerated inflammatory cytokine production in the absence of autophagy translates to the development of severe disease in vivo. Atg16L1-deficient mice display enhanced inflammatory infiltrates in the distal colon, elevated IL-1β, and IL-18 serum levels and reduced survival in a dextran

sulfate sodium induced model of experimental colitis (Saitoh et al., 2008). LC3b-deficient mice exhibit enhanced susceptibility to LPS-induced lethality (Nakahira et al., 2011), while both *LC3b*-deficient and *beclin1*^{+/-} mice have increased IL-1 β and IL-18 serum levels in response to cecal ligation and puncture-induced sepsis (Nakahira et al., 2011). In addition to IL-1\beta/IL-18, the type I IFN pathway is also susceptible to modulation by autophagy. Again the absence of a functional autophagy pathway promotes amplified secretion of type I IFN in response to a given stimulus. VSV infection of Atg5-deficient murine embryonic fibroblasts (MEF) elicits increased production of IFNa, IFNb, IL-6, and IP-10 and as such dramatically attenuates viral replication rendering cells resistant to infection (Jounai et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2010). Another example is Atg9a-deficient MEF that exhibit enhanced IFN β production in response to stimulation with inflammatory double stranded DNA (Saitoh et al., 2009). Therefore, autophagy has the potential to exert a critical influence on the regulation of pro-inflammatory cytokine production and downstream effector mechanisms of innate immunity. The ability of autophagy to limit inflammatory cytokine production renders it a target pathway for pathogens to activate as a strategy to facilitate replication. Hepatitis C virus (HCV) is an example of a pathogen that is proposed to do this. If HCV infection occurs in the absence of a functional autophagy pathway, HCV viral replication is severely attenuated due to the corresponding activation of the type I IFN pathway. Therefore, HCV infection elicits active autophagy in the infected cell, limiting type I IFN production and enabling successful viral replication (Ke and Chen, 2011). Triggering autophagy is therefore a putative mode of immune escape.

How does autophagy act to regulate inflammatory cytokine activity? Secretion of IL-1\beta/IL-18 is a tightly regulated process. Pro-inflammatory stimuli induce the transcription of inactive precursors pro-IL-1ß or pro-IL-18. Cleavage of the inactive proteins into their active secreted forms requires the assembly of an inflammasome, a large protein complex that, under inflammatory conditions, processes pro-caspase-1 to caspase-1. Active caspase-1 then cleaves pro-IL-1ß and pro-IL-18 liberating the active cytokines for secretion by the cell. In mouse cells, the levels of precursor IL-1ß are not altered following LPS stimulation in the absence of autophagy (Saitoh et al., 2008), rather there is an increase in the cleaved form of caspase-1 (Saitoh et al., 2008; Nakahira et al., 2011). In contrast, in human cells, transcription of IL-1 β is elevated (Crisan et al., 2011). Autophagy exerts its influence on IL-18 and IL-18 secretion by several mechanisms. A major role for autophagy in inflammatory cytokine secretion is considered to be via its contribution to maintaining a healthy intracellular environment. Namely, autophagy has a pivotal role in the clearance and elimination of damaged and dysfunctional organelles. Studies have demonstrated autophagic degradation of depolarized mitochondria (Sandoval et al., 2008), expanded endoplasmic reticulum (Bernales et al., 2006), mature ribosomes (Kraft et al., 2008; Kundu et al., 2008), and excess peroxisomes (Dunn et al., 2005). The role of autophagy in the maintenance of mitochondrial integrity is a process known as "mitophagy." In the absence of functional mitophagy, cells accumulate damaged mitochondria that produce high levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS), a side product of cellular respiration (Zhou et al., 2011). The accumulation of damaged mitochondria is further exacerbated following stimulation with inflammatory compounds as observed for LC3b or beclin 1-deficient macrophages treated with LPS plus ATP (Nakahira et al., 2011). Without the autophagy pathway to remove these dysfunctional organelles, ROS levels increase (Saitoh et al., 2008), a known trigger for the nucleotide binding domain, leucine rich-containing family, pyrin domain containing 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome (Zhou et al., 2011). Damaged mitochondria also display increased membrane permeability with mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) then being able to translocate to the cytosol. mtDNA is detected in higher abundance in the cytosol of LC3b and beclin 1-deficient macrophages, most notably following stimulation with LPS plus ATP (Nakahira et al., 2011). As such, autophagy, by acting to maintain turnover of damaged organelles and preserving mitochondrial integrity, indirectly restricts excessive inflammatory cytokine production by removing endogenous triggers of the inflammasome.

The second mechanism by which autophagy controls inflammatory cytokine activity is through its direct interaction with proteins involved in inflammatory cascades. In this case, proteins are targeted by autophagosomes or the autophagy machinery. Interestingly, inflammasomes are engulfed and degraded by autophagy. Following inflammasome induction, components of the absent in melanoma 2 (AIM2) inflammasome associate with p62 and beclin1 and exhibit K63-linked ubiquitination (Shi et al., 2012). Other examples of the direct targeting of inflammatory proteins by autophagy include the co-localization of the autophagosomal protein LC3 and IL-1β in punctate autophagosomal structures following stimulation of bone marrow-derived macrophages with a variety of TLR ligands including LPS, Pam3Cys, poly (I:C), R837, or CpG (Harris et al., 2011). The authors suggest that autophagy limits IL-1ß secretion by facilitating its degradation in the autolysosome. A direct role for autophagy in modulating components of the type I IFN response is illustrated by several examples where the autophagy machinery targets proteins involved in this signaling cascade. Atg5-Atg12 directly interacts with the cytosolic viral RNA sensor RIG-I and the signaling molecule IFNB promoter stimulator-1 (IPS-1). Interaction with Atg5-Atg12 blocks caspase recruitment domain (CARD)-mediated signaling and the downstream production of type I IFN (Jounai et al., 2007). Another interesting example is stimulator of interferon genes (STING), a molecule critical for type I IFN signaling. Atg9a is critical for the localization of STING to cytoplasmic punctae following treatment of cells with dsDNA (Saitoh et al., 2009). Mislocalization of STING to the endoplasmic reticulum results in exacerbated IFN responses (Saitoh et al., 2009), although the specific details of why this is the case remain to be elucidated.

Not all inflammatory cytokine production is enhanced in the absence of functional autophagy. In contrast to IL-1 β , IL-18 and type I IFN, mouse tumor necrosis factor (TNF) α and IL-16 (Harris et al., 2011), and human TNF α (Crisan et al., 2011) production is inhibited when autophagy is suppressed. This is the case for macrophages following stimulation with LPS or Pam3Cys in the presence of 3-MA. Another example is the reduced production of IL-8 by intestinal epithelial cells with silenced *Atg7* (Li et al., 2011b). The mechanism of why these cytokine pathways require

autophagy may involve autophagic inhibition of p38 phosphorylation (Crisan et al., 2011). Therefore the role of autophagy in modulating cytokine output is complex with its contribution varying for individual cytokines.

Another mechanism by which autophagy modulates inflammation is by restricting the expression of extracellular inflammatory signals. During programmed cell death, autophagy enables the generation of a cellular corpse that is efficiently phagocytized and less likely to elicit detrimental inflammatory outcomes. This is elegantly illustrated in a model of embryonic cavitation, where apoptotic embryonic stem cells lacking Atg5 or beclin1 fail to exhibit critical engulfment signals (Qu et al., 2007). These include failing to expose phosphatidylserine (PS) at the outer membrane and lack of secretion of the chemoattractant lysophosphatidylcholine. As a consequence, autophagy-deficient cellular corpses are not engulfed for clearance by immune cells. The failure to eliminate autophagy-deficient apoptotic corpses is implicated in the neonatal death of Atg5-deficient mice. Excess apoptotic corpses are detected in the lungs and retina, together with the presence of an abnormal inflammatory infiltrate in these tissues. Interestingly, Atg5^{-/-} (Uhl et al., 2009), beclin1^{+/-} (Li et al., 2008), or $Atg12^{-/-}$ (Li et al., 2008) cells loaded with antigen are less efficient at facilitating DC antigen presentation to CD8⁺ T cells (cross-presentation). This is postulated to be due to their poor engulfment. The requirement for autophagy in the display of engulfment signals is thought to be due to the pathway's role in maintaining cellular bioenergetics. Restoration of ATP levels in autophagy-deficient cells by treatment with methylpyruvate restores corpse clearance (Qu et al., 2007). Induction of autophagy in dying cells also stimulates the release of immune modulator high mobility group B1 (HMGB1; Thorburn et al., 2009) that promotes immunogenicity and removal of apoptotic corpses (Scaffidi et al., 2002).

AUTOPHAGY AND ADAPTIVE IMMUNITY

Proteolysis provides the peptide epitopes displayed by major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules to elicit T cell responses. All nucleated cells utilize the proteasome, a multiproteolytic complex located in the cytosol that generates ligands for MHCI presentation. In MHCII expressing cells, lysosomal proteases generate ligands for these molecules. Autophagy participates in generating the pool of peptides displayed by MHCII molecules due to its role in trafficking cytosolic proteins to the lysosomes, the same compartment where biosynthesis and loading of MHCII molecules occurs. Indeed, the autophagosomal protein LC3 co-localizes with MHCII loading compartments in DC (Schmid et al., 2007). Fusion of influenza matrix protein M1 (Schmid et al., 2007) or the hemagglutinin (HA) site 1 epitope (Comber et al., 2011) to LC3 enhances their presentation by MHCII to CD4⁺ T cells as a result of the intersection of autophagosomes and MHCII loading compartments. Autophagy contribution to MHCII antigen presentation is further supported by detailed analysis of the steady state MHCII repertoire where up to a third of peptides displayed by MHCII are shown to be derived from cytoplasmic or nuclear sources (Chicz et al., 1993; Dongre et al., 2001) and would potentially rely on autophagy trafficking to access the MHCII loading compartment. Induction of autophagy increases

from membrane proteins (Dengjel et al., 2005). Peptides derived from LC3b and gamma-aminobutyric acid receptor-associated protein (GABARAP), components of the autophagy machinery are eluted from MHCII molecules (Dengiel et al., 2005). There is now a growing list of antigens that are documented as being trafficked by autophagy for MHCII display. These include self proteins together with virus and bacterial-derived antigens (Munz, 2009). The role of autophagy in presenting self antigen by MHCII, means that autophagy contributes to CD4⁺ T cell selection in the thymus. Studies in which $Atg5^{-/-}$ thymi were grafted into normal recipients elegantly illustrate that autophagy trafficking in thymic epithelial cells participates in the display of self antigen by MHCII (Nedjic et al., 2008). Transplant of Atg5-deficient thymi into MHCII-restricted TCR transgenic hosts results in reduced positive selection of HA and SEP-specific CD4⁺ TCR T cells. Selection of AND, DO11.1, or DEP-specific CD4⁺ TCR transgenic T cells, on the other hand, proceeds efficiently in the absence of autophagy. Autophagy is therefore considered to facilitate the thymic MHCII presentation of some self proteins but not others. In doing so, autophagy contributes to the complex composition of the repertoire of MHCII epitopes that are displayed by the thymic epithelium. The role for autophagy in thymic selection is further evidenced by an increase in $IE\alpha_{52-68}$ -IA^b complexes at the surface of cortical thymic epithelial cells that lack Atg5 (Nedjic et al., 2008). In this case, it is postulated that the removal of autophagy dependent endogenous epitopes due to the absence of Atg5, reduces competition and increases access of the IEa peptide to MHCII. In addition to autophagy shaping the CD4⁺ T cell repertoire that emerges from the thymus, it also participates in effective CD4⁺ T cell immunity during infection. Autophagy dependent-MHCII presentation of cytosolic model antigens has been described for complement C5 (Brazil et al., 1997), tumor antigen mucin 1 (Dorfel et al., 2005) and neomycin phosphotransferase (Nimmerjahn et al., 2003) where presentation is inhibited following treatment with 3-MA. Nuclear antigen 1 of Epstein-Barr virus (EBNA-1) is a prominent example of a viral-derived antigen that requires autophagy for presentation by MHCII (Paludan et al., 2005). Treatment with 3-MA or silencing of Atg12 inhibits EBNA-1 specific CD4⁺ T cells from recognizing a lymphoblastoid cell line (Paludan et al., 2005). Antigen presenting cell types that utilize autophagy to deliver antigen for MHCII presentation include B cells (Brazil et al., 1997), macrophages (Brazil et al., 1997), and DC (Schmid et al., 2007; Jagannath et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2010). Autophagy-mediated delivery of antigen for MHCII presentation to CD4⁺ T cells means that triggering autophagy represents a promising immunotherapeutic strategy to promote robust CD4⁺ T cell responses. Indeed, immunization with rapamycin-treated DC, enhances MHCII presentation and CD4⁺ T cell immunity to the anti-tuberculosis BCG vaccine antigen (Jagannath et al., 2009). This is an exciting outcome, with major implications for improving vaccine efficacy in multiple settings.

the relative display of these peptides compared to those derived

Whether autophagy exhibits selectivity in the substrates targeted is currently not well understood. This is important if the autophagy pathway is to be manipulated for delivery of antigen to MHCII. While basal autophagy initiated under starvation conditions is considered to be a non-selective process, autophagy initiated under steady state conditions in immune cells is considered to be selective. A general observation is that long lived proteins are considered to be turned over by lysosomal proteolysis and hence are autophagy substrates, while the proteasome degrades short lived polypeptides (Henell et al., 1987). Aggregates of long lived poly-ubiquitinated proteins are known substrates of autophagy (Mizushima and Klionsky, 2007). Of interest, protein aggregates form in activated DC (Lelouard et al., 2002) and in macrophages following TLR4 stimulation (Fujita et al., 2011). Several "autophagy receptors" have been described that act to recruit ubiquitinated proteins to autophagosomes via an LC3-interacting motif (LIR). Known autophagy receptors identified to date include p62/sequestosome1 (Komatsu et al., 2007), neighbour of Brca1 (NBR1) (Kirkin et al., 2009), nuclear dot protein 52kDa (NDP52) (Thurston et al., 2009), and optineurin (Wild et al., 2011) with all of these proteins possessing binding domains for both ubiquitin (UBD) and LC3 (LIR). The interplay of these receptors in targeting autophagy substrates is beginning to begin explored. For example, p62, optineurin, and NDP52 all target ubiquitinated Salmonella enterica for destruction in lysosomes (Wild et al., 2011). While optineurin and NDP52 colocalize, p62 binds to a separate subdomain of the ubiquitinated bacteria. This implies selective recognition of ubiquitin chains by specific autophagy receptors. How upstream events regulate the activity of autophagy receptors is mostly unknown. Interestingly, optineurin is subject to phosphorylation by tank binding kinase (TBK)1, providing the molecular trigger to promote autophagic clearance of cytosolic bacteria (Wild et al., 2011). Identification of a growing number of autophagy receptors is exciting with the detail of the specific E3 ubiquitin ligases involved, the selective recognition of ubiquitin chains and their specific regulation by phosphorylation all remaining to be further studied.

Somewhat unexpectedly, in addition to assisting the display of cytosolic antigen by MHCII molecules, autophagy also contributes to the presentation of extracellular antigen and phagocytosis. Individual components of the autophagy machinery are recruited to phagosomes in the presence of TLR signaling. During a process termed "LC3-associated phagocytosis (LAP)" (Sanjuan and Green, 2008), LC3 is recruited to latex-bead phagosomes in macrophages, when beads are coupled with the TLR agonists LPS or Pam3Cys or in response to phagosomes containing killed yeast particles (zymosan; Sanjuan et al., 2007). LAP also contributes to the phagocytosis of apoptotic, necrotic, or receptor interacting kinase-3 (RIPK3)-necrotic cells with this response being triggered by the T cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain containing molecule (TIM)4 receptor (Martinez et al., 2011). Entosis, the engulfment of live cells, also involves localization of LC3 to the entotic vacuole (Florey et al., 2011). The recruitment of LC3 to phagosomes requires other components of the autophagy machinery given that it does not take place in the absence of Atg5 (Sanjuan et al., 2007; Martinez et al., 2011), Atg7 (Sanjuan et al., 2007; Martinez et al., 2011), or beclin-1 (Martinez et al., 2011). The role of autophagy in extracellular phagocytosis and MHCII antigen presentation is evident given that Atg5-deficient DC show impaired MHCII presentation of soluble and cell-associated antigen and elicit impaired CD4⁺ T cell responses in response to antigens derived from herpes simplex virus-2 (HSV-2; Lee et al., 2010).

Infection of *Atg5*-deficient mice with HSV-2 results in a failure of *Atg5*-deficient mice to mount protective CD4⁺ T cell immunity and enhanced disease progression occurs (Lee et al., 2010). Autophagy also contributes to exogenous processing and MHCII presentation of HIV-1-derived protein (Blanchet et al., 2010). The autophagy machinery is considered to contribute to phagocytosis by facilitating phagosome to lysosome fusion and the delivery of lysosomal proteases to phagosomes, required for effective antigen degradation. Extracts of phagosomes isolated from *Atg5*-deficient DC displayed impaired cathepsin (Cat) S, CatB/L activity when assayed with fluorogenic substrates (Lee et al., 2010).

A contribution of autophagy to MHCI antigen presentation is less obvious, given that the major proteolytic source of peptide generation for MHCI is the proteasome and not lysosomal proteases. Indeed, there are several reports discarding a role for autophagy in MHCI presentation of antigen derived from extracellular sources (cross-presentation; Blanchet et al., 2010; Lee et al., 2010). Its role in MHCI presentation of cytosolic antigen is less well studied. One report demonstrates the requirement for autophagy in macrophage MHCI presentation of glycoprotein B (gB), a HSV-1-derived protein (English et al., 2009). In this case, treatment with 3-MA or silencing of Atg5 reduced presentation of gB by macrophages late after infection. HSV-1 gB is proposed to be trafficked from the nuclear envelope to the autophagosome from where its escapes for degradation by the proteasome and MHCI display. Whether this applies only to HSV-1 infection, macrophages, or is relevant to other antigens or cell types, remains to be elucidated. Another example is the cross-presentation of antigen loaded α Al₂O₃ nanoparticles (Li et al., 2011a). MHCI presentation of aAl2O3 nanoparticles loaded with OVA is inhibited following 3-MA treatment or silencing of Atg12 or beclin1. The mechanism is unknown, however internalized nanoparticles are shown to access autophagosomes that are considered to be immunogenic (Li et al., 2008). Autophagy may also impact MHCI presentation by degrading MHCI molecules themselves (Li et al., 2010).

An important contribution of autophagy to adaptive immunity is its cell intrinsic role in lymphocyte survival. An active autophagy pathway operates in T cells, with autophagosomes detected, particularly following activation via the T cell receptor (TCR) (Espert et al., 2006a; Li et al., 2006; Pua et al., 2007). Analysis of T cell compartments in Atg5-deficient mice illustrates a role for autophagy in mature T cell survival (Pua et al., 2007). While thymus cellularity is reduced in the absence of Atg5, thymocyte development is unperturbed. In the periphery, reduced numbers of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells are present in the spleen and lymph node. The CD8⁺ T cell compartment is more affected, with a large proportion of Atg5-deficient CD8⁺ T cells staining with Annexin V, indicative of cells undergoing early apoptosis. Both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells that survive in the absence of Atg5 display proliferative defects following TCR stimulation, with fewer cells undergoing division, and fewer divisions completed in response to anti-CD3 compared with wildtype T cells. The proliferative defect is not rescued by anti-CD28 or IL-2 and the cells display normal levels of TCR and upregulate T cell activation markers CD69 and CD25. A similar phenotype is observed in Atg7^{fl/fl}Lck-Cre mice where the specific deletion of Atg7 in the T cell lineage results in mostly normal thymocyte development, however CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell numbers are greatly reduced in the peripheral lymphoid compartment. Both subsets of peripheral T cells display evidence of apoptosis; with a large proportion staining with annexin V and exhibiting caspase 9 activity. Impaired T cell survival in the absence of autophagy is likely to arise from its pivotal role in maintaining intracellular organelle integrity. Atg7-deficient T cells possess increased numbers of mitochondria and increased ROS levels (Pua et al., 2009). For the B cell compartment, the absence of Atg5 impairs B cell development in the bone marrow, with reduced survival of pre-B cells and consequently reduced numbers of mature B-1a cells in the periphery (Miller et al., 2008). In some settings autophagy facilitates lymphocyte death, rather than survival. Examples include autophagy-mediated T cell death following growth factor withdrawal (Li et al., 2006) and following binding of the HIV-1 envelope protein to C-X-C chemokine receptor 4 (Espert et al., 2006b). Therefore, autophagy serves as a critical pathway in lymphocytes that facilitates the intricate balance between survival and death.

AUTOPHAGY AND DISEASE

The critical impact of autophagy on effector functions of innate and adaptive immunity outlined herein, is highlighted by the association of autophagy gene mutations with increased incidence of inflammatory disease, susceptibility to microbial infection and autoimmune disease. A prominent example is Atg16L1, a susceptibility gene for Crohn's disease (Massey and Parkes, 2007), where the small intestine exhibits chronic inflammation

REFERENCES

- Bernales, S., McDonald, K. L., and Walter, P. (2006). Autophagy counterbalances endoplasmic reticulum expansion during the unfolded protein response. *PLoS Biol.* 4, e423. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0040423
- Birmingham, C. L., Smith, A. C., Bakowski, M. A., Yoshimori, T., and Brumell, J. H. (2006). Autophagy controls Salmonella infection in response to damage to the Salmonella-containing vacuole. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 11374–11383.
- Blanchet, F. P., Moris, A., Nikolic, D. S., Lehmann, M., Cardinaud, S., Stalder, R., Garcia, E., Dinkins, C., Leuba, F., Wu, L., Schwartz, O., Deretic, V., and Piguet, V. (2010). Human immunodeficiency virus-1 inhibition of immunoamphisomes in dendritic cells impairs early innate and adaptive immune responses. *Immunity* 32, 654–669.
- Brazil, M. I., Weiss, S., and Stockinger, B. (1997). Excessive degradation of intracellular protein in macrophages prevents presentation in the context of major histocompatibility complex class II molecules. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 27, 1506–1514.
- Cadwell, K., Liu, J. Y., Brown, S. L., Miyoshi, H., Loh, J., Lennerz, J. K., Kishi, C., Kc, W., Carrero, J. A., Hunt, S., Stone, C. D., Brunt, E. M., Xavier, R. J., Sleckman, B. P., Li, E., Mizushima, N., Stappenbeck, T. S.,

Virgin, H. W. IV. (2008). A key role for autophagy and the autophagy gene Atg16l1 in mouse and human intestinal Paneth cells. *Nature* 456, 259–263.

- Chaumorcel, M., Lussignol, M., Mouna, L., Cavignac, Y., Fahie, K., Cotte-Laffitte, J., Geballe, A., Brune, W., Beau, I., Codogno, P., and Esclatine, A. (2012). The human cytomegalovirus protein TRS1 inhibits autophagy via its interaction with beclin 1. *J. Virol.* 86, 2571–2584.
- Chicz, R. M., Urban, R. G., Gorga, J. C., Vignali, D. A., Lane, W. S., and Strominger, J. L. (1993). Specificity and promiscuity among naturally processed peptides bound to HLA-DR alleles. *J. Exp. Med.* 178, 27–47.
- Comber, J. D., Robinson, T. M., Siciliano, N. A., Snook, A. E., and Eisenlohr, L. C. (2011). Functional macroautophagy induction by influenza A virus without a contribution to major histocompatibility complex class II-restricted presentation. *J. Virol.* 85, 6453–6463.
- Cooney, R., Baker, J., Brain, O., Danis, B., Pichulik, T., Allan, P., Ferguson, D. J., Campbell, B. J., Jewell, D., and Simmons, A. (2010). NOD2 stimulation induces autophagy in dendritic cells influencing bacterial handling and antigen presentation. *Nat. Med.* 16, 90–97.

triggered by a breakdown in the clearance of commensal bacteria. Atg16L1-deficient Paneth cells possess elevated pro-inflammatory cytokine transcripts, while Atg16L1-deficient mice develop exacerbated intestinal inflammation following environmental triggers, similar to that observed in human patients (Cadwell et al., 2008). Other examples include cystic fibrosis, a chronic inflammatory disease of the pulmonary airways, where autophagy-mediated maintenance of lung epithelial cell homeostasis is important to limit lung inflammation and disease (Luciani et al., 2010). Autophagy is also postulated to contribute to inflammationassociated responses underlying metabolic diseases, such as obesity (Yang et al., 2010). In infectious disease settings, mouse models illustrate a contribution of autophagy to a growing number of microbial pathogens. IRGM, a human immunity-related GTPase that plays a critical role in regulating autophagy-mediated clearance of mycobacteria, is a genetic risk factor for tuberculosis (Intemann et al., 2009). Finally, a link between single nucleotide polymorphisms in the Atg5 gene and susceptibility to systemic lupus erythematosus, a debilitating autoimmune disease has been reported (Gateva et al., 2009). The emergence of often surprising roles for autophagy in diseases of the immune system means that a wide range of immune-related diseases may now be amenable to targeting by autophagy modulating drugs. As such studies of autophagy in innate and adaptive pathways provide excellent insights into this complex pathway, uncovering new roles for autophagy in disease.

- Crisan, T. O., Plantinga, T. S., van de Veerdonk, F. L., Farcas, M. F., Stoffels, M., Kullberg, B. J., van der Meer, J. W., Joosten, L. A., and Netea, M. G. (2011). Inflammasome-independent modulation of cytokine response by autophagy in human cells. *PLoS ONE* 6, e18666. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0018666
- Delgado, M. A., Elmaoued, R. A., Davis, A. S., Kyei, G., and Deretic, V. (2008). Toll-like receptors control autophagy. *EMBO J.* 27, 1110–1121.
- Dengjel, J., Schoor, O., Fischer, R., Reich, M., Kraus, M., Muller, M., Kreymborg, K., Altenberend, F., Brandenburg, J., Kalbacher, H., Brock, R., Driessen, C., Rammensee, H. G., and Stevanovic, S. (2005). Autophagy promotes MHC class II presentation of peptides from intracellular source proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 7922–7927.
- Dongre, A. R., Kovats, S., deRoos, P., McCormack, A. L., Nakagawa, T., Paharkova-Vatchkova, V., Eng, J., Caldwell, H., Yates, J. R. III, and Rudensky, A. Y. (2001). In vivo MHC class II presentation of cytosolic proteins revealed by rapid automated tandem mass spectrometry and functional analyses. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 31, 1485–1494.
- Dorfel, D., Appel, S., Grunebach, F., Weck, M. M., Muller, M. R., Heine,

A., and Brossart, P. (2005). Processing and presentation of HLA class I and II epitopes by dendritic cells after transfection with in vitrotranscribed MUC1 RNA. *Blood* 105, 3199–3205.

- Dunn, W. A. Jr., Cregg, J. M., Kiel, J. A., van der Klei, I. J., Oku, M., Sakai, Y., Sibirny, A. A., Stasyk, O. V., and Veenhuis, M. (2005). Pexophagy: the selective autophagy of peroxisomes. *Autophagy* 1, 75–83.
- English, L., Chemali, M., Duron, J., Rondeau, C., Laplante, A., Gingras, D., Alexander, D., Leib, D., Norbury, C., Lippe, R., and Desjardins, M. (2009). Autophagy enhances the presentation of endogenous viral antigens on MHC class I molecules during HSV-1 infection. *Nat. Immunol.* 10, 480–487.
- Espert, L., Denizot, M., Grimaldi, M., Robert-Hebmann, V., Gay, B., Varbanov, M., Codogno, P., and Biard-Piechaczyk, M. (2006a). Autophagy is involved in T cell death after binding of HIV-1 envelope proteins to CXCR4. *J. Clin. Invest.* 116, 2161–2172.
- Espert, L., Denizot, M., Grimaldi, M., Robert-Hebmann, V., Gay, B., Varbanov, M., Codogno, P., and Biard-Piechaczyk, M. (2006b). Autophagy is involved in T cell death after binding of HIV-1 envelope proteins to CXCR4. J. Clin. Invest. 116, 2161–2172.

- Florey, O., Kim, S. E., Sandoval, C. P., Haynes, C. M., and Overholtzer, M. (2011). Autophagy machinery mediates macroendocytic processing and entotic cell death by targeting single membranes. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 13, 1335–1343.
- Fujita, K., Maeda, D., Xiao, Q., and Srinivasula, S. M. (2011). Nrf2-mediated induction of p62 controls Toll-like receptor-4-driven aggresome-like induced structure formation and autophagic degradation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 1427–1432.
- Gannage, M., Dormann, D., Albrecht, R., Dengjel, J., Torossi, T., Ramer, P. C., Lee, M., Strowig, T., Arrey, F., Conenello, G., Pypaert, M., Andersen, J., García-Sastre, A., and Münz, C. (2009). Matrix protein 2 of influenza A virus blocks autophagosome fusion with lysosomes. *Cell Host Microbe* 6, 367–380.
- Gateva, V., Sandling, J. K., Hom, G., Taylor, K. E., Chung, S. A., Sun, X., Ortmann, W., Kosoy, R., Ferreira, R. C., Nordmark, G., Gunnarsson, I., Svenungsson, E., Padyukov, L., Sturfelt, G., Jönsen, A., Bengtsson, A. A., Rantapää-Dahlqvist, S., Baechler, E. C., Brown, E. E., Alarcón, G. S., Edberg, J. C., Ramsey-Goldman, R., McGwin, G. Jr., Reveille, J. D., Vilá, L. M., Kimberly, R. P., Manzi, S., Petri, M. A., Lee, A., Gregersen, P. K., Seldin, M. F., Rönnblom, L., Criswell, L. A., Syvänen, A. C., Behrens, T. W., and Graham, R. R.(2009). A largescale replication study identifies TNIP1, PRDM1, JAZF1, UHRF1BP1 and IL10 as risk loci for systemic lupus ervthematosus. Nat. Genet. 41, 1228-1233.
- Gutierrez, M. G., Master, S. S., Singh, S. B., Taylor, G. A., Colombo, M. I., and Deretic, V. (2004). Autophagy is a defense mechanism inhibiting BCG and Mycobacterium tuberculosis survival in infected macrophages. Cell 119, 753–766.
- Harris, J., Hartman, M., Roche, C., Zeng, S. G., O'Shea, A., Sharp, F. A., Lambe, E. M., Creagh, E. M., Golenbock, D. T., Tschopp, J., Kornfeld, H., Fitzgerald, K. A., and Lavelle, E. C. (2011). Autophagy controls IL-1beta secretion by targeting pro-IL-1beta for degradation. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 9587–9597.
- Henell, F., Berkenstam, A., Ahlberg, J., and Glaumann, H. (1987). Degradation of short- and long-lived proteins in perfused liver and in isolated autophagic vacuoles – lysosomes. *Exp. Mol. Pathol.* 46, 1–14.

- Intemann, C. D., Thye, T., Niemann, S., Browne, E. N., Amanua Chinbuah, M., Enimil, A., Gyapong, J., Osei, I., Owusu-Dabo, E., Helm, S., Rüsch-Gerdes, S., Horstmann, R. D., and Meyer, C. G. (2009). Autophagy gene variant IRGM-261T contributes to protection from tuberculosis caused by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* but not by *M. africanum* strains. *PLoS Pathog.* 5, e1000577. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat. 1000577
- Jagannath, C., Lindsey, D. R., Dhandayuthapani, S., Xu, Y., Hunter, R. L. Jr., and Eissa, N. T. (2009). Autophagy enhances the efficacy of BCG vaccine by increasing peptide presentation in mouse dendritic cells. *Nat. Med.* 15, 267–276.
- Jounai, N., Takeshita, F., Kobiyama, K., Sawano, A., Miyawaki, A., Xin, K. Q., Ishii, K. J., Kawai, T., Akira, S., Suzuki, K., and Okuda, K. (2007). The Atg5 Atg12 conjugate associates with innate antiviral immune responses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 14050–14055.
- Jung, C. H., Ro, S. H., Cao, J., Otto, N. M., and Kim, D. H. (2010). mTOR regulation of autophagy. *FEBS Lett.* 584, 1287–1295.
- Kageyama, S., Omori, H., Saitoh, T., Sone, T., Guan, J. L., Akira, S., Imamoto, F., Noda, T., and Yoshimori, T. (2011). The LC3 recruitment mechanism is separate from Atg9L1-dependent membrane formation in the autophagic response against *Salmonella. Mol. Biol. Cell* 22, 2290–2300.
- Ke, P. Y., and Chen, S. S. (2011). Activation of the unfolded protein response and autophagy after hepatitis C virus infection suppresses innate antiviral immunity in vitro. J. Clin. Invest. 121, 37–56.
- Kirkin, V., Lamark, T., Sou, Y. S., Bjorkoy, G., Nunn, J. L., Bruun, J. A., Shvets, E., McEwan, D. G., Clausen, T. H., Wild, P., Bilusic, I., Theurillat, J. P., Øvervatn, A., Ishii, T., Elazar, Z., Komatsu, M., Dikic, I., and Johansen, T. (2009). A role for NBR1 in autophagosomal degradation of ubiquitinated substrates. *Mol. Cell* 33, 505–516.
- Komatsu, M., Waguri, S., Koike, M., Sou, Y. S., Ueno, T., Hara, T., Mizushima, N., Iwata, J., Ezaki, J., Murata, S., Hamazaki, J., Nishito, Y., Iemura, S., Natsume, T., Yanagawa, T., Uwayama, J., Warabi, E., Yoshida, H., Ishii, T., Kobayashi, A., Yamamoto, M., Yue,

Z., Uchiyama, Y., Kominami, E., and Tanaka, K. (2007). Homeostatic levels of p62 control cytoplasmic inclusion body formation in autophagy-deficient mice. *Cell* 131, 1149–1163.

- Kraft, C., Deplazes, A., Sohrmann, M., and Peter, M. (2008). Mature ribosomes are selectively degraded upon starvation by an autophagy pathway requiring the Ubp3p/Bre5p ubiquitin protease. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 10, 602–610.
- Ku, B., Woo, J. S., Liang, C., Lee, K. H., Hong, H. S., E, X., Kim, K. S., Jung, J. U., and Oh, B. H. (2008). Structural and biochemical bases for the inhibition of autophagy and apoptosis by viral BCL-2 of murine gammaherpesvirus 68. *PLoS Pathog.* 4, e25. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat. 0040025
- Kundu, M., Lindsten, T., Yang, C. Y., Wu, J., Zhao, F., Zhang, J., Selak, M. A., Ney, P. A., and Thompson, C. B. (2008). Ulk1 plays a critical role in the autophagic clearance of mitochondria and ribosomes during reticulocyte maturation. *Blood* 112, 1493–1502.
- Kyei, G. B., Dinkins, C., Davis, A. S., Roberts, E., Singh, S. B., Dong, C., Wu, L., Kominami, E., Ueno, T., Yamamoto, A., Federico, M., Panganiban, A., Vergne, I., and Deretic, V. (2009). Autophagy pathway intersects with HIV-1 biosynthesis and regulates viral yields in macrophages. *J. Cell Biol.* 186, 255–268.
- Lee, H. K., Lund, J. M., Ramanathan, B., Mizushima, N., and Iwasaki, A. (2007). Autophagy-dependent viral recognition by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Science* 315, 1398–1401.
- Lee, H. K., Mattei, L. M., Steinberg, B. E., Alberts, P., Lee, Y. H., Chervonsky, A., Mizushima, N., Grinstein, S., and Iwasaki, A. (2010). In vivo requirement for Atg5 in antigen presentation by dendritic cells. *Immunity* 32, 227–239.
- Lee, J. S., Li, Q., Lee, J. Y., Lee, S. H., Jeong, J. H., Lee, H. R., Chang, H., Zhou, F. C., Gao, S. J., Liang, C., and Jung, J. U. (2009). FLIPmediated autophagy regulation in cell death control. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 11, 1355–1362.
- Lelouard, H., Gatti, E., Cappello, F., Gresser, O., Camosseto, V., and Pierre, P. (2002). Transient aggregation of ubiquitinated proteins during dendritic cell maturation. *Nature* 417, 177–182.
- Levine, B. (2005). Eating oneself and uninvited guests: autophagy-related

pathways in cellular defense. *Cell* 120, 159–162.

- Li, B., Lei, Z., Lichty, B. D., Li, D., Zhang, G. M., Feng, Z. H., Wan, Y., and Huang, B. (2010). Autophagy facilitates major histocompatibility complex class I expression induced by IFN-gamma in B16 melanoma cells. *Cancer Immunol. Immunother.* 59, 313–321.
- Li, C., Capan, E., Zhao, Y., Zhao, J., Stolz, D., Watkins, S. C., Jin, S., and Lu, B. (2006). Autophagy is induced in CD4+ T cells and important for the growth factor-withdrawal cell death. *J. Immunol.* 177, 5163–5168.
- Li, H., Li, Y., Jiao, J., and Hu, H. M. (2011a). Alpha-alumina nanoparticles induce efficient autophagy-dependent crosspresentation and potent antitumour response. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 6, 645–650.
- Li, Y. Y., Ishihara, S., Aziz, M. M., Oka, A., Kusunoki, R., Tada, Y., Yuki, T., Amano, Y., Ansary, M. U., and Kinoshita, Y. (2011b). Autophagy is required for tolllike receptor-mediated interleukin-8 production in intestinal epithelial cells. *Int. J. Mol. Med.* 27, 337–344.
- Li, Y., Wang, L. X., Yang, G., Hao, F., Urba, W. J., and Hu, H. M. (2008). Efficient cross-presentation depends on autophagy in tumor cells. *Cancer Res.* 68, 6889–6895.
- Liang, C., Lee, J. S., Inn, K. S., Gack, M. U., Li, Q., Roberts, E. A., Vergne, I., Deretic, V., Feng, P., Akazawa, C., and Jung, J. U. (2008). Beclin1-binding UVRAG targets the class C Vps complex to coordinate autophagosome maturation and endocytic trafficking. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 10, 776–787.
- Luciani, A., Villella, V. R., Esposito, S., Brunetti-Pierri, N., Medina, D., Settembre, C., Gavina, M., Pulze, L., Giardino, I., Pettoello-Mantovani, M., D'Apolito, M., Guido, S., Masliah, E., Spencer, B., Quaratino, S., Raia, V., Ballabio, A., and Maiuri, L. (2010). Defective CFTR induces aggresome formation and lung inflammation in cystic fibrosis through ROS-mediated autophagy inhibition. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 12, 863–875.
- Martinez, J., Almendinger, J., Oberst, A., Ness, R., Dillon, C. P., Fitzgerald, P., Hengartner, M. O., and Green, D. R. (2011). Microtubule-associated protein 1 light chain 3 alpha (LC3)associated phagocytosis is required for the efficient clearance of dead cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 17396–17401.

- Massey, D. C., and Parkes, M. (2007). Genome-wide association scanning highlights two autophagy genes, ATG16L1 and IRGM, as being significantly associated with Crohn's disease. *Autophagy* 3, 649–651.
- Matsunaga, K., Saitoh, T., Tabata, K., Omori, H., Satoh, T., Kurotori, N., Maejima, I., Shirahama-Noda, K., Ichimura, T., Isobe, T., Akira, S., Noda, T., and Yoshimori, T. (2009). Two Beclin 1-binding proteins, Atg14L and Rubicon, reciprocally regulate autophagy at different stages. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 11, 385–396.
- Miller, B. C., Zhao, Z., Stephenson, L. M., Cadwell, K., Pua, H. H., Lee, H. K., Mizushima, N. N., Iwasaki, A., He, Y. W., Swat, W., and Virgin, H. W. IV. (2008). The autophagy gene ATG5 plays an essential role in B lymphocyte development. *Autophagy* 4, 309–314.
- Mizushima, N., and Klionsky, D. J. (2007). Protein turnover via autophagy: implications for metabolism. Annu. Rev. Nutr. 27, 19–40.
- Munz, C. (2009). Enhancing immunity through autophagy. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 27, 423–449.
- Nakagawa, I., Amano, A., Mizushima, N., Yamamoto, A., Yamaguchi, H., Kamimoto, T., Nara, A., Funao, J., Nakata, M., Tsuda, K., Hamada, S., and Yoshimori, T. (2004). Autophagy defends cells against invading group A Streptococcus. Science 306, 1037–1040.
- Nakahira, K., Haspel, J. A., Rathinam, V. A., Lee, S. J., Dolinay, T., Lam, H. C., Englert, J. A., Rabinovitch, M., Cernadas, M., Kim, H. P., Fitzgerald, K. A., Ryter, S. W., and Choi, A. M. (2011). Autophagy proteins regulate innate immune responses by inhibiting the release of mitochondrial DNA mediated by the NALP3 inflammasome. *Nat. Immunol.* 12, 222–230.
- Nakatogawa, H., Ichimura, Y., and Ohsumi, Y. (2007). Atg8, a ubiquitin-like protein required for autophagosome formation, mediates membrane tethering and hemifusion. *Cell* 130, 165–178.
- Nedjic, J., Aichinger, M., Emmerich, J., Mizushima, N., and Klein, L. (2008). Autophagy in thymic epithelium shapes the T-cell repertoire and is essential for tolerance. *Nature* 455, 396–400.
- Nimmerjahn, F., Milosevic, S., Behrends, U., Jaffee, E. M., Pardoll, D. M., Bornkamm, G. W., and

Mautner, J. (2003). Major histocompatibility complex class II-restricted presentation of a cytosolic antigen by autophagy. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 33, 1250–1259.

- Noda, N. N., Kumeta, H., Nakatogawa, H., Satoo, K., Adachi, W., Ishii, J., Fujioka, Y., Ohsumi, Y., and Inagaki, F. (2008). Structural basis of target recognition by Atg8/LC3 during selective autophagy. *Genes Cells* 13, 1211–1218.
- Ogawa, M., Yoshimori, T., Suzuki, T., Sagara, H., Mizushima, N., and Sasakawa, C. (2005). Escape of intracellular *Shigella* from autophagy. *Science* 307, 727–731.
- Orvedahl, A., Alexander, D., Talloczy, Z., Sun, Q., Wei, Y., Zhang, W., Burns, D., Leib, D. A., and Levine, B. (2007). HSV-1 ICP34.5 confers neurovirulence by targeting the Beclin 1 autophagy protein. *Cell Host Microbe* 1, 23–35.
- Orvedahl, A., MacPherson, S., Sumpter, R. Jr., Talloczy, Z., Zou, Z., and Levine, B. (2010). Autophagy protects against *Sindbis virus* infection of the central nervous system. *Cell Host Microbe* 7, 115–127.
- Paludan, C., Schmid, D., Landthaler, M., Vockerodt, M., Kube, D., Tuschl, T., and Munz, C. (2005). Endogenous MHC class II processing of a viral nuclear antigen after autophagy. *Science* 307, 593–596.
- Pua, H. H., Dzhagalov, I., Chuck, M., Mizushima, N., and He, Y. W. (2007). A critical role for the autophagy gene Atg5 in T cell survival and proliferation. *J. Exp. Med.* 204, 25–31.
- Pua, H. H., Guo, J., Komatsu, M., and He, Y. W. (2009). Autophagy is essential for mitochondrial clearance in mature T lymphocytes. *J. Immunol.* 182, 4046–4055.
- Qu, X., Zou, Z., Sun, Q., Luby-Phelps, K., Cheng, P., Hogan, R. N., Gilpin, C., and Levine, B. (2007). Autophagy gene-dependent clearance of apoptotic cells during embryonic development. *Cell* 128, 931–946.
- Saitoh, T., Fujita, N., Hayashi, T., Takahara, K., Satoh, T., Lee, H., Matsunaga, K., Kageyama, S., Omori, H., Noda, T., Yamamoto, N., Kawai, T., Ishii, K., Takeuchi, O., Yoshimori, T., and Akira, S. (2009). Atg9a controls dsDNA-driven dynamic translocation of STING and the innate immune response. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 20842–20846.
- Saitoh, T., Fujita, N., Jang, M. H., Uematsu, S., Yang, B. G., Satoh, T.,

Omori, H., Noda, T., Yamamoto, N., Komatsu, M., Tanaka, K., Kawai, T., Tsujimura, T., Takeuchi, O., Yoshimori, T., and Akira, S. (2008). Loss of the autophagy protein Atg16L1 enhances endotoxin-induced ILlbeta production. *Nature* 456, 264–268.

- Sandoval, H., Thiagarajan, P., Dasgupta, S. K., Schumacher, A., Prchal, J. T., Chen, M., and Wang, J. (2008). Essential role for Nix in autophagic maturation of erythroid cells. *Nature* 454, 232–235.
- Sanjuan, M. A., Dillon, C. P., Tait, S. W., Moshiach, S., Dorsey, F., Connell, S., Komatsu, M., Tanaka, K., Cleveland, J. L., Withoff, S., and Green, D. R. (2007). Toll-like receptor signalling in macrophages links the autophagy pathway to phagocytosis. *Nature* 450, 1253–1257.
- Sanjuan, M. A., and Green, D. R. (2008). Eating for good health: linking autophagy and phagocytosis in host defense. *Autophagy* 4, 607–611.
- Scaffidi, P., Misteli, T., and Bianchi, M. E. (2002). Release of chromatin protein HMGB1 by necrotic cells triggers inflammation. *Nature* 418, 191–195.
- Schmid, D., Pypaert, M., and Munz, C. (2007). Antigen-loading compartments for major histocompatibility complex class II molecules continuously receive input from autophagosomes. *Immunity* 26, 79–92.
- Shi, C. S., Shenderov, K., Huang, N. N., Kabat, J., Abu-Asab, M., Fitzgerald, K. A., Sher, A., and Kehrl, J. H. (2012). Activation of autophagy by inflammatory signals limits IL-1beta production by targeting ubiquitinated inflammasomes for destruction. *Nat. Immunol.* 13, 255–263.
- Singh, S. B., Davis, A. S., Taylor, G. A., and Deretic, V. (2006). Human IRGM induces autophagy to eliminate intracellular mycobacteria. *Science* 313, 1438–1441.
- Tanida, I., Ueno, T., and Kominami, E. (2004). LC3 conjugation system in mammalian autophagy. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 36, 2503–2518.
- Tang, D., Kang, R., Livesey, K. M., Cheh, C. W., Farkas, A., Loughran, P., Hoppe, G., Bianchi, M. E., Tracey, K. J., Zeh, H. J. III, and Lotze, M. T. (2010). Endogenous HMGB1 regulates autophagy. *J. Cell Biol.* 190, 881–892.
- Thorburn, J., Horita, H., Redzic, J., Hansen, K., Frankel, A. E., and Thorburn, A. (2009). Autophagy regulates selective HMGB1 release in tumor cells that are destined

to die. Cell Death Differ. 16, 175-183.

- Thurston, T. L., Ryzhakov, G., Bloor, S., von Muhlinen, N., and Randow, F. (2009). The TBK1 adaptor and autophagy receptor NDP52 restricts the proliferation of ubiquitincoated bacteria. *Nat. Immunol.* 10, 1215–1221.
- Thurston, T. L., Wandel, M. P., von Muhlinen, N., Foeglein, A., and Randow, F. (2012). Galectin 8 targets damaged vesicles for autophagy to defend cells against bacterial invasion. *Nature* 482, 414–418.
- Travassos, L. H., Carneiro, L. A., Ramjeet, M., Hussey, S., Kim, Y. G., Magalhaes, J. G., Yuan, L., Soares, F., Chea, E., Le Bourhis, L., Boneca, I. G., Allaoui, A., Jones, N. L., Nuñez, G., Girardin, S. E., and Philpott, D. J. (2010). Nod1 and Nod2 direct autophagy by recruiting ATG16L1 to the plasma membrane at the site of bacterial entry. *Nat. Immunol.* 11, 55–62.
- Uhl, M., Kepp, O., Jusforgues-Saklani, H., Vicencio, J. M., Kroemer, G., and Albert, M. L. (2009). Autophagy within the antigen donor cell facilitates efficient antigen cross-priming of virus-specific CD8+ T cells. *Cell Death Differ.* 16, 991–1005.
- Weidberg, H., Shvets, E., and Elazar, Z. (2011). Biogenesis and cargo selectivity of autophagosomes. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 80, 125–156.
- Wild, P., Farhan, H., McEwan, D. G., Wagner, S., Rogov, V. V., Brady, N. R., Richter, B., Korac, J., Waidmann, O., Choudhary, C., Dötsch, V., Bumann, D., and Dikic, I. (2011). Phosphorylation of the autophagy receptor optineurin restricts *Salmonella* growth. *Science* 333, 228–233.
- Xu, Y., Jagannath, C., Liu, X. D., Sharafkhaneh, A., Kolodziejska, K. E., and Eissa, N. T. (2007). Toll-like receptor 4 is a sensor for autophagy associated with innate immunity. *Immunity* 27, 135–144.
- Yang, L., Li, P., Fu, S., Calay, E. S., and Hotamisligil, G. S. (2010). Defective hepatic autophagy in obesity promotes ER stress and causes insulin resistance. *Cell Metab.* 11, 467–478.
- Yano, T., Mita, S., Ohmori, H., Oshima, Y., Fujimoto, Y., Ueda, R., Takada, H., Goldman, W. E., Fukase, K., Silverman, N., Yoshimori, T., and Kurata, S. (2008). Autophagic control of listeria through intracellular innate immune recognition in *Drosophila*. *Nat. Immunol.* 9, 908–916.
- Yoshikawa, Y., Ogawa, M., Hain, T., Yoshida, M., Fukumatsu, M., Kim, M., Mimuro, H., Nakagawa, I., Yanagawa, T., Ishii, T., Kakizuka, A., Sztul,

E., Chakraborty, T., and Sasakawa, C. (2009). *Listeria monocytogenes* ActAmediated escape from autophagic recognition. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 11, 1233–1240.

Zhong, Y., Wang, Q. J., Li, X., Yan, Y., Backer, J. M., Chait, B. T., Heintz, N., and Yue, Z. (2009). Distinct regulation of autophagic activity by Atg14L and Rubicon associated with Beclin 1-phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase complex. Nat. Cell Biol. 11, 468–476.

Zhou, R., Yazdi, A. S., Menu, P., and Tschopp, J. (2011). A role for mitochondria in NLRP3 inflammasome activation. *Nature* 469, 221–225.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any

commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 23 January 2012; accepted: 08 March 2012; published online: 04 April 2012.

Citation: Mintern JD and Villadangos JA (2012) Autophagy and mechanisms of effective immunity. Front. Immun. 3:60. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00060 This article was submitted to Frontiers in Antigen Presenting Cell Biology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology. Copyright © 2012 Mintern and Villadangos. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.


Antigen cross-priming of cell-associated proteins is enhanced by macroautophagy within the antigen donor cell

Pierre-Emmanuel Joubert and Matthew L. Albert *

Laboratory of Dendritic Cell Immunobiology, Department of Immunology, INSERM U818, Institut Pasteur, Paris, France

Edited by:

Christian Munz, University of Zurich, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Christian Kurts, Friedrich Wilhelms-Universität Bonn, Germany Peter M. Van Endert, Université Paris Descartes/INSERM, France

*Correspondence:

Matthew L. Albert, Laboratory of Dendritic Cell Immunobiology, Department of Immunology, INSERM U818, Institut Pasteur, Paris, France. e-mail: albertm@pasteur.fr Phagocytosis of dying cells constitutes an important mechanism of antigen capture for the cross-priming of CD8⁺ T cells. This process has been shown to be critical for achieving tumor and viral immunity. While most studies have focused on the mechanisms inherent in the dendritic cell that account for exogenous antigen accessing MHC I, several recent reports have highlighted the important contribution made by the antigen donor cell. Specifically, the cell stress and cell death pathways that precede antigen transfer are now known to impact cross-presentation and cross-priming. Herein, we review the current literature regarding a role for macroautophagy within the antigen donor cell. Further examination of this point of immune regulation is warranted and may contribute to a better understanding of how to optimize immunotherapy for treatment of cancer and chronic infectious disease.

Keywords: autophagy, cross-priming, antigen presenting cells, dendritic cells, cell death, tumor immunity, viral immunity

INTRODUCTION

Significant evidence for an indirect pathway for the loading of MHC class I molecules has emerged over the last 35 years (Bevan, 1976; Rock et al., 1990). The most compelling data comes from in vivo experiments in mouse models demonstrating that viral, tumor, and histocompatibility antigens can be transferred from MHC-mismatched donor cells to host bone marrow derived conventional dendritic cells (cDCs), and elicit antigen-specific CTL responses that are restricted to self MHC molecules (Falo et al., 1995; Reis e Sousa and Germain, 1995; Sigal et al., 1999; Mellman and Steinman, 2001; Boon et al., 2006; Petersen et al., 2010). Bevan (1976) originally coined this phenomenon "cross-priming," as antigen is "crossing the MHC barrier" that had initially been invoked in the generation of MHC class I peptide epitopes. As it is now understood that the activation of naïve T cells is a property restricted to cDCs, these *in vivo* observations offered a solution to the question of how CD8⁺ T cells are activated for the targeting of cells which express antigen that is not directly expressed by cDCs. Examples of such antigen include tumor-restricted proteins and viruses which do not infect professional antigen presenting cells (APCs; e.g., human papillomavirus; Fausch et al., 2003). While these observations indicate that the immune system possesses a natural mechanism by which exogenous antigens may access MHC I molecules of APCs, there remains much to be discovered regarding the mechanisms of antigen transfer.

Our *in vitro* studies and the *in vivo* work of others demonstrated that immature cDCs are capable of capturing antigen derived from internalized dying cells and cross-presenting donor antigen on MHC I molecules for engagement of CD8⁺ T cells (Albert et al., 1998, 2001; Kurts et al., 2010; Pang and Neefjes, 2010; Flinsenberg et al., 2011). cDC trafficking of tissue-restricted antigen derived from internalized dying cells has been demonstrated for models of

gut-, skin-, and pancreas-restricted protein antigen (Huang et al., 2000; Belz et al., 2002; Scheinecker et al., 2002; Turley et al., 2003). In the latter model system, the use of transgenic mice expressing inhibitors of apoptosis in beta cells and the *in vivo* injection of biochemical modulators of death pathways have confirmed the critical role for cell death in both antigen transfer and T cell activation (Hugues et al., 2002; Turley et al., 2003; Giodini and Albert, 2010; Locher et al., 2010; Flinsenberg et al., 2011).

Over the last decade, there has been an explosion of information regarding cell stress and cell death. These death pathways may synergize and/or compete, each vying to deliver the fatal blow. Importantly, the mechanisms of cell stress and cell death are now recognized as critical determinants of the subsequent immune response – impacting trafficking of the APC, altering the antigenic repertoire that is transferred upon phagocytosis and influencing the cDC activation state (Albert, 2004). While most studies have focused on apoptotic cell death vs. necrotic cell death, there is increasing awareness that macroautophagy, within the antigen donor cell, influences the outcome of cross-presentation. Herein we focus on the ability of DCs to capture and cross-present cell-associated antigen, reviewing in detail the recent evidence for macroautophagy in the donor cell as an important mechanism for facilitating antigen delivery to cDCs.

MACROAUTOPHAGY AND ANTIGEN PRESENTATION

Macroautophagy (referred to herein as autophagy) has been defined as an "auto-digestive" process that promotes the delivery of intracytosolic components to lysosomal or vacuolar compartments for terminal degradation and recycling (Deretic and Levine, 2009; **Figure 1**). Autophagy has distinct roles in different cellular contexts and occurs at a basal level in all nucleated cells. Constitutive autophagy is important for the turnover of unfolded proteins



FIGURE 1 | Machinery of autophagy. Beclin-1/PI3K-III complex activation, which is regulated by different mechanisms, results in the formation of phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate [PI(3)P1] and the induction of an autophagic vesicle, which is characterized by a double-membrane, and termed an autophagosome (Crotzer and Blum, 2010; Mehrpour et al., 2010; Kang et al., 2011). Two ubiquitin-like systems have been shown essential for autophagosome formation. In the first, autophagy-related gene-12 (Atg12) is conjugated to Atg5, together forming a complex with Atg16L1, which decorate the outer membrane of the isolation membrane. Microtubule-associated protein 1 light chain-3

or damaged organelles and maintains cellular homeostasis (Kroemer et al., 2010). For example, autophagy is important for reducing oxidative stress by selectively targeting damaged mitochondria (Wang and Klionsky, 2011; Mai et al., 2012). Similarly, endoplasmic reticulum (ER), peroxisomes, ribosomes, protein aggregates, and even intracellular pathogens may be eliminated *via* autophagy (Yu et al., 2008; Joubert et al., 2009; Komatsu and Ichimura, 2010; Mizushima and Komatsu, 2011). Autophagy is also considered as part of the host response to cellular stress, including nutrient deprivation or adenosine triphosphate (ATP) depletion. Under such conditions, autophagy protects cells by supplying recycled nutrients to support essential cellular process until restoration of homeostasis. Autophagy induced by cellular stress is generally considered to be a non-selective, bulk degradative process.

More recently, autophagy has been recognized as an important modulator of host immunity, with a particular role for the processing of antigen for presentation by MHC and the initiation of adaptive immune responses (Dengjel et al., 2005; Deretic and Levine, 2009; Crotzer and Blum, 2010). Specifically, autophagy (LC3, also known as Atg8) constitutes the second ubiquitin-like system and conjugates phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) at the outer and inner autophagosomal membrane. Unlike the Atg12/Atg5/Atg16L1 complex that is recycled by the protease Atg4, the LC3-PE (referred to as LC3-II) remains associated with the inner membrane of autophagosome (Mehrpour et al., 2010). The incorporation of phospholipid into the autophagosome membrane is essential for its elongation, and regulates the membrane transport system. Autophagosome maturation is characterized by the formation of an autolysosome, the product of fusion with the lysosome.

has been described to participate in the translocation of endogenous protein into the MHC class II loading compartment, which facilitates MHC class II presentation and CD4⁺ T cells activation (Dengjel et al., 2005). As one key example, it has been demonstrated that the constitutive degradation of cellular components through autophagy provides a critical source of self antigen in the thymus for education of CD4⁺ T cell precursors (Nedjic et al., 2008). In addition to CD4⁺ T cell activation, there is now evidence to suggest a role for autophagy - or at least autophagic genes - in the generation of MHC I/peptide complexes, within the APC. Based on early studies using silencing of Atg12 or Atg5, or pharmacological inhibitors, it was argued that autophagy does not have a major impact on MHC class I presentation of multiple endogenous or exogenous antigens (Nimmerjahn et al., 2003; Paludan et al., 2005; Lee et al., 2010). Moreover, conjugation of a viral epitope to LC3 did not alter MHC class I presentation of this epitope (Schmid et al., 2007). Recent data however, has challenged these conclusions, at least in the context of selected model systems. Interestingly, inhibition of autophagy in IFN-y-treated B16 mouse melanoma cells diminished MHC class I protein surface expression and tumor cell cytolysis by CD8⁺ T lymphocytes (Li et al., 2010). MHC class I presentation by these tumors was proteasome dependent, suggesting a possible connection between autophagy and the conventional pathway for MHC class I presentation. In another study, the group of Desjardins has highlighted an unconventional autophagy pathway that modulates MHC class I presentation in macrophages infected by Herpes simplex virus (HSV; English et al., 2009). Early after infection (6-8 h), viral capsid antigen presentation in infected macrophages occurs via the conventional MHC class I pathway, but during the late stages of infection (8–12 h), viral capsid presentation is dependent on acidic organelles as well as Atg5 expression. This study also reported that HSV-infected cells contain specific and unconventional LC3⁺ vesicles that are closely associated with the nuclear envelope. This led the authors to suggest that virus infection induced a novel form of autophagy, which may contribute to the escape of antigen into the cytosol.

CONNECTING AUTOPHAGY AND CROSS-PRIMING

While basal or induced autophagy in APCs does not seem to be strongly implicated in their ability to cross-present exogenous antigen, some early evidence suggested a role for autophagy within the antigen donor cell. In 2002, a study from Vile and colleagues suggested for the first time that autophagic vacuoles within the donor cell could be correlated with efficient cross-priming of associated-antigens (Bateman et al., 2002). Viral fusogenic membrane glycoprotein (FMGs) had been known to kill solid tumor cells after the formation of large multinucleated syncytia. The authors observed that FMG-mediated killing of syncytia was not dependent on a classical apoptosis pathway. Instead, death of syncytia was associated with nuclear fusion and premature chromosome condensation as well as severe ATP depletion (Bateman et al., 2002). Interestingly, cytoplasmic vacuoles were demonstrated to be acidic, suggesting that the death of syncytia was correlated with autophagic activity. In the same study, the authors demonstrated that FMG-mediated death was accompanied by release of vesicles reminiscent of exosomes, which they called syncitiosomes. Importantly, dving syncytia produced significantly more syncitiosomes than normal cells or cells killed by pro-apoptotic or pro-necrotic signals, including irradiation, freeze thaw, or osmotic shock (Bateman et al., 2002). These syncitiosomes served as an efficient source of antigen for cDCs, out-performing classical exosomes, or dead cell corpses. Lacking from this study, however, was the mechanistic association of Atg proteins with death of syncytia and effective cross-priming.

An additional clue linked autophagy to the removal of apoptotic corpses in mouse embryoid bodies (EBs) and during chick retinal development (Qu et al., 2007; Mellen et al., 2008). In both studies, autophagy is required for dying cells to have sufficient energy to generate the engulfment signals necessary for the clearance of corpses by phagocytes. Indeed, EBs derived from cells lacking autophagy genes (e.g., *atg5* or *beclin-1*), failed to express "eatme" signal such as phosphatidylserine (PS) exposure, and secreted lower levels of "come-get-me" signals, such as lysophosphatidyl-choline (LPC; Qu et al., 2007). These defects were associated with low levels of cellular ATP and could be reversed by treatment

with the metabolic substrate, methyl pyruvate. Similar results were observed after treatment of retinas with 3-methyladenine (3-MA), a pharmacological inhibitor of autophagy (Mellen et al., 2008). Extrapolation of these studies might suggest another mechanism by which autophagy regulates cross-presentation. Indeed, the role of autophagy in metabolism may be generally relevant for phagocyte function, and aspects of innate and adaptive immune responses.

AUTOPHAGY WITHIN TUMOR CELLS FAVORS CROSS-PRIMING OF TUMOR-ASSOCIATED ANTIGEN-SPECIFIC CD8⁺ T CELLS

Seminal studies from Hu and colleagues illustrated a direct role for autophagy in the cross-priming of associated-antigen (Li et al., 2009). In their initial studies, HEK 293T cells expressing ovalbumin (V-TfR-GFP-OVA) or melanoma cells that endogenously express the gp100 tumor antigen were used as antigen donor cells (ADC). The authors showed that autophagy in ADC regulates the efficiency of cross-presentation both in vitro and in vivo (Li et al., 2009). Inhibition of autophagy with 3-MA or siRNA knockdown of the essential autophagic genes beclin-1 and Atg12, demonstrated that early steps of autophagy - including initiation and elongation of the double-membrane structure, sequestration of cytosolic antigens, and formation of autophagosomes - were required for efficient antigen cross-presentation. Providing additional support, drug, or stress-induced autophagy (i.e., treatment with rapamycin or starvation) resulted in enhanced cross-priming of OVA or gp100-specific CD8⁺ T cells. In these studies, it is important to note that late steps of autophagy, including late lysosomal fusion and degradation, seemed to have little impact on antigen cross-presentation (Li et al., 2009). Perhaps most interestingly, autophagosomes were isolated, purified, and exposed to DCs, demonstrating efficient delivery of antigen and crosspresentation (Li et al., 2009). Future studies will be required to confirm that contaminating microsomes or secreted exosomes did not contribute to antigen transfer in these experiments.

More recently, the same group observed that isolated autophagosomes from dying tumor cells expressed not only longlived protein - well know to be sequestered in autophagosomes but also short-lived proteins (SLiPs), including defective ribosomal initiation products (DRiPs; Yewdell et al., 1996; Li et al., 2011). Immunization with these autophagosomes - named "Dribbles" by the authors to refer to DRiPs-containing blebs - were effective in initiating tumor immunity and inducing the regression of 3LL Lewis lung tumors as well as delaying growth of B16F10 melanoma. Strikingly, DRibbles were more potent than GM-CSF gene modified tumor cells. Importantly, DRibble-derived antigen processing by cDCs was mediated by classical components of the MHC I processing machinery, including TAP1 and proteasome, and it did not involve the lysosomal pathway of the cDC (Li et al., 2011). These observations suggested that DRibble-derived antigen must be released into the cytosol after phagocytosis to be processed by the classical MHC class I pathway. Although mechanisms by which DRibbles could favor antigen cross-presentation remain to be confirmed, these studies were the first to identify capture of autophagosome-associated antigen as a mechanism for achieving tumor immunity.

VIRUS-MEDIATED ABORTIVE AUTOPHAGY ENHANCES ANTIGEN CROSS-PRIMING

Studies from our own laboratory have also identified an important role for autophagy within the ADC, serving to enhance antigen cross-priming of CD8⁺ T cells (Uhl et al., 2009). The experimental system employed permitted direct comparison between two forms of programmed cell death (PCD): (i) the classical caspasedependent apoptosis, which it occur in wild-type (WT) mouse embryonic fibroblast (MEFs); and (ii) caspase-independent cell death, which occurs with increased features of autophagy, and achieved experimentally through the use of $Bax^{-/-}/Bak^{-/-}$ MEFs (Shimizu et al., 2004). Both cell types were infected with influenza A virus as a source of antigen, followed by UV irradiation serving to both inhibit viral replication and induce genotoxic stress - and injected in vivo as a source of antigen for studying the efficiency of cross-priming (Uhl et al., 2009). Interestingly, mice immunized with cells undergoing enhanced autophagy showed a significantly higher CD8⁺ T cell response specific for both HA₅₁₈₋₅₂₆ (in Balb/c hosts) and NP₃₆₆₋₃₇₄ (in C57BL/6 hosts). Strikingly, silencing of the essential autophagic gene Atg5 in both WT and $Bax^{-/-}/Bak^{-/-}$ MEFs inhibited antigen cross-priming. Careful evaluation of influenza infected WT MEFs indicated that viral infection induced accumulation of autophagosomes, now known to be a result of influenza M2-inhibition of autophagosome/lysosome fusion (Gannage et al., 2009). Notably, influenza infection is capable of inducing both autophagy and apoptosis; different from other triggers of cell stress and cell death, these two processes can be found simultaneously within the same cell (de la Calle et al., 2011). We argue that the finding of double positive cells - co-labeled with anti-caspase 3 antibodies and harboring LC3 punctae – is a result of abortive autophagy. This is supported by studies using chloroquine (de la Calle et al., 2011), which interestingly, has also been shown to enhance antigen crosspriming (Accapezzato et al., 2005), and is currently being tested in combination with rapamycin as a means of inducing in situ tumor immunity (Amaravadi et al., 2011). Additional work is required in order to establish abortive autophagosomes as the critical source of antigen for facilitating efficient transfer from donor cells to cDCs.

AUTOPHAGY MAY FAVOR RELEASE OF "IMMUNOGENIC" PROTEINS

The first established link between autophagy genes and proinflammatory responses was established in plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs), with the demonstration that *Atg5* is involved in autophagy-mediated delivery of TLR7 agonists from the cytosol of infected cells into the lumen of the endosome, thus accounting for induction of type I interferon (IFN; Lee et al., 2007). Somewhat paradoxically, several studies have shown that the absent or hypomorphic expression of autophagic genes in certain cell types can result in enhanced production of type I interferon or other cytokines; including pro-inflammatory molecules such as IL1β and IL-18, as well as adipocytokines, such as leptin and adiponectin (Jounai et al., 2007; Cadwell et al., 2008; Saitoh et al., 2008; Tal et al., 2009). Thus, autophagy machinery could have a dual function in regulating cytokine production, acting not only to stimulate antiviral type I IFN responses in pDCs, but may also limit excess innate immune activation in other cell type, including fibroblasts. Alternatively, autophagy genes may differentially regulate distinct PRRs: enhancing TLR engagement through the delivery of ligands into the endosome; while inhibiting cytosolic sensors through direct or indirect mechanisms.

Defining how autophagy alters the inflammatory milieu is an important issue, as type I IFNs has been shown to regulate antigen cross-priming (Jounai et al., 2007; Uhl et al., 2009; Wei et al., 2010). Using the same model as previously described, our group has demonstrated that mice immunized with $Bax^{-/-}/Bak^{-/-}$ dying cells – undergoing high level of autophagy – induced in cDCs a significantly higher type I IFN production in cDCs as compared to mice immunized with WT MEFs (Uhl et al., 2009). Supporting a role for type I IFN, it was shown that immunization of mice deficient for the IFN α/β receptor (IFNAR) resulted in a dramatically reduced cross-priming response (Uhl et al., 2009). The mechanism by which autophagy within dying cells favors the production of type I IFN by APCs remains to be defined; one possibility is that viral nucleic acids present in the autophagic corpse serves to engage sensors within the phagocytic cDC (Schulz et al., 2005).

In addition to pro-inflammatory cytokines, other "immunogenic proteins" may be released during autophagic processes, which in turn favor cross-priming. For example, the high-mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1) provides an interesting connection between autophagy and cross-priming. HMGB1 is a highly conserved chromatin-binding protein that facilitates DNA bending and promotes transcription (Maruyama, 2011). In addition to its intra-nuclear role, HMGB1 also functions as an extracellular signaling molecule and can interact with at least three different surface receptors that are expressed on APC, namely the receptor for advanced glycosylation (RAGE), TLR2, and TLR4 (Nogueira-Machado et al., 2011). The binding of HMGB1 to TLR4 may not be a direct interaction as recent data indicates that HMGB1 chaperones LPS (Yang et al., 2012), as well as other PRR ligands (Yanai et al., 2009). Indeed, the role of HMGB1 as a co-factor for PAMPs may be central to its role in stimulating the processing and presentation of derived antigens. Importantly, secretion of HMGB1 by dying tumor cells has been shown to inhibit fusion of the APC's phagosome with lysosomes, thereby preventing rapid degradation of tumor antigens and enabling processing and presentation onto MHC I (Apetoh et al., 2007). Furthermore, Scaffidi et al. (2002) showed that HMGB1 participates in the recruitment of phagocytes. Indeed, $HMGB1^{-/-}$ cells have a greatly reduced ability to promote inflammation, which indicates that the release of HMGB1 can signal the demise of a cell to its neighbors. While initial studies indicated that HMGB1 is released (passively) from necrotic cells and that during apoptosis HMGB1 becomes hypoacetylated and remains bound to the chromatin of the dying cell (Sims et al., 2010), the biology now seems a bit more complex. Recent work from Ferguson and colleagues indicate that the redox state, in addition to the acetylation state, may impact the bioactivity of HMGB1 (Kazama et al., 2008). ROS mediated oxidation of HMGB1 inhibited its pro-inflammatory potential. The authors went on to demonstrate that oxidation was caspase-dependant, acting via the cleavage of mitochondrial components of the electron transport system (Kazama et al., 2008). Based on the ability of autophagic processes to limit accumulation of ROS, it is interesting to consider that this may contribute to the pro-inflammatory effects of autophagy within dying ADC. This hypothesis is supported by evidence that HMGB1 released from autophagic tumor cells is immune stimulatory (Thorburn et al., 2009). Inhibition of autophagy resulted in HMGB1 retention, and in the induction of caspase-mediated cell death. The mechanism by which autophagy regulates secretion of HMGB1 remain unknown, but seems to be occurring in a manner similar to other leaderless cytokines. Indeed, exogenous HMGB1 can modulate the future of tumor cells and reduced HMGB1 induced pro-survival autophagy *via* the activation of RAGE receptor and beclin-1 whereas oxidized HMGB1 favored activation of caspase-9 and -3 that lead to apoptotic cell death (Tang et al., 2010). Thus, autophagy could favor the release of reduced HMGB1 may increase autophagy in neighboring

cells as well as activate the recruitment of immune cells, stimulate cytokines secretion, and facilitate antigen cross-priming.

Other immunogenic signals may also be regulated by autophagy, including exposure of PS and secretion of LPC (Qu et al., 2007; Mellen et al., 2008). Recently, the groups of Zitvogel and Kroemer established a link between autophagy and ATP release during chemotherapy treatment (Michaud et al., 2011). This study showed that autophagy is dispensable for chemotherapy-induced cell death but required for its immunogenicity both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. In response to chemotherapy, autophagy-competent, but not *Atg5* or *Atg7*-shRNA transfected tumors, were capable of recruiting cDCs and T cells into the tumor micro-environment, via ATP mediated chemoattraction. Although this work did not formally show T cell cross-priming, it helped establish a new concept related to autophagy regulation of immunity. Further investigation



FIGURE 2 | Autophagy within antigen donor cells and cross-priming. (A) The process of autophagy within stressed or dying cells has been demonstrated to enhance recruitment of antigen presenting cells (APCs) and phagocytosis. For example, in response to chemotherapy, autophagy within cancer cells favors the release of ATP and enhances the recruitment of cDC and T cells into the tumor micro-environment (Michaud et al., 2011). In addition, the release of ATP triggers the exposure of "eat-me" signal (e.g., PS) and the release of "come-get-me" signal (e.g., LPC), an essential feature of efficient capture of dying cells by APC (Qu et al., 2007; Mellen et al., 2008). Autophagy can also be involved in the release of other "immunogenic proteins" known to support the cross-priming (e.g., HMGB1). The mechanism by which autophagy regulates the release of HMGB1 remain to be determined. **(B)** Free autophagosome containing

antigen – passively released following cell death or actively secreted – may be recognized directly by APC, inducing a signal transduction pathway that leads to increased cross-presentation. One example includes DRibbles-derived antigen cross-priming that is partially dependent of CLEC9A (Li et al., 2011). These data suggest that autophagosome express the ligand of CLEC9A, which is recognized by APC to enhance cross-priming. **(C)** Blocking autophagic flux in antigen donor cells – using pharmacological inhibitor or during influenza A infection – favors antigen cross-priming (Uhl et al., 2009). In this context, it is possible that inhibition of lysosomal fusion serves to protect epitope within the autophagosome of dying cells and facilitates delivery of intact or partially processed antigen to APC. In addition, the capture of intact autophagosome could enhance cytokine production (e.g., type I interferon) and cDC activation. regarding other secreted and/or exposed proteins would help further clarify the mechanisms by which autophagy within ADC favors antigen cross-priming.

AUTOPHAGIC FLUX OR AUTOPHAGOSOMES?

One critical unknown concerns the cell biology of autophagy within ADC as it relates to protection and delivery of antigen to APCs. Some evidence suggests that autophagosomes, but not necessarily autophagic flux, are required for efficient crosspriming. This is supported by the importance of early steps of autophagy - including initiation and elongation of the doublemembrane structure, sequestration of cytosolic antigens, and formation of autophagosomes - for achieving efficient antigen cross-presentation of tumor cells (Li et al., 2009, 2011). Additionally, our own studies indicate that blocking autophagic flux within dying cells enhanced the cross-priming of viral antigens (Giodini and Albert, unpublished data). Accumulation of autophagosomes may also account for the seminal observations of Barnaba and colleagues, who shown that chloroquine enhance cross-priming (Accapezzato et al., 2005). In this context, it is possible that inhibition of lysosomal fusion serves to protect epitope within the autophagosome of dying cells and facilitates delivery of intact or partially processed antigen to APC.

One final consideration is the capture of free autophagic vesicles – passively released following cell death or actively secreted via a mechanism referred to as exophagy (Abrahamsen and Stenmark, 2010) – could be recognized by APCs as a source of antigen or immunogenic signals to enhance cross-priming. It has indeed been demonstrated *in vitro* that tumor cell-derived autophagosomes can be isolated from culture media; and may engage the

REFERENCES

- Abrahamsen, H., and Stenmark, H. (2010). Protein secretion: unconventional exit by exophagy. *Curr. Biol.* 20, R415–R418.
- Accapezzato, D., Visco, V., Francavilla, V., Molette, C., Donato, T., Paroli, M., Mondelli, M. U., Doria, M., Torrisi, M. R., and Barnaba, V. (2005). Chloroquine enhances human CD8+ T cell responses against soluble antigens in vivo. J. Exp. Med. 202, 817–828.
- Albert, M. L. (2004). Death-defying immunity: do apoptotic cells influence antigen processing and presentation? *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 4, 223–231.
- Albert, M. L., Jegathesan, M., and Darnell, R. B. (2001). Dendritic cell maturation is required for the crosstolerization of CD8+ T cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 2, 1010–1017.
- Albert, M. L., Sauter, B., and Bhardwaj, N. (1998). Dendritic cells acquire antigen from apoptotic cells and induce class I-restricted CTLs. *Nature* 392, 86–89.
- Amaravadi, R. K., Lippincott-Schwartz, J., Yin, X. M., Weiss, W. A., Takebe,

N., Timmer, W., Dipaola, R. S., Lotze, M. T., and White, E. (2011). Principles and current strategies for targeting autophagy for cancer treatment. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 17, 654–666.

- Apetoh, L., Ghiringhelli, F., Tesniere, A., Criollo, A., Ortiz, C., Lidereau, R., Mariette, C., Chaput, N., Mira, J. P., Delaloge, S., Andre, F., Tursz, T., Kroemer, G., and Zitvogel, L. (2007). The interaction between HMGB1 and TLR4 dictates the outcome of anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. *Immunol. Rev.* 220, 47–59.
- Bateman, A. R., Harrington, K. J., Kottke, T., Ahmed, A., Melcher, A. A., Gough, M. J., Linardakis, E., Riddle, D., Dietz, A., Lohse, C. M., Strome, S., Peterson, T., Simari, R., and Vile, R. G. (2002). Viral fusogenic membrane glycoproteins kill solid tumor cells by nonapoptotic mechanisms that promote cross presentation of tumor antigens by dendritic cells. *Cancer Res.* 62, 6566–6578.
- Belz, G. T., Behrens, G. M., Smith, C. M., Miller, J. F., Jones, C., Lejon, K., Fathman, C. G., Mueller, S. N., Shortman, K., Carbone, F. R., and Heath, W.

C-type lectin receptor, CLEC9A (Li et al., 2011). These data may extend the previous role for CLEC9A as a receptor for necrotic cells and a mediator of efficient SYK-dependant cross-priming (Sancho et al., 2009).

CONCLUSION

In addition to cell death pathways, increasing evidence indicates an important role for cell stress, within ADC, as a regulator of adaptive immune responses. Autophagic processes have been shown to enhance the delivery of tumor and viral antigen to cDCs. Moreover, autophagy triggers release of immunostimulatory proteins (e.g., HMGB1) and bioactive molecules (e.g., LPC, ATP), which together favor recruitment and activation of the APC (Figure 2). Once within the phagosome, autophagic cells may serve as stimulators of PRRs, further enhancing the phagocyte's crosspriming potential. Another interesting line of investigation will be the autophagosome itself, which may serve to protect antigen from degradation and facilitate delivery APCs. A detailed evaluation of how autophagy favors cross-priming may help launch new immunotherapy strategies for treating cancer or chronic disease. Moreover, it may provide a mechanistic understanding of currently used chemotherapies (e.g., cyclophosphamide or methotrexate) or experimental compounds (e.g., rapamycin given in combination with hydroxychloroquine).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the Institut Pasteur, INSERM, ANRS, the European Research Council, and the French National Research Agency (ANR). The authors also thank Matt Buckwalter for his helpful edits to the text.

R. (2002). The CD8alpha(+) dendritic cell is responsible for inducing peripheral self-tolerance to tissueassociated antigens. *J. Exp. Med.* 196, 1099–1104.

- Bevan, M. J. (1976). Cross-priming for a secondary cytotoxic response to minor H antigens with H-2 congenic cells which do not cross-react in the cytotoxic assay. J. Exp. Med. 143, 1283–1288.
- Boon, T., Coulie, P. G., Van Den Eynde, B. J., and Van Der Bruggen, P. (2006). Human T cell responses against melanoma. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 24, 175–208.
- Cadwell, K., Liu, J. Y., Brown, S. L., Miyoshi, H., Loh, J., Lennerz, J. K., Kishi, C., Kc, W., Carrero, J. A., Hunt, S., Stone, C. D., Brunt, E. M., Xavier, R. J., Sleckman, B. P., Li, E., Mizushima, N., Stappenbeck, T. S., and Virgin, H. W. T. (2008). A key role for autophagy and the autophagy gene Atg1611 in mouse and human intestinal Paneth cells. *Nature* 456, 259–263.
- Crotzer, V. L., and Blum, J. S. (2010). Autophagy and adaptive immunity. *Immunology* 131, 9–17.

- de la Calle, C., Joubert, P. E., Law, K. W. H., Hasan, M., and Albert, M. L. (2011). Simultaneous assessment of autophagy and apoptosis using multispectral imaging cytometry. *Autophagy* 7, 1045–1051.
- Dengjel, J., Schoor, O., Fischer, R., Reich, M., Kraus, M., Muller, M., Kreymborg, K., Altenberend, F., Brandenburg, J., Kalbacher, H., Brock, R., Driessen, C., Rammensee, H. G., and Stevanovic, S. (2005). Autophagy promotes MHC class II presentation of peptides from intracellular source proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 7922–7927.
- Deretic, V., and Levine, B. (2009). Autophagy, immunity, and microbial adaptations. *Cell Host Microbe* 5, 527–549.
- English, L., Chemali, M., Duron, J., Rondeau, C., Laplante, A., Gingras, D., Alexander, D., Leib, D., Norbury, C., Lippe, R., and Desjardins, M. (2009). Autophagy enhances the presentation of endogenous viral antigens on MHC class I molecules during HSV-1 infection. *Nat. Immunol.* 10, 480–487.

- Falo, L. D. Jr., Kovacsovics-Bankowski, M., Thompson, K., and Rock, K. L. (1995). Targeting antigen into the phagocytic pathway in vivo induces protective tumour immunity. *Nat. Med.* 1, 649–653.
- Fausch, S. C., Da Silva, D. M., and Kast, W. M. (2003). Differential uptake and cross-presentation of human papillomavirus virus-like particles by dendritic cells and Langerhans cells. *Cancer Res.* 63, 3478–3482.
- Flinsenberg, T. W., Compeer, E. B., Boelens, J. J., and Boes, M. (2011). Antigen cross-presentation: extending recent laboratory findings to therapeutic intervention. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 165, 8–18.
- Gannage, M., Dormann, D., Albrecht, R., Dengjel, J., Torossi, T., Ramer, P. C., Lee, M., Strowig, T., Arrey, F., Conenello, G., Pypaert, M., Andersen, J., Garcia-Sastre, A., and Munz, C. (2009). Matrix protein 2 of influenza A virus blocks autophagosome fusion with lysosomes. *Cell Host Microbe* 6, 367–380.
- Giodini, A., and Albert, M. L. (2010). A whodunit: an appointment with death. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 22, 94–108.
- Huang, F. P., Platt, N., Wykes, M., Major, J. R., Powell, T. J., Jenkins, C. D., and Macpherson, G. G. (2000). A discrete subpopulation of dendritic cells transports apoptotic intestinal epithelial cells to T cell areas of mesenteric lymph nodes. J. Exp. Med. 191, 435–444.
- Hugues, S., Mougneau, E., Ferlin, W., Jeske, D., Hofman, P., Homann, D., Beaudoin, L., Schrike, C., Von Herrath, M., Lehuen, A., and Glaichenhaus, N. (2002). Tolerance to islet antigens and prevention from diabetes induced by limited apoptosis of pancreatic beta cells. *Immunity* 16, 169–181.
- Joubert, P. E., Meiffren, G., Gregoire, I. P., Pontini, G., Richetta, C., Flacher, M., Azocar, O., Vidalain, P. O., Vidal, M., Lotteau, V., Codogno, P., Rabourdin-Combe, C., and Faure, M. (2009). Autophagy induction by the pathogen receptor CD46. *Cell Host Microbe* 6, 354–366.
- Jounai, N., Takeshita, F., Kobiyama, K., Sawano, A., Miyawaki, A., Xin, K. Q., Ishii, K. J., Kawai, T., Akira, S., Suzuki, K., and Okuda, K. (2007). The Atg5 Atg12 conjugate associates with innate antiviral immune responses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 104, 14050–14055.
- Kang, R., Zeh, H. J., Lotze, M. T., and Tang, D. (2011). The Beclin 1 network regulates autophagy and apoptosis. *Cell Death Differ*. 18, 571–580.

- Kazama, H., Ricci, J. E., Herndon, J. M., Hoppe, G., Green, D. R., and Ferguson, T. A. (2008). Induction of immunological tolerance by apoptotic cells requires caspase-dependent oxidation of high-mobility group box-1 protein. *Immunity* 29, 21–32.
- Komatsu, M., and Ichimura, Y. (2010). Selective autophagy regulates various cellular functions. *Genes Cells* 15, 923–933.
- Kroemer, G., Marino, G., and Levine, B. (2010). Autophagy and the integrated stress response. *Mol. Cell* 40, 280–293.
- Kurts, C., Robinson, B. W., and Knolle, P. A. (2010). Cross-priming in health and disease. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 10, 403–414.
- Lee, H. K., Lund, J. M., Ramanathan, B., Mizushima, N., and Iwasaki, A. (2007). Autophagy-dependent viral recognition by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Science* 315, 1398–1401.
- Lee, H. K., Mattei, L. M., Steinberg, B. E., Alberts, P., Lee, Y. H., Chervonsky, A., Mizushima, N., Grinstein, S., and Iwasaki, A. (2010). In vivo requirement for Atg5 in antigen presentation by dendritic cells. *Immunity* 32, 227–239.
- Li, B., Lei, Z., Lichty, B. D., Li, D., Zhang, G. M., Feng, Z. H., Wan, Y., and Huang, B. (2010). Autophagy facilitates major histocompatibility complex class I expression induced by IFN-gamma in B16 melanoma cells. *Cancer Immunol. Immunother.* 59, 313–321.
- Li, Y., Wang, L. X., Pang, P., Cui, Z., Aung, S., Haley, D., Fox, B. A., Urba, W. J., and Hu, H. M. (2011). Tumorderived autophagosome vaccine: mechanism of cross-presentation and therapeutic efficacy. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 17, 7047–7057.
- Li, Y., Wang, L. X., Pang, P., Twitty, C., Fox, B. A., Aung, S., Urba, W. J., and Hu, H. M. (2009). Cross-presentation of tumor associated antigens through tumorderived autophagosomes. *Autophagy* 5, 576–577.
- Locher, C., Conforti, R., Aymeric, L., Ma, Y., Yamazaki, T., Rusakiewicz, S., Tesniere, A., Ghiringhelli, F., Apetoh, L., Morel, Y., Girard, J. P., Kroemer, G., and Zitvogel, L. (2010). Desirable cell death during anticancer chemotherapy. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1209, 99–108.
- Mai, S., Muster, B., Bereiter-Hahn, J., and Jendrach, M. (2012). Autophagy proteins LC3B, ATG5 and ATG12 participate in quality control after mitochondrial damage and influence lifespan. Autophagy 8.

- Maruyama, I. (2011). [HMGB1(High mobility group box 1 protein)]. *Rinsho Byori* (Suppl. 147), 49–55.
- Mehrpour, M., Esclatine, A., Beau, I., and Codogno, P. (2010). Overview of macroautophagy regulation in mammalian cells. *Cell Res.* 20, 748–762.
- Mellen, M. A., De La Rosa, E. J., and Boya, P. (2008). The autophagic machinery is necessary for removal of cell corpses from the developing retinal neuroepithelium. *Cell Death Differ.* 15, 1279–1290.
- Mellman, I., and Steinman, R. M. (2001). Dendritic cells: specialized and regulated antigen processing machines. *Cell* 106, 255–258.
- Michaud, M., Martins, I., Sukkurwala, A. Q., Adjemian, S., Ma, Y., Pellegatti, P., Shen, S., Kepp, O., Scoazec, M., Mignot, G., Rello-Varona, S., Tailler, M., Menger, L., Vacchelli, E., Galluzzi, L., Ghiringhelli, F., Di Virgilio, F., Zitvogel, L., and Kroemer, G. (2011). Autophagy-dependent anticancer immune responses induced by chemotherapeutic agents in mice. *Science* 334, 1573–1577.
- Mizushima, N., and Komatsu, M. (2011). Autophagy: renovation of cells and tissues. *Cell* 147, 728–741.
- Nedjic, J., Aichinger, M., Emmerich, J., Mizushima, N., and Klein, L. (2008). Autophagy in thymic epithelium shapes the T-cell repertoire and is essential for tolerance. *Nature* 455, 396–400.
- Nimmerjahn, F., Milosevic, S., Behrends, U., Jaffee, E. M., Pardoll, D. M., Bornkamm, G. W., and Mautner, J. (2003). Major histocompatibility complex class II-restricted presentation of a cytosolic antigen by autophagy. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 33, 1250–1259.
- Nogueira-Machado, J. A., Volpe, C. M., Veloso, C. A., and Chaves, M. M. (2011). HMGB1, TLR and RAGE: a functional tripod that leads to diabetic inflammation. *Expert Opin. Ther. Targets* 15, 1023–1035.
- Paludan, C., Schmid, D., Landthaler, M., Vockerodt, M., Kube, D., Tuschl, T., and Munz, C. (2005). Endogenous MHC class II processing of a viral nuclear antigen after autophagy. *Sci*ence 307, 593–596.
- Pang, B., and Neefjes, J. (2010). Coupled for cross-presentation in tumor immunotherapy. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 2, 44ps40.
- Petersen, T. R., Dickgreber, N., and Hermans, I. F. (2010). Tumor antigen presentation by dendritic cells. *Crit. Rev. Immunol.* 30, 345–386.
- Qu, X., Zou, Z., Sun, Q., Luby-Phelps, K., Cheng, P., Hogan, R. N., Gilpin,

C., and Levine, B. (2007). Autophagy gene-dependent clearance of apoptotic cells during embryonic development. *Cell* 128, 931–946.

- Reis e Sousa, C., and Germain, R. N. (1995). Major histocompatibility complex class I presentation of peptides derived from soluble exogenous antigen by a subset of cells engaged in phagocytosis. J. Exp. Med. 182, 841–851.
- Rock, K. L., Gamble, S., and Rothstein, L. (1990). Presentation of exogenous antigen with class I major histocompatibility complex molecules. *Science* 249, 918–921.
- Saitoh, T., Fujita, N., Jang, M. H., Uematsu, S., Yang, B. G., Satoh, T., Omori, H., Noda, T., Yamamoto, N., Komatsu, M., Tanaka, K., Kawai, T., Tsujimura, T., Takeuchi, O., Yoshimori, T., and Akira, S. (2008). Loss of the autophagy protein Atg16L1 enhances endotoxin-induced ILlbeta production. *Nature* 456, 264–268.
- Sancho, D., Joffre, O. P., Keller, A. M., Rogers, N. C., Martinez, D., Hernanz-Falcon, P., Rosewell, I., and Reis E Sousa, C. (2009). Identification of a dendritic cell receptor that couples sensing of necrosis to immunity. *Nature* 458, 899–903.
- Scaffidi, P., Misteli, T., and Bianchi, M. E. (2002). Release of chromatin protein HMGB1 by necrotic cells triggers inflammation. *Nature* 418, 191–195.
- Scheinecker, C., Mchugh, R., Shevach, E. M., and Germain, R. N. (2002). Constitutive presentation of a natural tissue autoantigen exclusively by dendritic cells in the draining lymph node. J. Exp. Med. 196, 1079–1090.
- Schmid, D., Pypaert, M., and Munz, C. (2007). Antigen-loading compartments for major histocompatibility complex class II molecules continuously receive input from autophagosomes. *Immunity* 26, 79–92.
- Schulz, O., Diebold, S. S., Chen, M., Naslund, T. I., Nolte, M. A., Alexopoulou, L., Azuma, Y. T., Flavell, R. A., Liljestrom, P., and Reis E Sousa, C. (2005). Toll-like receptor 3 promotes cross-priming to virus-infected cells. *Nature* 433, 887–892.
- Shimizu, S., Kanaseki, T., Mizushima, N., Mizuta, T., Arakawa-Kobayashi, S., Thompson, C. B., and Tsujimoto, Y. (2004). Role of Bcl-2 family proteins in a non-apoptotic programmed cell death dependent on autophagy genes. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 6, 1221–1228.
- Sigal, L. J., Crotty, S., Andino, R., and Rock, K. L. (1999). Cytotoxic T-cell immunity to virus-infected non-haematopoietic cells requires

presentation of exogenous antigen. *Nature* 398, 77–80.

- Sims, G. P., Rowe, D. C., Rietdijk, S. T., Herbst, R., and Coyle, A. J. (2010). HMGB1 and RAGE in inflammation and cancer. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 28, 367–388.
- Tal, M. C., Sasai, M., Lee, H. K., Yordy, B., Shadel, G. S., and Iwasaki, A. (2009). Absence of autophagy results in reactive oxygen speciesdependent amplification of RLR signaling. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 2770–2775.
- Tang, D., Kang, R., Cheh, C. W., Livesey, K. M., Liang, X., Schapiro, N. E., Benschop, R., Sparvero, L. J., Amoscato, A. A., Tracey, K. J., Zeh, H. J., and Lotze, M. T. (2010). HMGB1 release and redox regulates autophagy and apoptosis in cancer cells. *Oncogene* 29, 5299–5310.
- Thorburn, J., Horita, H., Redzic, J., Hansen, K., Frankel, A. E., and Thorburn, A. (2009). Autophagy regulates selective HMGB1 release in tumor cells that are destined to die. *Cell Death Differ.* 16, 175–183.

- Turley, S., Poirot, L., Hattori, M., Benoist, C., and Mathis, D. (2003). Physiological beta cell death triggers priming of self-reactive T cells by dendritic cells in a type-1 diabetes model. *J. Exp. Med.* 198, 1527–1537.
- Uhl, M., Kepp, O., Jusforgues-Saklani, H., Vicencio, J. M., Kroemer, G., and Albert, M. L. (2009). Autophagy within the antigen donor cell facilitates efficient antigen cross-priming of virus-specific CD8+ T cells. *Cell Death Differ.* 16, 991–1005.
- Wang, K., and Klionsky, D. J. (2011). Mitochondria removal by autophagy. *Autophagy* 7, 297–300.
- Wei, J., Waithman, J., Lata, R., Mifsud, N. A., Cebon, J., Kay, T., Smyth, M. J., Sadler, A. J., and Chen, W. (2010). Influenza A infection enhances cross-priming of CD8+ T cells to cell-associated antigens in a TLR7- and type I IFNdependent fashion. J. Immunol. 185, 6013–6022.
- Yanai, H., Ban, T., Wang, Z., Choi, M. K., Kawamura, T., Negishi, H., Nakasato,

M., Lu, Y., Hangai, S., Koshiba, R., Savitsky, D., Ronfani, L., Akira, S., Bianchi, M. E., Honda, K., Tamura, T., Kodama, T., and Taniguchi, T. (2009). HMGB proteins function as universal sentinels for nucleic-acidmediated innate immune responses. *Nature* 462, 99–103.

- Yang, D., Postnikov, Y. V., Li, Y., Tewary, P., De La Rosa, G., Wei, F., Klinman, D., Gioannini, T., Weiss, J. P., Furusawa, T., Bustin, M., and Oppenheim, J. J. (2012). High-mobility group nucleosome-binding protein 1 acts as an alarmin and is critical for lipopolysaccharide-induced immune responses. J. Exp. Med. 209, 157–171.
- Yewdell, J. W., Anton, L. C., and Bennink, J. R. (1996). Defective ribosomal products (DRiPs): a major source of antigenic peptides for MHC class I molecules? *J. Immunol.* 157, 1823–1826.
- Yu, L., Strandberg, L., and Lenardo, M. J. (2008). The selectivity of autophagy and its role in cell death and survival. *Autophagy* 4, 567–573.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 26 January 2012; paper pending published: 07 February 2012; accepted: 09 March 2012; published online: 28 March 2012.

Citation: Joubert P-E and Albert ML (2012) Antigen cross-priming of cellassociated proteins is enhanced by macroautophagy within the antigen donor cell. Front. Immun. **3**:61. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00061

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Antigen Presenting Cell Biology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2012 Joubert and Albert. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



Antigen processing for MHC class II presentation via autophagy

Christian Münz *

Viral Immunobiology, Institute of Experimental Immunology, University of Zürich, Zürich, Switzerland

Edited by:

Irina Caminschi, Walter and Eliza Hall Institute, Australia

Reviewed by:

Ludger Klein, Ludwig-Maximilians-University, Germany Josef Mautner, Technische Universität München, Germany

*Correspondence:

Christian Münz, Viral Immunobiology, Institute of Experimental Immunology, University of Zürich, Winterthurerstrasse 190, CH-8057 Zürich, Switzerland. e-mail: christian.muenz@uzh.ch T cells recognize proteolytic fragments of antigens that are presented to them on major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules. MHC class I molecules present primarily products of proteasomal proteolysis to CD8⁺ T cells, while MHC class II molecules display mainly degradation products of lysosomes for stimulation of CD4⁺ T cells. Macroautophagy delivers intracellular proteins to lysosomal degradation, and contributes in this fashion to the pool of MHC class II displayed peptides. Both self- and pathogen-derived MHC class II ligands are generated by this pathway. In addition, however, recent evidence points also to regulation of extracellular antigen processing by macroautophagy. In this review, I will discuss these two aspects of antigen processing for MHC class II presentation via macroautophagy, namely its influence on intracellular and extracellular antigen presentation to CD4⁺ T cells.

Keywords: autophagosome, CD4⁺ T cell, amphisome, MHC class II containing compartment, lysosome

INTRODUCTION

T cells recognize antigenic fragments presented to them by major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules. CD4⁺ T helper cells, which orchestrate adaptive humoral and cell-mediated immune responses, are stimulated by MHC class II molecules. These are present in the steady-state on antigen presenting cells (APCs), like B cells, macrophages and dendritic cells, leukocytes that are thought to initiate immune responses, but they can be up-regulated on most human cells upon inflammation or activation (Neefjes et al., 2011). Antigenic fragments and self-peptides are loaded onto MHC class II molecules in late endosomes or MHC class II containing compartments (MIICs). Most likely proteins that are transported to MIICs bind to MHC class II and are then trimmed by lysosomal proteolysis to yield peptides of at least nine amino acids length, but often 15-mers or longer, which then stabilize MHC class II for export from MIICs to the cell surface for T cell stimulation (Trombetta and Mellman, 2005). In addition to proteases, the oxidoreductase GILT (gamma-IFN-inducible lysosomal thiol reductase) participates in the unfolding of antigens by reducing disulfide bonds (Maric et al., 2001). MHC class II molecules reach MIICs with the help of the invariant chain (Ii), which associates with them in the endoplasmic reticulum, where it prevents premature peptide loading onto MHC class II and guides MHC class II transport to MIICs via its cytoplasmic tail. Ii is degraded in MIIC by lysosomal hydrolysis, and its last remnant the CLIP peptide (class II associated invariant chain peptide) is then released from the MHC class II peptide binding groove under the influence of the HLA-DM chaperone, which is negatively regulated by HLA-DO in some cell types. Some self-protein ligands of MHC class II might reach the MIICs via a similar route as MHC class II molecules themselves. Indeed, membrane proteins including MHC class I and II constitute around 40% of natural MHC class II ligands (Dengjel

et al., 2005). Classically, endocytosis delivers non-self antigens to MIICs, but might also account for some surface receptor delivery for MHC class II loading. However, in B cell lines only around 10% of natural MHC class II ligands are derived from bona fide extracellular proteins. In addition, a substantial amount of MHC class II ligands originates from cytosolic and nuclear antigens (Dengjel et al., 2005). This fraction makes up 20–30% of natural MHC class II ligands. In this review I will discuss how macroautophagy, a pathway that engulfs cytoplasmic constituents with a double-membrane surrounded autophagosome and delivers them to lysosomes for degradation (**Figure 1**), might contribute not only to the transport of cytosolic and nuclear antigens to MIICs, but also how it might facilitate the delivery of endocytosed cargo to this compartment.

ENDOGENOUS PROCESSING FOR MHC CLASS II PRESENTATION OF SELF- AND FOREIGN ANTIGENS VIA AUTOPHAGY

SELF-ANTIGEN PROCESSING BY AUTOPHAGY FOR MHC CLASS II PRESENTATION ON LEUKOCYTES AND IN THE THYMUS

Indeed, when macroautophagy was induced in B cell lines by starvation, cytosolic, and nuclear antigen presentation was increased by 50%, while membrane bound antigen presentation remained largely unaffected (Dengjel et al., 2005). For individual ligands the increase even exceeded 130%. This increase in intracellular antigen presentation correlated with macroautophagy induction as determined by autophagic vacuole content. Among the cytosolic MHC class II ligands also two components of the macroautophagic machinery could be found, namely LC3 and GABARAP (Dengjel et al., 2005; Suri et al., 2008). Both of them are mammalian homologs of the autophagy related gene (atg) product Atg8, which are coupled to the autophagosome membrane and involved in the extension of the double-membrane around the cargo and



closure of the final autophagosomes, as well as substrate recruitment into the autophagosome (Weidberg et al., 2010, 2011a,b). Interestingly, Atg8 homologs are also the only essential macroautophagy proteins that remain with the completed autophagosome on its inner membrane and get degraded with the autophagosome cargo by lysosomal proteolysis. Therefore, their turn-over can be monitored to analyze macroautophagy. These findings suggest that autophagosome cargo, including LC3 and GABARAP proteins gain access to MHC class II presentation and, therefore, autophagosomes might frequently fuse with MIICs. Indeed, such fusion events were observed in epithelial cells that expressed MHC class II upon IFN-y treatment and also B cell lines and dendritic cells, as classical APCs (Schmid et al., 2007). The fusion vesicles contained hallmarks of MIICs with expression of HLA-DM and the lysosome associated membrane protein (LAMP) 2. Furthermore they resemble multivesicular bodies (MVBs) with both MHC class II and LC3 molecules primarily on the intravesicular membranes. Such autophagosome fusion delivers also melanosomes and tumor differentiation antigens to MIICs in melanoma cells (van den Boorn et al., 2011). Thus, autophagosomes fuse quite frequently with MIICs in APCs and some of their cargo is loaded onto MHC class II. This self-protein presentation on MHC class II molecules after macroautophagy seems to be especially important during thymic CD4⁺ T cell education. Indeed, also in thymic epithelial cells (TECs), which constitutively express MHC class II molecules, autophagosomes fuse with MIICs (Kasai et al., 2009). This fusion seems to deliver self-proteins for both positive CD4⁺ T cell selection in cortical TECs and negative selection in medullary TECs (Nedjic et al., 2008). Only some, but not other CD4⁺ T cell specificities were selected by cortical TECs deficient in the essential

autophagy protein Atg5, which is involved in Atg8/LC3 coupling to the autophagosome membrane. In contrast, CD8⁺ T cells were correctly educated through Atg5 deficient thymic cortex. In addition, defective negative selection through Atg5 deficient thymii has been suggested to cause autoimmune inflammation in the intestines and other organs. This suggests that a substantial portion of self-protein derived ligands originates from macroautophagy cargo and that these are required to positively select some T cell specificities through the thymus and to induce central tolerance in this organ.

ENDOGENOUS ANTIGEN PROCESSING OF VIRAL AND BACTERIAL ANTIGENS VIA MACROAUTOPHAGY

In addition to self-proteins, some viral and bacterial antigens are presented on MHC class II molecules after macroautophagy. The first viral example for this pathway was the nuclear antigen 1 (EBNA1) of the human tumor virus Epstein Barr virus (EBV; Paludan et al., 2005). This viral protein, which limits both its translation and its proteasomal degradation via a glycine-alanine (GA) repeat domain, is turned over by lysosomal degradation after macroautophagy. The engulfment by autophagosomes leads to MHC class II presentation on EBV transformed B cells to EBNA1 specific CD4⁺ T cell clones, a T cell specificity that is consistently found in healthy EBV carriers (Münz et al., 2000). Its nuclear localization, however, limits antigen processing via macroautophagy, and EBNA1 that lacks its nuclear localization domain is more efficiently presented to CD4⁺ T cells (Leung et al., 2010). More efficient processing of cytosolic EBNA1 via macroautophagy leads to CD4⁺ T cell recognition of more EBNA1 derived epitopes on EBV transformed B cells.

In addition to EBNA1, processing of bacterial antigens has been reported to require macroautophagy. The bacterial transposonderived neomycin phosphotransferase II (NeoR) is presented to CD4⁺ T cells after macroautophagic processing for MHC class II presentation (Nimmerjahn et al., 2003; Comber et al., 2011). Interestingly and in contrast to EBNA1, forced nuclear localization of this after transfection cytosolic protein resulted in similar or even slightly enhanced presentation on MHC class II molecules (Riedel et al., 2008). This presentation was still dependent on macroautophagy and lysosomal degradation. While NeoR was in these studies introduced into the cytosol by transfection, some bacteria inject antigens via secretion systems into the same cellular compartment. Among these is the mycobacterial Ag85B antigen, whose MHC class II presentation by DCs is enhanced upon macroautophagy stimulation (Jagannath et al., 2009). DCs with macroautophagically increased Ag85B presentation elicit then more efficiently protective immune responses after vaccination by adoptive transfer. Thus, macroautophagy might enhance antigen presentation during mycobacterial infection. Furthermore, Yersinia outer proteins YopE and H block MHC class II loading via endocytosis. In the absence of this extracellular antigen processing, YopE fusion proteins get endogenously processed for MHC class II presentation (Russmann et al., 2010). This antigen processing is sensitive to lysosomal and macroautophagy inhibition. Thus bacterial cytosolic, and maybe even nuclear antigens are degraded via macroautophagy and this leads to MHC class II presentation to CD4⁺ T cells.

SUBSTRATE RECRUITMENT FOR ENDOGENOUS MHC CLASS II ANTIGEN PROCESSING VIA AUTOPHAGY

The above discussed evidence suggests that cytosolic and nuclear antigens get processed for MHC class II processing via macroautophagy. But how are these substrates recruited to autophagosomes? In higher eukaryotes two pathways of substrate recruitment to macroautophagy have been described. Both rely on anchoring of cytoplasmic constituents to Atg8/LC3, presumably on the inner autophagosomal membrane and deliver cell organelles like mitochondria as well as protein aggregates to autophagosomes. One pathway uses integral organelle proteins, like NIX for mitochondria (Schweers et al., 2007; Sandoval et al., 2008), to recruit them to forming autophagosomes or autophagosomal membranes to their cargo. The second mechanism relies on protein adaptors that link polyubiquitinylated substrates to Atg8/LC3 via ubiquitin-binding domains (UBA or UBZ) and LC3 interacting domains (LIRs). The four identified members of this class of proteins are p62/sequestosome 1, NBR1, NDP52, and optineurin (Bjorkoy et al., 2005; Pankiv et al., 2007; Kirkin et al., 2009; Thurston et al., 2009; Wild et al., 2011). They recruit protein aggregates, mitochondria, and bacterial pathogens, like Salmonella, to autophagosomes. Because they anchor these substrates to the inner autophagosomal membrane, they end up in the completed autophagosomes and are degraded with their content. Thus, they can be used to monitor autophagosome turn-over or macroautophagic flux. While none of these adaptor proteins has so far been directly linked to antigen processing for MHC class II presentation,

covalent coupling of antigens to the N-terminus of Atg8/LC3 enhances their presentation on MHC class II molecules to CD4⁺ T cells by epithelial cells, B cells, and dendritic cells up to 20-fold. Such increase has been observed for the influenza A virus antigens matrix protein 1 (MP1; Schmid et al., 2007) and hemagglutinin (HA; Comber et al., 2011), as well as the tumor antigen NY-ESO-1 (unpublished data). Delivery of these fusion constructs to MIICs was dependent on the macroautophagy machinery, namely Atg7 and 12, and mutating the Cterminal glycine residue of Atg8/LC3, which is used to couple this protein to the autophagosomal membrane, abolishes enhanced MHC class II presentation of these fusion constructs (Schmid and Münz, 2007; Comber et al., 2011). These data argue that Atg8/LC3 can recruit antigens for MHC class II presentation to autophagosomes, which then frequently fuse with MIICs. To which extent the UBA/LIR anchor proteins and organelle specific LIR containing proteins contribute to self- and foreignprotein recruitment for MHC class II presentation remains to be determined.

EXTRACELLULAR ANTIGEN PROCESSING FOR MHC CLASS II PRESENTATION WITH THE HELP OF AUTOPHAGY CHARACTERISTICS OF PROCESSING VESICLES FOR MHC CLASS II LOADING

Major histocompatibility complex class II containing compartments are usually characterized as late endosomal compartments with intravesicular membranes that morphologically appear either as MVBs, multilamellar (MLBs), or electron dense bodies (EDBs; Stern et al., 2006; Neefjes et al., 2011). Rarely, they have a clear lysosomal appearance, which suggests that their hydrolytic potential is controlled, and does not readily degrade antigens and MHC class II molecules all the way to amino acids. This notion is also supported by recent studies on limited acidification of endosomes in dendritic cells by alkalinization via for example reactive oxygen species (ROS) production by phagosomal NADPH oxidase 2 (NOX2; Savina et al., 2006). Elevated pH causes less efficient hydrolysis by for example lysosomal cathepsins. Along these lines MHC class II antigen presentation of macroautophagy substrates can be enhanced by slightly neutralizing the endolysosomal compartment with pharmacological reagents in macrophages (Brazil et al., 1997). In support of these cell biological studies, dendritic cells, and macrophages handle antigen also differently in vivo. While macrophages, which have a decreased ability to initiate immune responses, degrade injected antigen rapidly within 1 day, dendritic cells, superior in activation of adaptive immune compartments, retain injected antigens even 2 days after injection (Delamarre et al., 2005). Accordingly, antigen formulations, which are highly sensitive to lysosomal degradation are less well presented to CD4⁺ T cells and induce weaker immune responses than antigens with some resistance to hydrolysis (Delamarre et al., 2006). These data suggest that extracellular antigen is more efficiently presented on MHC class II molecules, when it is degraded less efficiently, and that rapid fusion with lysosomes would rather be detrimental for CD4⁺ T cell stimulation. This has to be kept in mind when we now discuss what the macroautophagic machinery contributes to phagocytosis and phagosome maturation.

ALTERATIONS OF PHAGOSOMES THROUGH THE MACROAUTOPHAGY MACHINERY

Fusion of autophagosomes and endosomes is a frequent process in higher eukaryotic cells and the resulting vesicles were termed amphisomes (Berg et al., 1998). While Rab7 seems to be involved in direct fusion of autophagosomes with lysosomes, endosome, and MVB fusion is mediated by Rab11 (Gutierrez et al., 2004b; Fader et al., 2008). Amphisomes are then also delivered to lysosomes. Thus, autophagosomes might modify phagosomes via delivering additional cargo to amphisomes. Along these lines macroautophagy has been described to transport source proteins of microbial peptides to phagosomes (Alonso et al., 2007; Ponpuak et al., 2010). These were found to be derived from ubiquitin itself or proteins with ubiquitin-like domains, that were imported into autophagosomes by some of the anchor proteins described above. In part due to this cargo delivery autophagosome fusion with phagosomes renders the resulting amphisomes more degradative for endocytosed bacterial pathogens (Gutierrez et al., 2004a; Birmingham et al., 2006). ROS production by NOX2 and diacylglycerol (DAG) formation at the phagosomal membrane was proposed to enhance autophagosome fusion with bacteria containing phagosomes (Huang et al., 2009; Shahnazari et al., 2010). Thus, amphisome formation can enhance bactericidal activity of phagosomes.

In addition, macroautophagy has been described to accelerate phagosome fusion with lysosomes (Sanjuan et al., 2007; Florey et al., 2011). However, this pathway might not require autophagosome fusion with lysosomes, but coupling of Atg8/LC3 to the phagosomal membrane (Figure 1). Accordingly, Atg8/LC3 co-localization to phagosomes and enhanced fusion of phagosomes with lysosomes is dependent on the core machinery of Atg8/LC3 lipidation, for example Atg5 and Atg7, but not on factors that are required for starvation induced macroautophagy, like mTOR and Atg1/ULK1. Toll-like receptor (TLR) agonist carrying particles and apoptotic cells have been identified in Atg8/LC3 positive phagosomes. How Atg8/LC3 on the outside of the phagosome, however, mediates enhanced fusion with lysosomes remains unclear. It is tempting to speculate that Atg8/LC3, which is involved in autophagosome membrane extension by possibly mediating fusion with additional membranes (Nakatogawa et al., 2007; Weidberg et al., 2011a), could also promote other vesicular fusion events directly, like phagosome fusion with lysosomes. Irrespective of the mechanism, the macroautophagy machinery seems to modify phagocytosis by delivering precursors of bactericidal peptides to phagosomes and accelerating their fusion with lysosomes.

ENHANCED EXTRACELLULAR ANTIGEN PROCESSING VIA MACROAUTOPHAGY

Although rapid degradation of phagosomal content rather destroys antigens than leads to their presentation and phagosomes have been described to mature faster with the help of

REFERENCES

Alonso, S., Pethe, K., Russell, D. G., and Purdy, G. E. (2007). Lysosomal killing of *Mycobacterium* mediated by ubiquitin-derived peptides is enhanced by autophagy. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 6031–6036. Berg, T. O., Fengsrud, M., Stromhaug, P. E., Berg, T., and Seglen, P. O. (1998). Isolation and characterization of rat liver amphisomes. Evidence for fusion of autophagosomes with both early and late endosomes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273, 21883–21892. the macroautophagy machinery, it was found that mice with macroautophagy deficiency in their dendritic cell compartment were less able to prime CD4⁺ T cell responses after herpes simplex virus (HSV) infection (Lee et al., 2010). Similarly, HSV lacking its ICP34.5 antigen, which blocks autophagosome formation (Orvedahl et al., 2007), stimulates stronger CD4⁺ T cell responses than wild-type HSV infection (Leib et al., 2009). Even so these data could still suggest intracellular HSV antigen processing by macroautophagy and cytosolic ovalbumin was also less efficiently presented on MHC class II molecules by Atg5 deficient dendritic cells, in addition, extracellular ovalbumin was less efficiently presented to CD4⁺ T cells by macroautophagy deficient dendritic cells (Lee et al., 2010). This was correlated with less efficient recruitment of lysosomal hydrolases, particularly cathepsins, to phagosomes in the absence of macroautophagy. However, to which extend this more rapid phagosome maturation with the help of the macroautophagy machinery contributes to extracellular antigen presentation on MHC class II molecules remains unknown, and influenza antigen processing for MHC class II presentation to CD4⁺ T cells was unaffected by macroautophagy inhibition (Comber et al., 2011). Therefore, CD4⁺ T cell responses only to some, but not other pathogens might be dependent on macroautophagy in dendritic cells for their induction, and the mechanism of macroautophagic assistance for extracellular antigen processing onto MHC class II molecules remains poorly defined.

CONCLUSION AND OUTLOOK

Macroautophagy delivers cytoplasmic constituents for lysosomal degradation. This machinery is also used to visualize intracellular antigens to CD4⁺ T cells by processing them for MHC class II presentation. However, in the process of studying dependency of antigen processing on macroautophagy an additional pathway was revealed, by which macroautophagy influences extracellular antigen processing for MHC class II presentation to CD4⁺ T cells. How coupling of Atg8/LC3 to the phagosomal membrane, however, modifies phagosome maturation, potentially accelerating fusion with lysosomes remains unknown. Furthermore, the role of this accelerated phagosome maturation for MHC class II presentation remains to be determined. A better understanding of these molecular processes during antigen presentation should allow us to design antigens that are then more efficiently processed for CD4⁺ T cell stimulation and choose adjuvants, like TLR agonists, that utilize macroautophagy to optimize antigen presentation.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Research in my laboratory is supported by grants from the National Cancer Institute (R01CA108609), the Sassella Foundation (10/02), Cancer Research Switzerland (KFS-02652-08-2010), the Association for International Cancer Research (11-0516), the Vontobel Foundation, Novartis, and the Swiss National Science Foundation (310030_126995).

- Birmingham, C. L., Smith, A. C., Bakowski, M. A., Yoshimori, T., and Brumell, J. H. (2006). Autophagy controls Salmonella infection in response to damage to the Salmonella-containing vacuole. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 11374–11383.
- Bjorkoy, G., Lamark, T., Brech, A., Outzen, H., Perander, M., Overvatn, A., Stenmark, H., and Johansen, T. (2005). p62/SQSTM1 forms protein aggregates degraded by autophagy and has a protective effect on huntingtin-induced

cell death. J. Cell Biol. 171, 603–614.

- Brazil, M. I., Weiss, S., and Stockinger, B. (1997). Excessive degradation of intracellular protein in macrophages prevents presentation in the context of major histocompatibility complex class II molecules. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 27, 1506–1514.
- Comber, J. D., Robinson, T. M., Siciliano, N. A., Snook, A. E., and Eisenlohr, L. C. (2011). Functional macroautophagy induction by influenza A virus without a contribution to MHC-class II restricted presentation. J. Virol. 85, 6453–6463.
- Delamarre, L., Couture, R., Mellman, I., and Trombetta, E. S. (2006). Enhancing immunogenicity by limiting susceptibility to lysosomal proteolysis. *J. Exp. Med.* 203, 2049–2055.
- Delamarre, L., Pack, M., Chang, H., Mellman, I., and Trombetta, E. S. (2005). Differential lysosomal proteolysis in antigen-presenting cells determines antigen fate. *Science* 307, 1630–1634.
- Dengjel, J., Schoor, O., Fischer, R., Reich, M., Kraus, M., Muller, M., Kreymborg, K., Altenberend, F., Brandenburg, J., Kalbacher, H., Brock, R., Driessen, C., Rammensee, H. G., and Stevanovic, S. (2005). Autophagy promotes MHC class II presentation of peptides from intracellular source proteins. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 102, 7922–7927.
- Fader, C. M., Sanchez, D., Furlan, M., and Colombo, M. I. (2008). Induction of autophagy promotes fusion of multivesicular bodies with autophagic vacuoles in K562 cells. *Traffic* 9, 230–250.
- Florey, O., Kim, S. E., Sandoval, C. P., Haynes, C. M., and Overholtzer, M. (2011). Autophagy machinery mediates macroendocytic processing and entotic cell death by targeting single membranes. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 13, 1335–1343.
- Gutierrez, M. G., Master, S. S., Singh, S. B., Taylor, G. A., Colombo, M. I., and Deretic, V. (2004a). Autophagy is a defense mechanism inhibiting BCG and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* survival in infected macrophages. *Cell* 119, 753–766.
- Gutierrez, M. G., Munafo, D. B., Beron, W., and Colombo, M. I. (2004b). Rab7 is required for the normal progression of the autophagic pathway in mammalian cells. *J. Cell. Sci.* 117, 2687–2697.
- Huang, J., Canadien, V., Lam, G. Y., Steinberg, B. E., Dinauer, M. C., Magalhaes, M. A., Glogauer, M., Grinstein, S., and Brumell, J. H.

(2009). Activation of antibacterial autophagy by NADPH oxidases. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 6226–6231.

- Jagannath, C., Lindsey, D. R., Dhandayuthapani, S., Xu, Y., Hunter, R. L. Jr., and Eissa, N. T. (2009). Autophagy enhances the efficacy of BCG vaccine by increasing peptide presentation in mouse dendritic cells. *Nat. Med.* 15, 267–276.
- Kasai, M., Tanida, I., Ueno, T., Kominami, E., Seki, S., Ikeda, T., and Mizuochi, T. (2009). Autophagic compartments gain access to the MHC class II compartments in thymic epithelium. *J. Immunol.* 183, 7278–7285.
- Kirkin, V., Lamark, T., Sou, Y. S., Bjorkoy, G., Nunn, J. L., Bruun, J. A., Shvets, E., Mcewan, D. G., Clausen, T. H., Wild, P., Bilusic, I., Theurillat, J. P., Overvatn, A., Ishii, T., Elazar, Z., Komatsu, M., Dikic, I., and Johansen, T. (2009). A role for NBR1 in autophagosomal degradation of ubiquitinated substrates. *Mol. Cell* 33, 505–516.
- Lee, H. K., Mattei, L. M., Steinberg, B. E., Alberts, P., Lee, Y. H., Chervonsky, A., Mizushima, N., Grinstein, S., and Iwasaki, A. (2010). In vivo requirement for Atg5 in antigen presentation by dendritic cells. *Immunity* 32, 227–239.
- Leib, D. A., Alexander, D. E., Cox, D., Yin, J., and Ferguson, T. A. (2009). Interaction of ICP34.5 with beclin 1 modulates herpes simplex virus type 1 pathogenesis through control of CD4+ T-cell responses. J. Virol. 83, 12164–12171.
- Leung, C. S., Haigh, T. A., Mackay, L. K., Rickinson, A. B., and Taylor, G. S. (2010). Nuclear location of an endogenously expressed antigen, EBNA1, restricts access to macroautophagy and the range of CD4 epitope display. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 2165–2170.
- Maric, M., Arunachalam, B., Phan, U. T., Dong, C., Garrett, W. S., Cannon, K. S., Alfonso, C., Karlsson, L., Flavell, R. A., and Cresswell, P. (2001). Defective antigen processing in GILT-free mice. *Science* 294, 1361–1365.
- Münz, C., Bickham, K. L., Subklewe, M., Tsang, M. L., Chahroudi, A., Kurilla, M. G., Zhang, D., O'donnell, M., and Steinman, R. M. (2000). Human CD4⁺ T lymphocytes consistently respond to the latent Epstein-Barr virus nuclear antigen EBNA1. J. Exp. Med. 191, 1649–1660.
- Nakatogawa, H., Ichimura, Y., and Ohsumi, Y. (2007). Atg8, a

ubiquitin-like protein required for autophagosome formation, mediates membrane tethering and hemifusion. *Cell* 130, 165–178.

- Nedjic, J., Aichinger, M., Emmerich, J., Mizushima, N., and Klein, L. (2008). Autophagy in thymic epithelium shapes the T-cell repertoire and is essential for tolerance. *Nature* 455, 396–400.
- Neefjes, J., Jongsma, M. L., Paul, P., and Bakke, O. (2011). Towards a systems understanding of MHC class I and MHC class II antigen presentation. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 11, 823–836.
- Nimmerjahn, F., Milosevic, S., Behrends, U., Jaffee, E. M., Pardoll, D. M., Bornkamm, G. W., and Mautner, J. (2003). Major histocompatibility complex class II-restricted presentation of a cytosolic antigen by autophagy. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 33, 1250–1259.
- Orvedahl, A., Alexander, D., Talloczy, Z., Sun, Q., Wei, Y., Zhang, W., Burns, D., Leib, D., and Levine, B. (2007). HSV-1 ICP34.5 confers neurovirulence by targeting the beclin 1 autophagy protein. *Cell Host Microbe* 1, 23–35.
- Paludan, C., Schmid, D., Landthaler, M., Vockerodt, M., Kube, D., Tuschl, T., and Münz, C. (2005). Endogenous MHC class II processing of a viral nuclear antigen after autophagy. *Science* 307, 593–596.
- Pankiv, S., Clausen, T. H., Lamark, T., Brech, A., Bruun, J. A., Outzen, H., Overvatn, A., Bjorkoy, G., and Johansen, T. (2007). p62/SQSTM1 binds directly to Atg8/LC3 to facilitate degradation of ubiquitinated protein aggregates by autophagy. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 24131–24145.
- Ponpuak, M., Davis, A. S., Roberts, E. A., Delgado, M. A., Dinkins, C., Zhao, Z., Virgin, H. W. T., Kyei, G. B., Johansen, T., Vergne, I., and Deretic, V. (2010). Delivery of cytosolic components by autophagic adaptor protein p62 endows autophagosomes with unique antimicrobial properties. *Immunity* 32, 329–341.
- Riedel, A., Nimmerjahn, F., Burdach, S., Behrends, U., Bornkamm, G. W., and Mautner, J. (2008). Endogenous presentation of a nuclear antigen on MHC class II by autophagy in the absence of CRM1-mediated nuclear export. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 38, 2090–2095.
- Russmann, H., Panthel, K., Kohn, B., Jellbauer, S., Winter, S. E., Garbom, S., Wolf-Watz, H., Hoffmann, S., Grauling-Halama, S., and Geginat, G. (2010). Alternative endogenous protein processing via an autophagydependent pathway compensates

for *Yersinia*-mediated inhibition of endosomal major histocompatibility complex class II antigen presentation. *Infect. Immun.* 78, 5138–5150.

- Sandoval, H., Thiagarajan, P., Dasgupta, S. K., Schumacher, A., Prchal, J. T., Chen, M., and Wang, J. (2008). Essential role for Nix in autophagic maturation of erythroid cells. *Nature* 454, 232–235.
- Sanjuan, M. A., Dillon, C. P., Tait, S. W., Moshiach, S., Dorsey, F., Connell, S., Komatsu, M., Tanaka, K., Cleveland, J. L., Withoff, S., and Green, D. R. (2007). Toll-like receptor signalling in macrophages links the autophagy pathway to phagocytosis. *Nature* 450, 1253–1257.
- Savina, A., Jancic, C., Hugues, S., Guermonprez, P., Vargas, P., Moura, I. C., Lennon-Dumenil, A. M., Seabra, M. C., Raposo, G., and Amigorena, S. (2006). NOX2 controls phagosomal pH to regulate antigen processing during crosspresentation by dendritic cells. *Cell* 126, 205–218.
- Schmid, D., and Münz, C. (2007). Innate and adaptive immunity through autophagy. *Immunity* 26, 11–21.
- Schmid, D., Pypaert, M., and Münz, C. (2007). MHC class II antigen loading compartments continuously receive input from autophagosomes. *Immunity* 26, 79–92.
- Schweers, R. L., Zhang, J., Randall, M. S., Loyd, M. R., Li, W., Dorsey, F. C., Kundu, M., Opferman, J. T., Cleveland, J. L., Miller, J. L., and Ney, P. A. (2007). NIX is required for programmed mitochondrial clearance during reticulocyte maturation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 19500–19505.
- Shahnazari, S., Yen, W. L., Birmingham, C. L., Shiu, J., Namolovan, A., Zheng, Y. T., Nakayama, K., Klionsky, D. J., and Brumell, J. H. (2010). A diacylglycerol-dependent signaling pathway contributes to regulation of antibacterial autophagy. *Cell Host Microbe* 8, 137–146.
- Stern, L. J., Potolicchio, I., and Santambrogio, L. (2006). MHC class II compartment subtypes: structure and function. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 18, 64–69.
- Suri, A., Walters, J. J., Rohrs, H. W., Gross, M. L., and Unanue, E. R. (2008). First signature of islet {beta}-cell-derived naturally processed peptides selected by diabetogenic class II MHC molecules. J. Immunol. 180, 3849–3856.
- Thurston, T. L., Ryzhakov, G., Bloor, S., Von Muhlinen, N., and Randow, F. (2009). The TBK1 adaptor and

autophagy receptor NDP52 restricts the proliferation of ubiquitincoated bacteria. *Nat. Immunol.* 10, 1215–1221.

- Trombetta, E. S., and Mellman, I. (2005). Cell biology of antigen processing in vitro and in vivo. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 23, 975–1028.
- van den Boorn, J. G., Picavet, D. I., Van Swieten, P. F., Van Veen, H. A., Konijnenberg, D., Van Veelen, P. A., Van Capel, T., Jong, E. C., Reits, E. A., Drijfhout, J. W., Bos, J. D., Melief, C. J., and Luiten, R. M. (2011). Skin-depigmenting agent monobenzone induces potent T-cell autoimmunity toward pigmented cells by tyrosinase

haptenation and melanosome autophagy. J. Invest. Dermatol. 131, 1240–1251.

- Weidberg, H., Shpilka, T., Shvets, E., Abada, A., Shimron, F., and Elazar, Z. (2011a). LC3 and GATE-16 N termini mediate membrane fusion processes required for autophagosome biogenesis. *Dev. Cell* 20, 444–454.
- Weidberg, H., Shvets, E., and Elazar, Z. (2011b). Biogenesis and cargo selectivity of autophagosomes. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 80, 125–156.
- Weidberg, H., Shvets, E., Shpilka, T., Shimron, F., Shinder, V., and Elazar, Z. (2010). LC3 and GATE-16/GABARAP subfamilies are both essential yet

act differently in autophagosome biogenesis. *EMBO J.* 29, 1792–1802.

Wild, P., Farhan, H., Mcewan, D. G., Wagner, S., Rogov, V. V., Brady, N. R., Richter, B., Korac, J., Waidmann, O., Choudhary, C., Dotsch, V., Bumann, D., and Dikic, I. (2011). Phosphorylation of the autophagy receptor optineurin restricts *Salmonella* growth. *Science*. 333, 228–233.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 08 December 2011; paper pending published: 03 January 2012; accepted: 16 January 2012; published online: 02 February 2012.

Citation: Münz C (2012) Antigen processing for MHC class II presentation via autophagy. Front. Immun. 3:9. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00009

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Antigen Presenting Cell Biology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2012 Münz. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



Macroautophagy in T lymphocyte development and function

Ming-Xiao He, Ian X. McLeod, Wei Jia and You-Wen He*

Department of Immunology, Duke University, Durham, NC, USA

Edited by:

Christian Munz, University of Zurich, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Joern Dengjel, Albert-Ludwigs-Universität Freiburg, Germany Binfeng Lu, University of Pittsburgh, USA

*Correspondence:

You-Wen He, Department of Immunology, Duke University, Durham, NC 27710, USA. e-mail: he000004@mc.duke.ed Macroautophagy (referred to as autophagy) is a fundamental intracellular process characterized by the sequestration of cytoplasmic compartments through double-membrane vesicles, termed autophagosomes. Recent studies have established important roles of autophagy in regulating T lymphocyte development and function. Resting T lymphocytes have basal levels of autophagy that is upregulated by T cell receptor stimulation. Several specific knockout or transgenic models have been developed during the past few years, and it has been revealed that autophagy plays an essential role in regulating thymocyte selection, peripheral T cell survival, and proliferation. The regulation of T cell development and function by autophagy is mediated through its role in regulating self-antigen presentation, intracellular organelle homeostasis, and energy production. Here we will review the current findings concerning how autophagy regulates T cell function, as well as compare different models in studying autophagy in T lymphocytes.

Keywords: autophagy, apoptosis, T lymphocyte, thymocyte selection, organelle homeostasis

INTRODUCTION

Macroautophagy is a cellular process characterized by the sequestration of cytoplasmic compartments through double-membrane vesicles, termed autophagosomes. Macroautophagy (therefore referred as autophagy) starts with the generation of doublemembrane bound structures referred as isolation membranes or phagophores. The phagophore then retains intracellular components to form autophagosomes. Consequentially, autophagosomes fuse with lysosomes, in which the inside content is digested (Klionsky and Emr, 2000). Autophagosome biogenesis requires a group of evolutionarily conserved genes, referred to as autophagy-related genes (atgs; Longatti and Tooze, 2009). The initiation of the phagophore requires the class III phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PtdINs3K) complex, which further recruits two ubiquitin-like conjugation systems: The Atg12-Atg5 conjugation and LC3 processing (Ohsumi and Mizushima, 2004; He and Klionsky, 2009; Figure 1). Autophagy has been shown to be important for providing nutrients during starvation, clearing long-lived proteins as well as unwanted organelles, and fighting intracellular infections in multiple types of mammalian cells (Mortimore and Poso, 1987; Levine et al., 2011). The primary role of autophagy in certain cells depends on the cell type and environment. To study autophagy in primary T lymphocytes, several specific knockout or transgenic models have been developed during the past few years, and it has been revealed that autophagy plays an essential role in T cell homeostasis and function. The phenotypes of different *atg*-deficient T cells showed a great deal of similarity, with certain differences, which can be explained as a function of deletion timing or efficiency, accumulating effects, or the molecular functions outside of autophagy. Here we will review the current findings concerning how autophagy regulates T cell function, as well as compare different models in studying autophagy in T lymphocytes.

AUTOPHAGY INDUCTION IN T LYMPHOCYTES

Although relatively low, autophagy can be detected in all subsets of thymocytes and freshly isolated naïve T lymphocytes (Li et al., 2006; Pua et al., 2007; Stephenson et al., 2009). These results were fairly surprising, since T cells contain limited cytoplasm. The existence of autophagy in T lymphocytes suggests a regulatory role of intracellular program. Aging T lymphocytes, on the other hand, showed an accumulation of autophagic vacuoles. In a study of long-term *in vitro* human lymphocyte culture, the percentage of cells with autophagosomes increased during culture, which was associated with the increase in lysosomal mass and accumulation of lipofusion events (Gerland et al., 2004).

The T cell receptor (TCR) mediates activation signal upon interaction with the antigenic peptide presented by the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) on antigen presenting cells. TCR activation is a strong trigger for autophagy in T lymphocytes (Pua et al., 2007, 2009; Hubbard et al., 2010; Jia and He, 2011; Jia et al., 2011; Kovacs et al., 2012). CD4⁺ T cells upregulate Beclin-1 (Atg6) and LC3 (Atg8) upon TCR stimulation (Arsov et al., 2008). Ultrastructural studies revealed an increase in the number and a decrease in the size of autophagosomes after TCR stimulation. Interestingly, while mitochondria are frequently contained in the autophagosomes of resting T lymphocytes, the autophagic cargo switches to almost exclusively cytosolic material in activated T lymphocytes (Hubbard et al., 2010). Mitochondria undergo morphological changes during autophagy induction to escape autophagic degradation and maintain energy production in mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs; Gomes et al., 2011). It is important to determine whether T lymphocytes apply similar strategies or utilize unique pathways to regulate the mitochondrial content.

T cell receptor-induced autophagy requires the key autophagy machinery, as deleting Atg5, Atg7, and Atg3 can abolish autophagosomal induction (Pua et al., 2007, 2009; Hubbard et al., 2010;



Jia and He, 2011). However, the class III PI3K, Vps34, seems to be dispensable for autophagy induction in mature T lymphocytes (McLeod et al., 2011). JNK1/JNK2 is required for TCRinduced autophagy in CD4⁺ T cells (Li et al., 2006). Beclin-1, a component of PtdINs3K complex, was shown to be crucial for autophagy initiation (Yue et al., 2003). The level of autophagy in Beclin-1 deficient primary T lymphocytes remains to be measured (Kovacs et al., 2012). Nevertheless, overexpression of Beclin-1 in T lymphocytes by a BAC transgene did not change the basal level of autophagy in multiple organs including thymus and spleen (Arsov et al., 2008), suggesting that additional autophagy initiators may be required in T lymphocytes for autophagy induction.

T cell receptor-induced autophagy is compromised in aged CD4⁺ T lymphocytes (Mattoo et al., 2009). The mechanism by which autophagy induction is defective during aging is unclear. Some evidence suggested that the Rel family member, p65, might be involved, as the nuclear translocation of p65 upon TCR signaling is impaired in aged CD4⁺ T cells (Mattoo et al., 2009), and p65 has been shown to be essential for autophagy induction by upregulating the transcription of Beclin-1 in multiple cell lines (Copetti et al., 2009). It is also unknown whether defective autophagy induction leads to other defects in aged T lymphocytes, such as increased mitochondrial damage, reduction in glycolysis, or enhanced apoptosis upon primary TCR stimulation. It would

be appealing to investigate whether modulating autophagic levels can restore the function of aged T lymphocytes.

AUTOPHAGY IN T LYMPHOCYTE HOMEOSTASIS: DIFFERENT GENETIC MODELS, SIMILAR DEFECTS

Several tissue-specific knockout models have been developed during the past few years to study the role of autophagy in T lymphocytes. The deficiency in autophagy-related genes leads to a blockage in autophagic flux, as well as impaired T cell homeostasis. In $Atg5^{-/-}$ fetal liver chimeric mice, the thymocytes undergo full maturation, but the thymic cellularity is reduced by half. The peripheral T lymphocyte number is dramatically decreased, which may be the result of both the loss of thymocytes and increased cell death rate (Pua et al., 2007). The Atg5^{f/f}Lck-Cre⁺ mice generated later showed an almost identical phenotype to the $Atg5^{-/-}$ chimera (Stephenson et al., 2009). The question was whether the loss of autophagy was the real reason for the enhanced cell death, since Atg5 interacts with Fas-associated death domain (FADD) protein and the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-x_L (Pyo et al., 2005; Yousefi et al., 2006). Atg5 may regulate apoptosis through the extrinsic or intrinsic cell death pathways (Zhang et al., 2005).

To address whether Atg5 regulates T cell homeostasis through autophagy, several other tissue-specific knockout models have been analyzed since. Autophagosome formation requires two interrelated protein conjugation systems: LC3 processing and Atg5-Atg12 conjugation. During LC3 processing, Atg3, along with Atg7, catalyzes the cleavage and conjugation of LC3-I to generate the membrane bound LC3-phosphatidylethanolamine (LC3-II/LC3-PE; Levine et al., 2011). Tissue-specific knockout of Atg3 using an Lck-Cre system [deletion occurs during double negative (DN) stage in thymus] revealed an almost identical phenotype as the Atg5^{-/-} chimera, characterized by normal frequencies of DN, double positive (DP), and single positive (SP) thymocytes in the thymus, but a reduced cellularity in both the thymus and peripheral T cell pools (Jia and He, 2011). On the other hand, the thymocyte cellularity in Atg7^{f/f}Lck-Cre⁺ mice was barely decreased (Stephenson et al., 2009), with only a minor reduction in SP cells. Despite the difference inside the thymus, T lymphocytes in all these models (Atg5^{-/-} chimera, Atg5^{f/f}Lck-Cre⁺, Atg7^{f/f}Lck-Cre⁺, Atg3^{f/f}Lck-Cre⁺, and BECN^{f/f}CD4-Cre⁺) showed decreased T cell numbers in the periphery and an enhanced apoptosis (Pua et al., 2007, 2009; Stephenson et al., 2009; Jia and He, 2011; Kovacs et al., 2012).

Ortiz's group utilized a Rag-1^{-/-} (recombination activating gene-1 null) blastocyte complementation to study the role of Beclin-1 in hematopoietic cells. Beclin-1-deficient (BECN^{-/-}) blastocytes were transferred to a Rag-1^{-/-} host. The data showed that Beclin-1 is required for the maintenance of early thymocyte progenitors. Controversially, survival and TCR-induced proliferation remained normal in BECN^{-/-} T lymphocytes developed in this system. Moreover, autophagy can be detected in those cells, though decreased compared to controls (Arsov et al., 2011). These results indicate that a Beclin-1 independent autophagy-inducing pathway may occur in T lymphocytes. The mechanism of autophagy induction in the absence of Beclin-1 needs to be determined.

Vps34, a key component in PtdINs3K complex, regulates the assembly of phagophore. Surprisingly, Vps34 deficient T cells showed no change in LC3 puncta formation after TCR stimulation or starvation. Moreover, autophagosomes could be detected in naïve Vps34^{-/-} T cells by transmission electronic microscopy (McLeod et al., 2011). These results suggest that Vps34 is not essential for autophagy induction in T lymphocytes. The differences in findings between Vps34 and Beclin-1 knockout T cells can be explained by the accessory molecules associated with the complex. Beclin-1 also has affinity for Bcl-2, and is an interaction partner with Bcl-2 during conditions of stress (Liang et al., 1998), inhibiting the ability of Bcl-2 to repress pro-apoptotic Bax/Bak (Wei et al., 2008). Additionally, other functions of Beclin-1 include recruitment of proteins that bend and flex membranes, including UVRAG and Bif1, to provide the physical machinery for autophagosomal elongation (Takahashi et al., 2007, 2009). Finally, Vps34 can function as a scaffold for the autophagic process, but the lipid kinase function of this molecule can potentially be compensated for by phosphatidylinositol metabolism. This has been recently confirmed by data in MEFs showing that the class Ia PI3K, p110 β , is a positive regulator of autophagy (Dou et al., 2010).

AUTOPHAGY IN THYMOCYTE SELECTION

Autophagy plays an important role in the generation and selection of thymocytes which have little autoreactivity. Interestingly, this autophagy occurs in thymic epithelial cells (TECs), which although are not hematopoietic in nature, are the major selecting cells in thymic education and tolerance induction. As thymocytes mature, they undergo a functional rearrangement of VDJ gene segments in various TCR loci (either $\alpha\beta$ or $\gamma\delta$ TCR subunits) to express a surface TCR receptor (Schatz and Ji, 2011). These maturing thymocytes depend on receiving TCR-mediated survival cues. During this process, DP thymocytes of the $\alpha\beta$ lineage are selected by cortical thymic epithelial cells (cTECs) by a process termed "positive selection" (Takahama et al., 2010) and migrate inward to be selected by medullary TECs by "negative selection." Through this process, TCR clones are generated that have low affinities for self-peptides presented in the context of a MHC. One of the mechanisms that TECs use for this process is the expression of autoimmune regulator (AIRE), which regulates the expression of a host of tissue-specific proteins against which developing thymocytes can be selected (Heino et al., 1999). Another possibility is that thymocytes develop in the presence of antigens derived from peripheral cells that are transported back to the thymus by dendritic cells. However, from studies performed by Nedjic et al. (2008a), it is clear that autophagy is a major mechanism by which self-antigens are processed and presented for selection of developing thymocytes.

Thymic epithelial cells have extraordinarily high levels of constitutive autophagy (Nedjic et al., 2008a). Using Atg5-deficient TECs engrafted into nude mice, Nedjic observed normal thymocyte numbers. However, these cells had undergone a disrupted process of positive and negative selection, despite the normal expression of AIRE, suggesting a role of macroautophagy in the selection. Moreover, when T cells selected by Atg5-deficient TECs were transferred, they recapitulated a wasting disease with colitis and lung infiltration highly reminiscent of typical autoimmune disorders (Nedjic et al., 2008a). These results are consistent with that autophagy is essential for the expression of self peptide-MHC complexes on TECs to foster normal T cell development. When the abnormally low phagocytic activity of TECs is accounted for, the prominence of autophagy in generating peptides for MHC display is enhanced even further (Nedjic et al., 2008b). It would be of great interest to investigate the opposite effect, namely would increasing autophagic activity in TECs promote T cell production?

Conversely, a study showed that autophagic activity in thymocytes (including TECs) was greatly reduced in aged mice, correlating with a reduced pool of mature T cell production in these mice (Uddin et al., 2012). It would be of great interest to determine whether increased levels of autophagy could be stimulated in TECs of aged mice to increase the pool of mature T lymphocytes and maintain clonal diversity into old age.

AUTOPHAGY IN T CELL FUNCTION

AUTOPHAGY AND INTRACELLULAR ORGANELLE HOMEOSTASIS

Autophagy selectively degrading mitochondria, termed as mitophagy (Kraft et al., 2009), plays a role in controlling mitochondria content during T cell development (Pua et al., 2009; Stephenson et al., 2009). Transcriptional profiling of Atg5-deficient T lymphocytes revealed a remarkable enrichment in mitochondrion-associated genes (Stephenson et al., 2009). The mitochondrial contents in T lymphocytes are gradually decreased during the

transition from thymocytes to peripheral T lymphocytes. The level of mitochondria was shown to be the highest in DP thymocytes, followed by SP thymocytes, and mature T lymphocytes contained the lowest volume (Pua et al., 2009). This contraction of mitochondria requires autophagy, as least partially, as mitochondrial content was higher in Atg5^{-/-}, Atg7^{-/-}, and Atg3^{-/-} than in wild-type T lymphocytes (Pua et al., 2009; Stephenson et al., 2009; Jia et al., 2011). On the other hand, it was reported that cells from BECN^{f/f} CD4-Cre⁺ mice showed no change in mitochondrial content (Kovacs et al., 2012). One possible explanation is that genomic deletion only starts in DP thymocytes in this model, and persistent level of Beclin-1 protein in cells is enough to manage the autophagic degradation of mitochondria. Still, one cannot rule out the possibility that mitochondrial content regulation and even autophagy are achieved independent of Beclin-1 in T lymphocytes. Current data indicates that autophagy protects T lymphocytes migrating to the periphery by eliminating excessive mitochondria. Mitochondria are assumed to be the major reservoir of toxic reactive oxygen species (ROS; Hildeman et al., 2003). The oxidative tension is much higher in the blood than the thymus (Braun et al., 2001; Sitkovsky and Lukashev, 2005). Therefore, maintaining the same level of mitochondria in peripheral T lymphocytes as in thymocytes may lead to intolerable levels of ROS for T lymphocytes.

Endoplasmic reticulum (ER) levels are as well regulated by autophagy. Selective autophagy toward ER is termed as reticulophagy (or ER-phagy; Kraft et al., 2009). Different from mitochondria, ER volume is downregulated in the transition of DN to DP thymocytes, and maintained to a similar level afterward. An increase in ER volume was observed in autophagy-deficient T lymphocytes (Jia et al., 2011). The accumulation of ER, as well as mitochondria, requires a long period of time to be established (up to 18 days *in vitro*) once autophagy is abolished by induceddeletion in mature T lymphocytes. Interestingly, lymphocytes did not show elevated cell death until 24 days after inducible deletion of Atg3. These data suggest that the elevated cell death in autophagy-deficient T lymphocytes is possibly the outcome of cellular organelles' abnormality.

AUTOPHAGY IN T CELL ACTIVATION

Different groups have identified that autophagy-related genes are required for T cell proliferation upon TCR stimulation. T lymphocytes lacking Atg5, Atg7, Atg3, or Beclin-1 all showed impaired proliferation (Pua et al., 2007, 2009; Stephenson et al., 2009; Hubbard et al., 2010; Jia et al., 2011; Kovacs et al., 2012). TCR stimulation induced cell death was also observed in Beclin-1deficient lymphocytes (Kovacs et al., 2012). The survival defect may contribute to impaired proliferation in Beclin-1-deficient T lymphocytes. Atg7^{-/-} T cells displayed impaired calcium influx upon TCR stimulation, as well as increased calcium efflux from ER to cytosol. The excessive ER in Atg7-deficient T cells may lead to abnormal redistribution of calcium into the ER upon TCR stimulation (Jia et al., 2011). Interestingly, other TCR signaling components such as PLCy-1(the upstream signal of calcium efflux), p38, ERK, and NF-κB activation all remain unchanged in Atg7-deficient T lymphocytes.

Autophagy is involved in the metabolism of activated T lymphocytes. Upon receipt of a TCR signal, T lymphocytes undergo a metabolic switch and produce more ATP to ensure sufficient energy for protein synthesis, cytokine secretion, and cellular division (Fox et al., 2005). Without autophagy, the ATP production in activated T lymphocytes is reduced to resting levels. The lack of ATP, at least partially, contributes to impaired transcription and production of IFN-y and IL-2 in those cells, as methyl pyruvate, a cell-permeable intermediate of glucose, incompletely rescues both ATP generation and cytokine production (Hubbard et al., 2010). However, another study showed increased levels of IL-2 secretion in autophagy-deficient T lymphocytes after TCR activation (Jia et al., 2011). This controversy may be the consequence of the autocrine nature of IL-2: IL-2 is consistently produced and utilized by activated T lymphocytes (Cantrell et al., 1988). Therefore, the IL-2 detected in culture medium at a single time point may or may not reflect the capacity of IL-2 production. To settle the debate, careful study in the kinetics of the transcription and secretion of cytokines is needed.

Autophagy is differentially regulated in each T helper subset. T lymphocytes cultured in Th2 polarizing condition in vitro contain more autophagosomes than T lymphocytes induced by Th1 polarizing conditions (Li et al., 2006). Th17 cells are relatively more (Wu et al., 2011) resistant to cell death without Beclin-1, compared to Th0, Th1, and Th2 (Kovacs et al., 2012). Th17 cells, along with Th1 cells, mediate the pathogenesis of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) (El-behi et al., 2010). Though Th17 cells manage to survive when autophagy is blocked, mice with Beclin-1-deficient T lymphocytes still showed resistance to EAE development. The number of MOG specific Th1 and Th17 cells were reduced in the periphery and were undetectable in the central nerve system (CNS) in Beclin-1 knockout mice (Kovacs et al., 2012). The protective role of Beclin-1-deficient T lymphocytes in EAE induction may be the result of defective antigen-induced proliferation.

AUTOPHAGY IN HIV INFECTION

Autophagy was reported to be involved in the progressive decline in the number of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes during HIV infection. HIV infection induces cell death in both infected and uninfected "bystander" CD4⁺ T cells (Laurent-Crawford et al., 1993). The repertoire of HIV-1 envelope glycoproteins (Env) is composed of gp41 and gp120 and expressed on infected human lymphocytes. Via CXCR4 and CCR5, Env triggers autophagy in uninfected "bystander" CD4⁺ T cells, which eventually leads to apoptosis (Espert et al., 2006, 2009). The gp41 fusion to target membranes is required for Env-mediated autophagy (Denizot et al., 2008). Interestingly, autophagy is repressed in HIV-infected CD4⁺ T cells (Zhou and Spector, 2008). The effect of killing "bystander" T cells through surface protein Env seems to be T cell specific, as Env expressed on macrophages with CXCR4 and CCR5 fails to induce autophagy in uninfected CD4⁺ T cells in a coculture experiment (Espert et al., 2009). From the perspective of virus, down-regulation of autophagy in host cells may be beneficial as autophagy attacks virus through xenophagic degradation and facilitates antigen presentation (Kim et al., 2010). At the same time, provoking excessive autophagy in uninfected surrounding

lymphocytes mediates cell death, further weakening the host defense by reducing potential adaptive immunity against the virus.

AUTOPHAGY IN T CELL DEATH

As mentioned above, the loss of autophagy-related genes generally leads to increased cell death (Pua et al., 2007, 2009; Stephenson et al., 2009; Jia et al., 2011). The crosstalk between autophagy and apoptosis has been observed in various eukaryotic cells (Thorburn, 2008), but how autophagy regulates apoptosis in T lymphocytes remains unclear. Atg $7^{-/-}$ T lymphocytes upregulate the expression of Bcl-2 (Pua et al., 2009). Beclin-1-deficient T lymphocytes demonstrate highly increased protein levels, but not mRNA levels of pro-apoptotic pro-caspase-8, pro-caspase-3, and Bim as well as a moderate increase in Bcl-2. Interestingly, Caspase-8 is detected in p62/ubiquitin-containing aggregates in Beclin-1^{-/-} T cells (Kovacs et al., 2012). Although p62 may target caspase-8 for autophagic degradation, pro-caspase-8 level is comparable between wild-type and p62-deficient T cells. Further studies are required to identify whether Beclin-1 controls pro-apoptotic protein levels through Bcl-2 binding, autophagy induction, or other pathways.

Although it is clearly established that autophagy is required for T cell survival, excessive autophagy seems to be destructive for T lymphocytes. Autophagy promotes, rather than protects, growth factor withdrawal-induced cell death in a Th2 cell line (Li et al., 2006). In long-term human CD8⁺ T cell cultures, cells with higher numbers of autophagosomes died out first. These results might imply that autophagy renders lymphocytes more vulnerable to apoptosis under certain conditions (Gerland et al., 2004). However, it is still unclear whether the high number of autophagosomes reflects an increase in flux or a blockage of autophagosome-lysosome fusion. Whether those cells undergo enhanced autophagy remains to be verified. Other data supporting the pro-death role of autophagy involves Irgm 1 (Interferon- γ inducible, immunity-related GTPase^{-/-}). When exposed to IFN- γ , Irgm 1^{-/-} T cells showed greatly enhanced death in an autophagy-dependent manner (Feng et al., 2008). Consistent with this, Ginsenoside Re suppresses autophagy by inhibiting Irgm 1 and IFN- γ production in human T lymphocytes, which leads to enhanced proliferation and reduced cell death (Son et al., 2010).

REFERENCES

- Arsov, I., Adebayo, A., Kucerova-Levisohn, M., Haye, J., MacNeil, M., Papavasiliou, F. N., Yue, Z., and Ortiz, B. D. (2011). A role for autophagic protein beclin 1 early in lymphocyte development. *J. Immunol.* 186, 2201–2209.
- Arsov, I., Li, X., Matthews, G., Coradin, J., Hartmann, B., Simon, A. K., Sealfon, S. C., and Yue, Z. (2008). BAC-mediated transgenic expression of fluorescent autophagic protein beclin 1 reveals a role for beclin 1 in lymphocyte development. *Cell Death Differ.* 15, 1385–1395.
- Bell, B. D., Leverrier, S., Weist, B. M., Newton, R. H., Arechiga, A. F., Luhrs, K. A., Morrissette, N. S., and Walsh,

C. M. (2008). FADD and caspase-8 control the outcome of autophagic signaling in proliferating T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 16677–16682.

- Braun, R. D., Lanzen, J. L., Snyder, S. A., and Dewhirst, M. W. (2001). Comparison of tumor and normal tissue oxygen tension measurements using oxylite or microelectrodes in rodents. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 280, H2533–H2544.
- Cantrell, D. A., Collins, M. K., and Crumpton, M. J. (1988). Autocrine regulation of T-lymphocyte proliferation: differential induction of IL-2 and IL-2 receptor. *Immunology* 65, 343–349.

Blocking caspase-8 activity was shown to induce autophagy and non-apoptotic death (Yu et al., 2004; Li et al., 2006; Wu et al., 2011). In T lymphocytes, loss of capase-8 activity may lead to necroptosis upon TCR stimulation. Necroptosis is a programmed necrotic cell death, regulated by Rip-1/Rip-3 kinases and independent of the apoptotic pathway (Galluzzi and Kroemer, 2008). It is still controversial whether autophagy is involved in TCR-induced necroptosis in T lymphocytes. Caspase-8 activation requires the adaptor protein FADD (Zhang et al., 1998). FADDdd (dominant negative) T lymphocytes showed hyperactive autophagy and RIP-1-dependent cell death (Figure 1). Inhibiting autophagy by either 3-MA administration or silencing of Atg7, rescued those cells from cell death (Bell et al., 2008). However, studies in FADD^{-/-} and caspase- $8^{-/-}$ T cells suggested that enhanced cell death cannot be rescued by 3-MA treatment or deletion of Atg7 (Osborn et al., 2010; Ch'en et al., 2011). It is imprudent to draw any conclusions from the current results, as thoroughly abolishing autophagy may create additional stress, thus killing instead of protecting T lymphocytes. Careful analyses of cell death pathways in caspase-8-deficient T cells, especially with modest inhibition of autophagy, will provide us valuable information to understand the relationship between autophagy, apoptosis, and necroptosis.

CONCLUSION

Autophagy, a fundamental cellular process, is required for the homeostasis and function of T lymphocytes. Deletion of different autophagy-related genes results in similar phenotypes in T lymphocytes, indicating that the defects are caused by a loss of autophagy instead of other functions of those proteins. T lymphocytes utilize autophagy to maintain intracellular organelle homeostasis, intact TCR signaling, and metabolic switch upon TCR activation. It is worthy to notice that autophagy plays a dual role in T lymphocytes: autophagy induction is critical for cell survival and T cell response, while too many autophagic vesicles can create intolerable stress. Future studies can focus on how to modulate the levels of autophagy to promote/inhibit T cell responses in various disease models.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The work in the authors' laboratory is supported by NIH grants AI074944, AI074754, and AI073947.

- Ch'en, I. L., Tsau, J. S., Molkentin, J. D., Komatsu, M., and Hedrick, S. M. (2011). Mechanisms of necroptosis in T cells. J. Exp. Med. 208, 633–641.
- Copetti, T., Bertoli, C., Dalla, E., Demarchi, F., and Schneider, C. (2009). p65/RelA modulates BECN1 transcription and autophagy. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 29, 2594–2608.
- Denizot, M., Varbanov, M., Espert, L., Robert-Hebmann, V., Sagnier, S., Garcia, E., Curriu, M., Mamoun, R., Blanco, J., and Biard-Piechaczyk, M. (2008). HIV-1 gp41 fusogenic function triggers autophagy in uninfected cells. *Autophagy* 4, 998–1008.
- Dou, Z., Chattopadhyay, M., Pan, J. A., Guerriero, J. L., Jiang, Y. P., Ballou,

L. M., Yue, Z., Lin, R. Z., and Zong, W. X. (2010). The class IA phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase p110-beta subunit is a positive regulator of autophagy. *J. Cell Biol.* 191, 827–843.

- El-behi, M., Rostami, A., and Ciric, B. (2010). Current views on the roles of Th1 and Th17 cells in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol.* 5, 189–197.
- Espert, L., Denizot, M., Grimaldi, M., Robert-Hebmann, V., Gay, B., Varbanov, M., Codogno, P., and Biard-Piechaczyk, M. (2006). Autophagy is involved in T cell death after binding of HIV-1 envelope proteins to CXCR4. J. Clin. Invest. 116, 2161–2172.

- Espert, L., Varbanov, M., Robert-Hebmann, V., Sagnier, S., Robbins, I., Sanchez, F., Lafont, V., and Biard-Piechaczyk, M. (2009). Differential role of autophagy in CD4 T cells and macrophages during X4 and R5 HIV-1 infection. *PLoS ONE* 4, e5787. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005787
- Feng, C. G., Zheng, L., Jankovic, D., Bafica, A., Cannons, J. L., Watford, W. T., Chaussabel, D., Hieny, S., Caspar, P., Schwartzberg, P. L., Lenardo, M. J., and Sher, A. (2008). The immunity-related GTPase Irgm1 promotes the expansion of activated CD4+ T cell populations by preventing interferon-gammainduced cell death. *Nat. Immunol.* 9, 1279–1287.
- Fox, C. J., Hammerman, P. S., and Thompson, C. B. (2005). Fuel feeds function: energy metabolism and the T-cell response. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 5, 844–852.
- Galluzzi, L., and Kroemer, G. (2008). Necroptosis: a specialized pathway of programmed necrosis. *Cell* 135, 1161–1163.
- Gerland, L. M., Genestier, L., Peyrol, S., Michallet, M. C., Hayette, S., Urbanowicz, I., Ffrench, P., Magaud, J. P., and Ffrench, M. (2004). Autolysosomes accumulate during in vitro CD8+ T-lymphocyte aging and may participate in induced death sensitization of senescent cells. *Exp. Gerontol.* 39, 789–800.
- Gomes, L. C., Di Benedetto, G., and Scorrano, L. (2011). During autophagy mitochondria elongate, are spared from degradation and sustain cell viability. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 13, 589–598.
- He, C., and Klionsky, D. J. (2009). Regulation mechanisms and signaling pathways of autophagy. *Annu. Rev. Genet.* 43, 67–93.
- Heino, M., Peterson, P., Kudoh, J., Nagamine, K., Lagerstedt, A., Ovod, V., Ranki, A., Rantala, I., Nieminen, M., Tuukkanen, J., Scott, H. S., Antonarakis, S. E., Shimizu, N., and Krohn, K. (1999). Autoimmune regulator is expressed in the cells regulating immune tolerance in thymus medulla. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 257, 821–825.
- Hildeman, D. A., Mitchell, T., Kappler, J., and Marrack, P. (2003). T cell apoptosis and reactive oxygen species. *J. Clin. Invest.* 111, 575–581.
- Hubbard, V. M., Valdor, R., Patel, B., Singh, R., Cuervo, A. M., and Macian, F. (2010). Macroautophagy regulates energy metabolism during

effector T cell activation. *J. Immunol.* 185, 7349–7357.

- Jia, W., and He, Y. W. (2011). Temporal regulation of intracellular organelle homeostasis in T lymphocytes by autophagy. *J. Immunol.* 186, 5313–5322.
- Jia, W., Pua, H. H., Li, Q. J., and He, Y. W. (2011). Autophagy regulates endoplasmic reticulum homeostasis and calcium mobilization in T lymphocytes. *J. Immunol.* 186, 1564–1574.
- Kim, H. J., Lee, S., and Jung, J. U. (2010). When autophagy meets viruses: a double-edged sword with functions in defense and offense. *Semin. Immunopathol.* 32, 323–341.
- Klionsky, D. J., and Emr, S. D. (2000). Autophagy as a regulated pathway of cellular degradation. *Science* 290, 1717–1721.
- Kovacs, J. R., Li, C., Yang, Q., Li, G., Garcia, I. G., Ju, S., Roodman, D. G., Windle, J. J., Zhang, X., and Lu, B. (2012). Autophagy promotes T-cell survival through degradation of proteins of the cell death machinery. *Cell Death Differ.* 19, 144–152.
- Kraft, C., Reggiori, F., and Peter, M. (2009). Selective types of autophagy in yeast. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1793, 1404–1412.
- Laurent-Crawford, A. G., Krust, B., Riviere, Y., Desgranges, C., Muller, S., Kieny, M. P., Dauguet, C., and Hovanessian, A. G. (1993). Membrane expression of HIV envelope glycoproteins triggers apoptosis in CD4 cells. *AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses* 9, 761–773.
- Levine, B., Mizushima, N., and Virgin, H. W. (2011). Autophagy in immunity and inflammation. *Nature* 469, 323–335.
- Li, C., Capan, E., Zhao, Y., Zhao, J., Stolz, D., Watkins, S. C., Jin, S., and Lu, B. (2006). Autophagy is induced in CD4+ T cells and important for the growth factor-withdrawal cell death. *J. Immunol.* 177, 5163–5168.
- Liang, X. H., Kleeman, L. K., Jiang, H. H., Gordon, G., Goldman, J. E., Berry, G., Herman, B., and Levine, B. (1998). Protection against fatal Sindbis virus encephalitis by beclin, a novel Bcl-2-interacting protein. J. Virol. 72, 8586–8596.
- Longatti, A., and Tooze, S. A. (2009). Vesicular trafficking and autophagosome formation. *Cell Death Differ*. 16, 956–965.
- Mattoo, H., Faulkner, M., Kandpal, U., Das, R., Lewis, V., George, A., Rath, S., Durdik, J. M., and Bal, V. (2009). Naive CD4 T cells from aged mice

show enhanced death upon primary activation. *Int. Immunol.* 21, 1277–1289.

- McLeod, I. X., Zhou, X., Li, Q. J., Wang, F., and He, Y. W. (2011). The class III kinase Vps34 promotes T lymphocyte survival through regulating IL-7Ralpha surface expression. *J. Immunol.* 187, 5051–5061.
- Mortimore, G. E., and Poso, A. R. (1987). Intracellular protein catabolism and its control during nutrient deprivation and supply. *Annu. Rev. Nutr.* 7, 539–564.
- Nedjic, J., Aichinger, M., Emmerich, J., Mizushima, N., and Klein, L. (2008a). Autophagy in thymic epithelium shapes the T-cell repertoire and is essential for tolerance. *Nature* 455, 396–400.
- Nedjic, J., Aichinger, M., and Klein, L. (2008b). Autophagy and T cell education in the thymus: eat yourself to know yourself. *Cell Cycle* 7, 3625–3628.
- Ohsumi, Y., and Mizushima, N. (2004). Two ubiquitin-like conjugation systems essential for autophagy. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 15, 231–236.
- Osborn, S. L., Diehl, G., Han, S. J., Xue, L., Kurd, N., Hsieh, K., Cado, D., Robey, E. A., and Winoto, A. (2010). Fas-associated death domain (FADD) is a negative regulator of T-cell receptor-mediated necroptosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 13034–13039.
- Pua, H. H., Dzhagalov, I., Chuck, M., Mizushima, N., and He, Y. W. (2007). A critical role for the autophagy gene Atg5 in T cell survival and proliferation. *J. Exp. Med.* 204, 25–31.
- Pua, H. H., Guo, J., Komatsu, M., and He, Y. W. (2009). Autophagy is essential for mitochondrial clearance in mature T lymphocytes. *J. Immunol.* 182, 4046–4055.
- Pyo, J. O., Jang, M. H., Kwon, Y. K., Lee, H. J., Jun, J. I., Woo, H. N., Cho, D. H., Choi, B., Lee, H., Kim, J. H., Mizushima, N., Oshumi, Y., and Jung, Y. K. (2005). Essential roles of Atg5 and FADD in autophagic cell death: dissection of autophagic cell death into vacuole formation and cell death. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 20722–20729.
- Schatz, D. G., and Ji, Y. (2011). Recombination centres and the orchestration of V(D)J recombination. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 11, 251–263.
- Sitkovsky, M., and Lukashev, D. (2005). Regulation of immune cells by localtissue oxygen tension: HIF1 alpha and adenosine receptors. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 5, 712–721.

- Son, Y. M., Kwak, C. W., Lee, Y. J., Yang, D. C., Park, B. C., Lee, W. K., Han, S. H., and Yun, C. H. (2010). Ginsenoside Re enhances survival of human CD4+ T cells through regulation of autophagy. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 10, 626–631.
- Stephenson, L. M., Miller, B. C., Ng, A., Eisenberg, J., Zhao, Z., Cadwell, K., Graham, D. B., Mizushima, N. N., Xavier, R., Virgin, H. W., and Swat, W. (2009). Identification of Atg5-dependent transcriptional changes and increases in mitochondrial mass in Atg5-deficient T lymphocytes. *Autophagy* 5, 625–635.
- Takahama, Y., Nitta, T., Mat Ripen, A., Nitta, S., Murata, S., and Tanaka, K. (2010). Role of thymic cortexspecific self-peptides in positive selection of T cells. *Semin. Immunol.* 22, 287–293.
- Takahashi, Y., Coppola, D., Matsushita, N., Cualing, H. D., Sun, M., Sato, Y., Liang, C., Jung, J. U., Cheng, J. Q., Mule, J. J., Pledger, W. J., and Wang, H. G. (2007). Bif-1 interacts with beclin 1 through UVRAG and regulates autophagy and tumorigenesis. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 9, 1142–1151.
- Takahashi, Y., Meyerkord, C. L., and Wang, H. G. (2009). Bif-1/endophilin B1: a candidate for crescent driving force in autophagy. *Cell Death Differ*. 16, 947–955.
- Thorburn, A. (2008). Apoptosis and autophagy: regulatory connections between two supposedly different processes. *Apoptosis* 13, 1–9.
- Uddin, M. N., Nishio, N., Ito, S., Suzuki, H., and Isobe, K. (2012). Autophagic activity in thymus and liver during aging. *Age* (*Dordr*) 34, 75–85.
- Wei, Y., Sinha, S., and Levine, B. (2008). Dual role of JNK1-mediated phosphorylation of Bcl-2 in autophagy and apoptosis regulation. *Autophagy* 4, 949–951.
- Wu, Y. T., Tan, H. L., Huang, Q., Sun, X. J., Zhu, X., and Shen, H. M. (2011). zVAD-induced necroptosis in L929 cells depends on autocrine production of TNFalpha mediated by the PKC-MAPKs-AP-1 pathway. *Cell Death Differ.* 18, 26–37.
- Yousefi, S., Perozzo, R., Schmid, I., Ziemiecki, A., Schaffner, T., Scapozza, L., Brunner, T., and Simon, H. U. (2006). Calpainmediated cleavage of Atg5 switches autophagy to apoptosis. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 8, 1124–1132.
- Yu, L., Alva, A., Su, H., Dutt, P., Freundt, E., Welsh, S., Baehrecke, E. H.,

and Lenardo, M. J. (2004). Regulation of an ATG7-beclin 1 program of autophagic cell death by caspase-8. *Science* 304, 1500–1502.

- Yue, Z., Jin, S., Yang, C., Levine, A. J., and Heintz, N. (2003). Beclin 1, an autophagy gene essential for early embryonic development, is a haploinsufficient tumor suppressor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 15077–15082.
- Zhang, J., Cado, D., Chen, A., Kabra, N. H., and Winoto, A. (1998). Fas-mediated apoptosis

and activation-induced T-cell proliferation are defective in mice lacking FADD/Mort1. *Nature* 392, 296–300.

- Zhang, N., Hartig, H., Dzhagalov, I., Draper, D., and He, Y. W. (2005). The role of apoptosis in the development and function of T lymphocytes. *Cell Res.* 15, 749–769.
- Zhou, D., and Spector, S. A. (2008). Human immunodeficiency virus type-1 infection inhibits autophagy. *AIDS* 22, 695–699.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 01 December 2011; paper pending published: 15 December 2011; accepted: 07 February 2012; published online: 21 February 2012.

Citation: He M-X, McLeod IX, Jia W and He Y-W (2012) Macroautophagy in T lymphocyte development and function. Front. Immun. **3**:22. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00022

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Antigen Presenting Cell Biology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2012 He, McLeod, Jia and He. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



Autophagy and autoimmunity crosstalks

Abhisek Bhattacharya and N. Tony Eissa*

Department of Medicine, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, USA

Edited by:

Christian Muenz, University of Zurich, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Christian Muenz, University of Zurich, Switzerland Willem Van Eden, Utrecht University, Netherlands

*Correspondence:

N. Tony Eissa, Baylor College of Medicine, One Baylor Plaza, BCM 285 Suite 535E, Houston, TX 77030, USA. e-mail: teissa@bcm.edu

Autophagy, initially viewed as a conserved bulk-degradation mechanism, has emerged as a central player in a multitude of immune functions. Autophagy is important in host defense against intracellular and extracellular pathogens, metabolic syndromes, immune cell homeostasis, antigen processing and presentation, and maintenance of tolerance. The observation that the above processes are implicated in triggering or exacerbating autoimmunity raises the possibility that autophagy is involved in mediating autoimmune processes, either directly or as a consequence of innate or adaptive functions mediated by the pathway. Genome-wide association studies have shown association between single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in autophagy related gene 5 (Atg5), and Atg1611 with susceptibility to systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and Crohn's disease, respectively. Enhanced expression of Atg5 was also reported in blood of mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), a mouse model of multiple sclerosis (MS), and in T cells isolated from blood or brain tissues from patients with active relapse of MS. This review explores the roles of autophagy pathway in the innate and adaptive immune systems on regulating or mediating the onset, progression, or exacerbation of autoimmune processes.

Keywords: autophagy, autophagosome, autoimmunity, encephalomyelitis, autoimmune, experimental, lupus erythematosus, systemic

The autophagy pathway, an evolutionary conserved mechanism, starts with the development of an isolation membrane within the cell that engulfs damaged organelles, misfolded proteins or pathogens, and eventually develops into an autophagosome. The autophagosomes, in turn, fuse with lysosomes to form the autophagolysosomes where the actual degradation of the substrates takes place (Levine et al., 2011). For the individual cell, the autophagy pathway is important not only to get rid of foreign or unwanted materials but also for efficient energy recycling during periods of stress. For the whole organism, the immune and physiological consequences of aberration of the autophagy pathway are much more profound. The immune system, responsible for surveillance and communication between different organs and cells types, is one such system in which the role of autophagy and the consequences of defects in autophagy go far beyond the degradative role of the pathway (Deretic, 2012a). Figure 1 shows potential roles of the autophagy pathway in the adaptive and innate immune systems that might modulate the onset and outcome of an autoimmune disease.

AUTOPHAGY, THE ADAPTIVE IMMUNE SYSTEM AND AUTOIMMUNITY

Autophagy plays important roles in both innate and adaptive immunity. Because there have been several excellent reviews on this topic (Munz, 2009; Sumpter and Levine, 2010; Kuballa et al., 2012; Randow and Munz, 2012), we will only discuss brief aspects of these roles as they might pertain to autoimmunity. Autophagy is essential for survival and homeostasis of lymphocytes and there exist at least two broad stages where autophagy might affect the adaptive immune cells. As the development of lymphocyte

is a complex process involving inputs from other cells, both lymphocyte-intrinsic and extrinsic defects in autophagy might affect development and/or maturation of lymphocytes.

AUTOPHAGY IN LYMPHOCYTE DEVELOPMENT

T cell development in the thymus undergoes positive and negative selections, processes in which extrinsic inputs from thymic epithelial cells (TECs) play a major role in shaping the T cell repertoire. TECs show high levels of constitutive autophagy essential for proper display of MHC-antigen complex on their surface (Mizushima et al., 2004; Kasai et al., 2009), thereby facilitating appropriate T cell selection. Mice with Atg5 deficiency in TECs showed severely impaired central tolerance and autoimmune organ destruction, suggesting that autophagy-mediated display of MHC-antigen complex on surface of TECs is essential for proper T cell development (Nedjic et al., 2008). Autophagy deficiency in the TECs impaired both positive and negative selection mechanisms resulting into autoimmunity and it was proposed that autophagy-dependent display in the peripheral tissue needed to be counterbalanced by a similar tolerogenic mechanism in the thymus in order to prevent such autoimmune processes (Nedjic et al., 2008). Further, a recent report demonstrated the requirement of autophagy in TECs for loading endogenous antigens onto MHC-II and that this process was essential for negative selections of CD4 T cells (Aichinger et al., 2013). Because both DCs and TECs might be important in differentiation of regulatory T cells (Tregs) (Wirnsberger et al., 2009; Hinterberger et al., 2010), this report suggested that autophagy might be important in differentiation of Tregs (Aichinger et al., 2013). As Tregs are among the major players controlling autoimmunity (La Cava, 2009), this might



be another potential link between autophagy and autoimmune diseases.

Fetal liver chimera and conditional knock-out studies have shown that T cell development remained normal in mice lacking Atg5 in T cells but peripheral T cell compartment showed reduction in numbers, particularly in CD8 T cells (Pua et al., 2007). These results were attributed to the pro-survival role of autophagy in mature T cells. Studies showed considerable interaction between the autophagy and apoptotic pathways (Maiuri et al., 2007). Atg3, 5, or 7-deficient mature T cells showed defective Endoplasmic reticulum (ER) homeostasis and mitochondrial clearance and, consequently, an elevated levels of ROS, which might serve as one of the potential links between the autophagy and apoptotic pathways (Pua et al., 2007; Jia and He, 2011; Jia et al., 2011). However, increased levels of mitochondria were observed in Atg7-/- but not in Atg5-/- thymocytes at the single positive stage (Pua et al., 2009). A possible explanation could be different stages or extent of involvement of these proteins in mitochondrial clearance. These findings potentially brings another layer of complexity into focus, namely autophagy-independent effect of various Atg.

In contrast to T cells, autophagy in B cells plays a very important role in development and the requirement of *Atg5* has been found to be highly stage-specific, with a defective pro- to pre-B cell transition in B cell-specific *Atg5*—/— knock-out mice. In these mice, the levels of pre and immature B cells, along with peritoneal B1 cells were reduced to a great extent. This finding was also attributed to a role of autophagy in maintaining B cell survival (Miller et al., 2008).

AUTOPHAGY IN LYMPHOCYTE FUNCTIONS

Autophagy induction in response to starvation and TCR stimulation has been observed in mouse T cells (Pua et al., 2007) and in cultured human T cells during aging (Gerland et al., 2004) and in HIV infection (Espert et al., 2006). Atg5-deficient T cells showed reduced proliferation upon both TCR and PMAionomycin stimulation (Pua et al., 2007). This finding highlights potentially different roles of autophagy in naïve versus activated T cells. Most studies involving autophagy in T cells focused on roles of autophagy in cell survival and found autophagy to be a pro-survival mechanism (Pua et al., 2007). However, some studies have also suggested that autophagy might be required for T cell death (Espert et al., 2006; Bell et al., 2008). Uninfected lymphocytes undergo autophagy-mediated cell death upon engagement of the receptor CXCR4 by HIV envelop glycoprotein (Espert et al., 2006). Another study has also shown that autophagy could be an important cell death machinery in T cells lacking caspase-8 or Fas-associated death domain (FADD) activity, thereby raising the possibility that interaction between autophagy and apoptosis might be context dependent (Bell et al., 2008). It is possible that, in activated T cells, autophagy plays different roles compared to naïve cells and might be involved in activation-induced cell death following T cell proliferation in immune response.

Recent findings suggest that autophagy might affect overall T cell functions under different conditions of polarization and activation. Rapamycin, an mTOR inhibitor and inducer of autophagy, has been found to promote T cell memory when administered in low doses, although it is not clear if this effect is mediated by autophagy (Araki et al., 2009). Moreover, low dose rapamycin exacerbated autoimmune experimental uveitis, and this action of rapamycin was thought to be mediated by autophagy (Zhang et al., 2012). Interestingly, expression of Atg5 has been shown to correlate with severity of experimental autoimmune encephalitis (EAE), a mouse model of multiple sclerosis (MS), and to be increased in T cells of MS patients during relapses (Alirezaei et al., 2009), which can worsen by prolonged autoreactive T cell survival. EAE is considered predominantly a CD4 mediated disease and further studies are required to dissect how autophagy in T cells influences the onset or progression of autoimmune diseases in animal models and if these roles of autophagy are also dependent on cell survival. These studies can develop in vivo models in which the roles of autophagy in CD4 or CD8 cells could be studied independent to its pro- or anti-survival functions, particularly in the context of an infection or autoimmune disease.

In mature B cells, BCR signal can lead to B cell activation or apoptosis, depending on the context. Autophagy is involved in both processes, with BCR-activation-mediated cell death being associated with extensive autophagosome formation (Watanabe et al., 2008). B cells are capable of antigen processing following BCR ligation and autophagy might be involved in such process (Watanabe et al., 2008). BCR signaling recruits TLR-9 to autophagosome for further interaction with its ligand (Chaturvedi et al., 2008). Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is perhaps the most studied autoimmune disease with respect to the roles of autophagy in autoimmune processes (Pierdominici et al., 2012). There are a number of potential mechanisms by which autophagy might influence the pathogenesis of SLE, modulating both the adaptive and innate immune system. As B cells represent a major player in SLE, in which they act by both antibody-dependent and antibody-independent mechanisms, autophagy-mediated B cell modulation might directly influence the pathophysiology of SLE.

AUTOPHAGY, THE INNATE IMMUNE SYSTEM AND AUTOIMMUNITY

Autoimmunity results from uncontrolled action of the adaptive immune cells, however, activation of the adaptive system depends on the innate immune cells and the innate immune system is perhaps the most extensively studied component with respect to the role of autophagy in shaping the organization and functions of the system (Deretic, 2012b).

The innate immune functions can be broadly categorized into four overlapping stages, migration, recognition and phagocytosis, antigen processing and presentation, and cytokine secretion. Autophagy plays particularly important roles in the last three stages, thereby not only shaping the innate immune response but also influencing the activation of the adaptive immune compartment.

LEVEL ONE: PHAGOCYTOSIS, AUTOPHAGY, AND AUTOIMMUNITY

The role of autophagy in innate immunity is best characterized with respect to pathogen elimination. Both pathogen recognition and intracellular killing can be controlled by autophagy. The autophagy pathway interacts extensively with a number of pattern recognition receptors (PRR) and PRR activation in a wide variety of cases has been shown to induce autophagy (Tang et al., 2012). However, recent evidences suggest that this process might also extend beyond pathogen control.

Phagocytosis can be viewed as a coordinated interaction between two different kinds of players, a predator that engulfs the materials to be cleared, macrophages being the professional phagocytes in the body, and prey to be engulfed such as a pathogen, foreign materials, or dead cells. Autophagy has been found to be an essential process for dead cell clearance. Apoptotic cells release lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC) as a "come-get-me" signal for phagocytes and upregulate phosphatidylserine (PS) as an "eat me" signal on their surface. Autophagy genes are essential for efficient release of LPC and in absence of autophagy, apoptotic cells fail to express PS properly on their surface (Qu et al., 2007).

On the other hand, proteins involved in autophagy pathway, such as LC3-II (Microtubule-associated protein 1 light chain 3 alpha), Beclin 1, and VPS34, are recruited to phagosomes following phagocytosis of particles containing TLR ligands by macrophages (Sanjuan et al., 2007). LC3-associated phagocytosis, a process distinct from classical autophagy, has also been found to be necessary to carry out efficient dead cell clearance (Martinez et al., 2011) and defects in expression of MARCO (macrophage receptor with collagenous structure), a receptor involved in dead cell clearance, has been shown to result into reduced dead cell clearance and SLE in mice (Rogers et al., 2009). Thus, an absence of autophagy or autophagic proteins might result into defective clearance of apoptotic cells. As defects in apoptotic cell clearance have been linked to a number of autoimmune diseases, such as SLE, it is possible that autophagy might modulate the susceptibility to autoimmunity.

It should also be noted that autophagy induction in macrophages has been shown to affect phagocytosis of pathogens, though the reports are conflicting, indicating both increase and decrease in phagocytosis following induction of autophagy (Martinet et al., 2009; Lima et al., 2011). A number of autoimmune diseases are precipitated or exacerbated following infection (Kivity et al., 2009). It would be important to determine if changes in apoptotic cell clearance occur following infection-induced modulation in autophagy, which in turn could modulate the induction or exacerbation of autoimmune processes.

LEVEL TWO: ANTIGEN PRESENTATION, AUTOPHAGY, AND AUTOIMMUNITY

The classic definition of antigen presentation is that extracellular antigens are presented in the context of class II MHC following endocytosis and phagolysosomal degradation (Gannage and Munz, 2010). Recent evidence suggests that this process depends on the autophagy pathway. Characterization of the MHC-II ligands, called ligandome, in a human B lymphoblastoid cell line showed that peptides from intracellular sources are presented on MHC-II and starvation-induced autophagy enhanced this process (Dengjel et al., 2005). Further, autophagosomes colocalize with MHC-II loading compartments in two important antigen presenting cells (APCs) that shape up the entire adaptive immune repertoire. These cells are TECs, that shape up the T cell repertoire, and the dendritic cells (DC) that act as the professional APCs (Schmid and Munz, 2007; Schmid et al., 2007). Mice with DCs lacking Atg5 succumbed to HSV-2 infection and showed defective CD4 T cell priming. These DCs showed defective antigen presentation resulting from a profound defect in processing and delivery of antigens containing TLR ligands to MHC-II compartment and delayed phagolysosomal fusion and degradation of the antigens (Lee et al., 2010). Autophagy induction in bone-marrow DCs also enhanced presentation of mycobacterial antigen and mice immunized with rapamycin-treated DCs showed stronger T cell response upon challenge with Mtb (Jagannath et al., 2009). Autophagy in APCs is involved in presentation of citrullinated peptide, a hallmark of rheumatoid arthritis, in context of class II MHC (Ireland and Unanue, 2011). It also has been suggested that autophagy may be involved in class I antigen presentation to CD8 T cells, particularly in context of viral infection (English et al., 2009; Uhl et al., 2009).

Dendritic cell-mediated antigen presentation in the context of MHC-II is perhaps an area where the role of autophagy could directly influence autoimmune diseases. Activation of the adaptive immune cells, the major players in most autoimmune diseases, depends primarily on DC-mediated antigen presentation. Genome-wide association studies have identified Atg5 as one of the susceptibility loci in SLE (Harley et al., 2008; Gateva et al., 2009; Han et al., 2009; Zhou et al., 2011a), though the functional significance of this finding is yet to be established. A number of possibilities have been raised ranging from increased survival of pathogenic T cells to defects in apoptotic cell clearance and several autophagy modulators are currently in clinical trials for SLE (Pierdominici et al., 2012). It is interesting to note that the PRDM1-ATG5 intergenic region has also been associated with susceptibility to rheumatoid arthritis (Raychaudhuri et al., 2009) and a common role of the autophagy pathway in different autoimmune diseases has been proposed (Zhou et al., 2011a). Another autophagy gene associated with autoimmunity is Atg1611, being implicated in Crohn's disease (CD) (Parkes et al., 2007). DCs with patients of CD, harboring particular Atg16l1 risk variant, showed defects in autophagy induction and in presentation and priming of pathogen-specific CD4 T cells (Cooney et al., 2010). Interaction between the gut microflora and the mucosal immune system plays a pivotal role in CD (Manichanh et al., 2012) and autophagy in mucosal immune cells might also influence the pathophysiology and outcome of CD. Indeed, a recent report showed that an intact autophagy pathway restricted intracellular replication of adherent-invasive Escherichia coli, implicated in the pathogenesis of CD; without affecting the replication of other commensal or pathogenic strains of E. coli involved in gastroenteritis (Lapaquette et al., 2010).

It would be informative to determine the phenotype of mice with autophagy deficiency in DCs, in autoimmune disease models of MS, a predominantly CD4 T cell mediated disease, or rheumatoid arthritis.

LEVEL THREE: CYTOKINES, ER STRESS, AUTOPHAGY, AND AUTOIMMUNITY

The third important link between autophagy and autoimmunity could be through modulating cytokine secretion, particularly in the context of inflammasome activation. Autophagy plays a negative role with respect to inflammasome activation and autophagy deficiency leads to increased production of IL-1B and IL-18 (Nakahira et al., 2011; Zhou et al., 2011b). Diseases resulting from increased activation of the immune system comprise two different categories: autoinflammatory diseases, characterized by inflammation mediated predominantly by innate immune cells, including macrophages and neutrophils, and autoimmune diseases in which the adaptive immune cells target the self-antigens (McGonagle et al., 2009). The inflammasome-mediated effects belong to the former category and the role of inflammasomes in these diseases has been reviewed (Shaw et al., 2011). However, given the extensive effects of IL-1 β on adaptive immune cells, autophagy might also affect the outcome of autoimmune diseases by modulating IL-1 β production. As a whole, IL-1 β and IL-18 enhance the functional responses of B and T cells including IL-2 receptor expression and lifespan, antibody production by B cells, and T_H1 and T_H17 polarization effects (Ben-Sasson et al., 2009; Chung et al., 2009). Thus IL-1 β and IL-18 might well serve as a bridge between autophagy in innate cells and the adaptive immune response. In this context, IL-1ß receptor blockade had beneficial effects in rheumatoid arthritis and has been suggested as a therapy for autoinflammatory diseases (Goldbach-Mansky, 2009). Conflicting reports exist regarding the role of inflammasome activation in EAE, with one study showing roles of NLRP3 inflammasome in EAE progression (Gris et al., 2010), whereas another study found no such role but reported an inflammasome-independent role of ASC (Shaw et al., 2010). The gut microbiota have important roles in shaping the immune system as a whole and particularly in models of MS (Ivanov et al., 2009; Ochoa-Reparaz et al., 2009; Berer et al., 2011). Given the extensive interaction between autophagy and different microbes, it would be informative to determine how autophagy and gut microflora interact to influence autoimmune diseases.

Recent evidence showed that autophagy played an important role in pancreatic beta cell functions and might modulate glucose homeostasis as a whole (Ebato et al., 2008; Jung et al., 2008). ER stress has an important role in the pathogenesis of diabetes and autophagy plays a role in this process as well (Quan et al., 2012). Since ER stress is involved in insulin resistance (Ozcan et al., 2006), autophagy might also be involved in insulin resistance by modulating ER stress response.

LEVEL FOUR: SECRETION, AUTOPHAGY, AND AUTOIMMUNITY

Secretion from cells can proceed through two broad pathways: a well-characterized canonical pathway in which proteins with a signal peptide go through ER and Golgi. However, secretion of proteins without a signal peptide proceeds through an ER-Golgi independent pathway. Interestingly, it was proposed that secretion of such proteins might, in part, be mediated by autophagy (Giuliani et al., 2011). Autophagy-mediated secretion of acyl coenzyme A (CoA) binding protein (ACBP), a cytosolic protein without a signal peptide, was reported in yeasts (Duran et al., 2010; Manjithaya et al., 2010) and recent reports also suggested that autophagy is involved in a number of secretory processes in immune and non-immune cells. Autophagy modulates secretory processes in the context of osteoclastic bone formation (DeSelm et al., 2011), from mast cells (Ushio et al., 2011), intestinal Paneth cells (Cadwell et al., 2008), presynaptic neurotransmission (Hernandez et al., 2012), and secretion of IL-1 β (Dupont et al., 2011). Though the relationship between autophagy and IL-1 β secretion is complicated owing to the fact that autophagy inhibits inflammasome activation (Nakahira et al., 2011), a recent report showed that baseline autophagy inhibits IL-1 β secretion whereas induced autophagy increases secretion of IL-1 β (Dupont et al., 2011).

Elevated levels of type I interferon, interferon-alpha (IFN- α) being the prototypic one, is the hallmark of SLE and clinical trials are going on with monoclonal antibodies against IFN-α in SLE (Lichtman et al., 2012). Interestingly, autophagy is also involved in type I IFN secretion. Autophagy is required in plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs), a major source of IFN-a, for sensing ssRNA virus and secretion of IFN- α (Lee et al., 2007). Similarly mTOR inhibition has also been shown to reduce IFN-α secretion by pDCs in response to TLR-9 ligands (Cao et al., 2008), though whether this is mediated by autophagy remains to be elucidated. However, in contrast to pDCs which use Toll-like receptor 7 (TLR7) for sensing ssRNA viruses, most other cell types in the body use cytosolic RNA sensors such as RIG-I and MDA-5, belonging to the RLR family, for this purpose. Atg5 deficiency in MEF has been shown to increase IFN-α secretion in context of viral infections by suppressing RLR signaling (Jounai et al., 2007; Tal et al., 2009). This finding represents a non-canonical role of Atg5 (Takeshita et al., 2008; Tal et al., 2009). Non-canonical autophagy was also shown to mediate IFN-α secretion in response to DNA-immune complex (Henault et al., 2012). Thus, modulation of IFN- α secretion by autophagy pathway might play a role in SLE. In a recent study, analysis of SLE metabolome in serum samples of SLE patients showed increased

REFERENCES

- Aichinger, M., Wu, C., Nedjic, J., and Klein, L. (2013). Macroautophagy substrates are loaded onto MHC class II of medullary thymic epithelial cells for central tolerance. *J. Exp. Med.* 210, 287–300.
- Alirezaei, M., Fox, H. S., Flynn, C. T., Moore, C. S., Hebb, A. L., Frausto, R. F., et al. (2009). Elevated ATG5 expression in autoimmune demyelination and multiple sclerosis. *Autophagy* 5, 152–158.
- Araki, K., Turner, A. P., Shaffer, V. O., Gangappa, S., Keller, S. A., Bachmann, M. F., et al. (2009). mTOR regulates memory CD8 T-cell differentiation. *Nature* 460, 108–112.
- Bell, B. D., Leverrier, S., Weist, B. M., Newton, R. H., Arechiga, A. F., Luhrs,
 K. A., et al. (2008). FADD and caspase-8 control the outcome of autophagic signaling in proliferating

T cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105, 16677–16682.

- Ben-Sasson, S. Z., Hu-Li, J., Quiel, J., Cauchetaux, S., Ratner, M., Shapira, I., et al. (2009). IL-1 acts directly on CD4 T cells to enhance their antigen-driven expansion and differentiation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 106, 7119–7124.
- Berer, K., Mues, M., Koutrolos, M., Rasbi, Z. A., Boziki, M., Johner, C., et al. (2011). Commensal microbiota and myelin autoantigen cooperate to trigger autoimmune demyelination. *Nature* 479, 538–541.
- Cadwell, K., Liu, J. Y., Brown, S. L., Miyoshi, H., Loh, J., Lennerz, J. K., et al. (2008). A key role for autophagy and the autophagy gene Atg1611 in mouse and human intestinal Paneth cells. *Nature* 456, 259–263.
- Cao, W., Manicassamy, S., Tang, H., Kasturi, S. P., Pirani, A.,

oxidative stress (Wu et al., 2012). Autophagy deficiency is generally associated with increased oxidative stress secondary to accumulation of damaged mitochondria (Zhou et al., 2011b). On the other hand, autophagy inhibition leads to accumulation of p62 (Mizushima and Komatsu, 2011) which, in turn, activates Nrf2 (nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2) (Komatsu et al., 2007). Nrf2 works as a major player in the oxidative stress response pathway (Kaspar et al., 2009). The effect of modulation of autophagy on oxidative stress of SLE warrants further studies.

It would be interesting to test how autophagy-mediated secretory functions influence autoimmune processes. Though considered to be mediated by adaptive immune cells, autoimmune processes, as in MS, are influenced by innate immune cells (Gandhi et al., 2010). The role of autophagy in secretion might have added significance in cells such as NK cells and neutrophils, which function mainly through secretion and degranulation. Another important area for future exploration would be the role of autophagy in myeloid-derived suppressor cells that suppress T cell function.

CONCLUSION

Given the above potential implications of autophagy in autoimmunity, it is rather surprising that there are only few *in vivo* reports on the functional correlation between autophagy and autoimmune diseases. Non-specific autophagy-lysosomal inhibitors, such as chloroquine, have long been used in clinics to treat SLE and rheumatoid arthritis (He et al., 2011). It is essential to understand the complex interplay between autophagy and autoimmunity in order to develop effective and more specific therapeutic strategies. Autophagy might play different roles in an autoimmune disease depending on the cell types involved and thus the ultimate results of pharmacological modulation might depend on the downstream effector involved. Given the paucity of *in vivo* data, it will be important to determine how the findings from animal models translate to human conditions, as pathophysiology of autoimmune diseases vary considerably between humans and lower animals.

- Murthy, N., et al. (2008). Tolllike receptor-mediated induction of type I interferon in plasmacytoid dendritic cells requires the rapamycin-sensitive PI(3)K-mTORp70S6K pathway. *Nat. Immunol.* 9, 1157–1164.
- Chaturvedi, A., Dorward, D., and Pierce, S. K. (2008). The B cell receptor governs the subcellular location of Toll-like receptor 9 leading to hyperresponses to DNAcontaining antigens. *Immunity* 28, 799–809.
- Chung, Y., Chang, S. H., Martinez, G. J., Yang, X. O., Nurieva, R., Kang, H. S., et al. (2009). Critical regulation of early Th17 cell differentiation by interleukin-1 signaling. *Immunity* 30, 576–587.
- Cooney, R., Baker, J., Brain, O., Danis, B., Pichulik, T., Allan, P., et al. (2010). NOD2 stimulation induces autophagy in dendritic cells

influencing bacterial handling and antigen presentation. *Nat. Med.* 16, 90–97.

- Dengjel, J., Schoor, O., Fischer, R., Reich, M., Kraus, M., Muller, M., et al. (2005). Autophagy promotes MHC class II presentation of peptides from intracellular source proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 7922–7927.
- Deretic, V. (2012a). Autophagy: an emerging immunological paradigm. *J. Immunol.* 189, 15–20.
- Deretic, V. (2012b). Autophagy as an innate immunity paradigm: expanding the scope and repertoire of pattern recognition receptors. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 24, 21–31.
- DeSelm, C. J., Miller, B. C., Zou, W., Beatty, W. L., van Meel, E., Takahata, Y., et al. (2011). Autophagy proteins regulate the secretory component of osteoclastic bone resorption. *Dev. Cell* 21, 966–974.

- Dupont, N., Jiang, S., Pilli, M., Ornatowski, W., Bhattacharya, D., and Deretic, V. (2011). Autophagy-based unconventional secretory pathway for extracellular delivery of IL-1beta. *EMBO J.* 30, 4701–4711.
- Duran, J. M., Anjard, C., Stefan, C., Loomis, W. F., and Malhotra, V. (2010). Unconventional secretion of Acb1 is mediated by autophagosomes. J. Cell Biol. 188, 527–536.
- Ebato, C., Uchida, T., Arakawa, M., Komatsu, M., Ueno, T., Komiya, K., et al. (2008). Autophagy is important in islet homeostasis and compensatory increase of beta cell mass in response to high-fat diet. *Cell Metab.* 8, 325–332.
- English, L., Chemali, M., Duron, J., Rondeau, C., Laplante, A., Gingras, D., et al. (2009). Autophagy enhances the presentation of endogenous viral antigens on MHC class I molecules during HSV-1 infection. *Nat. Immunol.* 10, 480–487.
- Espert, L., Denizot, M., Grimaldi, M., Robert-Hebmann, V., Gay, B., Varbanov, M., et al. (2006). Autophagy is involved in T cell death after binding of HIV-1 envelope proteins to CXCR4. J. Clin. Invest. 116, 2161–2172.
- Gandhi, R., Laroni, A., and Weiner, H. L. (2010). Role of the innate immune system in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 221, 7–14.
- Gannage, M., and Munz, C. (2010). MHC presentation via autophagy and how viruses escape from it. *Semin. Immunopathol.* 32, 373–381.
- Gateva, V., Sandling, J. K., Hom, G., Taylor, K. E., Chung, S. A., Sun, X., et al. (2009). A large-scale replication study identifies TNIP1, PRDM1, JAZF1, UHRF1BP1 and IL10 as risk loci for systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat. Genet.* 41, 1228–1233.
- Gerland, L. M., Genestier, L., Peyrol, S., Michallet, M. C., Hayette, S., Urbanowicz, I., et al. (2004). Autolysosomes accumulate during in vitro CD8+ T-lymphocyte aging and may participate in induced death sensitization of senescent cells. *Exp. Gerontol.* 39, 789–800.
- Giuliani, F., Grieve, A., and Rabouille, C. (2011). Unconventional secretion: a stress on GRASP. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 23, 498–504.
- Goldbach-Mansky, R. (2009). Blocking interleukin-1 in rheumatic diseases. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1182, 111–123.
- Gris, D., Ye, Z., Iocca, H. A., Wen, H., Craven, R. R., Gris, P., et al. (2010). NLRP3 plays a critical role in the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by

mediating Th1 and Th17 responses. *J. Immunol.* 185, 974–981.

- Han, J. W., Zheng, H. F., Cui, Y., Sun, L. D., Ye, D. Q., Hu, Z., et al. (2009). Genome-wide association study in a Chinese Han population identifies nine new susceptibility loci for systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat. Genet.* 41, 1234–1237.
- Harley, J. B., Alarcon-Riquelme, M. E., Criswell, L. A., Jacob, C. O., Kimberly, R. P., Moser, K. L., et al. (2008). Genome-wide association scan in women with systemic lupus erythematosus identifies susceptibility variants in ITGAM, PXK, KIAA1542 and other loci. *Nat. Genet.* 40, 204–210.
- He, Y., Xu, Y., Zhang, C., Gao, X., Dykema, K. J., Martin, K. R., et al. (2011). Identification of a lysosomal pathway that modulates glucocorticoid signaling and the inflammatory response. *Sci. Signal.* 4, ra44.
- Henault, J., Martinez, J., Riggs, J. M., Tian, J., Mehta, P., Clarke, L., et al. (2012). Noncanonical autophagy is required for type I interferon secretion in response to DNA-immune complexes. *Immunity* 37, 986–997.
- Hernandez, D., Torres, C. A., Setlik, W., Cebrian, C., Mosharov, E. V., Tang, G., et al. (2012). Regulation of presynaptic neurotransmission by macroautophagy. *Neuron* 74, 277–284.
- Hinterberger, M., Aichinger, M., Prazeres da Costa, O., Voehringer, D., Hoffmann, R., and Klein, L. (2010). Autonomous role of medullary thymic epithelial cells in central CD4(+) T cell tolerance. *Nat. Immunol.* 11, 512–519.
- Ireland, J. M., and Unanue, E. R. (2011). Autophagy in antigen-presenting cells results in presentation of citrullinated peptides to CD4 T cells. J. Exp. Med. 208, 2625–2632.
- Ivanov, I. I., Atarashi, K., Manel, N., Brodie, E. L., Shima, T., Karaoz, U., et al. (2009). Induction of intestinal Th17 cells by segmented filamentous bacteria. *Cell* 139, 485–498.
- Jagannath, C., Lindsey, D. R., Dhandayuthapani, S., Xu, Y., Hunter, R. L. Jr., and Eissa, N. T. (2009). Autophagy enhances the efficacy of BCG vaccine by increasing peptide presentation in mouse dendritic cells. *Nat. Med.* 15, 267–276.
- Jia, W., and He, Y. W. (2011). Temporal regulation of intracellular organelle homeostasis in T lymphocytes by autophagy. *J. Immunol.* 186, 5313–5322.
- Jia, W., Pua, H. H., Li, Q. J., and He, Y. W. (2011). Autophagy regulates endoplasmic reticulum homeostasis and

calcium mobilization in T lymphocytes. *J. Immunol.* 186, 1564–1574.

- Jounai, N., Takeshita, F., Kobiyama, K., Sawano, A., Miyawaki, A., Xin, K. Q., et al. (2007). The Atg5 Atg12 conjugate associates with innate antiviral immune responses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 14050–14055.
- Jung, H. S., Chung, K. W., Won Kim, J., Kim, J., Komatsu, M., Tanaka, K., et al. (2008). Loss of autophagy diminishes pancreatic beta cell mass and function with resultant hyperglycemia. *Cell Metab.* 8, 318–324.
- Kasai, M., Tanida, I., Ueno, T., Kominami, E., Seki, S., Ikeda, T., et al. (2009). Autophagic compartments gain access to the MHC class II compartments in thymic epithelium. *J. Immunol.* 183, 7278–7285.
- Kaspar, J. W., Niture, S. K., and Jaiswal, A. K. (2009). Nrf2:INrf2 (Keap1) signaling in oxidative stress. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 47, 1304–1309.
- Kivity, S., Agmon-Levin, N., Blank, M., and Shoenfeld, Y. (2009). Infections and autoimmunity – friends or foes? *Trends Immunol.* 30, 409–414.
- Komatsu, M., Waguri, S., Koike, M., Sou,
 Y. S., Ueno, T., Hara, T., et al. (2007).
 Homeostatic levels of p62 control cytoplasmic inclusion body formation in autophagy-deficient mice. *Cell* 131, 1149–1163.
- Kuballa, P., Nolte, W. M., Castoreno, A. B., and Xavier, R. J. (2012). Autophagy and the immune system. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 30, 611–646.
- La Cava, A. (2009). Natural Tregs and autoimmunity. *Front. Biosci.* 14, 333–343.
- Lapaquette, P., Glasser, A. L., Huett, A., Xavier, R. J., and Darfeuille-Michaud, A. (2010). Crohn's diseaseassociated adherent-invasive E. coli are selectively favoured by impaired autophagy to replicate intracellularly. *Cell Microbiol.* 12, 99–113.
- Lee, H. K., Lund, J. M., Ramanathan, B., Mizushima, N., and Iwasaki, A. (2007). Autophagy-dependent viral recognition by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Science* 315, 1398–1401.
- Lee, H. K., Mattei, L. M., Steinberg, B. E., Alberts, P., Lee, Y. H., Chervonsky, A., et al. (2010). In vivo requirement for Atg5 in antigen presentation by dendritic cells. *Immunity* 32, 227–239.
- Levine, B., Mizushima, N., and Virgin, H. W. (2011). Autophagy in immunity and inflammation. *Nature* 469, 323–335.
- Lichtman, E. I., Helfgott, S. M., and Kriegel, M. A. (2012). Emerging therapies for systemic lupus erythematosus – focus on targeting

interferon-alpha. *Clin. Immunol.* 143, 210–221.

- Lima, J. G., de Freitas Vinhas, C., Gomes, I. N., Azevedo, C. M., dos Santos, R. R., Vannier-Santos, M. A., et al. (2011). Phagocytosis is inhibited by autophagic induction in murine macrophages. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 405, 604–609.
- Maiuri, M. C., Zalckvar, E., Kimchi, A., and Kroemer, G. (2007). Self-eating and self-killing: crosstalk between autophagy and apoptosis. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 8, 741–752.
- Manichanh, C., Borruel, N., Casellas, F., and Guarner, F. (2012). The gut microbiota in IBD. Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 9, 599–608.
- Manjithaya, R., Anjard, C., Loomis, W. F., and Subramani, S. (2010). Unconventional secretion of *Pichia pastoris* Acb1 is dependent on GRASP protein, peroxisomal functions, and autophagosome formation. *J. Cell Biol.* 188, 537–546.
- Martinet, W., Schrijvers, D. M., Timmermans, J. P., Herman, A. G., and De Meyer, G. R. (2009). Phagocytosis of bacteria is enhanced in macrophages undergoing nutrient deprivation. *FEBS J.* 276, 2227–2240.
- Martinez, J., Almendinger, J., Oberst, A., Ness, R., Dillon, C. P., Fitzgerald, P., et al. (2011). Microtubule-associated protein 1 light chain 3 alpha (LC3)associated phagocytosis is required for the efficient clearance of dead cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 17396–17401.
- McGonagle, D., Aziz, A., Dickie, L. J., and McDermott, M. F. (2009). An integrated classification of pediatric inflammatory diseases, based on the concepts of autoinflammation and the immunological disease continuum. *Pediatr. Res.* 65, 38R–45R.
- Miller, B. C., Zhao, Z., Stephenson, L. M., Cadwell, K., Pua, H. H., Lee, H. K., et al. (2008). The autophagy gene ATG5 plays an essential role in B lymphocyte development. Autophagy 4, 309–314.
- Mizushima, N., and Komatsu, M. (2011). Autophagy: renovation of cells and tissues. *Cell* 147, 728–741.
- Mizushima, N., Yamamoto, A., Matsui, M., Yoshimori, T., and Ohsumi, Y. (2004). In vivo analysis of autophagy in response to nutrient starvation using transgenic mice expressing a fluorescent autophagosome marker. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 15, 1101–1111.
- Munz, C. (2009). Enhancing immunity through autophagy. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 27, 423–449.
- Nakahira, K., Haspel, J. A., Rathinam, V. A., Lee, S. J., Dolinay, T., Lam, H. C., et al. (2011). Autophagy

proteins regulate innate immune responses by inhibiting the release of mitochondrial DNA mediated by the NALP3 inflammasome. *Nat. Immunol.* 12, 222–230.

- Nedjic, J., Aichinger, M., Emmerich, J., Mizushima, N., and Klein, L. (2008). Autophagy in thymic epithelium shapes the T-cell repertoire and is essential for tolerance. *Nature* 455, 396–400.
- Ochoa-Reparaz, J., Mielcarz, D. W., Ditrio, L. E., Burroughs, A. R., Foureau, D. M., Haque-Begum, S., et al. (2009). Role of gut commensal microflora in the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J. Immunol.* 183, 6041–6050.
- Ozcan, U., Yilmaz, E., Ozcan, L., Furuhashi, M., Vaillancourt, E., Smith, R. O., et al. (2006). Chemical chaperones reduce ER stress and restore glucose homeostasis in a mouse model of type 2 diabetes. *Science* 313, 1137–1140.
- Parkes, M., Barrett, J. C., Prescott, N. J., Tremelling, M., Anderson, C. A., Fisher, S. A., et al. (2007). Sequence variants in the autophagy gene IRGM and multiple other replicating loci contribute to Crohn's disease susceptibility. *Nat. Genet.* 39, 830–832.
- Pierdominici, M., Vomero, M., Barbati, C., Colasanti, T., Maselli, A., Vacirca, D., et al. (2012). Role of autophagy in immunity and autoimmunity, with a special focus on systemic lupus erythematosus. *FASEB J.* 26, 1400–1412.
- Pua, H. H., Dzhagalov, I., Chuck, M., Mizushima, N., and He, Y. W. (2007). A critical role for the autophagy gene Atg5 in T cell survival and proliferation. *J. Exp. Med.* 204, 25–31.
- Pua, H. H., Guo, J., Komatsu, M., and He, Y. W. (2009). Autophagy is essential for mitochondrial clearance in mature T lymphocytes. *J. Immunol.* 182, 4046–4055.

- Qu, X., Zou, Z., Sun, Q., Luby-Phelps, K., Cheng, P., Hogan, R. N., et al. (2007). Autophagy gene-dependent clearance of apoptotic cells during embryonic development. *Cell* 128, 931–946.
- Quan, W., Lim, Y. M., and Lee, M. S. (2012). Role of autophagy in diabetes and endoplasmic reticulum stress of pancreatic beta-cells. *Exp. Mol. Med.* 44, 81–88.
- Randow, F., and Munz, C. (2012). Autophagy in the regulation of pathogen replication and adaptive immunity. *Trends Immunol.* 33, 475–487.
- Raychaudhuri, S., Thomson, B. P., Remmers, E. F., Eyre, S., Hinks, A., Guiducci, C., et al. (2009). Genetic variants at CD28, PRDM1 and CD2/CD58 are associated with rheumatoid arthritis risk. *Nat. Genet*, 41, 1313–1318.
- Rogers, N. J., Lees, M. J., Gabriel, L., Maniati, E., Rose, S. J., Potter, P. K., et al. (2009). A defect in marco expression contributes to systemic lupus erythematosus development via failure to clear apoptotic cells. J. Immunol. 182, 1982–1990.
- Sanjuan, M. A., Dillon, C. P., Tait, S. W., Moshiach, S., Dorsey, F., Connell, S., et al. (2007). Toll-like receptor signalling in macrophages links the autophagy pathway to phagocytosis. *Nature* 450, 1253–1257.
- Schmid, D., and Munz, C. (2007). Innate and adaptive immunity through autophagy. *Immunity* 27, 11–21.
- Schmid, D., Pypaert, M., and Munz, C. (2007). Antigen-loading compartments for major histocompatibility complex class II molecules continuously receive input from autophagosomes. *Immunity* 26, 79–92.
- Shaw, P. J., Lukens, J. R., Burns, S., Chi, H., McGargill, M. A., and Kanneganti, T. D. (2010). Cutting edge: critical role for PYCARD/ASC in the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J. Immunol.* 184, 4610–4614.

- Shaw, P. J., McDermott, M. F., and Kanneganti, T. D. (2011). Inflammasomes and autoimmunity. *Trends. Mol. Med.* 17, 57–64.
- Sumpter, R. Jr., and Levine, B. (2010). Autophagy and innate immunity: triggering, targeting and tuning. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 21, 699–711.
- Takeshita, F., Kobiyama, K., Miyawaki, A., Jounai, N., and Okuda, K. (2008). The non-canonical role of Atg family members as suppressors of innate antiviral immune signaling. Autophagy 4, 67–69.
- Tal, M. C., Sasai, M., Lee, H. K., Yordy, B., Shadel, G. S., and Iwasaki, A. (2009). Absence of autophagy results in reactive oxygen speciesdependent amplification of RLR signaling. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 2770–2775.
- Tang, D., Kang, R., Coyne, C. B., Zeh, H. J., and Lotze, M. T. (2012). PAMPs and DAMPs: signal 0s that spur autophagy and immunity. *Immunol. Rev.* 249, 158–175.
- Uhl, M., Kepp, O., Jusforgues-Saklani, H., Vicencio, J. M., Kroemer, G., and Albert, M. L. (2009). Autophagy within the antigen donor cell facilitates efficient antigen cross-priming of virus-specific CD8+ T cells. *Cell Death Differ.* 16, 991–1005.
- Ushio, H., Ueno, T., Kojima, Y., Komatsu, M., Tanaka, S., Yamamoto, A., et al. (2011). Crucial role for autophagy in degranulation of mast cells. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 127, 1267.e6–1276.e6.
- Watanabe, K., Ichinose, S., Hayashizaki, K., and Tsubata, T. (2008). Induction of autophagy by B cell antigen receptor stimulation and its inhibition by costimulation. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 374, 274–281.
- Wirnsberger, G., Mair, F., and Klein, L. (2009). Regulatory T cell differentiation of thymocytes does not require a dedicated antigen-presenting cell but is under T cell-intrinsic developmental control. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 10278–10283.

- Wu, T., Xie, C., Han, J., Ye, Y., Weiel, J., Li, Q., et al. (2012). Metabolic disturbances associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. *PLoS ONE* 7:e37210. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0037210
- Zhang, Z., Wu, X., Duan, J., Hinrichs, D., Wegmann, K., Zhang, G. L., et al. (2012). Low dose rapamycin exacerbates autoimmune experimental uveitis. *PLoS ONE* 7:e36589. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0036589
- Zhou, X. J., Lu, X. L., Lv, J. C., Yang, H. Z., Qin, L. X., Zhao, M. H., et al. (2011a). Genetic association of PRDM1-ATG5 intergenic region and autophagy with systemic lupus erythematosus in a Chinese population. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 70, 1330–1337.
- Zhou, R., Yazdi, A. S., Menu, P., and Tschopp, J. (2011b). A role for mitochondria in NLRP3 inflammasome activation. *Nature* 469, 221–225.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 31 January 2013; accepted: 01 April 2013; published online: 15 April 2013.

Citation: Bhattacharya A and Eissa NT (2013) Autophagy and autoimmunity crosstalks. Front. Immunol. 4:88. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00088

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Antigen Presenting Cell Biology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Bhattacharya and Eissa. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.